ASTÉRISQUE

1993

A THEORY OF CHARACTERISTIC CURRENTS ASSOCIATED WITH A SINGULAR CONNECTION

F. Reese HARVEY and H. Blaine LAWSON, Jr.

Research of both authors was supported by the National Science Foundation

A.M.S. Subjects Classification:

Primary: 53C07, 49Q15 Secondary: 58H99, 57R20

Abstract

A general theory of characteristic currents associated to singular connections is developed. In particular, a Chern-Weil theory for bundle maps is introduced and systematically studied. This theory generalizes the standard one. It associates to a map $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ between bundles with connection, singular "pushforward" and "pullback" connections on E and F respectively. Characteristic classes are then shown to be canonically represented by d-closed currents universally constructed from the "curvature" of these singular connections. When $\operatorname{rank}(E) = \operatorname{rank}(F) = n$ and ϕ is an Ad-invariant polynomial on \mathfrak{gl}_n , formulas of the type

$$\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E) = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT$$

are derived, where $\mathrm{Div}(\alpha)$ is a rectifiable current canonically associated to the singular structure of α , where Res_{ϕ} is a smooth form of classical Chern-Weil type computed as a polynomial in the curvatures Ω_E , Ω_F of E and F, and where T is a canonical, functorial transfersion form with coefficients in L^1_{loc} . The cases where E and F are complex or quaternion line bundles are examined in detail, and lead to a new proof of the Riemann-Roch Theorem for vector bundles over algebraic curves.

Applications include: A C^{∞} -generalization of the Poincaré-Lelong Formula to smooth sections of any smooth vector bundle; Universal formulas for the Thom class as an equivariant characteristic form (i.e., canonical formulas for a de Rham representative of the Thom class of a bundle with connection); A Differentiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem at the level of forms and currents (in both the complex and spin cases). Each of these holds in the general setting of atomic bundle maps, as introduced and studied in [HS]. A variety of formulas relating geometry and characteristic classes are deduced as direct consequences of the theory.

Table of Contents

		tion	
om	e No	otational Conventions	1
I.	Bur	ndle Maps and Singular Connections	1
	1.	Chern Currents — The General Approach	1
	2.	Singular Connections Determined by Bundle Maps	2
	3.	The Universal Case	2
	4.	Smoothing Singular Connections	3
	5.	The Gauge and the Transgression	3
	6.	The Fundamental Case - Injective Conformal	4
	7.	Curvature and the Algebraic Approximation Mode	4
	8.	Universal Formulae and a Universal Compactifica-	
		tion	4
	9.	Universal Desingularization	5
	10.	On the Functoriality and Uniqueness of the Trans-	J
		gression	5
II.	Complex Line Bundles		
	1.	Line Bundles with a Global Atomic Section	6
	2.	The Pull Back Connection	6
	3.	Smoothing the Pull Back Connection	6
	4.	Chern Currents	7
	5.	The Transgression Current	7
	6.	The Main Results—First Version	7
	7.	Conditions Which Insure Atomicity	7
	8.	Divisors of Atomic Sections	8
	9.	The Main Results—Second Version	8
	10.	Some Applications to Complex and CR Geometry	8
	11.	Riemann Roch Theorem	9

TABLE OF CONTENTS

III. Sec	ctions of Vector Bundles	99
1.	Atomic Sections and Divisors	101
2.	The Singular Push Forward Connection \overrightarrow{D} on F	108
3.	The Transgression	118
4.	The Top Chern Current and Universal Thom-Chern	•
5.	Forms	123
	Theorem—Version 1	137
6.	Bundle Maps $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ where Rank $E = 1 \ldots$	145
7.	Residues	150
8. An	The Singular Pull Back Connection \overleftarrow{D} on E ppendix A The Bochner-Martinelli Kernel and Chern-	163
_	il Theory	167
IV. Re	al Vector Bundles	179
1.	The Pfaffian and a Universal Thom Form	180
2.	Odd Rank Real Vector Bundles	193
3.	Universal Thom Forms in Equivariant de Rham The-	
	ory over SO_m	200
4. 5.	Thom Isomorphisms and Gysin Maps The Rectifiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch	204
	Theorem—Version 2	205
V. Ca	ses of Basic Interest	215
1.	A General Rubric	215
2.	Quaternion Line Bundles	234
3.	Dirac Morphisms	247
VI. Fu	rther Applications and Future Directions	259
1.	The Top Degeneracy Current and Chern Classes	259
2.	Thom-Porteous Currents — General Degeneracy	
	Currents	261
3.	Milnor Currents	262
4.	CR-Singularities and Pontrjagin Forms	263
5.	Foliations	265
6.	Invariants for Pairs of Complex Structures	266
Reference	ces	267

Introduction

The aim of this paper is to lay the foundations of a theory of Chern-Weil-Simons-type for singular connections on a smooth vector bundle. The notion of a singular connection here is quite general, but the focus will be on certain connections which arise naturally from bundle maps. More specifically, suppose that E and F are smooth vector bundles with connection over a manifold X. Then our theory associates to each homomorphism $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ a constellation of d-closed characteristic currents on X defined canonically in terms of the curvature of the bundles and the singularities of the map α . This is essentially a "Chern-Weil Theory for bundle maps" which in the special case where $\alpha \equiv 0$ reduces to the usual construction for the bundles themselves.

The theory is two-sided; one can focus attention either on E or on F (and retrieve, when $\alpha \equiv 0$, the standard theory for E or F). Let us suppose the focus is on E, and fix a characteristic polynomial ϕ , i.e., an Ad -invariant polynomial on the Lie algebra of the structure group of E. Standard Chern-Weil Theory associates to ϕ a smooth, closed differential form $\phi(\Omega_E)$ on X which is defined canonically in terms of the curvature of E and which represents a certain characteristic class $\phi(E) \in H^*_{\text{de Rham}}(X)$ determined universally by ϕ . Our theory associates to ϕ a d-closed current $\phi(\Omega_{E,\alpha})$ which is defined in terms of curvature and the singular structure of α , and which also represents $\phi(E)$.

The theory also produces a canonically defined, functorial transgression current $T = T(\phi, \alpha)$ with the property that

$$\phi(\Omega_{E,\alpha}) - \phi(\Omega_E) = dT$$

In the special case where rank(E) = rank(F), the characteristic current has

the form

$$\phi(\Omega_{E,\alpha}) = \phi(\Omega_F) - S$$

where $\phi(\Omega_F)$ is the standard Chern-Weil form associated to the bundle F and where S is a d-closed current supported on the **singularity set** $\Sigma \equiv \{x \in X : \alpha_x \text{ is not invertible}\}$. Thus S is canonically and functorially cohomologous to $\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E)$. In many important cases it will turn out that Σ is an oriented submanifold (or more generally an integral cycle) and that S can be written in the form

$$S = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[\Sigma]$$

where $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is a smooth differential form on X and $[\Sigma]$ is the integral current determined by integration over Σ . This residue form will be expressed in terms of the curvatures of E and F by a universally determined "residue polynomial". Thus we obtain an equation of currents:

$$\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E) = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[\Sigma] + dT.$$

One can think of $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[\Sigma]$ as the characteristic current associated to $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ which represents the class $\phi(F) - \phi(E) \in H^*_{\operatorname{de Rham}}(X)$.

Detailed formulas cannot, of course, be derived for arbitrary smooth bundle maps $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ since the singularities can be quite pathological. Nevertheless, the theory does apply to quite general maps. By work of the first author and Stephen Semmes we know that under weak assumptions on α , there exist certain associated currents with rectifiability properties, which one might call "Thom-Porteous currents". For generic maps these currents are standard singularity sets defined by rank conditions on α . Our general formulas will often be expressed in terms of smooth "residue" forms paired with these currents.

The analytic assumptions we make on our bundle maps are presented in detail here and certain important properties are established. However, the fundamental results concerning the existence and structure of divisors and more general Thom-Porteous currents appear in [HS].

To give a notion of the nature of the results, we present some elementary but important examples. The first is provided by the case where E and F are complex line bundles over an oriented manifold X. Suppose for simplicity that $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ vanishes non-degenerately so that the divisor $\text{Div}(\alpha)$ is the current associated to

the oriented codimension-2 submanifold $\Sigma = \{x \in X : \alpha_x = 0\}$. Then for each polynomial $\phi(u) \in \mathbf{R}[u]$ in one indeterminate, we obtain the formula

(*)
$$\phi(f) - \phi(e) = \left\{ \frac{\phi(f) - \phi(e)}{f - e} \right\} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT$$

where

$$f = \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_F$$
 and $e = \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_E$

are the Chern-Weil representatives of the first Chern classes of F and E respectively (and where $\frac{\phi(f)-\phi(e)}{f-e}$ is the obvious polynomial in e and f.) This formula holds in fact for any α which is **atomic**, that is for which

$$\operatorname{tr}(\alpha^{-1}D\alpha) \in L^1_{\operatorname{loc}},$$

(i.e., for which $\operatorname{tr}(\alpha^{-1}D\alpha)$ has an L^1_{loc} -extension across Σ), where D denotes the induced connection on $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. (Under local trivializations of E and F, α is represented by a complex-valued function a, and atomicity is equivalent to the condition $da/a \in L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}$.) The transgression term T in (*) is given by the formula

$$T = \frac{i}{2\pi} \left\{ \frac{\phi(f) - \phi(e)}{f - e} \right\} \operatorname{tr}(\alpha^{-1} D\alpha).$$

When $\phi(u) = u$ and E is trivial, equation (*) represents a C^{∞} generalization of the classical Poincaré-Lelong formula.

Combining this result with the kernel-calculus of Harvey and Polking [HP] gives a new proof of the Riemann-Roch Theorem for vector bundles over algebraic curves.

Another example of a basic formula coming from the theory is provided by considering a section $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ of an even-dimensional vector bundle $V \longrightarrow X$ with spin structure. Assume that α vanishes non-degenerately (or more generally that it is **atomic** in the sense of [HS] below), and let $\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$ denote its divisor. Now Clifford multiplication by α determines a bundle map $\alpha : \mathcal{F}^+ \longrightarrow \mathcal{F}^-$ between the positive and negative complex spinor bundles canonically associated to V. Consider the function on matrices $\phi(A) = \operatorname{ch}(A) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{trace} \left\{ \exp(\frac{1}{2\pi i}A) \right\}$ which gives the Chern character. Suppose \mathcal{F}^+ and \mathcal{F}^- carry connections induced from a riemannian connection on V, and let $\Omega_{\mathcal{F}^\pm}$, Ω_V denote the curvature matrices

of these connections (with respect to local orthonormal framings of the bundles). Then we have the formula

(**)
$$\operatorname{ch}(\Omega_{\mathcal{S}^+}) - \operatorname{ch}(\Omega_{\mathcal{S}^-}) = \widehat{\mathbf{A}}(\Omega_V)^{-1} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT$$

where

$$\widehat{\mathbf{A}}(\Omega_V)^{-1} = \det^{\frac{1}{2}} \left\{ \frac{\sinh(\frac{1}{4\pi}\Omega_V)}{\frac{1}{4\pi}\Omega_V} \right\}$$

is the series of differential forms on X which canonically represent, via Chern-Weil Theory, the inverse $\widehat{\mathbf{A}}$ -class of V, and where T is a canonically defined form with L^1_{loc} -coefficients.

This generalizes immediately to $\alpha \otimes 1: \mathcal{S}^+ \otimes E \longrightarrow \mathcal{S}^- \otimes E$ for any coefficient bundle E with connection. Here we obtain the formula

$$(***) \qquad \mathbf{ch}\left(\Omega_{\mathcal{S}^+\otimes E}\right) - \mathbf{ch}\left(\Omega_{\mathcal{S}^-\otimes E}\right) = \mathbf{ch}(\Omega_E)\widehat{\mathbf{A}}(\Omega_V)^{-1}\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT.$$

When $Div(\alpha)$ is an oriented submanifold, this equation is precisely a formulation at the level of differential forms of the Differentiable Riemann-Roch Theorem of Atiyah and Hirzebruch [AH]. Furthermore it extends this theorem from submanifolds to oriented subcomplexes with "normal bundle", i.e., subcomplexes which arise as divisors of some cross-section of a bundle.

This result emerges naturally from our philosophy of considering pushforward and pullback connections under bundle morphisms. It is also noteworthy that the $\mathbf{ch} \cdot \widehat{\mathbf{A}}^{-1}$ -series in this formula falls directly out of our computational calculus. It is not inserted with hindsight and then cleverly verified, as is often the case.

There are formulas analogous to (***) when V is complex or $Spin^c$. In the complex case, we obtain a version of the classical Grothendieck Theorem at the level of differential forms and currents. To be specific let $j:Y\hookrightarrow X$ be a smooth embedding of compact oriented manifolds. Suppose that the normal bundle to j carries an almost complex structure. If the tangent bundles TY and TX are given connections compatible with this normal complex structure along Y, then we have the following equation of forms and currents on X:

$$\begin{aligned} \left\{ \operatorname{ch} \left(\Omega_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{even} F^{\bullet}}) \otimes E} \right) - \operatorname{ch} \left(\Omega_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd} F^{\bullet}}) \otimes E} \right) \right\} \wedge \operatorname{Todd} \left(\Omega_{TX} \right) \\ &= \operatorname{ch}(\Omega_{E}) \wedge \operatorname{Todd}(\Omega_{TY})[Y] + dT \end{aligned}$$

for any vector bundle with connection E over Y. By passing to cohomology this formula yields the commutativity of the diagram

$$K(Y) \xrightarrow{j_!} K(X)$$

$$\operatorname{ch}(\cdot) \wedge \operatorname{Todd}(Y) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \operatorname{ch}(\cdot) \wedge \operatorname{Todd}(X)$$

$$H^*(Y) \xrightarrow{j_!} H^*(X)$$

where the $j_!$ represent the Gysin "wrong way" maps in K-theory and cohomology.

In these special Clifford multiplication cases our formalism has some similarities with Quillen's calculus of superconnections [Q] as developed in [MQ], [BV], [BGS*] and elsewhere. However, even in these cases there are substantial differences. We are concerned with convergence questions under weak hypotheses and with the structure of the limiting currents. Our theory also allows for a quite general choice of "approximation mode". As we shall explain in a moment, each mode is determined by a choice of an approximate one, i.e., a C^{∞} -function $\chi:[0,\infty] \longrightarrow [0,1]$ with $\chi' \geq 0$, $\chi(0) = 0$ and $\chi(\infty) = 1$. Choosing $\chi(t) = 1 - e^{-t}$ puts us closest to Quillen's theory. However, choosing χ with $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for $t \geq 1$ gives approximations supported in small neighborhoods of the singular set. For many reasons the most natural choice is $\chi(t) = t/(1+t)$. This form of approximation admits nice compactifications and is closely related to the Grassmann graph construction of MacPherson.

A third important application arises when E is the trivial line bundle with trivial connection, and F is real. In this case α corresponds to a cross-section of F. This section is said to be **atomic** if when expressed locally as $\alpha = (a^1, \ldots, a^n)$ it satisfies the condition

$$\frac{da^I}{|a|^{|I|}} \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}$$

for all I with $|I| < n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim F$. Very general elementary criteria for atomicity are given in [HS]. (Roughly speaking, any smooth section which vanishes algebraically on a set of the proper codimension is atomic.) As a special case, it is shown that any real analytic section with zeros of codimension-n is atomic.

One can think of atomicity as a weak criterion which insures the existence of a divisor, i.e., for which the graph of α can be sliced by the zero-section of F. It is proved in [HS] that the vanishing of an atomic section α determines a unique,

d-closed current $Div(\alpha)$ of codimension-n, called the **divisor** of α . This current is integrally flat, and in particular, when its mass is finite, it is a rectifiable cycle in the sense of Federer [F].

Assume now that F is either complex, or real and oriented, and that ϕ is the top Chern polynomial or the Pfaffian respectively (If $\dim_{\mathbf{R}} F$ is odd, then $\phi \equiv 0$.) We show that if α is atomic, then there exists a canonical L^1_{loc} -form T on X such that the following generalization of the Poincaré-Lelong formula holds:

$$\phi(\Omega_F) - \text{Div}(\alpha) = dT.$$

Furthermore for each approximation mode as above we obtain a smooth family of connections D_s , $0 < s \le \infty$ on F such that the associated characteristic forms $\tau_s \equiv \phi(\Omega_s)$ have the property that $\tau_\infty = \phi(\Omega_F)$ and

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \tau_s = \operatorname{Div}(\alpha).$$

There is a corresponding family of smooth forms T_s , $0 < s \le \infty$, such that

$$\tau_s - \text{Div}(\alpha) = d(T - T_s).$$

and $\lim_{s\to 0} T_s = T$ in L^1_{loc} .

It is useful to view this construction universally, that is, on the total space of the bundle itself. Let $\pi: F \longrightarrow X$ be the bundle projection and consider the pullback $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$ with the pullback connection. Over F there is a **tautological** cross-section α of \mathbf{F} given by $\alpha(v) = v$.

This section is atomic, in fact, non-degenerate, and the theory applies. For each approximation mode we obtain a smooth family of closed differential forms τ_s , $0 < s \le \infty$ on F, which are expressed canonically in terms of the connection, and which **represent the Thom class of** F. For example when F is real of dimension 2n and we are in the real algebraic approximation mode (where $\chi(t) = 1 - 1/\sqrt{1+t}$), then τ_s is given by the formula

$$\tau_s = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^n} \frac{s}{\sqrt{|u|^2 + s^2}} \operatorname{Pfaff}\left(\frac{Du^t Du}{|u|^2 + s^2} - \Omega_F\right)$$

where $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_{2n})$ represents the tautological section and where Du is its covariant derivative in the pullback connection (with respect to a local orthonormal frame field). Note that Du can be viewed invariantly as the projection

 $Du: TF \cong F \oplus H \longrightarrow F$ along the horizontal subspaces H of the connection. The form above, which falls directly out of the theory, has the following remarkable properties:

- (1) τ_s is d-closed,
- (2) τ_s extends to a smooth d-closed form on the fibrewise compactification $\mathbf{P}(F \oplus \mathbf{R}) \supseteq F$,
- (3) $\pi_* \tau_s = 1$ where π_* denotes integration over the fibre,
- (4) $i^*\tau_s = \text{Pfaff}(\Omega_F)$ where $i: X \hookrightarrow F$ is the zero-section,
- (5) $\tau_s = \mu_s^*(\tau_1)$ where $\mu_s : F \to F$ denotes scalar multiplication by $\frac{1}{s}$,
- $(6) \quad \lim_{s \to 0} \tau_s = [X].$

In brief, τ_s is a closed 2n-form on F which dies at infinity, is integrable on the fibres and converges, as $s \to 0$, to the current [X] represented by the zero-section. It is a family of canonical representatives of the Thom class of F (cf. [QM]). It can be written, as in [QM], as the image of a universal class in the equivariant cohomology of \mathbb{R}^{2n} .

Choosing other approximation modes yields other universal formulas for the Thom class. In particular, if $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for $t \geq 1$, then the form τ_s will have support in the tubular neighborhood $X_s \equiv \{v \in F : |v| \leq s\}$. In particular, it has compact support in each fibre.

There are many other interesting applications. A particularly nice one concerns the case of an endomorphism $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ of quaternion line bundles. One finds a very pretty analogy with the complex line bundle case. The classifying space for complex line bundles is the infinite complex projective space $\mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{C})$ whose cohomology is a polynomial ring on one generator $u \in H^2(\mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{C}); \mathbf{Z})$. The classifying space for quaternion line bundles is the infinite quaternion projective space $\mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{H})$ whose cohomology is a polynomial ring on one generator $u \in H^4(\mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{H}); \mathbf{Z})$. If we are given connections on E and F which are compatible with the quaternion structure, and if α is atomic, then for each $\phi \in \mathbf{R}[u]$ there exists an L^1_{loc} -form T with the property that

$$\phi(f) - \phi(e) = \left\{ \frac{\phi(f) - \phi(e)}{f - e} \right\} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT$$

where

$$f = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \Omega_F^2 \right\}$$
 and $e = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \Omega_E^2 \right\}$

are the canonical representatives of the second Chern class (or instanton class) of E and F. Note the close similarity to the complex case above.

Our general approach to singular connections comes from the following basic observation. Let E and F be smooth vector bundles with connections D_E and D_F respectively over a manifold X. Then given any pair of bundle maps

$$\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$$
 and $\beta: F \longrightarrow E$

we can define induced connections:

$$\overleftarrow{D}^{\alpha,\beta} = \beta \circ D_F \circ \alpha + (1 - \beta \alpha) \circ D_E \quad \text{on } E$$

and

$$\overrightarrow{D}^{\alpha,\beta} = \alpha \circ D_E \circ \beta + D_F \circ (1 - \alpha\beta) \quad \text{on } F.$$

This allows us to expand the notion of the gauge group. Namely, if we fix D_E and D_F , then to every pair α , β we have the transformed connection $\overrightarrow{D}^{\alpha,\beta}$ on F (and also $\overleftarrow{D}^{\alpha,\beta}$ on E). When E and F are isomorphic (and in particular of the same rank), we can restrict to pairs with $\beta = \alpha^{-1}$ and recover the usual action of the gauge group on the space of connections.

Now it is our intention to study α , so we want to choose β to be naturally adapted to α . Suppose for example that $\operatorname{rank}(E) \leq \operatorname{rank}(F)$ and that α is injective. Then we would choose β to be projection onto $\operatorname{image}(\alpha)$ followed by the inverse. If we introduce metrics on E and F (not necessarily related to the connections), then we can choose $\beta = (\alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^*$. This formula breaks down on the singularity set $\Sigma \equiv \{x : \alpha_x \text{ is not injective}\}$. To remedy this we approximate β by a family β_s , s > 0, as follows. Let $\chi : [0, \infty] \longrightarrow [0, 1]$ be an approximate one as defined above, and set $\rho(t) = \chi(t)/t$. This is an approximate reciprocal, i.e., $\frac{1}{s}\rho(\frac{t}{s}) = (\frac{1}{t})\chi(\frac{t}{s})$ approximates $\frac{1}{t}$ as $s \longrightarrow 0$. For each s > 0 we set

$$\beta_s = \rho \left(\frac{\alpha^* \alpha}{s} \right) \frac{\alpha^*}{s}$$

and plug this into the formulas above to obtain a family of connections \overrightarrow{D}_s on F (and \overleftarrow{D}_s on E). Note that $\beta_s \longrightarrow \beta$ as $s \longrightarrow 0$ uniformly on compacta outside

the singular set Σ . Note also that if $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for $t \geq 1$, then $\beta_s = \beta$ outside the "s-tubular neighborhood" $U_s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{x \in X : \alpha_x^* \alpha_x < s\}$ of Σ .

Let $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ denote the curvature of the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s , and fix an Ad-invariant polynomial ϕ on the Lie algebra of the structure group of F. We consider the family of smooth forms $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s)$ representing the ϕ -characteristic class F. If the limit $\lim_{s\to o}\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s)$ exists as a current, we say that this limit is the ϕ -characteristic current associated to the singular "pushforward" connection \overrightarrow{D} on F. Analogous remarks and definitions hold for the singular "pullback" connection \overleftarrow{D} on E and for the case where $\operatorname{rank}(E) \geq \operatorname{rank}(F)$. However, we stick to the situation above for expository reasons.

Note that on the subset $X-\Sigma$, $\lim_{s\to o}\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s)\stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=}\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ is the smooth characteristic form associated to the smooth connection $\overrightarrow{D}|_{X-\Sigma}$. Hence, the only serious questions concerning this limit arise at points of Σ . Now in the special case that $\mathrm{rank}(E)=\mathrm{rank}(F)$, the connection $\overrightarrow{D}|_{X-\Sigma}$ is gauge equivalent via α to D_E , and so $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)=\phi(\Omega_E)$. In particular, $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ has a smooth extension across the singular set Σ . Part of the work of this paper is aimed at finding conditions on α which guarantee, in the case where $\mathrm{rank}(E)<\mathrm{rank}(F)$, that $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ also extends across Σ as a d-closed L^1_{loc} -form. We show for example that this always happens in the universal case of the tautological cross-section of $\pi^*\mathrm{Hom}(E,F)$ over the total space of $\mathrm{Hom}(E,F)$. Whenever this does happen we have a decomposition of the ϕ -characteristic current:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) = \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) + S$$

where S is a current on X with the property that

$$dS = 0$$
 and $\sup_{S \to S} (S) \subseteq \Sigma$.

Since they are both d-closed, each term in this decomposition represents a de Rham cohomology class on X. These classes can be non-zero even when E and F are trivial bundles. A good example is provided when $\alpha: \mathbf{C} \to F$ represents a cross-section of F. Here the de Rham class of $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ is computed from a universal characteristic class (related to ϕ) on the compactification $\mathbf{P}(F \oplus \mathbf{C})$ of F. (See Chapters III and IV.)

The next step in the program is to determine the detailed structure of the singular characteristic current S and to establish its independence of the choice of approximation mode χ . In doing this we consider a family of canonical transgression classes T_s with the property that

$$dT_s = \phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s),$$

and give conditions on α so that $T \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lim_{s \to o} T_s$ exists in the space of currents with L^1_{loc} -coefficients. The transgression current T has the property that

$$dT = \phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) - S.$$

It is also functorial under appropriately transversal maps between manifolds.

In a large number of cases we will show that the singular characteristic current S can be written in the form

$$S = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[\Sigma]$$

where $[\Sigma]$ is the current associated to integration over the singular set Σ , and where $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is a smooth differential form on X which is independent of the bundle map α . In many cases this residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is proved to be a classical Chern-Weil form, i.e., it is expressed as a universal Ad-invariant polynomial in the curvatures of the given connections on E and F. In particular this residue form is completely determined by computing its associated cohomology class in the universal setting.

The formula above is then written as

$$\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[\Sigma] + dT$$

where $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is the canonical residue form and where $[\Sigma]$ is a current canonically determined by the singular structure of α . Formula (†) represents a particularly satisfactory Chern-Weil Theorem for bundle maps. Special cases where this all holds have been discussed above.

A nice feature of formula (†) is that it canonically relates certain characteristic forms to submanifolds and subvarieties which arise in geometric constructions.

In this manner the theory can be applied to a wide range of problems. For example, suppose we are given k+1 sections of a complex vector bundle F, i.e., a bundle map $\alpha: \mathbf{C}^{k+1} \to F$ with an appropriate atomicity property (cf. Ch. VI). Assume that F has a complex connection. Then we have a canonical formula

$$c_{n-k}(\Omega_F) - \mathbb{D}_k = dT$$

between the $(n-k)^{\text{th}}$ Chern form of F and the degeneracy current \mathbb{D}_k , which is intuitively defined as the set of $x \in X$ where $\alpha(x)$ is not injective, i.e., where $\alpha_1(x), \ldots, \alpha_{k+1}(x)$ are linearly dependent. In fact we will produce a smooth family of mutually cohomologous, d-closed forms Ψ_s , $0 < s \le \infty$, such that $\Psi_{\infty} = c_{n-k}(\Omega_F)$ and $\Psi_s \to \mathbb{D}_k$ as $s \to 0$. A related example arises when considering a smooth map $f: M \to \mathbf{C}^{k+1}$ of an oriented riemannian n-manifold M where $n - k = 2\ell > 0$. Here we obtain formulas

$$p_{\ell}(\Omega_M) = (-1)^{\ell} \mathbb{C}r(f) + dT$$

where $p_{\ell}(\Omega_M)$ is the ℓ^{th} Pontrjagin form of M and where $\mathbb{C}r(f)$ is a current associated to the **complex critical set**: $\{x \in M : df : TM \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{k+1} \text{ is not surjective}\}$. For example if $\dim M = 4$ and $f : M \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^3$ is an immersion, then we have the formula

$$p_1(\Omega_M) = -\mathbb{C}r(f) + dT$$

where $\mathbb{C}r(f)$ is the (generically finite) set of complex tangencies to $F(M) \subset \mathbf{C}^3$ taken with appropriate indices.

Another application generalizes the formula for the global Milnor current. The "classical" formula (cf. [Fu, 14.1.5]) concerns the critical locus of a holomorphic map $f: X \longrightarrow C$ of a complex manifold onto a complex curve, and computes the sum of the local Milnor numbers of the singular points in terms of global geometry.

Some interesting formulas in the theory of foliations are derived. Some interesting invariants for pairs of complex structures are introduced, and geometric formulas relating them to characteristic forms are established. It is also possible, using this theory, to rederive and generalize formulas of Sid Webster [W1, 2].

These and other applications will be discussed in [HL1]. It should be remarked that Wolfson's paper [Wo] (cf. [MW]) served as an inspiration for this work.

Much of the work in this paper is devoted to special cases of bundle maps $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$. However, these cases have much wider applicability than is apparent. Using only the notions of this paper, we introduce general Thom-Porteous currents for each rank r > 0. These are cycles associated to a general bundle map $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ which encode the condition that rank(α) has dropped at least r. They occur in many contexts. Some indication is given here but full details will appear in a separate article, [HL1].

In the sequel to this paper [HL2] the authors will study some of the more delicate residue formulas associated to bundle maps. These formulas will simultaneously involve several of the degeneracy strata of the map, each paired with its own residue form. There will be further applications given to certain Thom-Porteous classes, also to sections of split bundles, and to multi-foliations.

The authors would like to thank Bill Fulton for some very useful remarks. They would especially like to thank John Zweck who carefully read the manuscript and made a number of important suggestions and comments.

The authors would also like to thank Mrs. Janie McBane for her patient and professional help with preparing the manuscript.

Some Notational Conventions

We gather here some notational conventions used throughout the article. The manifolds, bundles, bundle maps, etc. will always be C^{∞} unless otherwise stated. If X is a manifold, $\mathcal{E}^r(X)$ denotes the space of differential r-forms on X with the usual C^{∞} -topology. The topological dual space, denoted $\mathcal{E}^r(X)'$, is the space of r-dimensional currents with compact support on X. Similarly, $\mathcal{D}^r(X)$ denotes r-forms with compact support on X, and $\mathcal{D}^r(X)'$ denotes its dual.

By $L^1_{loc}(X)$ we shall mean the space of differential forms on X with locally integrable coefficients. When X is orientable, there is a natural embedding $L^1_{loc}(X) \subset \mathcal{D}^*(X)'$ given by associating to the form φ the current $[\varphi](\psi) = \int \phi \wedge \psi$. The exterior derivative d is well-defined in all of these spaces.

Given a Lie group G with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , we denote by I_G (or I_G^*) the graded algebra of Ad_G -invariant polynomials on \mathfrak{g} .

A connection on a vector bundle $E \longrightarrow X$ is taken here to be a differential operator, i.e., a linear map $D: \Gamma(E) \longrightarrow \Gamma(T^*X \otimes E)$ such that $D(f\sigma) = df \otimes \sigma + fD\sigma$ for all $f \in C^{\infty}(X)$. The curvature of D is the operator D^2 . If e is a local frame for E, we shall write $De = \omega e$ and $D^2e = \Omega e$ where ω and Ω are the connection and curvature matrices respectively.

I. Bundle Maps and Singular Connections

1. Chern Currents — The General Approach.

Suppose F is a complex vector bundle on a smooth real manifold X. Suppose Σ is a closed measure zero subset of X, which will be referred to as the **singular** set. Suppose D is a smooth connection on the bundle F over $X - \Sigma$, i.e. outside the singular set Σ . Such a connection D, on F over $X - \Sigma$, will be referred to as a **singular connection D on F over X.** One objective is to compute the "Chern currents" for the singular connection D over X. The general method can be described as follows.

No attempt is made to give meaning to the singular connection D as a notion of differentiation. Instead the singular connection D is understood via approximation by smooth connections. Assume that

$$(1.1) D_s \text{for } 0 < s \le \infty$$

is a smooth family of smooth connections on the bundle F over X with the following property:

(1.2) As $s \to 0$, $D_s \to D_o$ as smooth connections on F outside the singular set Σ ,

where

$$(1.3) \quad D_{0} \equiv D \Big|_{X-\Sigma}.$$

Definition 1.4. For $0 < s \le \infty$, D_s will be referred to as a smooth approximation to the singular connection D.

The Chern forms for the connection D_s are defined in the standard manner.

- (1.5) $c(D_s) \equiv c(\Omega_s) \equiv \det \left(I + \frac{i}{2\pi} \Omega_s\right)$ (the total Chern form),
- (1.6) $ch(D_s) \equiv ch(\Omega_s) \equiv \operatorname{trace}\left(e^{\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_s}\right)$ (the Chern character), or more generally:

(1.7)
$$\phi(D_s) \equiv \phi(\Omega_s)$$
 (the ϕ -characteristic form),

for any polynomial ϕ on $\mathfrak{gl}(n)$ which is invariant under the adjoint action. Here $\Omega_s \equiv d\omega_s - \omega_s \wedge \omega_s$ is the **curvature matrix** and ω_s is the **gauge potential** or **connection matrix** for D_s . The gauge potential and the curvature matrix depend on the choice of frame while a Chern form does not depend on the choice of frame and hence is a globally defined differential form on the manifold. The curvature operator $R_s = D_s^2$ is a section of the vector bundle $\Lambda^2 T^* \otimes \operatorname{End}(F)$, while the corresponding curvature matrix Ω_s is a local section of $\Lambda^2 T^* \otimes M_p(\mathbf{C})$. The connection D_s itself is a section of an affine bundle based on the vector bundle $\Lambda^1 T^* \otimes \operatorname{End}(E)$.

Note: Given an invariant polynomial ϕ , such as

$$\phi(\Omega) = \det(I + \Omega) \text{ or } \phi(\Omega) = \operatorname{tr} e^{\Omega},$$

it is natural to consider the "renormalized" invariant polynomial $\tilde{\phi}$ defined by

$$\tilde{\phi}(\Omega) = \phi\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega\right)$$

evaluated on the curvature matrix, or alternatively to evaluate ϕ on the normalized curvature

$$\widetilde{\Omega} \equiv \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega.$$

Both of these notations will be employed in this paper.

Definition 1.8. Suppose D_s , $0 < s \le +\infty$, is a smooth approximation to a singular connection D. If the Chern forms $\phi(D_s)$ converge, weakly as currents on X, then the limit will be denoted by $\phi(D)$ and referred to as a ϕ -characteristic current for the singular connection D.

In order to compile a list of desirable conditions we start with:

Condition A. The currents $\phi(D_s)$ converge to $\phi(D)$, weakly as currents on X.

A current which can locally be expressed as a differential form with coefficients that are Lebesgue integrable functions will be referred to as an L_{loc}^1 form.

Since, outside the singular set Σ , the connections D_s converge to D as $s \to 0$, the ϕ -characteristic forms $\phi(D_s)$ converge to the ϕ -characteristic form of the connection D. That is,

(1.9)
$$\phi(D_s) \Big|_{X-\Sigma} \xrightarrow{C^{\infty}} \phi(D) \Big|_{X-\Sigma} \quad \text{as } s \to 0 \quad \text{on } X - \Sigma.$$

The second desirable condition may, at this point, appear somewhat surprising (cf. Remark 2.35).

Condition B. The smooth form $\phi(D)|_{X-\Sigma}$ on $X-\Sigma$ extends by zero to an L^1_{loc} form on X which is d-closed. The extension will be denoted by $\phi(D_0) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ and referred to as the L^1_{loc} part of the ϕ -Chern current $\phi((D))$.

Note that if both conditions A and B are satisfied then the ϕ -Chern current splits as:

(1.10)
$$\phi((D)) \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(D_s) = \phi(D_o) + S, \quad \text{on } X,$$

where S is a current with

(1.11)
$$\operatorname{spt}(S) \subseteq \Sigma \quad \text{and} \quad dS = 0.$$

This current S will be referred to as the **singular part of the** ϕ -Chern current $\phi((D))$. In summary, $\phi(D_o)$ or $\phi(\Omega_0)$ will always denote the L^1_{loc} part of the ϕ -Chern current on X, while $\phi((D))$ will always denote the full ϕ -Chern current (1.10).

Although, in this paper we are interested in transgressions given explicitly, for the sake of completeness we note the following standard result and sketch it's proof.

Proposition 1.12. If both Conditions A and B are satisfied then there exists a current T satisfying:

(1.13)
$$dT = \phi(D_{\infty}) - \phi(D_{0}) - S \quad \text{on } X.$$

Proof. By assumption (1.1), the family D_s of connections on F converges smoothly to D_{∞} as s approaches $+\infty$. Therefore, the standard transgression formula (1.18) for the path of connections joining D_s to D_{∞} defines a global transgression form T_s satisfying

$$(1.14) dT_s = \phi(D_{\infty}) - \phi(D_s).$$

In particular, $\phi(D_{\infty}) - \phi(D_s)$ belongs to the range of the exterior derivative operator $d: \mathcal{D}' \to \mathcal{D}'$ mapping the space of currents into itself.

It is a standard fact that, for an arbitrary paracompact smooth manifold, the range of d is closed. (We note that the corresponding result for $\overline{\partial}$ is false). Therefore $\phi(D_{\infty}) - \phi(D_{0}) - S \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(D_{\infty}) - \phi(D_{s}) \in d \mathcal{D}'$. This standard fact that d has closed range is part of the statement of the de Rham duality theorem. The proof follows, via Cech theory, from the fact that all subspaces of the infinite product $\prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{C}$ are closed. \square

Let $\operatorname{Reg} \Sigma$ denote the points where Σ is a submanifold. Note that the components of $\operatorname{Reg} \Sigma$ may have various dimensions. Assume that integration of forms over the various components of $\operatorname{Reg} \Sigma$ defines a current with finite mass on X and denote this current by $[\Sigma]$. Further assume that $[\Sigma]$ is d-closed.

Any current with support in an oriented submanifold, say Σ , can be written as a finite sum of currents, each of which is obtained from a current intrinsic to Σ by taking normal derivatives and multiplying by normal one forms. By far the simplest of the currents supported in Σ are those where the intrinsic current is a smooth form ψ and no normal derivatives occur, i.e., currents such as $\psi[\Sigma]$.

Condition C. The singular part S of the Chern current $\phi((D))$ has the form

$$(1.15) S = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(D)[\Sigma],$$

where $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(D)$ is a *d*-closed smooth form on the manifold $\operatorname{Reg}\Sigma$ called the **residue form** of the singular connection D. (Actually, it is more appropriate to refer to $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(D)$ as the residue form of the current T satisfying (1.13)).

Let $\phi(\Omega_1, \ldots, \Omega_m)$ denote the complete polarization of ϕ (assuming ϕ is homogeneous of degree m). The notation

(1.16)
$$\phi(\sigma; \Omega) \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{m} \phi(\Omega, \dots, i^{th}, \dots, \Omega) = \frac{d}{dt} \phi(\Omega + t\sigma) \Big|_{t=0}$$

will be useful. The standard transgression formula [BoC] for the family D_s of connections says that:

$$(1.17) dT_s = \phi(D_{\infty}) - \phi(D_s),$$

where T_s , the potential (or transgression form), is given by:

(1.18)
$$T_s = \int_s^\infty \phi(\dot{\omega}_t; \Omega_t) dt.$$

Condition D. The transgression forms T_s converge, as currents on X, to a current T, called the **transgression current** or the fundamental potential, i.e.

(1.19)
$$T \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} T_s = \int_0^\infty \phi(\dot{\omega}_s; \Omega_s) ds \quad \text{converges in } \mathcal{D}'.$$

If Condition D is satisfied, then Condition A is automatic and, under Condition B, the transgression equation (1.13) is the limiting form of the standard transgression formula (1.17).

If all four Conditions A-D are satisfied, then the formula

(1.20)
$$\phi(D_{\infty}) - \phi(D_0) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(D)[\Sigma] = dT \quad \text{on } X,$$

is obtained as a limiting form of (1.17), where $\phi(D_0) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ is d-closed, and the residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(D)$ is also d-closed.

2. Singular Connections Determined by Bundle Maps.

Suppose that the data

$$(2.1) E \underset{\beta}{\overset{\alpha}{\rightleftarrows}} F$$

is given; where E is a rank p complex vector bundle, F is a rank q complex vector bundle, both over the same smooth manifold X, and that α and β are vector bundle maps. Also assume that E is equipped with a connection D_E and that F is equipped with a connection D_F .

Each of the connections \mathcal{D}_E and \mathcal{D}_F may be transplanted to the other vector bundle.

Lemma 2.2. Given $E \underset{\beta}{\overset{\alpha}{\rightleftharpoons}} F$ and D_E , D_F , then:

(2.3)(Pushforward)
$$\overrightarrow{D} \equiv \alpha D_E \beta + D_F (1 - \alpha \beta) = D_F - (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) \beta$$

defines a connection on the bundle F, which will be referred to as the push forward connection, while

(2.4)(Pullback)
$$\overleftarrow{D} \equiv \beta D_F \alpha + (1 - \beta \alpha) D_E = D_E + \beta (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E)$$

defines a connection on the bundle E, which will be referred to as the pullback connection.

Proof. Suppose s is a section of E and φ is a smooth function. Then

$$(D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E)(\varphi s) = D_F \varphi \alpha(s) - \alpha (d\varphi s + \varphi D_E s)$$

= $d\varphi \alpha(s) + \varphi D_F \alpha(s) - d\varphi \alpha(s) - \varphi \alpha D_E(s) = \varphi (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E)(s).$

That is,

$$D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E \in \Gamma \left(\Lambda^1 T^* \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(E, F) \right)$$

so that \overrightarrow{D} and \overleftarrow{D} satisfy the product rule. \square

The connections D_E and D_F induce a connection D_H on Hom(E,F) determined by requiring the product rule

$$D_F(\alpha(s)) = (D_H(\alpha))(s) + \alpha(D_E s)$$

for all sections s of E. That is

$$(2.5) D_H(\alpha) \equiv D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E.$$

Thus the connections \overrightarrow{D} and \overleftarrow{D} can be rewritten in the compact form:

(2.6)(Pushforward)
$$\overrightarrow{D} = D_F - D_H(\alpha)\beta$$
.

(2.7)(Pullback)
$$\overleftarrow{D} = D_E + \beta D_H(\alpha).$$

The singular connections we wish to study are obtained by choosing β to be "the inverse of α ". This is made precise in (2.9) below. Suppose that a single bundle map $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is given and that E and F are equipped with hermitian metrics denoted by $\langle \ , \ \rangle_E$ and $\langle \ , \ \rangle_F$ respectively. Also assume that D_E is a connection on E and that D_F is a connection on F, but do not assume that the metrics and connections are compatible. This basic data will be denoted by:

(2.8)
$$D_{E} D_{F}$$

$$E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$$

$$\langle , \rangle_{E} \langle , \rangle_{F}$$

Let $\Sigma \equiv \operatorname{sing} \alpha$ denote the closed set where the rank of α is less than maximal. On the complement of the singular set Σ let $K \equiv \ker \alpha$ denote the **kernel** subbundle of E and let $T \equiv \operatorname{im} \alpha$ denote the **image** or **target** subbundle of E. Now we can make our choice of E.

(2.9) Let β denote orthogonal projection of F onto T followed by the inverse of the map $\alpha: K^{\perp} \to T$.

The transplanted connections \overrightarrow{D} and \overleftarrow{D} are singular because the map β is singular on Σ .

Definition 2.10. The singular pushforward connection associated with α is the singular connection \overrightarrow{D} on F defined by

$$(2.11) \ \overrightarrow{D} \equiv \alpha D_E \beta + D_F (1 - \alpha \beta) = D_F - (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) \beta = D_F - D_H (\alpha) \beta.$$

The singular pullback connection associated with α is the singular connection \overleftarrow{D} on E defined by

$$(2.12) \stackrel{\longleftarrow}{D} = \beta D_F \alpha + (1 - \beta \alpha) D_E = D_E + \beta (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) = D_E + \beta D_H(\alpha).$$

In both cases the singular map β is "the inverse of α " precisely defined by (2.9).

Both \overrightarrow{D} and \overleftarrow{D} are smooth connections over the set $X - \Sigma$ which depend on all of the data (2.8). The three distinct expressions for \overrightarrow{D} (or for \overleftarrow{D}) given in (2.11) and (2.12) will be useful in what follows.

Remark 2.13. Choices have been made in Definition 2.10. For example,

$$\alpha D_E \beta + (1 - \alpha \beta) D_F = D_F + \alpha (D_E \beta - \beta D_F)$$

is an alternative singular pushforward connection on F. The choice (2.11) is preferred. It has the property that, when α is injective, parallel sections of E push forward to \overrightarrow{D} -parallel sections of F.

Remark 2.14. In this paper we shall only consider the following two generic cases where either K = 0 or $T^{\perp} = 0$.

The injective case is where

(2.15) rank
$$E \leq \operatorname{rank} F$$
 and $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ injective on $X \sim \Sigma$

In this case the singular map β is given by

$$\beta \equiv (\alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^*.$$

The surjective case is where

(2.17)
$$\operatorname{rank} E \geq \operatorname{rank} F \text{ and } E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F \text{ surjective on } X \sim \Sigma.$$

In this case the singular map β is given by

$$\beta \equiv \alpha^* (\alpha \alpha^*)^{-1}.$$

Here $E \stackrel{\alpha^*}{\longleftarrow} F$ denotes the adjoint of α .

Remark 2.19. The Injective Case. This case, where

rank $E \leq \operatorname{rank} F$ and $\alpha^* \alpha$ is invertible on $\sim \Sigma$ so that $\beta \equiv (\alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^*$,

further divides into the pushforward and pullback case.

First, note that orthogonal projection $P_T: F \to T$ is given by:

$$(2.20) P \equiv \alpha(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^*$$

so that

$$(2.21) \alpha\beta = P \beta\alpha = 1.$$

Injective Pushforward Case: On $X - \Sigma$ the pushforward connection \overrightarrow{D} may be written in block form with respect to $F \equiv T \oplus T^{\perp}$. Since

$$(D_F\alpha - \alpha D_E)\beta = \begin{pmatrix} PD_FP - \alpha D_E\beta & 0\\ (1-P)D_FP & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

the pushforward connection \overrightarrow{D} blocks as

(2.22)
$$\overrightarrow{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha D_E \beta & PD_F(1-P) \\ 0 & (1-P)D_F(1-P) \end{pmatrix},$$

which is upper triangular. Therefore, for any invariant polynomial ϕ ,

$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}) = \phi(\alpha D_E \beta \oplus (1 - P)D_F(1 - P)) \text{ on } X \sim \Sigma.$$

Since, when restricted to sections of T, $\alpha D_E \beta = \alpha D_E \alpha^{-1}$ is gauge equivalent to D_E , this proves that

$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}) = \phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}) \quad \text{on } X \sim \Sigma,$$

where $D_{T^{\perp}} \equiv (1-P)D_F(1-P)$ is the connection induced on $T^{\perp} \subset F$ by D_F .

Injective Pullback Case: Here we have that

(2.24)
$$\overleftarrow{D} = \beta D_F \alpha$$
 on the bundle E over $X \sim \Sigma$,

since $1 - \beta \alpha = 0$ on $X \sim \Sigma$. Therefore,

(2.25)
$$(\overleftarrow{D}, E)$$
 is gauge equivalent to (D_T, T) on $X \sim \Sigma$

where $D_T \equiv PD_F P$ is the connection induced by D_F on the subbundle $T \subset F$. In particular,

(2.26)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{D}) = \phi(D_T) \quad \text{on } X \sim \Sigma.$$

Remark 2.27. The Surjective Case. This case, where

rank
$$E \ge \text{rank } F$$
 and $\alpha \alpha^*$ is invertible on $\sim \Sigma$ so that $\beta \equiv \alpha^* (\alpha \alpha^*)^{-1}$,

further divides into the pullback and pushforward case. First, note that orthogonal projection $P_{K^{\perp}}: E \to K^{\perp}$ is given by

$$(2.28) P = \alpha^* (\alpha \alpha^*)^{-1} \alpha$$

so that

(2.29)
$$\alpha\beta = 1 \text{ and } \beta\alpha = P.$$

Surjective Pullback Case: Since

$$eta(D_Flpha-lpha D_E) \;=\; egin{pmatrix} eta D_Flpha-PD_EP & -PD_E(1-P) \ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

the pullback connection \overleftarrow{D} blocks with respect to $E \equiv K^{\perp} \oplus K$, outside the singular set Σ , as

(2.30)
$$\overleftarrow{D} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta D_F \alpha & 0 \\ (1-P)D_E P & (1-P)D_E (1-P) \end{pmatrix}$$

in lower triangular form. Consequently, for any invariant polynomial ϕ ,

(2.31)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{D}) = \phi(D_F \oplus D_K) \quad \text{on } X \sim \Sigma,$$

Surjective Pushforward Case: Here we have that

(2.32)
$$\overrightarrow{D} = \alpha D_E \beta$$
 on the bundle F over $X \sim \Sigma$,

since $1 - \alpha \beta = 0$ on $X \sim \Sigma$. Therefore,

(2.33)
$$\overrightarrow{D}$$
, F is gauge equivalent to $D_{K^{\perp}}$, $K^{\perp} \subset E$ over $X \sim \Sigma$

where $D_{K^{\perp}} = PD_EP$ is the connection induced on $K^{\perp} \subset E$ by the connection D_E . In particular,

(2.34)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}) = \phi(D_{K^{\perp}}) \quad \text{on } X \sim \Sigma.$$

The injective and surjective cases overlap in the equirank case

Remark 2.35. The Equirank Case. Suppose $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is a bundle map of equirank bundles so that α is invertible on $X \sim \Sigma$. Then, the singular pushforward connection \overrightarrow{D} on F is given by:

(2.36)(Pushforward)
$$\overrightarrow{D} = \alpha D_E \beta = \alpha D_E \alpha^{-1}$$
 on $X \sim \Sigma$.

That is, on $X \sim \Sigma$, the connection \overrightarrow{D} on F is gauge equivalent to the connection D_E on E. In particular, if ϕ is any Ad-invariant polynomial on \mathfrak{gl}_n , then:

(2.37)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}) = \phi(\alpha D_E \alpha^{-1}) = \phi(D_E) \quad \text{on } X \sim \Sigma.$$

Consequently, $\phi(\overrightarrow{D})$ on $X \sim \Sigma$ automatically extends to all of X as a d-closed C^{∞} form. This proves that $\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_0) = \phi(D_E)$ on X, and so Condition B is satisfied. Now, if furthermore Condition C is satisfied, then the Chern current $\phi((\overrightarrow{D}))$ on X is given by

(2.38)
$$\phi((\overrightarrow{D})) = \phi(D_E) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})[\Sigma]$$

and formula (1.13) becomes

(2.39)
$$\phi(D_F) - \phi(D_E) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})[\Sigma] = dT.$$

Similarly, the singular pullback connection is defined by

(2.40)(Pullback)
$$\overleftarrow{D} = \alpha^{-1} D_F \alpha$$
 on $X \sim \Sigma$,

and we see that $\phi(\overleftarrow{D}_0) = \phi(D_F)$ on X. In particular, Condition B is again automatic. Furthermore, assuming Condition C, we have

$$\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) = \phi(D_F) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overleftarrow{D})[\Sigma],$$

and formula (1.13) becomes

(2.42)
$$\phi(D_E) - \phi(D_F) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overleftarrow{D})[\Sigma] = dT.$$

3. The Universal Case.

In this case we will discuss the pullback and pushforward connections associated with the "universal bundle map". In particular, it will be shown that in this case Condition B is always valid, i.e., the limiting characteristic form on $\sim \Sigma$ always extends across the singular set as a d-closed L^1_{loc} -form. Indeed we will show that there is a certain blow up of Hom(E,F) along Σ where (the lift of) the limiting form always extends smoothly.

Let E and F be complex vector bundles over X with connections D_E and D_F as above. We consider the vector bundle

$$\pi: \operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \longrightarrow X$$

and the pullbacks

$$\mathbf{E} = \pi^* E$$
 and $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$

with their pullback connections

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}}$$
 and $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}$

respectively. Over Hom(E,F) there is a **tautological** or **universal homomorphism**

$$\alpha: \mathbf{E} \longrightarrow \mathbf{F}$$

which at a point $\alpha \in \text{Hom}(E_x, F_x)$ above $x \in X$ is simply defined to be α . Note that given a smooth bundle map $\alpha : E \longrightarrow F$, i.e., a cross-section of Hom(E, F), we have that

(3.2)
$$\alpha^* \mathbf{E} = E \text{ and } \alpha^* \mathbf{F} = F$$

as bundles with connection, and that

$$\alpha^*(\alpha) = \alpha.$$

Thus, every homomorphism is a pullback of the universal one α .

Suppose now that there are metrics $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_F$ given on E and F (not necessarily compatible with the connections), and pull them back to E and F. Then there is also a universal adjoint homomorphism $\alpha^* : F \longrightarrow E$.

Definition 3.4. Using the universal homomorphism α we define, as in Section 2, the universal pullback connection $\overrightarrow{D}_{\mathbf{E}}(\alpha)$ on \mathbf{E} and the universal pushforward connection $\overrightarrow{D}_{\mathbf{F}}(\alpha)$ on \mathbf{F} .

The Injective Case. Assume that rank $E \leq \operatorname{rank} F$. The singular set $\Sigma \subset \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ of the universal homomorphism $\alpha : \mathbf{E} \to \mathbf{F}$ is the complement of $\operatorname{Hom}^{\times}(E,F) = \{\alpha \in \operatorname{Hom}(E,F) : \alpha \text{ is injective}\}.$

A partial desingularization of $\Sigma \subset \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ can be used to verify Condition B. Let

(3.5)

$$p_F: \operatorname{Hom}^{\times}(E, F) \longrightarrow G_p(F)$$
 be defined by $p_F(\alpha) \equiv \operatorname{im} \alpha$, where $p \equiv \operatorname{rank} E$.

We blow up $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ along Σ by setting $\operatorname{\widetilde{H}om}(E,F)$ equal to the closure of the graph of p_F in $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)\times G_p(F)$, namely

$$(3.6) \qquad \widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \equiv \{(\alpha,P) \in \mathrm{Hom}(E,F) \times G_p(F) : \mathrm{im} \, \alpha \subset P\}.$$

Note that $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$ is a smooth submanifold of $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \times G_p(F)$, since projection of $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$ onto the second factor $G_p(F)$ is a smooth fiber bundle whose fiber above $P \in G_p(F)$ is the set of all $\alpha \in \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ with $\operatorname{im} \alpha \subset P$, i.e. the fiber is $\operatorname{Hom}(E,P)$ (cf Lemma 9.9). The projection onto the first factor

(3.7)
$$\rho: \widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E, F) \longrightarrow \mathrm{Hom}(E, F)$$

is, of course, a proper map. Also, ρ is a diffeomorphism over $\operatorname{Hom}^{\times}(E,F)$. Let $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ denote $\rho^{-1}(\Sigma)$. Above a singular point $\alpha \in \Sigma$, the fiber $\rho^{-1}(\alpha) \subset \widetilde{\Sigma}$ consist of all pairs (α, P) with $\operatorname{im} \alpha \subset P$.

The universal homomorphism $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ can be lifted to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$ from $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. The lifted universal homomorphism remains singular with new singular set $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ instead of Σ . However, the target bundle T over $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F) - \widetilde{\Sigma}$ is effectively desingularized. It is just the restriction to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$ of the pullback to $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \times G_p(F)$ of the canonical p-plane bundle over $G_p(F)$. For simplicity of notation we let T denote the canonical bundle on $G_p(F)$ as well as it's pullback to $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \times G_p(F)$, as well as it's restriction to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$.

Proposition 3.8. Injective Case. Suppose rank $E \leq \operatorname{rank} F$.

The lift of $\phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}) \mid_{\mathrm{Hom}(E,F) \sim \Sigma}$ to $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \sim \widetilde{\Sigma}$ extends across $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ to all of $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$ as the d-closed smooth form $\phi(\mathbf{D_E} \oplus D_{T^\perp})$.

The lift of $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}) \mid_{\mathrm{Hom}(E,F) \sim \Sigma}$ to $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \sim \widetilde{\Sigma}$ extends across $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ to all of $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$ as the d-closed smooth form $\phi(D_T)$.

Proof. Over $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \sim \Sigma$, we have that $\phi(\overrightarrow{D}) = \phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}})$, by (2.23). Lifting to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F) \sim \widetilde{\Sigma}$, the bundles $T(\equiv p_F^*(T))$ and $T^{\perp}(\equiv p_F^*(T^{\perp}))$ extend as smooth bundles over all of $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$. In addition,

$$(3.9) T \oplus T^{\perp} = \mathbf{F} \text{over } G_p(F),$$

so that the connections D_T and $D_{T^{\perp}}$ induced on T and T^{\perp} by the $\mathbf{D_F}$ connection are smooth on all of $G_p(F)$ and hence on all of $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)\subset \mathrm{Hom}(E,F)\times G_p(F)$. Thus $\phi(\mathbf{D_E}\oplus D_{T^{\perp}})$ is a d-closed C^{∞} form on all of $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$.

$$\phi(\overleftarrow{D}) = \phi(D_T)$$
 on $\operatorname{Hom}(E, F) \sim \Sigma$,

and when pulled back to $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \sim \widetilde{\Sigma}$ this form extends to the p_F pullback of the smooth d-closed form $\phi(D_T)$ over $G_p(F)$. \square

Theorem 3.10. Injective Case. The smooth forms $\phi(\overrightarrow{D})$ and $\phi(\overleftarrow{D})$, on $Hom(E,F) \sim \Sigma$ extend by zero to be d-closed L^1_{loc} forms on all of Hom(E,F). Namely,

(3.11)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_0) = \rho_*\phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}})$$
 and $\phi(\overleftarrow{D}_0) = \rho_*\phi(D_T)$

are the L^1_{loc} -parts of the ϕ -Chern currents.

Proof. This follows directly from Proposition 3.8 and the following useful fact.

Proposition 3.12. Let $f: M \longrightarrow N$ be a smooth proper map between oriented manifolds where $m = \dim M \ge \dim N = n$. Assume that the critical set $C = \{x \in M : \operatorname{rank}(df) < n\}$ has measure zero. Fix a differential p-form ψ on M with $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(M)$ coefficients, and let $\int_f \psi$ denote the $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(p-m+n)$ -form on N-f(C) obtained by integration over the fibre. Then the coefficients of $\int_f \psi$ are L^1_{loc} across f(C), and thereby $\int_f \psi$ determines a current $\overline{\int_f \psi}$ on all of N. Furthermore, $\overline{\int_f \psi} = f_*(\psi)$, the current push forward of ψ by the map f. Hence, in particular, we have that

$$d\left(\overline{\int_f \psi}\right) = \overline{\int_f d\psi}.$$

Proof. We assume without loss of generality that N is an open subset of \mathbf{R}^n , and that ψ has globally L^1_{loc} -coefficients. Fix $\epsilon > 0$ and let χ_{ϵ} denote the characteristic function of the open subset $N_{\epsilon} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{x \in N : \text{dist}(x, f(C)) > \epsilon\}$. Set $\widetilde{\chi}_{\epsilon} = \chi_{\epsilon} \circ f$. Then since f is a smooth bundle map over N_{ϵ} , we have

$$f_*(\widetilde{\chi}_{\epsilon}\psi) = \chi_{\epsilon} \int_f \psi \quad \text{for all } \epsilon > 0.$$

Now since ψ is a current of finite mass, so is $f_*(\psi)$. In particular, the coefficients of the smooth form $\int_f \psi$ on N - f(C) are L^1_{loc} across f(C). Now, since C is closed and has measure zero in M, we know that $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \widetilde{\chi}_{\epsilon} \psi = \psi$ in the mass norm. It follows by continuity that

$$\overline{\int_f \psi} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \chi_{\epsilon} \int_f \psi = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} f_*(\widetilde{\chi}_{\epsilon} \psi) = f_*(\psi). \quad \Box$$

The Surjective Case. Assume that rank $E \geq \operatorname{rank} F$. The singular set $\Sigma \subset \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ of the universal homomorphism $\alpha: E \to F$ is the complement of $\operatorname{Hom}^{\times}(E,F) = \{\alpha \in \operatorname{Hom}(E,F) : \alpha \text{ is surjective}\}$. Let

(3.13)
$$p_E : \operatorname{Hom}^{\times}(E, F) \longrightarrow G_{p-q}(E)$$
 be defined by $p_E(\alpha) = \ker \alpha$.

We blow up $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ along Σ by setting $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$ equal to the closure of the graph of p_E in $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)\times G_{p-q}(E)$, namely,

$$(3.14) \qquad \widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \ \equiv \ \{(\alpha,P) \in \mathrm{Hom}(E,F) \times G_{p-q}(E) : \ker \alpha \supset P\}.$$

Projection ρ of $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$ onto the first factor $\mathrm{Hom}(E,F)$ is a proper map which is a diffeomorphism when $\widetilde{\Sigma} \equiv \rho^{-1}(\Sigma)$ and Σ are excluded.

Lifting the universal homomorphism and the other data from $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$ has the advantage that the kernel bundle $K \equiv \ker \alpha \subset E$ defined on $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F) \sim \widetilde{\Sigma}$ extends smoothly as a bundle to all of the submanifold $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$. In fact, this extension of K is just the canonical bundle over $G_{p-q}(E)$ pulled back to $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \times G_{p-q}(E)$ and then restricted to $\widetilde{\operatorname{Hom}}(E,F)$.

Proposition 3.15. Surjective Case. Suppose rank $E \ge \operatorname{rank} F$.

The lift of $\phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}) \mid_{\mathrm{Hom}(E,F) \sim \Sigma}$ to $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \sim \widetilde{\Sigma}$ extends across $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ to all of $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$ as the d-closed smooth form $\phi(D_{K^{\perp}})$.

The lift of $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}) \mid_{\mathrm{Hom}(E,F) \sim \Sigma}$ to $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \sim \widetilde{\Sigma}$ extends across $\widetilde{\Sigma}$ to all of $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$ as the d-closed smooth form $\phi(\mathbf{D_F} \oplus D_K)$.

The proof of this proposition and the next theorem are similar to the corresponding proofs in the injective case and hence are omitted.

Theorem 3.16. Surjective Case. The smooth forms $\phi(\overrightarrow{D}) \mid_{\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \sim \Sigma}$ and $\phi(\overleftarrow{D}) \mid_{\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \sim \Sigma}$ extend by zero to be d-closed L^1_{loc} forms on all of $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. Namely,

(3.17)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_0) = \rho_* \phi(D_{K^{\perp}}) \quad \text{and} \quad \phi(\overleftarrow{D}_0) = \rho_* \phi(D_F \oplus D_K)$$

are the L^1_{loc} -parts of the ϕ -Chern currents.

4. Smoothing Singular Connections.

The key to smoothing a singular connection D is the Lemma 2.2 which says that both of the formulas (2.3) and (2.4) define a connection for any pair of bundle maps α and β . Because of this Lemma it suffices to smooth the bundle map β defined by (2.9). This is most naturally accomplished with an approximation to the identity map.

Definition 4.1. By an approximate one we mean a function $\chi : [0, \infty] \to [0, 1]$ which is C^{∞} on the entire closed interval $[0, \infty]$ and satisfies

$$\chi(0) = 0$$
, $\chi(\infty) = 1$, and $\chi' \ge 0$.

Note that $\chi_s(t) \equiv \chi\left(\frac{t}{s}\right)$ approximates 1 as $s \to 0$. The smooth function ρ with domain $[0,\infty]$ defined by $\rho(t) \equiv \frac{1}{t}\chi(t)$ will be called an **approximate** reciprocal. It has the property that $\frac{1}{s}\rho\left(\frac{t}{s}\right) = \frac{1}{t}\chi\left(\frac{t}{s}\right)$ approximates $\frac{1}{t}$ as $s \to 0$.

Given a bundle map α , we define the family β_s , s > 0 of approximations to the "inverse of α " based on χ by setting

(4.2)
$$\beta_s = \rho \left(\frac{\alpha^* \alpha}{s^2} \right) \frac{\alpha^*}{s^2} = \frac{\alpha^*}{s^2} \rho \left(\frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{s^2} \right).$$

Note that, since $T^{\perp} \equiv \ker \alpha^*$

$$(4.3) \beta_s vanishes on T^{\perp},$$

while on $y = \alpha(x) \in T$,

$$\beta_s y = \chi \left(\frac{\alpha^* \alpha}{s^2} \right) x$$

which vanishes if $x \in K \equiv \ker \alpha$ and converges to x if $x \in K^{\perp}$.

Also note that

(4.5)
$$\alpha \beta_s = \chi \left(\frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{s^2} \right) \qquad \beta_s \alpha = \chi \left(\frac{\alpha^* \alpha}{s^2} \right).$$

In the injective case $\alpha^*\alpha$ is invertible on $X \sim \Sigma$ so that $\beta = (\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^*$. Therefore

(4.6)
$$\beta_s = \chi\left(\frac{\alpha^*\alpha}{s^2}\right)\beta = \chi\left(\frac{\alpha^*\alpha}{s^2}\right)(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^*.$$

In the surjective case $\alpha \alpha^*$ is invertible on $X \sim \Sigma$ so that $\beta = \alpha^*(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}$. Therefore

(4.7)
$$\beta_s = \beta \chi \left(\frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{s^2} \right) = \alpha^* (\alpha \alpha^*)^{-1} \chi \left(\frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{s^2} \right).$$

The smooth behavior of the family of approximations β_s to β can be summarized as follows.

Outside the Singular Set: The family of bundle maps β_s is smooth for $0 \le s \le +\infty$ on $X \sim \Sigma$ with $\beta_0 = \beta$ and $\beta_\infty = 0$. In particular, convergence of β_s to $\beta_0 = \beta$ is in the C^∞ topology on $X \sim \Sigma$.

Across the Singular Set: The family of bundle maps β_s is smooth for $0 < s \le +\infty$ on X with $\beta_{\infty} = 0$. In particular, convergence of β_s to $\beta_{\infty} = 0$ is in the C^{∞} topology on all of X.

Definition 4.8. The Pushforward Family \overrightarrow{D}_s . The singular pushforward connection \overrightarrow{D} (under α), namely

(4.9)
$$\overrightarrow{D} \equiv \alpha D_E \beta + D_F (1 - \alpha \beta) = D_F - (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) \beta = D_F - D_H (\alpha) \beta$$

is smoothed by the following smooth family \overrightarrow{D}_s , of smooth connections on F, over the entire manifold X including $\Sigma \equiv \operatorname{sing} \alpha$, $(0 < s \le +\infty)$:

$$(4.10) \overrightarrow{D}_s = \alpha D_E \beta_s + D_F (1 - \alpha \beta_s) = D_F - (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) \beta_s = D_F - D_H (\alpha) \beta_s.$$

Note that

$$(4.11) \overrightarrow{D}_{m} = D_{F},$$

since $\beta_{\infty} = 0$, at $s = +\infty$.

The Pullback Family $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}$. The singular pull back connection \overleftarrow{D} (under α), namely

$$(4.12) \quad \overleftarrow{D} = \beta D_F \alpha + (1 - \beta \alpha) D_E = D_E + \beta (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) = D_E + \beta D_H(\alpha),$$

is smoothed by the following smooth family \overleftarrow{D}_s of smooth connections on E, over the entire manifold X including $\Sigma \equiv \operatorname{sing} \alpha$, $(0 < s \le +\infty)$:

$$(4.13) \stackrel{\leftarrow}{D}_s = \beta_s D_F \alpha + (1 - \beta_s \alpha) D_E = D_E + \beta_s (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) = D_E + \beta_s D_H(\alpha).$$

Note that

$$(4.14) \qquad \qquad \overleftarrow{D}_{\infty} = D_E,$$

since $\beta_{\infty} = 0$, at $s = +\infty$.

We shall adopt the following terminology. The approximate 1, denoted χ , provides an approximation mode for the singular connection \overrightarrow{D} or \overleftarrow{D} based on χ . There are several specific approximation modes, or examples of an approximate 1 which have specific advantages. By far the most important is algebraic in nature with geometric interpretation which is provided later.

Example 4.15. Algebraic Approximation Mode. Let

(4.16)
$$\chi(t) \equiv \frac{t}{1+t} \qquad t \in [0, +\infty].$$

Then

(4.17)
$$\chi\left(\frac{\alpha^*\alpha}{s^2}\right) = \alpha^*\alpha(\alpha^*\alpha + s^2)^{-1} = (\alpha^*\alpha + s^2)^{-1}\alpha^*\alpha,$$

and

(4.18)
$$\beta_s \equiv (\alpha^* \alpha + s^2)^{-1} \alpha^* = \alpha^* (\alpha \alpha^* + s^2)^{-1}.$$

Therefore, we have the following.

Pushforward in Algebraic Approximation Mode.

(4.19)

$$\overrightarrow{D}_s = D_F + (\alpha D_E - D_F \alpha) \alpha^* (\alpha \alpha^* + s^2)^{-1} = (s^2 D_F + \alpha D_E \alpha^*) (\alpha \alpha^* + s^2)^{-1}$$

Pullback in Algebraic Approximation Mode.

(4.20)

$$\overleftarrow{D}_s = D_E + \left(\alpha^* \alpha + s^2\right)^{-1} \alpha^* \left(D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E\right) = \left(\alpha^* \alpha + s^2\right)^{-1} \left(s^2 D_E + \alpha^* D_F \alpha\right).$$

The special formula $t\chi'(t) = \chi(t)(1 - \chi(t))$, or

(4.21)
$$\chi'\left(\frac{\alpha^{\star}\alpha}{s^2}\right)\frac{\alpha^{\star}\alpha}{s^2} = \chi\left(\frac{\alpha^{\star}\alpha}{s^2}\right)\left(1 - \chi\left(\frac{\alpha^{\star}\alpha}{s^2}\right)\right),$$

which is valid in the algebraic approximation mode, is particularly useful.

Example 4.22. Transcendental Approximation Mode. Let

(4.23)
$$\chi(t) \equiv 1 - e^{-t} \quad t \in [0, \infty].$$

This approximate 1 does even better at approximating 1 as $t \to +\infty$, and roughly speaking allows certain Chern currents to be approximated by Gaussian distributions.

Example 4.24. Compact Approximation Mode. Assume $\chi:[0,\infty]\to [0,1]$ is C^∞ and

$$\chi(t) \equiv 1 \text{ for } t \ge t_{\text{o}} > 0.$$

This approximation mode is necessary for obtaining Thom forms. Actually, $1-\chi$ is the cut off function which provides the compact support of the Thom form.

Remark 4.26. Special Compatibility Assumptions. Consider the case where $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is generically an injective isometry, i.e. $\alpha^*\alpha = 1$. Note that if $\alpha^*\alpha = 1$ on a dense subset, it holds everywhere, and we have $\Sigma = \emptyset$. Then in the algebraic approximation mode,

$$\overrightarrow{D}_s = D_F + \frac{1}{1+s^2} \left(\alpha D_E \alpha^* - D_F \alpha \alpha^* \right),$$

since $\beta_s = \alpha^*(\alpha\alpha^* + s^2)^{-1} = (\alpha^*\alpha + s^2)^{-1}\alpha^* = \frac{1}{1+s^2}\alpha^*$. Note that $P = \alpha(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^* = \alpha\alpha^* : F \to T \equiv \operatorname{im}\alpha$ is orthogonal projection. In addition, assume that D_E and D_F are compatible, i.e., assume that

$$\alpha D_E \alpha^* = P D_F P.$$

Then

(4.27)
$$\overrightarrow{D}_s = D_F - \frac{1}{1+s^2}(1-P)D_F P, \quad 0 \le s \le +\infty,$$

cf. [BoC] page 87.

Remark 4.28. Pushforward and Pullback are Dual. Since a connection D_V on a vector bundle V induces a connection D_{V^*} on the dual bundle V^* , the original data

$$(4.29) D_E D_F$$

$$E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$$

$$\langle , \rangle_E \langle , \rangle_F$$

induces dual data.

$$(4.30) D_{F^*} D_{E^*}$$

$$F^* \xrightarrow{\bar{\alpha}} E^*$$

$$\langle , \rangle_F \langle , \rangle_E.$$

Here $\tilde{\alpha}$ denotes the metric-independent dual map as opposed to the metric-dependent adjoint map α^* .

Consider the induced families of connections on F and on F^* given by

$$(4.31)(\textbf{pushforward}) \qquad \overrightarrow{D}_{s,F} = D_F - (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E)\beta_s$$

and

$$(4.32)(\text{pullback}) \qquad \qquad \overleftarrow{D}_{s,F^*} = D_{F^*} + \widetilde{\beta}_s (\widetilde{\alpha} D_{F^*} - D_{E^*} \widetilde{\alpha})$$

where $\tilde{\beta}_s \equiv \rho \left(\frac{\tilde{\alpha}^* \tilde{\alpha}}{s^2}\right) \frac{\tilde{\alpha}^*}{s^2}$. Since this is dual to β_s , the two connections are dual, i.e.,

$$\left(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,F}\right)^* = \overleftarrow{D}_{s,F^*}.$$

5. The Gauge and the Transgression.

This section collects together the explicit local formulas for the gauge potential ω_s and the curvature matrix Ω_s associated with the two approximating families of connections \overrightarrow{D}_s and \overleftarrow{D}_s .

Suppose e is a local frame for E and f is a local frame for F, both expressed as columns. Then the equations $D_E e = \omega_E e$ and $D_F f = \omega_F f$ define gauge potentials ω_E for D_E and ω_F for D_F , respectively. The map α determines a matrix a with respect to the given frames; that is $\alpha e = af$ defines a matrix $a \equiv (a_i^j)$ by $\alpha e_i \equiv \sum_j a_i^j f_j$. Similarly, $\beta_s f = b_s e$ defines the matrix b_s for $0 < s \le \infty$, and $\beta f = be$ defines the matrix b. Note that ba is the matrix form of the map $\alpha\beta$. Finally, let Da denote the matrix form of $D(\alpha)$, i.e., $(D(\alpha))(e) \equiv (Da)f$.

Lemma 5.1. Pushforward. The singular connection \overrightarrow{D} has gauge potential $\overrightarrow{\omega}$ given by:

- (5.2) $\overrightarrow{\omega} = b \ \omega_E a + (1 ba)\omega_F bda = \omega_F b(da + a\omega_F \omega_E a) = \omega_F bDa$ while the approximating smooth connection \overrightarrow{D}_s has gauge potential
- $(5.3) \ \overrightarrow{\omega}_s = b_s \omega_E a + (1 b_s a) \omega_F b_s da = \omega_F b_s (da + a\omega_F \omega_E a) = \omega_F b_s Da.$

Proof. Since $D(\alpha) \equiv D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E \in \Gamma(\Lambda^1 T^* \otimes \text{Hom}(E, F))$, it suffices to compute that

$$(D_F\alpha - \alpha D_E)(e) = D_F(af) - \alpha(\omega_E e) = daf + a\omega_F f - \omega_E af.$$

Lemma 5.4. Pullback. The singular connection \overleftarrow{D} has gauge potential $\overleftarrow{\omega}$ given by

 $(5.5) \stackrel{\longleftarrow}{\omega} = a\omega_F b + \omega_E (1 - ab) + dab = \omega_E + (a\omega_F - \omega_E a + da)b = \omega_E + (Da)b$

while the approximating smooth connection \overleftarrow{D}_s has gauge potential

 $(5.6) \stackrel{\longleftarrow}{\omega}_s = a\omega_F b_s + \omega_E (1 - ab_s) + dab_s = \omega_E + (a\omega_F - \omega_E a + da) b_s = \omega_E + (Da)b_s.$

Proof. The argument is analogous to the one above. \Box

Remark 5.7. In the injective case (rank $E \leq \operatorname{rank} F$ and aa^* invertible on $X \sim \Sigma$)

(5.8)
$$b_s = a^* (aa^*)^{-1} \chi \left(\frac{aa^*}{s^2} \right).$$

In the surjective case (rank $E \ge \operatorname{rank} F$ and a^*a invertible on $X \sim \Sigma$)

(5.9)
$$b_s = \chi \left(\frac{a^* a}{s^2} \right) (a^* a)^{-1} a^*.$$

In the algebraic approximation mode

$$(5.10) b_s = a^*(aa^* + s^2)^{-1} = (a^*a + s^2)^{-1}a^*$$

in both the injective and surjective cases. For the proofs see (4.6) and (4.7).

To summarize the notation, we let

$$\alpha e = af \qquad \beta f = be \qquad \beta_s f = b_s e \qquad (D\alpha)(e) = (Da)f$$

$$(5.11) \quad \alpha^* f = a^* e \qquad \beta^* e = b^* f \qquad \beta^*_s = b^*_s f \qquad (D\alpha^*)(f) = (Da^*)e.$$

define the matricies a, a^* , b, b^* , b_s , b_s^* , and Da, Da^* . We also let the matrix corresponding to the bundle map $P_s = \alpha \beta_s$ be denoted by P_s , the same symbol as the map, and similarly for $P \equiv \alpha \beta$.

$$(5.12) P_s f = P_s f Pf = Pf.$$

Our hermitian inner products define matrices

$$(5.13) h_E \equiv (\langle e_i, e_j \rangle_E) h_F \equiv (\langle f_i, f_j \rangle_F).$$

The following relationships are immediate. (We assume that rank $E \leq \operatorname{rank} F$ in the formulas containing $(aa^*)^{-1}$).

(5.14)
$$a^* = h_F \bar{a}^t h_E^{-1}$$
 $b^* = h_E \bar{b}^t h_F^{-1}$ $b_s^* = h_E \bar{b}_s^t h_F^{-1}$

(5.15)
$$b = a^* (aa^*)^{-1} \qquad b_s = a^* (aa^*)^{-1} \chi \left(\frac{aa^*}{s^2}\right)$$

(5.16)
$$P = ba = a^*(aa^*)^{-1}a \qquad P_s = b_s a = a^*(aa^*)^{-1}\chi\left(\frac{aa^*}{s^2}\right)a$$

(5.17)
$$Da = da + a\omega_F - \omega_E a$$
 $Da^* = da^* + a^*\omega_E - \omega_F a^*$.

The notation

$$\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{aa^*}{s^2}\right) = ab_s$$

will also be used.

Let $a^* \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*}$ denote the vector field that replaces da^* by a^* . This is essentially the (0,1) Euler vector field in Remark 5.24 below. Let $\ \ \ \ \$ denote the operation of contraction.

Lemma 5.19. In both the injective and the surjective cases, one has that

$$(5.20) \frac{\partial}{\partial s}b_s ds = -a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \sqcup db_s \frac{ds^2}{s^2}.$$

Proof. Note that, in the injective case, $a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \sqcup d\left(a^*(aa^*)^{-1}\right)$

$$= a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \perp \left(da^* (aa^*)^{-1} - a^* (aa^*)^{-1} (daa^* + ada^*) (aa^*)^{-1} \right) = 0.$$

Using power series to differentiate $\chi\left(\frac{aa^*}{s^2}\right)$ in $b_s = a^*(aa^*)^{-1}\chi\left(\frac{aa^*}{s^2}\right)$ yields (5.20). The proof in the surjective case is similar. \square

Proposition 5.21. Pushforward. The transgression integrand can be expressed as

$$\phi\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\omega_{s}ds\;;\;\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s}\right) = -a^{*}\frac{\partial}{\partial a^{*}} \sqcup \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s})\frac{ds^{2}}{s^{2}},$$

and hence the transgression form T_s is given by

(5.23)
$$T_s = -\int_{s}^{\infty} a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \, \lfloor \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) \frac{ds^2}{s^2}.$$

Proof. Since

$$a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \, \sqcup \, \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) = \phi \left(a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \, \sqcup \, \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \right)$$

it suffices to prove that

$$-a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \bigsqcup \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \frac{ds^2}{s^2} = \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \overrightarrow{\omega}_s ds.$$

Note that $a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \sqcup Da = 0$ and $a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \sqcup d(Da) = 0$. Since $\overrightarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_F - b_s Da$ it follows that

$$-a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \bigsqcup \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \frac{ds^2}{s^2} = \left(a^* \frac{\partial}{\partial a^*} \bigsqcup db_s\right) (Da) \frac{ds^2}{s^2}$$

which equals

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial s}b_s(Da)ds = -\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\overrightarrow{\omega}_s ds$$

by Lemma 5.19. \square

Remark 5.24. Euler vector fields. Let $\pi: V \longrightarrow X$ be a smooth complex vector bundle with almost complex structure J. Then there are two real Euler vector fields on the total space of V, ϵ and $J\epsilon$. The field ϵ exists on any real bundle and generates the flow $\varphi_t(v) = e^t v$ given by scalar multiplication by e^t . The field $J\epsilon$ corresponds to the flow $\psi_t(v) = e^{it}v = \cos(t)v + \sin(t)Jv$. These give rise to the complex Euler vector fields:

$$\epsilon_{1,0} = \frac{1}{2}(\epsilon - iJ\epsilon)$$
 $\epsilon_{0,1} = \frac{1}{2}(\epsilon + iJ\epsilon)$

Suppose that $(f_1(x), \ldots, f_n(x))$ is a local framing of V defined in a coordinate patch U on X. Then we have a diffeomorphism $\pi^{-1}(U) \xrightarrow{\approx} U \times \mathbf{C}^n$ given by $\sum z_i f_j(x) \mapsto (x; z_1, \ldots, z_n)$. In these coordinates on V we have that

$$\epsilon_{1,0} = z \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$$
 and $\epsilon_{0,1} = \bar{z} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}}$.

Notice that $\epsilon_{1,0} \sqcup (dz_j) = z_j$ and $\epsilon_{1,0} \sqcup (d\bar{z}_j) = 0$.

Consider now a hermitian inner product h on V. Then h corresponds to a complex antilinear isomorphism

$$\mathbf{h}: V \xrightarrow{\approx} V^*.$$

Since h commutes with scalar multiplication by real numbers and since $h \circ J = -J \circ h$, we see that under this diffeomorphism,

$$\mathbf{h}_{*}(\epsilon_{1,0}) = \epsilon_{0,1}^{*} \text{ and } \mathbf{h}_{*}(\epsilon_{0,1}) = \epsilon_{1,0}^{*}$$

where $\epsilon_{1,0}^*$ and $\epsilon_{0,1}^*$ are the complex Euler vector fields on V^* . Now under \mathbf{h} , the local framing $(f_1(x), \ldots, f_n(x))$ of V corresponds to a local framing

 $(\mathbf{h}_*f_1(x),\ldots,\mathbf{h}_*f_n(x))$ of V^* . Let (z_1^*,\ldots,z_n^*) be the linear complex fibre coordinates on V^* with respect to this framing. Then the equations above can be rewritten as

$$\mathbf{h}_* \left(z \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \right) = \bar{z}^* \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}^*} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{h}_* \bar{z} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}} = z^* \frac{\partial}{\partial z^*}.$$

To fit this discussion into the above context, let V = Hom(E, F) and note that $V^* = \text{Hom}(F, E)$.

6. The Fundamental Case - Injective Conformal.

Assume that rank $E \leq \operatorname{rank} F$ and that $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is injective outside it's singular set (i.e., we are in the injective case). In addition, assume that:

(6.1)
$$\alpha^* \alpha = |\alpha|^2 \mathrm{Id}_E$$

is a scalar multiple, $|\alpha|^2$, of the identity map on sections of E. This situation will be referred to as the **injective conformal case**. It has wide applications and forms the working hypothesis for most of the subsequent discussion in this paper. (There is incidentally a dual "surjective conformal" case which can be treated analogously, but the details of this will not be presented here.) In this section we explicitly compute the curvature for the pullback and pushforward families in this case.

The formulas will be valid for any approximate one χ . For general bundle maps it is often better to restrict to algebraic approximation mode. However, the general approximate one is particularly well suited to the injective conformal case.

In the following we let $R=D^2$ denote the curvature operator associated to a connection D. In a local frame f, we have $Rf=\Omega f$ where Ω is the curvature matrix of 2-forms.

Theorem 6.2. Suppose $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is injective conformal and that χ is a general approximate one. Let $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|\alpha|^2}{s^2}\right)$ and $\chi'_s \equiv \chi'\left(\frac{|\alpha|^2}{s^2}\right)$. Consider the pullback

family $\overleftarrow{D}_s = D_E + \chi_s \frac{\alpha^*(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^2}$ of connections on E and the pushforward family $\overrightarrow{D}_s = D_F - \chi_s \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}$ of connections on F. Then the curvature is given by:

(6.3)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s}) R_{E} + \chi_{s} \overleftarrow{R}_{0} + \chi'_{s} \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{\alpha^{*} D \alpha}{|a|^{2}}$$
$$- \chi_{s} (1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{\alpha^{*} (D\alpha) \alpha^{*} (D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{4}},$$

where

(6.4)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_0 = \frac{\alpha^* R_F \alpha}{|\alpha|^2} + \frac{(D\alpha^*) \left(1 - \frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}\right) (D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^2},$$

and

(6.5)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s}) R_{F} + \chi_{s} \overrightarrow{R}_{0} - \chi'_{s} \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}} - \chi_{s} (1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{4}},$$

where

(6.6)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_{0} = \left(R_{F} + \frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^{*})}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right) \left(1 - \frac{\alpha\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right) + \frac{\alpha R_{E}\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}.$$

Remark 6.7. The matrix forms of these equations are as follows (let $|a|^2 \equiv aa^* = |\alpha|^2$)

(6.8)
$$\overleftarrow{\Omega}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s})\Omega_{E} + \chi_{s}\overleftarrow{\Omega}_{0} - \chi'_{s}\frac{|a|^{2}}{s^{2}}\frac{(Da)a^{*}}{|a|^{2}}\frac{d|a|^{2}}{|a|^{2}} + \chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s})\frac{(Da)a^{*}(Da)a^{*}}{|a|^{4}},$$

where

(6.9)
$$\overleftarrow{\Omega}_{0} = \frac{a\Omega_{F}a^{*}}{|a|^{2}} - \frac{(Da)\left(1 - \frac{a^{*}a}{|a|^{2}}\right)(Da^{*})}{|a|^{2}},$$

and

(6.10)
$$\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s})\Omega_{F} + \chi_{s} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{0} + \chi'_{s} \frac{|a|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{a^{*}(Da)}{|a|^{2}} \frac{d|a|^{2}}{|a|^{2}} + \chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{a^{*}(Da)a^{*}(Da)}{|a|^{4}},$$

where

(6.11)
$$\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{0} = \left(1 - \frac{a^{*}a}{|a|^{2}}\right) \left(\Omega_{F} - \frac{(Da^{*})(Da)}{|a|^{2}}\right) + \frac{a^{*}\Omega_{E}a}{|a|^{2}}.$$

The matrix form of $D\alpha$ is

$$(6.12) Da \equiv da + a\omega_F - \omega_E a$$

while

$$(6.13) Da^* \equiv da^* + a^*\omega_E - \omega_E a^*$$

is the matrix form of $D\alpha^*$. The gauges are given by

(6.14)
$$\overleftarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_E + \chi_s \frac{(Da)a^*}{|a|^2} \quad \text{and} \quad \overrightarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_F - \chi_s \frac{a^*Da}{|a|^2}.$$

It is possible to give a straightforward verification of these curvature formula in matrix form. This is left to the interested reader.

Proof. First note that

$$\overleftarrow{R}_{s} = \overleftarrow{D}_{s}^{2} = \left(D_{E} + \chi_{s} \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right)^{2}$$

$$= D_{E}^{2} + \chi_{s} \frac{\alpha^{*}(D^{2}\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi_{s} \frac{(D\alpha^{*})(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} - \chi_{s} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}}$$

$$+ \chi'_{s} \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi'_{s} \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{4}}.$$

Substituting

(6.15)
$$\frac{d|\alpha|^2}{|\alpha|^2} = \frac{(D\alpha^*)\alpha}{|\alpha|^2} + \frac{\alpha^*(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^2},$$

which follows from the conformal hypothesis, and $D^2\alpha=R_H(\alpha)$ where $H\equiv \text{Hom}(E,F)$, into this equation yields the equation (6.17) in the next result.

Proposition 6.16. Suppose $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is injective conformal

(6.17)
$$\frac{\overleftarrow{R}_{s}}{R_{s}} = R_{E} + \chi_{s} \frac{\alpha^{*}R_{H}(\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi_{s} \frac{(D\alpha^{*})\left(1 - \frac{\alpha\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right)(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi'_{s} \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} - \chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{4}}.$$

Setting $\chi_s \equiv 1$ (and hence $\chi_s' \equiv 0$) yields

(6.18)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_{0} = R_{E} + \frac{\alpha^{*}R_{H}(\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \frac{(D\alpha^{*})\left(1 - \frac{\alpha\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right)(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}}$$

so that (6.17) can be written as (6.3).

This completes the proof of the pullback portion of Theorem 6.2 except for verifying that the two formula (6.4) and (6.18) for \overleftarrow{R}_0 are equal. Since $D_H(\alpha) = D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E$, note that

$$R_H(\alpha) = D_H^2 \alpha = D_H(D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E)$$
$$= D_F(D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E) + (D_F \alpha - \alpha D_E)D_E$$
$$= D_F^2 \alpha - \alpha D_E^2 = R_F \alpha - \alpha R_E.$$

That is,

$$(6.19) R_H(\alpha) = R_F \alpha - \alpha R_E.$$

Therefore

(6.20)
$$\frac{\alpha^* R_F(\alpha)}{|\alpha|^2} = R_E + \frac{\alpha^* R_H(\alpha)}{|\alpha|^2}$$

which verifies that (6.4) and (6.18) are equivalent.

Proposition 6.21. Suppose $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is injective conformal. Then

(6.22)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_{s} = R_{F} - \chi_{s} \frac{R_{H}(\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi_{s} \frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^{*})}{|\alpha|^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{\alpha\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right) - \chi_{s}' \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}} - \chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{4}}.$$

Setting $\chi_s \equiv 1$ (and $\chi_s' \equiv 0$) yields

(6.23)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_{0} = R_{F} - \frac{R_{H}(\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^{*})}{|\alpha|^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{\alpha\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right),$$

so that (6.22) can be rewritten as (6.5).

Proof. Similar to the pullback case

$$\overrightarrow{R}_{s} = \overrightarrow{D}_{s}^{2} = \left(D_{F} - \chi_{s} \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right)^{2}$$

$$= D_{F}^{2} - \chi_{s} \frac{(D^{2}\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi_{s} \frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^{*})}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi_{s} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}$$

$$- \chi'_{s} \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \chi_{s}^{2} \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{4}}.$$

Substituting

$$|d|\alpha|^2(D\alpha)\alpha^* = -(D\alpha)d|\alpha|^2\alpha^* = -(D\alpha)(D\alpha^*)\alpha\alpha^* - (D\alpha)\alpha^*(D\alpha)\alpha^*$$

and $D^2\alpha = R_H(\alpha)$ into this formula yields (6.22). \square

To complete the proof of Theorem 6.2 we must show that

(6.24)
$$\frac{R_H(\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} = \frac{R_F\alpha\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} - \frac{\alpha R_E\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}$$

to conclude that the two formulas (6.6) and (6.23) for \overrightarrow{R}_0 are equivalent. However, (6.24) follows immediately from (6.19). \square

Remark 6.25. A third proof of Theorem 6.2 is outlined as follows. To be specific we discuss the pullback case. First verify directly the formula for \overleftarrow{R}_0 . Then note that $\overleftarrow{D}_s = (1 - \chi_s)D_F + \chi_s \overleftarrow{D}_0$ is a convex combination of connections and use the general identity

$$(6.26) \qquad ((1-x)B+xC)^2 = (1-x)B^2 + xC^2 - x(1-x)(C-B)^2,$$

valid for any pair of non commuting operators B and C and any scalar variable x.

7. Curvature and the Algebraic Approximation Mode.

The curvatures \overleftarrow{R}_s and \overrightarrow{R}_s are computed in this section without the conformal assumption, but assuming the algebraic approximation mode. Actually, the first three propositions are valid for any approximate one γ .

Proposition 7.1. The connection $\overleftarrow{D}_s \equiv D_E + \beta_s D_H(\alpha)$ has curvature

(7.2)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_s = R_E + \beta_s R_H(\alpha) + \left(D(\beta_s) + \beta_s (D\alpha)\beta_s\right)(D\alpha).$$

The connection $\overrightarrow{D}_s \equiv D_F - D_H(\alpha)\beta_s$ has curvature

(7.3)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_s = R_F - R_H(\alpha)\beta_s + (D\alpha)\left(D(\beta_s) + \beta_s(D\alpha)\beta_s\right)$$

Recall that in the injective case $\beta_s = \chi\left(\frac{\alpha^*\alpha}{s^2}\right)(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^*$ while in the surjective case $\beta_s = \alpha^*(\alpha\alpha^*)^{-1}\chi\left(\frac{\alpha\alpha^*}{s^2}\right)$.

Proof.

$$\overleftarrow{R}_s = \overleftarrow{D}_s^2 = \left(D_E + \beta_s(D\alpha)\right)^2
= D_E^2 + \beta_s(D^2\alpha) + (D\beta_s)(D\alpha) + \beta_s(D\alpha)\beta_s(D\alpha)
= R_E + \beta_s R_H(\alpha) + (D\beta_s + \beta_s(D\alpha)\beta_s)(D\alpha)$$

verifies (7.2). The proof of (7.3) is similar and omitted. \square

Since $R_H(\alpha) = R_F \alpha - \alpha R_E$ the formulas may be written as follows.

7.4. Injective Case. Set $\chi_s \equiv \chi(\frac{\alpha^* \alpha}{s^2}) = \beta_s \alpha$ and $P_s \equiv \alpha \beta_s$. Note that $\chi_s \to 1$ and $P_s \to P \equiv \alpha(\alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^*$ outside the singular locus, as $s \to 0$. Then

(7.5)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_s = (1 - \chi_s)R_E + \beta_s R_F \alpha + \left(D\beta_s + \beta_s (D\alpha)\beta_s\right)(D\alpha)$$

(7.6)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_s = R_F(1 - P_s) + \alpha R_E \beta_s + (D\alpha) \left(D\beta_s + \beta_s (D\alpha) \beta_s \right).$$

7.7. Surjective Case. Set $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{\alpha\alpha^*}{s^2}\right) = \alpha\beta_s$ and $P_s = \beta_s\alpha$. Note that $\chi_s \to 1$ and $P_s \to P \equiv \alpha^*(\alpha\alpha^*)^{-1}\alpha$ outside the singular locus, as $s \to 0$. Then

(7.8)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_s = (1 - P_s)R_E + \beta_s R_F \alpha + \left(D\beta_s + \beta_s (D\alpha)\beta_s\right)(D\alpha).$$

(7.9)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_s = R_F(1-\chi_s) + \alpha R_E \beta_s + (D\alpha) \left(D\beta_s + \beta_s (D\alpha) \beta_s \right).$$

Lemma 7.10. In the algebraic approximation mode one has

$$(7.11) D\beta_s + \beta_s(D\alpha)\beta_s = s^2(s^2 + \alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}(D\alpha^*)(s^2 + \alpha\alpha^*)^{-1}.$$

Proof. In the algebraic approximation mode

(7.12)
$$\beta_s = (s^2 + \alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^* = \alpha^* (s^2 + \alpha \alpha^*)^{-1}.$$

Using the first equality, we have

$$D\beta_{s} + \beta_{s}(D\alpha)\beta_{s} = (s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}(D\alpha^{*}) - (s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}(D\alpha^{*})\alpha(s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^{*}$$
$$- (s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)(s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^{*} + (s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)(s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^{*}$$
$$= (s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}(D\alpha^{*})(1 - \alpha(s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^{*}).$$

However,
$$1 - \alpha(s^2 + \alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^* = 1 - (s^2 + \alpha\alpha^*)^{-1}\alpha\alpha^* = s^2(s^2 + \alpha\alpha^*)^{-1}$$
. \square

Note that in the algebraic approximation mode

(7.13)
$$\alpha \beta_s = \alpha (s^2 + \alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^* = \alpha \alpha^* (s^2 + \alpha \alpha^*)^{-1}$$
$$\beta_s \alpha = (s^2 + \alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^* \alpha = \alpha^* (s^2 + \alpha \alpha^*)^{-1} \alpha.$$

The following main result is an immediate consequence of 7.4, 7.7 and 7.10.

Theorem 7.14. In the algebraic approximation mode

(7.15)
$$\overline{R}_{s} = s^{2}(s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}R_{E} + (s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^{*}R_{F}\alpha$$

$$+ s^{2}(s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}(D\alpha^{*})(s^{2} + \alpha\alpha^{*})^{-1}(D\alpha),$$

$$\overline{R}_{s} = R_{F}s^{2}(s^{2} + \alpha\alpha^{*})^{-1} + \alpha R_{E}\alpha^{*}(s^{2} + \alpha\alpha^{*})^{-1}$$

$$+ s^{2}(D\alpha)(s^{2} + \alpha^{*}\alpha)^{-1}(D\alpha^{*})(s^{2} + \alpha\alpha^{*})^{-1}.$$

$$(7.16)$$

To compute the limit as s approaches zero, outside the singular locus, we must distinguish between the injective and the surjective case.

Proposition 7.17. Injective Case. Let $P \equiv \alpha(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^*$ denote orthogonal projection from F onto the target bundle $T \equiv \operatorname{im} \alpha$, defined outside the singular set. In the algebraic approximation mode

$$(7.18) \qquad \stackrel{\leftarrow}{R}_0 = (\alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} \alpha^* R_F \alpha + (\alpha^* \alpha)^{-1} (D\alpha^*) (1 - P) (D\alpha)$$

and

$$(7.19) \quad \overrightarrow{R}_0 = R_F(1-P) + (D\alpha)(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}(D\alpha^*)(1-P) + \alpha R_E(\alpha^*\alpha)^{-1}\alpha^*.$$

Proposition 7.20. Surjective Case. Let $P \equiv \alpha^*(\alpha \alpha^*)^{-1}\alpha$ denote orthogonal projection from E to K^{\perp} where $K \equiv \ker \alpha$ is the kernel bundle of α defined outside the singular set. In the algebraic approximation mode

(7.21)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_0 = (1-P)R_E + (1-P)(D\alpha^*)(\alpha\alpha^*)^{-1}(D\alpha) + \alpha^*(\alpha\alpha^*)^{-1}R_F\alpha$$
and

(7.22)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_0 = \alpha R_E \alpha^* (\alpha \alpha^*)^{-1} + (D\alpha)(1 - P)(D\alpha^*)(\alpha \alpha^*)^{-1}.$$

Of course, in the equirank case

(7.23)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_0 = \alpha^{-1} R_F \alpha \text{ and } \overrightarrow{R}_0 = \alpha R_E \alpha^{-1}.$$

8. Universal Formulae and a Universal Compactification.

In this section we will derive some formulas for the pullback family of connections under the universal homomorphism. It will be shown that in this setting the algebraic approximation mode has a natural "compactification". More specifically, the approximating families of connections will be shown to arise from a simple construction which extends smoothly to a fibrewise compactification of the space $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. As a consequence, we will see that in algebraic approximation mode our families of connections are intimately related to MacPherson's

Grassmann graph construction (cf. [BFM]). This gives some philosophical preference to this particular method of approximation.

We shall adopt the notation of Section 3 where $\mathbf{E} \xrightarrow{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} \mathbf{F}$ denotes the universal homomorphism over $\mathrm{Hom}(E,F), \ \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}} \ \mathrm{or} \ \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha}$ denote the singular pushforward connection on \mathbf{F} induced by α , and $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}$ or $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha}$ denote the singular pullback connection on \mathbf{E} induced by α .

Definition 8.1. Using the algebraic approximation mode we define, as in Section 4, the universal approximating families

(8.2)
$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s} = (\boldsymbol{\alpha}^* \boldsymbol{\alpha} + s^2)^{-1} (s^2 \mathbf{D_E} + \boldsymbol{\alpha}^* \mathbf{D_F} \boldsymbol{\alpha}) \quad \text{on } \mathbf{E}$$

$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s} = (s^2 \mathbf{D_F} + \boldsymbol{\alpha} \mathbf{D_E} \boldsymbol{\alpha}^*) (\boldsymbol{\alpha} \boldsymbol{\alpha}^* + s^2)^{-1} \quad \text{on } \mathbf{F}.$$

Using the universal adjoint homomorphism we can define connections $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^*}$ on \mathbf{E} and $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^*}$ on \mathbf{F} . In the algebraic approximation mode, we get approximating families

(8.3)
$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^{\star},s} = (s^{2}\mathbf{D}_{E} + \alpha^{*}\mathbf{D}_{F}\alpha)(\alpha^{*}\alpha + s^{2})^{-1} \quad \text{on } \mathbf{E}$$

$$\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^{\star},s} = (\alpha\alpha^{*} + s^{2})^{-1}(s^{2}\mathbf{D}_{F} + \alpha\mathbf{D}_{E}\alpha^{*}) \quad \text{on } \mathbf{F}.$$

Proposition 8.4. Over Hom(E, F)

$$\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s} \cong \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^*,s}$$
 on \mathbf{E} and $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s} \cong \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^*,s}$ on \mathbf{F} .

where "\approx" denotes gauge equivalence.

Proof. Define
$$h: \mathbf{E} \longrightarrow \mathbf{E}$$
 by $h = \alpha^* \alpha + s^2$. Then $h \circ \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s} \circ h^{-1} = \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^*,s}$. Similarly, if $\tilde{h}: \mathbf{F} \longrightarrow \mathbf{F}$ is given by $\tilde{h} = \alpha \alpha^* + s^2$, then $\tilde{h} \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^*,s} \circ \tilde{h}^{-1} = \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s}$. \square

Remark 8.5. In terms of local frames and local coordinates this universal point of view is equivalent to considering the matrix-valued function a defined by $\alpha e = af$ as an independent variable on the total space of Hom(E, F). For example, the gauge (see (5.6) and (5.10))

(8.6)
$$\overleftarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_E + (da + a\omega_F - \omega_E a)a^*(aa^* + s^2)^{-1}$$

for \overleftarrow{D}_s (where a is matrix-valued function on the base manifold) can now be considered as the gauge for $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s}$ where a is the fiber variable on $\mathrm{Hom}(E,F)$.

This universal construction can be compactified in the vertical directions of the total space of Hom(E,F) as follows. Let

$$(8.7) G_p(E \oplus F) \xrightarrow{\pi} X$$

denote the bundle over X whose fibre above $x \in X$ is the Grassmann manifold of p-dimensional linear subspaces of $E_x \oplus F_x$. There is a natural inclusion

$$\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \subset G_p(E \oplus F)$$

which associates to the homomorphism $\alpha: E_x \longrightarrow F_x$ its graph, $P_\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=}$ graph $\alpha = \{(e, \alpha(e)) : e \in E_x\} \subset E_x \oplus F_x$. Let $\mathbf{E} = \pi^*E$ and $\mathbf{F} = \alpha^*F$ denote the pullbacks over $G_p(E \oplus F)$ of the bundles E and F. (Restricted to $\text{Hom}(E, F) \subset G_p(E \oplus F)$ they agree with the bundles above). Then there is a **tautological** or **universal p-dimensional subbundle** $U \subset \mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$ whose fibre at a point $P \in G_p(E_x \oplus F_x)$ above $x \in X$ consists of the vectors in P. Over the open set $\text{Hom}(E, F) \subset G_p(E \oplus F)$, the universal subbundle U is just the graph of the universal homomorphism α .

Consider now the flow $\psi_s: E \oplus F \longrightarrow E \oplus F$ defined by

(8.8)
$$\psi_s(e,f) = (se,f) \quad \text{for } s \in \mathbf{R}^+.$$

This induces a flow $\Psi_s: G_p(E \oplus F) \longrightarrow G_p(E \oplus F)$. For each s, we let

$$U_s = \Psi_s^*(U)$$

denote the pullback of the universal bundle via Ψ_s . At a p-plane $P \subset E \oplus F$, the fibre of U_s is

$$(U_s)_{\{P\}} = \Psi_s(\{P\}) = \psi_s(P).$$

If P lies in the open chart $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \subset G_p(E,F)$, i.e. $P \equiv \operatorname{graph} \alpha$, then the fibre of U_s is just graph $\frac{1}{s}\alpha$. Assume as before that there are metrics given on \mathbf{E} and \mathbf{F} . Then for each s, there is an orthogonal splitting

(8.9)
$$\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} = U_s \oplus U_s^{\perp}.$$

There are induced connections on these subbundles defined as follows. Let

(8.10)
$$\operatorname{pr}_s : \mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} \longrightarrow U_s \text{ and } \operatorname{pr}_s^{\perp} : \mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} \to U_s^{\perp}$$

denote the orthogonal bundle projections.

Definition 8.11. The connections D_{U_s} on U_s and $D_{U_s^{\perp}}$ on U_s^{\perp} induced from the direct sum connection on $E \oplus F$ are given by

$$D_{U_s} = \operatorname{pr}_s \circ \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}} \quad \text{and} \quad D_{U_s^{\perp}} = \operatorname{pr}_s^{\perp} \circ \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}}$$

operating on sections of U_s and U_s^{\perp} respectively.

Over the open dense subset $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \subset G_p(E \oplus F)$, the splitting $U_s \oplus U_s^{\perp}$ is gauge equivalent to the splitting $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$. Specifically, consider the family of maps

$$g_s: \mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} \longrightarrow \mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$$

defined over Hom(E, F) by

$$(8.12) g_s = \begin{pmatrix} s & -\alpha^* \\ \alpha & s \end{pmatrix}.$$

One sees easily that

$$g_s(\mathbf{E} \oplus \{0\}) = U_s \text{ and } g_s(\{0\} \oplus \mathbf{F}) = U_s^{\perp}.$$

Let γ_s denote g_s restricted to $\mathbf{E} \equiv \mathbf{E} \oplus \{0\}$ and let $\tilde{\gamma}_s \equiv g_s$ restricted to $\mathbf{F} \equiv \{0\} \oplus \mathbf{F}$. Straightforward calculation reveals the following important fact

$$(8.13) \begin{array}{l} g_s^{-1} \circ \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{D_E} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbf{D_F} \end{pmatrix} \circ g_s = \\ \begin{pmatrix} \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s} & (\alpha^* \boldsymbol{\alpha} + s^2)^{-1} s (\alpha^* \mathbf{D_F} - \mathbf{D_E} \boldsymbol{\alpha}^*) \\ (\alpha \alpha^* + s^2)^{-1} s (\mathbf{D_F} \boldsymbol{\alpha} - \alpha \mathbf{D_E}) & \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*,s} \end{pmatrix}. \end{array}$$

Theorem 8.14. Over the open subset $Hom(E, F) \subset G_p(E \oplus F)$, consider the bundle isomorphisms

$$\gamma_s: \mathbf{E} \longrightarrow U_s \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{\gamma}_s: \mathbf{F} \longrightarrow U_s^{\perp}$$

defined for s > 0 by

$$\gamma_s(e) = se + \alpha(e)$$
 and $\tilde{\gamma}_s(f) = sf - \alpha^*(f)$.

Then

(8.15)
$$\gamma_s^{-1} \circ \mathbf{D}_{U_s} \circ \gamma_s = \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\gamma}_s^{-1} \circ \mathbf{D}_{U_s^{\perp}} \circ \widetilde{\gamma}_s = \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^{*}.s}.$$

If we set $\delta_s = \gamma_s \circ (\alpha^* \alpha + s^2)^{-1}$ and $\tilde{\delta}_s = \tilde{\gamma}_s \circ (\alpha \alpha^* + s^2)^{-1}$, then

(8.16)
$$\delta_s^{-1} \circ \mathbf{D}_{U_s} \circ \delta_s = \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha^{\bullet}, s} \quad \text{and} \quad \widetilde{\delta}_s^{-1} \circ \mathbf{D}_{U_s^{\perp}} \circ \widetilde{\delta}_s = \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha, s}.$$

Proof. The first part follows from (8.12) and (8.13). The second follows from 8.4. \Box

Suppose now that ϕ and ψ are adjoint-invariant polynomials on \mathfrak{gl}_p and \mathfrak{gl}_q respectively (where $q = \operatorname{rank}(F)$). Then by Theorem 8.14 we see that

$$\phi\left(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s}\right) = \phi\left(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{\star},s}\right) = \phi(\mathbf{D}_{U_{s}})$$

and

$$\psi\left(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s}\right) = \psi\left(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^{\star},s}\right) = \psi(\mathbf{D}_{U_{s}^{\perp}}).$$

Now the bundles U_s and U_s^{\perp} together with their connections are globally defined on $G_p(\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F})$. Consequently, we have

Corollary 8.17. For all invariant polynomials ϕ and ψ as above, and for all s>0, the forms $\phi\left(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s}\right)$ and $\psi\left(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s}\right)$ extend smoothly to all of $G_p(\mathbf{E}\oplus\mathbf{F})$. Consequently, integration over the fibre of the map $\pi:G_p(\mathbf{E}\oplus\mathbf{F})\longrightarrow X$ gives a well-defined smooth forms $\pi_*\phi\left(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s}\right)$ and $\pi_*\psi\left(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s}\right)$ on X.

Theorem 8.14 has an interesting consequence that will be useful in Chapter III.

Theorem 8.18. For each s>0 there exists a smooth form τ_s on $G_p(\mathbf{E}\oplus\mathbf{F})$ with

$$(8.19) c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}) = c(D_{U_s})c(D_{U_r^{\perp}}) + d\tau_s on G_p(\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}).$$

Moreover, on the open subset $Hom(E,F) \subset G_p(\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F})$, we have

(8.20)
$$c(D_{U_s}) = c(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s}) \text{ and } c(D_{U_r^{\perp}}) = c(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s}).$$

Proof. The direct sum connection $\mathbf{D_E} \oplus \mathbf{D_F}$ on $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$ can be blocked with respect to $U_s \oplus U_s^{\perp}$ in the form

(8.21)
$$\mathbf{D_E} \oplus \mathbf{D_F} = \begin{pmatrix} D_{U_s} & A_{12} \\ A_{21} & D_{U^{\perp}} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since $A_{21} = \operatorname{pr}_s^{\perp} \circ \mathbf{D_E} \oplus \mathbf{D_F} \circ \operatorname{pr}_s$ is a tensor (i.e., $A_{21}(f\sigma) = fA_{21}(\sigma)$ for smooth functions f on X and smooth sections σ), we see that

$$D(y) = \begin{pmatrix} D_{U_s} & A_{12} \\ yA_{21} & D_{U_s^{\perp}} \end{pmatrix}$$

defines a smooth family of connections for $0 \le y \le 1$. Let τ_s denote the transgression form for this family with respect to the total Chern polynomial. Then

(8.22)
$$c(\mathbf{D}(1)) - c(\mathbf{D}(0)) = d\tau_s \quad \text{on } G_p(\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}).$$

Since $\mathbf{D}(1) = \mathbf{D_E} \oplus \mathbf{D_F}$ and $\mathbf{D}(0)$ is upper triangular with diagonal entries D_{U_s} and $D_{U_s^{\perp}}$, equation (8.19) follows. The identities (8.20) are a special case of Corollary 8.17. \square

We finish this section with two remarks concerning the constructions above.

Remark 8.23. The parameter s in (8.8) can be taken to be complex. If E and F are holomorphic bundles over a complex manifold, then the flow Ψ_s is holomorphic. The discussion and theorems continue to hold in this case with s^2 replaced in the formulas by $|s|^2$.

Remark 8.24. The main constructions above can be reformulated entirely in terms of a change of metric as follows. For each s > 0, consider the metric

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_s = s^2 \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_E + \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_F$$

on $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$ over $G_p(E \oplus F)$. With respect to this there is an orthogonal splitting

$$(8.25) \mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} = U \oplus U^{\perp_s}$$

where $U = U_1$ is the tautological subbundle. With respect to the blocking (8.25), the direct sum connection can be written in the form:

(8.26)
$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}} \oplus \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}} = \begin{pmatrix} D_U^s & B_{12} \\ B_{21} & D_{U^{\perp}s}^s \end{pmatrix}.$$

Theorem 8.27. Over the open dense subset $Hom(E, F) \subset G_p(E \oplus F)$, there are gauge equivalences:

$$D_U^s \cong \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha},s} \quad and \quad D_{U^{\perp_s}}^s = \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\boldsymbol{\alpha}^*,s}.$$

Proof. The flow Ψ_s , defined above, lifts to a natural action $(\Psi_s)_*$ on the bundle $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$ given by $(\Psi_s)_*(e,f) = (se,f)$. Note that

- (1) $(\Psi_s)_*(U_s) = (\Psi_s)_*((\Psi_s)^*U) = U,$
- (2) $(\Psi_s)_*$ preserves the direct sum connection $\mathbf{D_E} \oplus \mathbf{D_F}$,
- (3) $\langle (\Psi_s)_* v, (\Psi_s)_* w \rangle = \langle v, w \rangle_s \text{ for all } v, s \in (\Psi_s)_*.$

Hence, under the connection-preserving automorphism $(\Psi_s)_*$ of $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$, the splitting $U_s \oplus U_s^{\perp}$ of Theorem 8.14 is carried to the splitting $U \oplus U^{\perp_s}$. The result now follows from Theorem 8.14. \square

The universal setting will play an important role in the general theory. If one can first carry out the program, outlined in Section 1 above, in this universal case, then the general problem reduces to finding analytic-geometric conditions on the section

 $\alpha: X \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ so that the current equations established in the universal case (over $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$) can be pulled back via α to analogous equations on X. This first serious application of this principle will be given in Chapter III. More general residue theorems will be proved in this manner in a subsequent paper.

9. Universal Desingularization.

In this section we show that the blow-up of $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ introduced in §3 extends to the universal compactification $G_p(E \oplus F) \supset \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$, and that the lifts of the limiting characteristic forms on $\sim \Sigma$ extend to all of this space as smooth d-closed forms. In particular, Proposition 9.11 below generalizes Theorems 3.10 and 3.16 to the compactification. These results give insight into and control over the limiting characteristic currents.

Let E, F and $G_p(E \oplus F)$ be as in the previous section. We consider the open

dense subsets

$$H = \{ P \in G_p(E \oplus F) : P \cap \mathbf{F} = \{0\} \} = \operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$$

$$\mathcal{R} = \{ P \in G_p(E \oplus F) : P \cap \mathbf{E} = \{0\} \} = G_p(E \oplus F) - \overline{\Sigma}.$$

Let $H^{\times} = \operatorname{Hom}^{\times}(E, F)$ denote $H \cap \mathcal{R}$. This is the set of graphs of all **injective** homomorphisms from \mathbf{E} to \mathbf{F} . The complement $H - H^{\times} = \Sigma$ corresponds to all **singular** homomorphisms.

Note that the natural projection $p_F: \mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} \longrightarrow \mathbf{F}$ determines a projection

$$(9.1) p_F: \mathcal{R} \longrightarrow G_p(F),$$

with the property that for graph $\alpha \in H^{\times} \subset \mathcal{R}$, we have $p_F(\operatorname{graph}(\alpha)) = \operatorname{image}(\alpha)$. Over $G_p(F)$ the pullback bundle F has a canonical splitting

$$\mathbf{F} = T \oplus T^{\perp}$$

where T is the p-dimensional tautological subbundle.

Lemma 9.2. Over the subset \mathcal{R} the decomposition $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} = U_s \oplus U_s^{\perp}$ extends smoothly to s = 0, where

(9.3)
$$U_0 = p_F^*(T) \text{ and } U_0^{\perp} = \mathbf{E} \oplus p_F^*(T^{\perp}).$$

Over the subset H the decomposition $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} = U_s \oplus U_s^{\perp}$ extends smoothly to $s = \infty$, where

(9.4)
$$U_{\infty} = \mathbf{E} \quad and \quad U_{\infty}^{\perp} = \mathbf{F}.$$

Proof. We show that U_s extends smoothly on \mathcal{R} to s=0. It will suffice to prove this in the case where $X=\{\mathrm{pt}\}$ by the local triviality of the flow on the bundle. The flow Ψ_s is algebraic, and at each point $\{P\}\in G_p(E\oplus F)$ there exists a unique limit

$$\lim_{s\to 0} U_s = p_{\mathbf{F}}(P).$$

It is a general fact that algebraic maps with well-defined limits extend algebraically. This proves the first part of the Lemma 9.2. The second is obvious.

Corollary 9.5. Let $\mathbf{D}_T \oplus \mathbf{D}_{T^{\perp}}$ be the direct sum connection on $\mathbf{F} = T \oplus T^{\perp}$ over $G_p(F)$ obtained by projecting the pullback connection $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}$ onto the factors. Let ϕ and $\widetilde{\phi}$ be adjoint-invariant polynomials on gl_p and gl_q respectively (where $q = \dim F$). By Corollary 8.17 we know that $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s})$ and $\widetilde{\phi}(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\alpha,s})$ extend to forms Φ_s and $\widetilde{\Phi}_s$ defined smoothly on all of $G_p(E \oplus F)$. Then over the subset \mathcal{R} , we have that

(9.6)
$$\lim_{s\to 0} \Phi_s = p_F^* \{ \phi(\mathbf{D}_T) \} \quad and$$

(9.7)
$$\lim_{s \to 0} \widetilde{\Phi}_s = p_F^* \left\{ \widetilde{\phi} \left(\mathbf{D}_E \oplus \mathbf{D}_{T^{\perp}} \right) \right\}$$

where p_F is the projection (9.1).

Proof. By Theorem 8.14 we know that over the open dense subset $\mathcal{H} \equiv \operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$ both $\Phi_s = \phi(\mathbf{D}_{U_s})$ and $\widetilde{\Phi}_s = \widetilde{\phi}(\mathbf{D}_{U_s^{\perp}})$ for all s > 0, where \mathbf{D}_{U_s} and $\mathbf{D}_{U_s^{\perp}}$ are the connections defined on U_s and U_s^{\perp} respectively by projecting $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}} \oplus \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}$ via the orthogonal decomposition $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} = U_s \oplus U_s^{\perp}$. Applying Lemma 9.2 gives the result. \square

Our next observation is that there exists a natural blow-up $\widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$ of $G_p(E \oplus F)$ along $\overline{\Sigma}$ to which the map p_F extends smoothly. It is defined as usual by taking the closure of the graph of p_F in $G_p(E \oplus F) \times G_p(F)$, namely

$$(9.8) \qquad \widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F) = \{ (P, \Pi) \in G_p(E \oplus F) \times G_p(F) : p_F(P) \subseteq \Pi \}.$$

Lemma 9.9. The subset $\widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$ is a smooth submanifold. Projection onto the first factor in $G_p(E \oplus F) \times G_p(F)$ induces a projection

$$(9.10) \rho: \widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F) \longrightarrow G_p(E \oplus F)$$

which is a diffeomorphism over \mathcal{R} .

Proof. One checks that projection onto the second factor of $G_p(E \oplus F) \times G_p(F)$ is a smooth fibre bundle $\hat{p}_{\mathbf{F}} : \widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F) \longrightarrow G_p(F)$ whose fibre above Π is the set of all P with $p_{\mathbf{F}}(P) \subseteq \Pi$. Thus, $\widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$ is a submanifold. The second assertion is obvious. \square

Proposition 9.11. Let ϕ and $\widetilde{\phi}$ be as above and consider the smooth characteristic forms

$$\phi\left(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{E}}\right)\Big|_{H^{\times}}$$
 and $\widetilde{\phi}\left(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{F}}\right)\Big|_{H^{\times}}$

associated to the universal singular connections on the complement H^{\times} of Σ in H. In general these forms do not extend smoothly across Σ . However, the liftings of these forms via the projection ρ of (9.10) do extend smoothly to $\widetilde{H} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \rho^{-1}(H)$. In fact they extend smoothly to all of $\widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$.

Proof. As seen from Corollary 9.5 (or directly from (9.1) and (9.3)), we have that

$$\phi\left(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{E}}\right)\Big|_{H^{\times}} = p_{\mathbf{F}}^{*}\{\phi(\mathbf{D}_{T})\} \text{ and } \widetilde{\phi}\left(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{F}}\right)\Big|_{H^{\times}} = p_{\mathbf{F}}^{*}\{\widetilde{\phi}(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}} \oplus \mathbf{D}_{T^{\perp}})\}.$$

However, the bundles $p_{\mathbf{F}}^*T$, $p_{\mathbf{F}}^*T^{\perp}$, and \mathbf{E} , together with their connections, are defined smoothly over all of $\widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$. \square

Theorem 9.12. The smooth forms $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{E}})|_{H^{\times}}$ and $\widetilde{\phi}(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{F}})|_{H^{\times}}$ extend by 0 to be d-closed forms with L^1_{loc} -coefficients on all of $G_p(E \oplus F)$.

Proof. This follows directly from Proposition 9.11 because of Proposition 3.12. □

Remark 9.12. Over $H^{\times} = \operatorname{Hom}^{\times}(E, F)$, and hence over $\rho^{-1}(H^{\times}) \subset \widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$, the bundles U_s converge smoothly to the bundle $U_0 = p_F^*(T)$, because of Lemma 9.2. This limiting bundle $p_F^*(T)$ is a smooth bundle on all of $\widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$. Despite these facts the family U_s $0 \leq s \leq \infty$ connecting $U_{\infty} = \mathbf{E} \times \{0\}$ to $U_0 = p_F^*(T)$ obviously cannot provide a smooth path from \mathbf{E} to T over all of $\widetilde{G}_p(E \oplus F)$. The problem is over $\widetilde{\Sigma} \equiv \rho^{-1}(\Sigma)$. For example, if rank E = 1 then $U_s = \mathbf{E} \times \{0\}$ $0 < s \leq \infty$ over $\widetilde{\Sigma}$, which does not equal $p_F^*(T)$.

10. On the Functoriality and Uniqueness of the Transgression.

Among the main results of this paper are the proofs of the existence and uniqueness of the transgression (including independence of approximation mode) in a wide range of important cases. However, there are also some soft general facts concerning the transgression which are important for the theory. We present these here together with some results on the functoriality of the transgressions (when they exist). At the end of this section, we give a guide to hard results about the transgression which are proved in subsequent sections.

We begin by presenting a very general construction which yields transgressions, double transgressions, etc.

Basic Construction 10.1. Let V be a vector bundle over a manifold X, and let $D_y, y \in Y$ be a family of connections on V smoothly parameterized by a manifold Y. Let $\pi: X \times Y \longrightarrow X$ denote the projection. The the family D_y canonically determines a connection \widetilde{D} on the pull-back bundle $\widetilde{V} = \pi^*V$ as follows. Fix a point $y_0 \in Y$. Let \widetilde{D}_0 denote the canonical pull-back of the connection D_{y_0} to \widetilde{V} , and let \widetilde{A} be the $\operatorname{Hom}(\widetilde{V}, \widetilde{V})$ -valued 1-form on $X \times Y$ which is zero on TY and equals $A_y \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} D_y - D_{y_0}$ on $X \times \{y\}$. Then we set $\widetilde{D} = \widetilde{D}_0 + \widetilde{A}$.

Suppose that ω_y is the gauge of D_y in a local frame for V on X, and let $\tilde{\omega}$ denote the gauge of \tilde{D} in the pull-back frame on $X \times Y$. Then one sees easily that at a point (x, y)

$$\tilde{\omega} = \omega_y$$

The corresponding curvature form is given by

$$\widetilde{\Omega} = \Omega_y + d_y(\omega_y)$$

where d_y denotes the Y-component of exterior differentiation.

Suppose now that γ is a compact, oriented smooth arc joining points a to b in Y. Set $\Gamma \equiv [X \times \gamma]$. Then for any invariant polynomial ϕ we have the current equation

(10.2)
$$d(\Gamma\phi(\widetilde{D})) = (\partial\Gamma)\phi(\widetilde{D}).$$

Applying the push-forward π_* to this equation we obtain

(10.3)
$$dT = \phi(D_b) - \phi(D_a) \quad \text{where } T = \pi_*(\Gamma\phi(\widetilde{D})).$$

Example 10.4. Let $\gamma = [a, b] \subseteq \mathbf{R} = Y$. By formula (10.2) we have that $\widetilde{\Omega} = \Omega_t + \dot{\omega}_t dt$

where \cdot denotes $\partial/\partial t$. Let χ be the characteristic function of [a,b]. Then T can be expressed as the fibre integral

$$T = \pi_*(\chi \phi(\widetilde{D})) = \int_a^b \phi(\dot{\omega}_t ; \Omega_t) dt.$$

Let us return to the basic construction above, and replace γ by a general rectifiable p-chain Σ in Y. Then setting $\Gamma = X \times \Sigma$ and choosing ϕ as before we see that equation (10.2) continues to hold. Applying π_* to this equation gives

$$(10.5) dR = \pi_*[\partial \Sigma \phi(\widetilde{D})]$$

where $R = \pi_*(\Sigma \phi(\widetilde{D}))$. This procedure allows us for example to relate transgression forms.

Example 10.6. Let $D_{s,t}$ be a 2-parameter family of connections, $0 \le s \le 1$ and $a \le t \le b$, with $D_{s,a} = D_a$ and $D_{s,b} = D_b$ for all $0 \le s \le 1$. Then the two transgressions T_1 and T_0 determined by $D_{1,t}$ and $D_{0,t}$ satisfy

$$T_1 - T_0 = dR$$
 with $R = \int_a^b \int_0^1 \phi\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\omega_{s,t}, \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\omega_{s,t}; \Omega_{s,t}\right) ds dt$

where

$$\phi(A, B ; C) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{\partial^2}{\partial s \partial t} \phi(C + sA + tB) \Big|_{s=t=0}$$
.

Suppose now that we are given basic data

$$\begin{array}{ccc} D_E & D_F \\ E & \stackrel{\alpha}{\longrightarrow} & F \\ & \langle \ , \ \rangle_E & \langle \ , \ \rangle_F \end{array}$$

over a manifold X, as in (2.8) above. Let $f: X' \longrightarrow X$ be a smooth map, and consider the induced data

$$D_{E'} \qquad D_{F'}$$

$$E' \xrightarrow{\alpha'} F'$$

$$\langle \; , \; \rangle_{E'} \quad \langle \; , \; \rangle_{F'}$$

over X', where $E' = f^*E$, $D_{E'} = f^*D_E$, etc.

Lemma 10.7. Fix an approximation mode χ , and let \overrightarrow{D}_s , \overrightarrow{D}'_s be the families of push-forward connection on F and F' respectively which are constructed from the data above. Let $T_{\phi,s}$ and $T'_{\phi,s}$ be the transgression forms associated to an invariant polynomial ϕ . Then

$$T'_{\phi,s} = f^*T_{\phi,s}$$

for all s > 0. (The analogous result holds for the pull-back connections on E and E'.)

Proof. Fix local frames for E and F and pull them back to local frames for E' and F'. Then $\omega_{E'} = f^*\omega_E$ and $\omega_{F'} = f^*\omega_F$. Hence from the formulas in §5 we see that $\overrightarrow{\omega}'_s = f^*\overrightarrow{\omega}_s$, and so $\overrightarrow{\Omega}'_s = f^*\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ for all s > 0. The result now follows from the universality of the formula above for the transgression. \square

Let $T_{\phi,s}$, $T'_{\phi,s}$ be as above, and denote by Σ the singular set of α and by $\Sigma' = f^{-1}(\Sigma)$ the singular set of α' . Then over $X - \Sigma$ and $X' - \Sigma'$ the limits of $T_{\phi,s}$ and $T'_{\phi,s}$ exist in the C^{∞} -topology as $s \to 0$. From the above we have that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} T'_{\phi,s} \mid_{X' - \Sigma'} = f^* \left(\lim_{s \to 0} T_{\phi,s} \mid_{X - \Sigma} \right).$$

Corollary 10.8. Suppose $T \equiv \lim_{s\to 0} T_{\phi,s}$ exists in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ and $T' \equiv \lim_{s\to 0} T'_{\phi,s}$ exists in $L^1_{loc}(X')$. Then $T' = f^*T$ in the sense that $f^*\left(T\mid_{X-\Sigma}\right)$ extends by zero across Σ' to be the L^1_{loc} -form on T'.

This result has content for us since in subsequent chapters we shall give elementary criteria which assure the hypothesis of 10.7. Specifically, these criteria will always be in terms of the "atomicity" of α . (See II.1, II.7, III.1 for definitions and discussion.) Hence, the maps f with $f^*T \in L^1_{loc}$ will be those for which $f^*\alpha$ is atomic. This is discussed in III.3.26.

We now consider what happens to the transgression form under a change of approximation mode. Let χ_0 and χ_1 be two approximate-ones. Then $\chi_t = t\chi_1 + (1-t)\chi_0$ is also an approximate-one for all $0 \le t \le 1$, and this gives us a

2-parameter family $\overrightarrow{D}_{s,t}, s > 0$ and $0 \le t \le 1$, of push-forward connections on F. For each fixed s > 0, consider the smooth form

(10.9)
$$U_{s} = (\chi_{0,s} - \chi_{1,s}) \int_{0}^{1} \phi\left(\frac{a^{*}Da}{|a|^{2}}; \Omega_{s,t}\right) dt$$

where $\chi_{t,s} = \chi_t(a^*a/s^2)$ and where a represents α in the chosen local frames for E and F.

Lemma 10.10. Suppose χ_0 and χ_1 are two choices of approximation mode, and let $T_{\chi_n,\phi,s}$ and $T_{\chi_1,\phi,s}$ be the corresponding families of transgressions constructed above using χ_0 and χ_1 respectively. Suppose that the limits $T_0 = \lim_{s \to 0} T_{\chi_0, \phi, s}$ and ementary but important case of complex line bundle maps. This chapter also $T_1 = \lim_{s \to 0} T_{X_1, \phi, s}$ exist in the space of currents on X. If $\lim_{s \to 0} U_s = 0$, then there is a current R on X such that

$$T_1 - T_0 = dR.$$

Proof. We apply the general form of the basic construction. Let $Y = (0, \infty] \times$ [0,1] and let $\overrightarrow{D}_{s,t}$ be the above family of connections parameterized by Y. Let $\Sigma_s = [s, \infty] \times [0, 1] \subset Y$ and $\Gamma_s = X \times \Sigma_s$, and define

$$R_s = \pi_*(\Gamma_s \phi(\widetilde{D})).$$

Computing the right-hand-side in (10.5) gives

$$dR_s = T_{\chi_1, \phi, s} - T_{\chi_0, \phi, s} + U_s.$$

By assumption $\lim_{s \to 0} dR_s = T_1 - T_0$. The result now follows from the fact that d has closed range. \square

Remark 10.11. (Uniqueness of the transgression). Lemma 10.10 gives a general criterion for establishing that, up to a coboundary, the transgression is independent of the choice of approximation mode. However, in the cases considered below we obtain the much stronger result that the transgression is completely independent of approximation mode — not just up to a coboundary. These results appear in II.5.6, III.3.15, and V.1.37.

II. Complex Line Bundles

In this chapter we illustrate the nature of our results by examining the eltheory for atomic sections developed in Harvey-Semmes [HS]. An interesting feature of the theory in [HS] is that it even enables one to define a (codimension-2) divisor for certain sections which vanish on sets of real codimension-one.

This chapter contains several interesting applications. There is a C^{∞} generalization of the classical Poincaré-Lelong formula. A new proof is given of certain geometric formulas of Sid Webster [W1, 2, 3] in CR geometry, and some new formulas of Levine type are derived and proved. In the last section we combine our results with the kernel-calculus of Harvey-Polking [HP] to obtain a new proof of the Riemann-Roch theorem for vector bundles over algebraic curves.

For clarity of exposition this chapter is self contained.

1. Line Bundles With A Global Atomic Section.

Consider a complex-valued smooth function $g \in C^{\infty}(X)$ on a real oriented manifold X. In this section, the zero set of g is defined, as a codimension-2 current, under very mild assumptions on q.

Consider coordinates $w \equiv u + iv$ on the complex numbers C. Note that the real and imaginary parts of $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{dw}{w}$ are given by

(1.1)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{dw}{w} = \frac{1}{2\pi} d\theta + \frac{1}{2\pi i} d\log |w|, \quad \text{on } \mathbf{C},$$

where

$$(1.2) d\theta \equiv \frac{-vdu + udv}{u^2 + v^2}.$$

The fundamental equation of complex analysis can be written as

$$d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{dw}{w}\right) = [0] \quad \text{on } \mathbf{C},$$

where [0] denotes the δ -current or point mass at the origin. The objective of this section is to give meaning to the pullback, $g^*([0])$, of the current [0]. The strategy is to first give meaning to the pullback $\frac{1}{2\pi i}g^*\left(\frac{dw}{w}\right) = \frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{dg}{g}$, of the potential $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{dw}{w}$ for [0], as a current and then define the pullback $g^*([0])$ by taking the exterior derivative of $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{dg}{g}$.

A differential form with coefficients that are locally integrable functions will be referred to as a locally integrable form or L^1_{loc} -form. This is a well defined concept on a smooth manifold.

Definition 1.4. A complex valued function $g \equiv u + iv \in C^{\infty}(X)$ is atomic if

$$\frac{dg}{g} \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(X).$$

The function g is weakly atomic if

$$(1.6) g^*(d\theta) \equiv \frac{-vdu + udv}{u^2 + v^2} \in L^1_{loc}(X) \text{ and } log |g| \in L^1_{loc}(X)$$

See the proof of Lemma 1.2 [HS] for the fact that atomicity implies weak atomicity.

If g is weakly atomic, then

(1.7)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{dg}{g} \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi i} d\log|g| + \frac{1}{2\pi} g^*(d\theta)$$

is well defined as a current on X, and agrees with the smooth form $\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{dg}{g}$ outside the zero set of g. When g is weakly atomic, the same expression $\frac{dg}{g}$ will be used

to denote the current defined on all of X by (1.7). Note that if g and h are weakly atomic, then the product gh is weakly atomic and

(1.8)
$$\frac{d(gh)}{gh} = \frac{dg}{g} + \frac{dh}{h} \text{ as currents on } X.$$

The zero current, or zero divisor, denoted by \mathbf{Z}_g , or $\mathbf{Div}(\mathbf{g})$, of a weakly atomic function g is defined by

$$(1.9) Z_g \equiv d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{dg}{g}\right).$$

Note that by (1.7)

 Z_q is a real current of codimension-2.

For weakly atomic functions g_1, \ldots, g_p , one has

$$(1.10) Z_{g_1 \cdots g_p} = Z_{g_1} + \cdots + Z_{g_p}$$

by (1.8) above. Furthermore, one has

$$(1.11) Z_q = 0 if g is real valued,$$

because $g^*(d\theta) \equiv 0$ outside the zero set of g, and the zero set of g is a set of measure zero.

Definition 1.12. Suppose E is a smooth complex line bundle on X. A smooth section s of E is weakly atomic if for each local frame e for E the function a, defined by s = ae, is weakly atomic. The zero current or zero divisor denoted by \mathbf{Z}_s or $\mathbf{Div}(\mathbf{s})$, is defined to be the global current given locally by

$$\operatorname{Div}(s) \equiv d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{da}{a}\right).$$

Since $d\left(\frac{dh}{h}\right) = 0$ for |h| > 0, (1.8) implies that Div(s) is independent of the choice of local frame.

The properties of zero divisors for weakly atomic sections are the same as for zero divisors of functions. For example,

Div(s) is a real current of codimension-2,

$$\operatorname{Div}(s_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes s_p) = \operatorname{Div}(s_1) + \cdots + \operatorname{Div}(s_p),$$

and

Div(s) = 0 if s is a real section of the complexification of a real line bundle.

Remark. The Geometric Meaning of Atomicity. The assumption that a function (or section) is atomic is an extremely weak hypothesis. In a later section conditions which insure atomicity are discussed. The assumption of weakly atomic allows codimension-1 zero sets with "folds" as well — see Corollary 7.3 and it's proof.

Remark 1.13. Atomic Bundle Maps. Prescribing a global section s of a complex line bundle F is a special case of prescribing a bundle map α . The bundle map associated to s is the map $\alpha : \underline{\mathbf{C}} \to F$ from the trivial bundle $\underline{\mathbf{C}}$, which is determined by the condition that $\alpha(1) = s$. Conversely, prescribing a bundle map $\alpha : E \to F$ is a special case of prescribing a global section of a complex line bundle, since α is a global section of the complex line bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$.

A bundle map $\alpha: E \to F$ is (weakly) atomic if for each pair of local frames, e for E and f for F, the function a, defined by $\alpha e = af$, is (weakly) atomic. The **zero current** or **zero divisor**, denoted by \mathbf{Z}_{α} or $\mathbf{Div}(\alpha)$ is defined to be the global current given locally by:

(1.14)
$$\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) \equiv d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{da}{a}\right).$$

If a bundle map $\alpha: E \to F$ is interpreted as a section $\alpha \in \operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$, or if a section s of F is interpreted as a bundle map $\alpha: \underline{\mathbf{C}} \to F$, the notions of atomicity and of zero divisor remain the same. However, the main result presented below is not the same for sections as for bundle maps (cf. Remark 6.11).

2. The Pullback Connection.

Suppose $\alpha: E \to F$ is a bundle map of complex line bundles with connections D_E and D_F respectively.

The pullback connection $\overleftarrow{D} \equiv \alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ on E is defined outside the singular set of α . If e and f are frames for E and F, respectively, then $D_E e = \omega_E e$, $D_F f = \omega_F f$, and $De = \omega_E$ define (local) gauge potentials, and $\alpha e = af$ defines a (local) complex-valued function, a. Since $(\alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha) e = (\frac{da}{a} + \omega_F) e$, the gauge potential for the pullback connection $D \equiv \alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ is given by:

(2.1)
$$\omega \equiv \frac{da}{a} + \omega_F.$$

The difference of the two gauges, $\frac{da}{a} + \omega_F$ and ω_E , namely,

(2.2)
$$\tau \equiv \frac{da}{a} + \omega_F - \omega_E,$$

is a well defined global 1-form, outside the singular set of α .

Remark 2.3. This global one form τ has a nice interpretation involving α considered as a section of $H \equiv \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. The connections D_E and D_F induce a connection D_H on the line bundle $H \equiv \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ by the formula, $D_H \sigma = D_F \circ \sigma - \sigma \circ D_E$, for σ a section of H. One can easily compute that:

$$(2.4) D_H \alpha = \tau \alpha$$

defines the same global one form τ as (2.2).

A current is Federer flat if it can be expressed locally as $\alpha + d\beta$ where α and β are in L^1_{loc} , i.e. α and β are forms with locally Lebesgue-integrable coefficients. Using a partition of unity it is easy to see that this is equivalent to requiring that the current be of the global form $\alpha + d\beta$, with α and β in L^1_{loc} .

Proposition 2.5. If $\alpha: E \to F$ is a weakly atomic line bundle map, then the global one form τ , defined locally by (2.4), extends across the singular set of α as a well defined global current which is Federer flat.

Proof. By Definition 1.4, the real part of $\frac{1}{2\pi i}$ $\frac{da}{a}$ belongs to L^1_{loc} , while the imaginary part of $\frac{1}{2\pi i}$ $\frac{da}{a}$ is the exterior derivative of $-\frac{1}{2\pi}\log|a|$, which also belongs to L^1_{loc} . Therefore, the right hand side of (2.2) is a well defined Federer flat current. Since $\frac{da}{a}$ changes by a smooth one-form under a change of the frames e and f, (2.2) defines a global Federer flat current. \square

Proposition 2.6. A bundle map $\alpha: E \to F$ is weakly atomic if and only if both of the globally defined objects

(2.7)
$$\log |\alpha|^2$$
 and $\operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\tau\right)$

belong to $L^1_{loc}(X)$.

Proof. If $\alpha e = af$ defines a, then $|\alpha|^2 = \frac{\langle f, f \rangle_F}{\langle e, e \rangle_E} |a|^2$. Therefore, $\log |\alpha|^2 \in L^1_{loc}(X) \iff \log |a|^2 \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ and, by applying (2.2) and (1.7) with g = a, we see that $\operatorname{Re} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \tau \in L^1_{loc}(X) \iff a^*(d\theta) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$. \square

Remark 2.8. Suppose $\langle \ , \ \rangle_E$ and $\langle \ , \ \rangle_F$ are hermitian inner products on E and F respectively. There are smooth global one forms α_E and α_F measuring the compatibility of the connections and the metrics. If $p \equiv \langle e, e \rangle_E$ and $q \equiv \langle f, f \rangle_F$, then

(2.9)
$$\alpha_E \equiv -\frac{dp}{p} + \omega_E + \bar{\omega}_E, \quad \alpha_F = -\frac{dq}{q} + \omega_F + \bar{\omega}_F.$$

Therefore, the imaginary part of $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\tau$ can be expressed as

(2.10)
$$2 \operatorname{Im} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \tau = -\frac{1}{2\pi} \left(d \log |\alpha|^2 + \alpha_F - \alpha_E \right).$$

3. Smoothing the Pullback Connection.

Let $\alpha: E \to F$ be a map of hermitian line bundles with connections D_E and D_F , and metrics $\langle \ , \ \rangle_E$ and $\langle \ , \ \rangle_F$, respectively, and let $\chi: [0, \infty] \to [0, 1]$ be any choice of approximate one. (See I.4.1). Then the pullback connection $\overleftarrow{D} \equiv \alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ on E can be approximated by a smooth family of connections

$$(3.1) \qquad \overleftarrow{D}_s \equiv \beta_s \circ D_F \circ \alpha + (1 - \beta_s \alpha) \circ D_E$$

where the approximations β_s to α^{-1} are given by

$$\beta_s \equiv \chi \left(\frac{\alpha^* \alpha}{s^2}\right) \alpha^{-1}.$$

The bundle map $\alpha^*\alpha: E \to E$ multiplies a section of E by a globally defined function. If e and f are frames for E and F respectively, if $p \equiv \langle e, e \rangle_E$, $q \equiv \langle f, f \rangle_F$, and if $\alpha e = af$, then $\alpha^* f = (\bar{a}q/p)e$. Therefore (cf. (2.9)),

$$(\alpha^* \alpha) e = (|\alpha|^2 q/p) e$$
, or $\alpha^* \alpha = |\alpha|^2$.

Consequently the bundle map $\chi\left(\frac{\alpha^*\alpha}{s^2}\right)$ is just multiplication by the function

$$\chi_* \equiv \chi \left(\frac{|a|^2 q/p}{s^2} \right).$$

This function χ_s will be called the approximation to one based on χ . Since $\chi(0) = 0$, we see that

 \overleftarrow{D}_s converges smoothly to D_E as $s \to +\infty$.

Since $\chi(\infty) = 1$, we see that outside the singular set of α ,

$$\overleftarrow{D}_s$$
 converges smoothly to $\overleftarrow{D}_0 = \alpha^{-1} D_F \alpha$ as $s \to 0$.

The gauge potential for \overleftarrow{D}_s , denoted by ω_s , is given by

(3.4)
$$\omega_s = \omega_E + \tau \chi$$
, where $\tau \equiv \frac{da}{a} + \omega_F - \omega_E$,

while the curvature is given by

$$\Omega_s = d\omega_s.$$

Example 3.5. Algebraic approximation mode. If $\chi(t) \equiv t/(1+t)$, then

$$\chi_s = \frac{|a|^2 q/p}{|a|^2 q/p + s^2}.$$

Example 3.6. Transcendental approximation mode. If $\chi(t) \equiv 1 - e^{-t}$, then

$$\chi_{\star} \equiv 1 - e^{-\frac{|a|^2 q/p}{s^2}}.$$

4. Chern Currents.

Recall that the Chern form $\phi(D)$ of a complex line bundle E with connection D is defined as follows. Each local frame e for E defines a (local) 1-form ω by the equation

$$De = \omega e$$
.

The form ω is called the gauge potential or connection 1-form. Note that if e' = be is another local frame for E, then

$$De' = \left(\frac{db}{b} + \omega\right)e' \text{ or } \omega' = \frac{db}{b} + \omega.$$

Since $\frac{db}{b}$ is d-closed the local expressions $d\omega$ and $d\omega'$ agree on overlapping domains and so the **curvature form**

$$\Omega \equiv d\omega$$

is a globally defined 2-form on M.

Given a polynomial $\phi(t) \in \mathbf{C}[t]$ in one indeterminate, the ϕ -Chern form, $\phi(D)$, is defined by

$$\phi(D) \equiv \phi(\Omega).$$

If $\phi(t) = \frac{i}{2\pi}t$ then the normalized curvature $\phi(D) = \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega$ is called the first Chern form. In the following formulae, it is convenient to let

$$\widetilde{\Omega} \equiv \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega$$

denote the first Chern form.

Now suppose $\alpha: E \to F$ is a map of complex hermitian line bundles with connections D_E and D_F , respectively, and set $\Sigma = \{x \in X : \alpha_x = 0\}$. Suppose \overleftarrow{D}_s is the smoothing of the pullback connection $\alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ based on the approximate-one χ . Let Ω_s denote the curvature of the connection \overleftarrow{D}_s . If $\phi(\overleftarrow{D}_s)$ has a weak limit as currents, then this limit must be of the form

(4.1)
$$\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) = \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\Omega_s) = \phi(\Omega_F) + S,$$

where S is a current with support in the singular set of α , since \overleftarrow{D}_s converges to $\alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ outside Σ and $\phi(\alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha) = \phi(D_F)$ extends as a smooth d-closed form across Σ .

Definition 4.2. If the limit in (4.1) exists weakly in the space of currents on X, this limit $\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) \equiv \phi(\Omega_F) + S$ will be called the ϕ -Chern current of the pullback connection on E.

5. The Transgression Current.

The standard transgression formula for the family of connections \overleftarrow{D}_s says that

$$dT_s = \phi(\Omega_E) - \phi(\Omega_s),$$

where

$$T_s \equiv \int_s^{\infty} \phi(\dot{\omega}_t ; \Omega_t) dt,$$

and where $\phi(\alpha; \Omega)$ is defined by I.1.16. Note that if $\phi(\Omega) \equiv \Omega^n$, then $\phi(\alpha; \Omega) = n\alpha\Omega^{n-1}$. If the limit $\lim_{s\to 0} T_s$ exist weakly as currents, then this limit will be called the ϕ -transgression current or the ϕ -potential and will be denoted by T_{ϕ} .

Lemma 5.2.

(5.3)
$$T_s = -\tau \frac{\phi(\Omega_E + (\Omega_F - \Omega_E)\chi_s) - \phi(\Omega_E)}{\Omega_F - \Omega_E}$$

where τ is given by (2.2) above.

Proof. Since both sides of (5.3) are smooth across the singular set of α , it suffices to verify (5.3) on the set where $\alpha \neq 0$. By (3.4), we have

$$\dot{\omega}_t = \tau \chi_t',$$

and

(5.5)
$$\Omega_t = \Omega_E + (\Omega_F - \Omega_E) \chi_t - \tau d\chi_t.$$

Therefore,

$$T_{s} = \int_{s}^{\infty} \phi(\dot{\omega}_{t}; \Omega_{t}) dt$$

$$= \int_{s}^{\infty} \phi(\tau \chi'_{t}; \Omega_{E} + (\Omega_{F} - \Omega_{E})\chi_{t} - \tau d\chi_{t}) dt$$

$$= \tau \int_{s}^{\infty} \phi(\chi'_{t}; \Omega_{E} + (\Omega_{F} - \Omega_{E})\chi_{t}) dt$$

since $\tau \wedge \tau = 0$. Now under the change of variables $x \equiv \gamma$, we have

$$\int_{s}^{\infty} \phi\left(\chi_{t}' \; ; \; \Omega_{E} + (\Omega_{F} - \Omega_{E})\chi_{t}\right) \; dt \; = \; \int_{\chi_{s}}^{0} \phi\left(1 \; ; \; \Omega_{E} + (\Omega_{F} - \Omega_{E})x\right) \; dx.$$

This integral equals $\phi(\Omega_E + (\Omega_F - \Omega_E)x)\Big|_{\chi_s}^0$ "divided by" $\Omega_F - \Omega_E$, yielding (5.3). \square

Theorem 5.6. Suppose $\alpha: E \to F$ is a bundle map of hermitian line bundles with connections D_E and D_F respectively. Suppose \overleftarrow{D}_s is a smoothing of the pullback connection $\overleftarrow{D} = \alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ based on the approximate one χ . Let $\phi(t) \in \mathbb{C}[t]$ be any polynomial. Then if the bundle map α is weakly atomic, the ϕ -transgression current T_{ϕ} exists. In fact, T_s converges to T_{ϕ} in the Federer flat topology and

(5.7)
$$T_{\phi} \equiv -\tau \frac{\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E)}{\Omega_F - \Omega_E}.$$

In particular, T_{ϕ} is independent of the choice of metrics, \langle , \rangle_E and \langle , \rangle_F , and of the choice of smoothing family \overleftarrow{D}_s (i.e., independent of the choice of approximate one χ).

Proof. By (5.3) T_s is equal to τ times a polynomial in χ_s , whose coefficients are smooth forms and whose constant term vanishes. Hence it suffices to prove that for $k \geq 1$,

$$\tau \chi_{\star}^{k}$$
 converges to τ

in the Federer flat topology, as s approaches zero. Observe now that the properties required of $\chi(t)$ in I.4.1 are also valid for $\chi(t)^k$. Therefore, it suffices to consider the case k=1.

By the hypothesis that α is weakly atomic we see that $\operatorname{Re} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \tau \in L^1_{loc}(X)$. Therefore, by the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem

Re
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i}\tau \chi_s$$
 converges to Re $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\tau$ in $L^1_{loc}(X)$,

as s approaches zero. It remains to prove the analogous statement for the imaginary part.

To do this we first note that by the hypothesis on α we have $\log |\alpha|^2 \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ where $|\alpha|^2 \equiv |a|^2 q/p$. By equation (2.10), $\operatorname{Im} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \tau$ and $-\frac{1}{4\pi} d \log |\alpha|^2$ differ by a (global) smooth form. Therefore, it suffices to show that

$$\chi_{\star} d \log |\alpha|^2$$
 converges to $d \log |\alpha|^2$,

in the Federer flat topology. Set $\varphi = |\alpha|^2$ and note that if h(t) satisfies

$$h'(t) = \chi(t) \cdot \frac{1}{t},$$

then by (3.3)

$$d\left(h\left(\frac{\varphi}{s^2}\right)\right) \;=\; \chi\left(\frac{\varphi}{s^2}\right) \, \frac{d\varphi}{\varphi} \;=\; \chi_s \, \frac{d\varphi}{\varphi} \;=\; \chi_s \, d\log\varphi.$$

Let us choose

$$h(t) \equiv \int_0^t \chi(t) \frac{dt}{t}.$$

Then

$$h\left(\frac{\varphi}{s^{2}}\right) = \int_{0}^{\frac{\varphi}{s^{2}}} \chi(t) \frac{dt}{t} = \int_{0}^{1} \chi(t) \frac{dt}{t} + \int_{1}^{\frac{\varphi}{s^{2}}} \chi(t) \frac{dt}{t}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \chi(t) \frac{dt}{t} - \int_{1}^{\frac{\varphi}{s^{2}}} (1 - \chi(t)) \frac{dt}{t} + \log \frac{\varphi}{s^{2}}$$

$$= \int_{0}^{1} \chi(t) \frac{dt}{t} - \int_{1}^{\infty} (1 - \chi(t)) \frac{dt}{t} - \log s^{2} + \log \varphi + \int_{\frac{\varphi}{s^{2}}}^{\infty} (1 - \chi(t)) \frac{dt}{t}.$$

Consequently,

(5.8)
$$h_s \equiv \log \varphi + \int_{\frac{\varphi}{t^2}}^{\infty} (1 - \chi(t)) \frac{dt}{t},$$

has the same exterior derivative as $h\left(\frac{\varphi}{s^2}\right)$, i.e.

$$dh_s = \chi d \log \varphi.$$

(One can also easily verify directly that (5.8) implies (5.9)).

Since h_s decreases to $\log \varphi \in L^1_{loc}(X)$, the Monotone Convergence Theorem implies that h_s converges to $\log \varphi$ in $L^1_{loc}(X)$. Hence $dh_s = \chi_s d \log \varphi$ converges to $d \log \varphi$ in the Federer flat topology. \square

Remark. This proof could have been shortened slightly by only considering unitary frames, i.e., p = q = 1. Then $|\alpha|^2 = |a|^2$, for example.

Remark 5.10. Functoriality of the Transgression Current. Suppose $f: X' \longrightarrow X$ is a smooth map between manifolds, and let $E' = f^*E$, $D_{E'} = f^*D_E$, $F' = f^*F$, ..., $\alpha' = f^*\alpha$ be the pullbacks of the line bundles, connections, etc. given over X. Fix any approximate one χ . Then the family of smooth transgression forms T'_s for this induced family is given by $T'_s = f^*T_s$ for s > 0 (cf. I.5.25). Suppose now that α is weakly atomic and assume that the induced section $\alpha' = f^*\alpha$ is also weakly atomic. Then the transgression currents $T = \lim_{s \to 0} T_s$ and $T' = \lim_{s \to 0} T'_s$ satisfy

$$(5.11) T' = f^*T$$

whenever this equation makes sense. For example suppose α and α' are both atomic, and let $\Sigma = \{x \in X : \alpha_x = 0\}$ and $\Sigma' = \{x' \in X' : \alpha'_{x'} = 0\} = f^{-1}(\Sigma)$. In this case T and T' are L^1_{loc} -extensions of well defined, smooth forms in $X - \Sigma$ and $X' - \Sigma'$ across Σ and Σ' respectively. Equation (5.11) asserts the equality of two smooth forms in $X' - \Sigma'$ (which possess an L^1_{loc} extension to X').

6. The Main Results—First Version.

The ϕ -Chern current $\phi((\overleftarrow{D}))$ for the pullback connection $\overleftarrow{D} \equiv \alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ can be computed from Theorem 5.6.

Theorem 6.1. Pullback. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.6, the ϕ -Chern current, $\phi((\overleftarrow{D}))$, of the pull back connection $\overleftarrow{D} \equiv \alpha^{-1} \circ D_F \circ \alpha$ exists (in fact, $\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) = \lim_s \phi(\overleftarrow{D}_s)$ exists in the Federer flat topology) and equals:

(6.2)
$$\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\overleftarrow{D}_s) = \phi(\Omega_F) + 2\pi i \frac{\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E)}{\Omega_F - \Omega_E} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha).$$

Furthermore,

$$\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) - \phi(\Omega_E) = -dT_{\phi}$$

or equivalently,

(6.3)
$$\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E) + 2\pi i \frac{\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E)}{\Omega_F - \Omega_E} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = -dT_{\phi},$$

In particular, $\phi(t) \equiv \frac{i}{2\pi}t$ yields

(6.4)
$$\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_E - \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_F + \text{Div}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2\pi i}d\tau,$$

where

(6.5)
$$\tau \equiv \frac{da}{a} + \omega_F - \omega_E \text{ is a global current.}$$

Proof. To begin note that (6.4) is just the special case of (6.3) where $\phi(t) \equiv \frac{i}{2\pi}t$ and $T_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2\pi i}\tau$. This special case, (6.4), is obtained by taking the exterior derivative of (6.5). Define

(6.6)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overleftarrow{D}) \equiv -2\pi i \frac{\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E)}{\Omega_F - \Omega_E}.$$

Then (5.7) says that $T_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \tau \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overleftarrow{D})$. Taking the exterior derivative of this equation and using (6.4) yields the general case (6.3).

Observe now that by (5.1) the ϕ -Chern current is given by

$$\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) = \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\overleftarrow{D}_s) = \phi(\Omega_E) - dT_{\phi}.$$

Since the ϕ -Chern current exists, $\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) = \phi(\Omega_F) + S$ (see Definition 4.2). Now (6.3) implies that $S = -\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overleftarrow{D})\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$, completing the proof of (6.2). \square

Remark 6.7. Pushforward. The pushforward connection on F

$$\overrightarrow{D} \equiv \alpha \circ D_E \circ \alpha^{-1}$$

can be analyzed in a similar manner, where

$$\overrightarrow{D}_s \equiv \alpha \circ D_E \beta_s + D_F \circ (1 - \alpha \beta_s)$$

provides the smoothing family (based on χ as before). The local gauge potential for \overrightarrow{D}_s is given by

$$\overrightarrow{\omega}_s \equiv \omega_F - \tau \chi_s$$

with the same τ given by (6.5) above. The curvature of \overrightarrow{D}_s is given by

$$\Omega_s = \Omega_F - (\Omega_F - \Omega_E) \chi_{\star} + \tau \, d\chi_{\star}$$

If α is atomic then the ϕ -Chern current exists and is given by

$$\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) = \phi(\Omega_E) - 2\pi i \frac{\phi(\Omega_F) - \phi(\Omega_E)}{\Omega_F - \Omega_E} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha).$$

Furthermore

$$\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) - \phi(\Omega_F) = dT_{\phi}$$

with the same transgression current T_{ϕ} as above. Combining these equations gives a second derivation of equation (6.3).

Remark 6.8. Atomic Sections. Suppose s is a global weakly atomic section of a complex line bundle F with connection D_F . Then the one form τ , defined by $D_F s = \tau s$ outside the zero set of s, extends as a Federer flat current, also denoted by τ .

Note that
$$\tau = \frac{da}{a} + \omega_F$$
, and let $T \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi i} \tau \widetilde{\Omega}_F^{n-1}$.

Then as in (5.7) with $E \equiv \underline{\mathbf{C}}$ trivial and $\phi(t) = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}t\right)^n$ we have

(6.9)
$$-dT = \widetilde{\Omega}_F^n - \widetilde{\Omega}_F^{n-1} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha).$$

This formula can be verified directly by differentiating T using the fact that

(6.10)
$$-\frac{1}{2\pi i} d\tau = \widetilde{\Omega}_F - \text{Div}(\alpha).$$

Note that (6.10) is the case of (6.9) when n = 1.

Remark 6.11. Bundle Maps Versus Sections. If a bundle map $\alpha : E \to F$ is considered to be a section of $H \equiv \text{Hom}(E, F)$, then

$$\widetilde{\Omega}_H = \widetilde{\Omega}_F - \widetilde{\Omega}_E$$

and (6.9) becomes

(6.12)
$$-dT = \left(\widetilde{\Omega}_F - \widetilde{\Omega}_E\right)^n - \left(\widetilde{\Omega}_F - \widetilde{\Omega}_E\right)^{n-1} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha).$$

This is not the formula (6.3) of the Main Theorem. That is, Theorem 6.1 for bundle maps is not a special case of the result (6.12) for cross-sections.

Remark 6.13. Global self intersections. Considerations purely of local analysis might tempt one to define

$$[a=0] \wedge da = [a=0] \wedge d\bar{a} = 0,$$

since $[a=0] = \delta_0(a) \frac{i}{2} da \wedge d\bar{a}$. However, this would imply that $\text{Div}(\alpha) \wedge \text{Div}(\alpha) = 0$, i.e., that all global self intersections vanish. In this context note the following. First, the limit

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \widetilde{\Omega}_s = \widetilde{\Omega}_F - \operatorname{Div}(\alpha),$$

does not involve the connection D_E on E. Moreover,

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \widetilde{\Omega}_s^2 = \widetilde{\Omega}_F^2 - \left(\widetilde{\Omega}_E + \widetilde{\Omega}_F \right) \wedge \operatorname{Div}(\alpha),$$

so that formally

$$\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) \cdot \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = \left(\widetilde{\Omega}_F - \widetilde{\Omega}_E\right) \cdot \operatorname{Div}(\alpha),$$

which need not be zero.

Remark 6.14. Residues. Formula (5.7) expresses the transgression current as $T_{\phi} \equiv \frac{da}{a} \wedge \beta + \gamma$ where β and γ are smooth forms. Whenever we are given such a decomposition, we can define the **residue** of T_{ϕ} to be the form $2\pi i\beta \mid_{a=0}$. (See Chapter III, Section 1.) This justifies the terminology adopted in (6.6).

Remark 6.15. Approximate identities and safety disks. Given any approximate one χ as in I.4.1, an approximate identity $[0]_s$ can be constructed for the origin in the complex plane. Let $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|a|^2}{s^2}\right)$. Define $[0]_s \equiv d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{da}{a}\chi_s\right)$. Then $[0]_s \equiv d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{da}{a}\chi_s\right) = -\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{da}{a}d\chi_s = \frac{i}{2\pi}\chi'\left(\frac{|a|^2}{s^2}\right)\frac{dad\bar{a}}{s^2} = \frac{1}{\pi}\varphi\left(\frac{|a|^2}{s^2}\right)\frac{i}{2}\frac{dad\bar{a}}{s^2}$, where $\varphi(t) \equiv \chi'(t)$.

Let $\mu_s: \mathbf{C} \to \mathbf{C}$ be the map $\mu_s(z) = z/s$. Then $[0]_s \equiv \mu_s^* \left(\frac{1}{\pi} \varphi(|a|^2) \frac{i}{2} da \wedge d\bar{a}\right)$ is the standard formula for the approximate identity at the origin in \mathbf{C} based on the function $\frac{1}{\pi} \varphi(|a|^2)$. Note that $\int_{\mathbf{C}} \frac{1}{\pi} \varphi(|a|^2) \frac{i}{2} da d\bar{a} = \int_0^\infty \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{1}{\pi} \varphi(r^2) r dr d\theta = \int_0^\infty \varphi(r^2) 2r dr = \chi(\infty) - \chi(0) = 1$. The standard fact about approximate identities is that $[0]_s$ converges to [0].

For example, if $\chi(t) \equiv \frac{t}{1+t}$, then $[0]_{\epsilon} \equiv \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\epsilon^2 \frac{i}{2} da d\bar{a}}{(|a|^2 + \epsilon^2)^2}$ while if $\chi(t) \equiv 1 - e^{-t}$, then $[0]_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{\pi} e^{-\frac{|a|^2}{\epsilon^2}} \frac{i}{2} \frac{da \wedge d\bar{a}}{\epsilon^2}$.

Since $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{da}{a}\chi_{\epsilon}$ converges to $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{da}{a}$ in $L^{1}_{loc}(\mathbf{C})$, it's exterior derivative $[0]_{\epsilon}$ must converge to $d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{da}{a}\right)$ as currents. This proves the following equation of currents on \mathbf{C} :

$$d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{da}{a}\right) = [0]$$

Consider now the function

$$\chi(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } t \ge 1 \\ 0 & \text{for } 0 \le t < 1. \end{cases}$$

Then the associated current $[0]_{\epsilon}$ is given on a test function ψ by the mean value $[0]_{\epsilon}(\psi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \psi(\epsilon e^{i\theta}) d\theta$. Again one obtains a proof of (6.16) using this choice of χ . In fact this is just the classical proof of the Cauchy Integral formula for a disk, based on the usual safety disk argument. However, non-smooth functions of this type are not acceptable as approximate ones in our theory. We can explain this as follows. Let χ be any (smooth) approximate one and let $[0]_{\epsilon}$ be the associated current as above. Then for each $k \geq 1$ we have that

(6.17)
$$\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \chi_{\epsilon}^{k-1}[0]_{\epsilon} = \frac{1}{k}[0].$$

Using this formula, one can give a direct proof of the formula for the ϕ -Chern current $\phi(D)$ of the pullback connection. However, for the discontinuous choice of χ given above we have $\chi^k = \chi$ so that (6.17) is not valid. Thus the classical geometric arguments employing a "safety disk" or "tubular neighborhood" of a=0 can not be used to compute general Chern currents.

As it stands the results of this section are incomplete. Two important additional ingredients are needed to provide more substance. First, we will give geometric conditions which ensure that a section is atomic or (equivalently) that a bundle map is atomic. Then we will discuss conditions which ensure that the divisor is just integration over "submanifolds with multiplicities".

7. Conditions Which Insure Atomicity.

Let E be a complex line bundle over a connected manifold X. In this section we give some easily verified geometric conditions on a section s of E, which guarantee that s is atomic. The results apply immediately to maps between line bundles. We shall consider three cases: where s is holomorphic, real analytic and C^{∞} .

For the first result we assume that E is a holomorphic line bundle over a complex manifold X.

Proposition 7.1. The Holomorphic Case. A holomorphic section s is atomic if (and only if) s is not identically zero.

First Proof. Suppose s is a non-trivial holomorphic section. Choose a local holomorphic frame e so that s=ae defines a local holomorphic function a. Then $\log |a|^2$ is pluri-subharmonic. It is a standard fact that $\log |a|$ and all first partial derivatives are locally integrable. In particular, $\frac{da}{a}=\partial \log |a|^2$ is locally integrable, so that s is atomic. \square

It is remarkable that a similar result holds in the real analytic case. Here we must, of course assume that E and X are real analytic.

Theorem 7.2. (Harvey-Semmes [HS]) Suppose g is a (complex valued) real analytic function.

- a) If g is not identically zero, then $\log |g| \in L^1_{loc}$.
- b) If $\operatorname{codim}_{\mathbf{R}} g^{-1}(0) \geq 2$, then $\frac{dg}{g} \in L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}$ (i.e., g is atomic).

Corollary 7.3. The Real Analytic Case. A real analytic section s is weakly atomic if (and only if) s is not identically zero.

Proof of Corollary. Consider a complex-valued real analytic function g. Locally g can be factored into prime factors. It suffices to show that each factor is weakly atomic because of (1.10). Thus we may assume that g is prime and that the real codimension of $g^{-1}(0)$ is one by 7.2.a. By 7.2.b it suffices to prove that $g^*(d\theta) \in L^1_{loc}$. Let \tilde{g} denote the holomorphic extension of g to the complexification of the domain of g. Then \tilde{g} is prime so that its zero set g is irreducible. In particular, if \tilde{h} vanishes on g then g is a multiple of g. Now let $g \equiv u + iv$ with g is real-valued. Since g vanishes on $g^{-1}(0)$ and $g^{-1}(0)$ has codimension-one, the holomorphic extension g of g must vanish on g. Thus g is a multiple of g say g is a multiple of g and g is a multiple of g or g is real-valued. Therefore g is identically zero and hence it is certainly in g in that g is real-valued. Therefore g is identically zero and hence it is certainly in g in that g is g in the g is g.

Second Proof of Proposition 7.1. Apply Corollary 7.3. □

Theorem 7.2 follows from the next result. This result can be considered the C^{∞} case. Under very mild and geometrically reasonable restrictions on the vanishing of a smooth function g, it insures that g is atomic.

Lemma 7.4. \mathbb{C}^{∞} Case. (Harvey-Semmes [HS]) Suppose $g \in C^{\infty}(U)$ is a complex-valued function defined on an open subset U in \mathbb{R}^m and set $Z \equiv \{x \in U : g(x) = 0\}$. Assume that:

(i) **g vanishes algebraically,** i.e., for each compact set $K \subset U$ there exist constants c > 0 and N such that:

$$|g(x)| \ge c \operatorname{dist}(x, Z)^N$$
 for all $x \in K$.

(ii) Z is of Minkowski codimension strictly greater than one in the sense that for each compact set $K \subset U$ there exists an $\epsilon > 0$ such that the upper Minkowski content of $Z \cap K$ in dimension $m-1-\epsilon$ is finite.

Then g is atomic. In fact, $\frac{dg}{g}$ is locally integrable.

Proof of Theorem 7.2. If g is real analytic, then g must vanish algebraically. This important result is due to Lojasiewicz [L]. Furthermore, an irreducible real-analytic subvariety has Minkowski codimension equal to its codimension as a real-analytic variety. See, for example, Federer [F] for a proof. \Box

8. Divisors of Atomic Sections.

Suppose Z is the zero set of a smooth function g or a smooth section s. Let $\operatorname{Reg} Z = \{x : Z \text{ is a codimension-2 Lipschitz submanifold near } x\}$ denote the set of of regular points of Z, and let

$$\operatorname{Sing} Z \equiv Z \sim \operatorname{Reg} Z$$

denote the set of singular points. Let $\{Z_j\}$ denote the family of connected components of Reg Z.

Proposition 8.1. Suppose that s is an atomic section. Then

(8.2)
$$\operatorname{Div}(s) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} n_j[Z_j], \quad on \quad X \sim \operatorname{Sing} Z$$

where each n_j is an integer and where $[Z_j]$ is the current defined by choosing a continuous orientation on Z_j .

Remark 8.3. Orientation. First note that if $n_j = 0$ then Z_j need not be orientable. We shall adopt the following conventions. The orientation of a component Z_j with $n_j \neq 0$ is chosen so that $n_j > 0$ is positive except in the following two cases.

Each zero-dimensional submanifold, (i.e., a point p) is canonically oriented by defining [p] to be "evaluation of degree-zero forms at the point p." Thus

Point Divisors Div
$$(s) = \sum n_j [p_j^+] - \sum m_j [p_j^-]$$
 with $n_j > 0$ and $m_j > 0$.

If X is a complex manifold then each complex submanifold of X has a canonical orientation. Thus if each Z_j is a complex submanifold, then

Holomorphic Divisors

$$Div(s) = \sum n_j[Z_j^+] - m_j[Z_j^-]$$
 with $n_j > 0$ and $m_j > 0$.

Proof of 8.1. A current of the form $\alpha + d\beta$ with α , $\beta \in L^1_{loc}$ is said to be Federer flat. These currents have many exciting properties. First, note that if g is atomic then $\frac{dg}{g}$ has been defined as a Federer flat current. Therefore the exterior derivative is also Federer flat. Thus $\mathrm{Div}(g)$ is a Federer flat current. In a neighborhood of a regular point of Z, the codimension-two flat current $\mathrm{Div}(g)$ is supported in a codimension-two submanifold Z. By a theorem of Federer [F] this implies that the current $\mathrm{Div}(g)$ must be of the form $\phi[Z]$ where ϕ is an L^1_{loc} function on Z. However, since $\mathrm{Div}(g)$ is d-closed, the function ϕ must be d-closed on M and hence a constant. Thus $\mathrm{Div}(g) = c[Z]$ near a regular point of Z.

To show that c is an integer first consider the case where the ambient manifold is of dimension two. Then $\mathrm{Div}(g) = c[p]$ where p is a point. In this case it is standard that c is the multiplicity of g considered as a map from \mathbf{R}^2 to \mathbf{R}^2 . The general case can be reduced to this case by considering real two-planes transverse to Z. \square

Proposition 8.4. Suppose that s is an atomic section. Assume that the singular set of the zeros of s is neglible in the sense that the codimension-2 Hausdorff measure of Sing Z vanishes. Assume also that the current $\sum n_j[Z_j]$ given by (8.2) on $X \sim \text{Sing } Z$ has locally finite mass in X. Then

$$\operatorname{Div}(s) = \sum n_j[Z_j]$$
 on X .

Proof. The mass of $\sum n_j[Z_j]$ on a compact set $K \subset X$ is $\sum |n_j| \operatorname{vol}(Z_j \cap K)$ which is assumed to be finite. Thus, the current $\sum n_j[Z_j]$ has a natural extension by zero to all of X. This current $\sum n_j[Z_j]$ on X is Federer flat (see [F]). Since $\operatorname{Div}(s)$ is Federer flat, the difference $\operatorname{Div}(s) - \sum n_j[Z_j]$ is also a Federer flat current. This current is of codimension two and supported in the set $\operatorname{Sing} Z$ whose Hausdorff measure in codimension-2 is zero. A useful theorem of Federer [F; 4.1.20] says that this difference must vanish. \square

If g is a real analytic function, then (see [F] for example)

at most a finite number of components Z_j of $\operatorname{Reg} Z_g$ intersect a given compact set $K \subset X$,

and

each Z_i has locally finite volume in X.

In particular $\sum n_j[Z_j]$ has locally finite mass in X, for any choice of integer multiplicities n_j associated with the oriented components Z_j of Reg Z_g . Therefore the previous Proposition applies to prove the following.

Corollary 8.5. If s is a real analytic section which is not identically zero, then

(8.6) Div(s) =
$$\sum n_j[Z_j]$$
 is a real analytic chain of real codimension-2.

In applications, it is important to remember that many of the components of the manifold points of the zero set of g make no contribution to the zero divisor of g. For example, any component of real codimension-one does not occur on the right hand side of (8.6). Furthermore, no component which is non-orientable can appear on the right hand side of (8.6), even if it has codimension-2.

9. The Main Results—Second Version.

The main results are obtained by summarizing the previous sections. For simplicity attention is restricted to the polynomial $\varphi(t) = \frac{i}{2\pi}t$ yielding the first Chern form.

Theorem 9.1. C^{∞} Case. Suppose s is a smooth section of a complex line bundle E and let D_E be a smooth connection on E. Assume the following:

- (i) The section s vanishes algebraically (i.e., to finite order).
- (ii) The zero set Z of s has Minkowski codimension greater than one.
- (iii) The set Sing Z has Hausdorff measure zero in codimension-two.
- (iv) The current $\mathrm{Div}(s)$ has locally finite mass.

Then $\operatorname{Div}(s)$ is of the form $\operatorname{Div}(s) = \sum n_j[Z_j]$, where the n_j 's are integers and the Z_j 's are oriented codimension-2 components of Reg Z_j ; and we have the equation

(9.2)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} d\tau = \sum n_j [Z_j] - c_1(D_E)$$

where τ is the locally integrable 1-form defined by $Ds = \tau s$.

Theorem 9.3. Real-Analytic Case. Suppose s is a real analytic section of a complex line bundle E with smooth connection D_E over a connected manifold X. If s is not identically zero, then $D_E s = \tau s$ defines a Federer flat current τ of degree one on X such that

(9.4)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} d\tau = \sum n_j[Z_j] - c_1(D_E),$$

where $\sum n_j[Z_j] \equiv \text{Div}(s)$ and Z_1, Z_2, \cdots are the irreducible components of the zero set which are orientable and of real codimension-two.

The holomorphic case is a subcase of the real analytic case. However, it is well known and much easier to establish. Just recall (Proposition 7.1) that s is atomic and that $\text{Div}(s) = \sum n_j[Z_j]$ is a holomorphic chain.

On a holomorphic line bundle E each hermitian metric $<,>_E$ determines a hermitian connection as follows. Given a local holomorphic frame e, let $h = |e|_E^2 = < e, e>_E$, and set

$$\omega = \partial \log h = \frac{\partial h}{h}.$$

If e'=ce is another local holomorphic frame, then $h'=|c|^2h$ and hence $\omega'=\partial \log h'=\omega+\frac{dc}{c}$. Hence, our metric on E determines a global connection D by requiring that $De=\omega e$. The next result is sometimes called the Poincaré-Lelong formula.

Theorem 9.5. Holomorphic Case. Suppose s is a holomorphic section of a holomorphic line bundle E with hermitian metric $<,>_E$ and associated connection D. Then

(9.6)
$$\frac{i}{2\pi} \partial \bar{\partial} \log |s|_E^2 = \sum n_j[Z_j] - c_1(D).$$

Proof. It suffices to show that the global 1-form τ defined by $Ds = \tau s$ satisfies $\tau = \partial \log |s|_E^2$. By (6.9), $\tau = \frac{da}{a} + \omega$. On the other hand, $\partial \log |s|^2 = \partial \log |a|^2 h = \frac{da}{a} + \omega$ since s = af, $|s|_E^2 = |a|^2 h$, $h \equiv |f|_E^2$, and $\omega = \partial \log h$. \square

In the real analytic case (as in the holomorphic case) a and b are uniquely determined up to a never vanishing factor by requiring that a and b be relatively prime. Consequently, the codimension-2 zero divisor $\sum n_j[Z_j], n_j \in \mathbb{Z}$ and the codimension-2 polar divisor $\sum m_j[P_j], m_j \in \mathbb{Z}$ are each globally defined.

Theorem 9.8. Suppose s is a (real-analytic) meromorphic section of a complex line bundle E with smooth connection D_E . Then we have the equation

(9.9)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i}d\tau = \sum n_j[Z_j] - \sum m_j[P_j] - c_1(D_E).$$

where the n_j 's and m_j 's are integers and where the Z_j 's and P_j 's are oriented components of real codimension-2 of the zero set and polar set of s respectively.

Remark 9.10. The Argument Principle. Applications will be discussed elsewhere. However, we briefly mention the simplest possible case of Theorem 9.1. Suppose the bundle E is trivial and $D \equiv d$ is the trivial flat connection so that $c_1(D_E) = 0$. Then a section is just a smooth complex-valued function f on the manifold X. Suppose X is a real oriented surface, compact with boundary ∂X . Further, assume that f has isolated zeros of finite order n_j at p_j for $j = 1, \ldots, N$. Then we have (cf. Lemma 7.4 and (6.9)) that

$$au \equiv \frac{df}{f} \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(X),$$

and equation (9.2) becomes

(9.11)
$$d\left(\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{df}{f}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} n_j[p_j] \quad \text{on } X$$

Green's Theorem transforms the local formula (9.14) into the global formula

(9.12)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\partial X} \frac{df}{f} = \sum_{j=1}^{N} n_j,$$

for a smooth function f with isolated zeros of finite order. (This, of course, is just the usual argument principle when f is a holomorphic function.)

For a real analytic function f the Argument Principle (9.12) holds in great generality, as a consequence of Theorem 9.8. As long as f is not identically zero the local version (9.11) holds. Assume that none of the **divisor points** p_j lie on the boundary of X. If f does not vanish identically on any boundary component, and ∂X is real analytic (this can be weakened), then one can show that $\frac{df}{f}$ restricts to ∂X as a current (which is Federer flat) and that the Argument Principle (9.12) is valid. Note that the zero set of f is even allowed to have components of real codimension one, but these "folds" do not contribute to the divisor.

10. Some Applications to Complex and CR Geometry.

The results in this chapter on line bundles have many interesting applications. A number of these are in fact concerned with bundles of higher rank. We present here two such examples which illustrate well the possibilities and techniques and which also have independent interest.

Our first application is related to the construction of Levine forms in complex geometry. It shows how our theory for line bundles and divisors can be applied through the process of "blowing-up". Let $E \to X$ and $F \to X$ be a pair of smooth hermitian vector bundles of rank p and q respectively, and consider the inclusion of projectivized bundles $\mathbf{P}(E) \subset \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$. Note that the linear projection $\pi: E \oplus F \longrightarrow F$ with kernel E does not descend to a map of projectivized bundles. However it does extend over the blow up

$$\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{(A, B) \in \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F) \times_X \mathbf{P}(F) : \pi(A) \subseteq B\}$$

which was introduced in I.9.8. Here " \times_X " denotes the fibre product over X. This space is easily seen to be a manifold, and the map

$$p: \hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F) \longrightarrow \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F),$$

defined by projection onto the first factor, induces a diffeomorphism over the subset $P(E \oplus F) \sim P(E)$.

Let U denote the universal line bundle over $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$ and L the universal line bundle over $\mathbf{P}(F)$. We denote by \mathbf{U} and \mathbf{L} the pullbacks of U and L to $\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F)$. Note that at a point $(A,B) \in \hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F)$, A is the fibre of \mathbf{U} and B is the fibre of \mathbf{L} . Since $\pi(A) \subset B$ over $\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F)$, the projection $\pi: A \longrightarrow B$ defines a map of line bundles

$$\pi: \mathbf{U} \longrightarrow \mathbf{L}$$
.

which vanishes exactly to first order on $\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} p^{-1}(\mathbf{P}(E)) = \mathbf{P}(E) \times_X \mathbf{P}(F)$. In particular $\boldsymbol{\pi}$ is atomic and $\mathrm{Div}(\boldsymbol{\pi}) = [\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E)]$.

Suppose connections D_E , D_F are given on E and F respectively. These connections induce connections $\mathbf{D_U}$ and $\mathbf{D_L}$ on \mathbf{U} and \mathbf{L} . Let $u = \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_{\mathbf{U}}$ and $\ell = \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_{\mathbf{L}}$ denote the first Chern forms of $\mathbf{D_U}$ and $\mathbf{D_L}$. Then by Theorem 6.1 we have that

(10.1)
$$\ell - u - [\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E)] = \frac{i}{2\pi} d\tau$$

and

(10.2)
$$\ell^n - u^n - \frac{\ell^n - u^n}{\ell - u} [\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E)] = \frac{i}{2\pi} d \left(\frac{\ell^n - u^n}{\ell - u} \tau \right)$$

for all n. Let us consider the case where n = q = rank(F). Note that the form

$$\frac{\ell^q - u^q}{\ell - u} \tau \in L^1_{loc}(\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F))$$

is smooth on $\hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F) \sim \hat{\mathbf{P}}(E) \cong \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F) \sim \mathbf{P}(E)$ and has an L^1_{loc} -extension to $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$ which we also denote by $\frac{\ell^q - u^q}{\ell - u} \tau$. Note also that the fibre integral of

$$\frac{\ell^q - u^q}{\ell - u} = \ell^{q-1} + \dots$$

over the fibres of $p_0: \hat{\mathbf{P}}(E) = \mathbf{P}(E) \times_X \mathbf{P}(F) \longrightarrow \mathbf{P}(E)$, given by restricting p, is the same as the fibre integral of ℓ^{q-1} , and

$$(p_0)_*(\ell^{q-1}) = (-1)^{q-1}.$$

Thus the pushforward by the projection $p: \hat{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F) \longrightarrow \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$ of the current equation (10.2) yields

(10.3)
$$\ell^{q} - c_{1}(D_{U})^{q} - (-1)^{q-1}[\mathbf{P}(E)] = \frac{i}{2\pi}d\left(\frac{\ell^{q} - u^{q}}{\ell - u}\tau\right)$$

as an equation of currents on $P(E \oplus F)$. Of course $u = c_1(D_U)$ is smooth on $P(E \oplus F)$.

In the case where F and D_F are trivial we have that

$$\ell^q = 0$$
,

and with $c_1(D_{U^*}) = -c_1(D_U)$, equation (10.3) becomes

$$c_1(D_{U^*})^q - [\mathbf{P}(E)] = (-1)^{q-1} \frac{i}{2\pi} d\left(\frac{\ell^q - u^q}{\ell - u}\tau\right)$$

If E and F are holomorphic bundles, and if D_E and D_F are holomorphic connections induced by the hermitian metrics, then for $x \in E$, $y \in F$, τ can be written as

$$\tau = \partial \log \left\{ \frac{|y|^2}{|x|^2 + |y|^2} \right\}.$$

Hence in this holomorphic case (10.3) yields the equation

$$\ell^q - c_1(D_U)^q - (-1)^{q-1}[\mathbf{P}(E)] = \partial \bar{\partial} \Lambda$$

where

$$\Lambda \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -\frac{i}{2\pi} \frac{\ell^q - u^q}{\ell - u} \log \left\{ \frac{|y|^2}{|x|^2 + |y|^2} \right\} \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F))$$

is the **generalized Levine form** and q is the codimension of P(E) in $P(E \oplus F)$ (See [GSII] where this is discussed for the case where X is a point.)

Note. Downstairs on $P(E \oplus F)$ the closed 2-form ℓ is only L^1_{loc} . Pushing forward equation (10.2) by p shows that, for each n < q, ℓ^n is cohomologous to $c_1(D_U)^n$. However, for ℓ^q this is not true as we have just seen. When taking powers $\geq q$ of ℓ , the singularities enter non-trivially into the calculation of the cohomology class of the form.

Our second application is concerned with questions in CR geometry. It stems from work of Lai [Lai], Webster [W1,2,3] and of Wolfson [Wo] on (real) surfaces in complex 2-manifolds and related matters.

To begin suppose that $j: V \hookrightarrow F$ is a real subbundle of rank n in a complex bundle F of rank n over a manifold X. Let J denote the complex structure on the fibres of F. Then the set of **totally real** points is defined as $\{x \in X : V_x \cap J_x V_x = \{0\}\}$. The complementary set

$$\Sigma_{\rm CR} = \{ x \in X : \dim(V_x \cap J_x V_x) > 0 \},$$

will be called the set of CR-singularities. We shall construct a complex line bundle map whose zero set is precisely Σ_{CR} .

Let $i_{\mathbf{C}}: V_{\mathbf{C}} \longrightarrow F$ denote the complexification of the inclusion of V into F given by

$$i_{\mathbf{C}}(u+iv) = u + Jv.$$

where $V_{\mathbf{C}} = V \otimes \mathbf{C}$. Note that the map $i_{\mathbf{C}}$ has non-trivial kernel precisely along $\Sigma_{\mathbf{CR}}$. Equivalently, the divisor of the n^{th} exterior power

(10.4)
$$\lambda \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Lambda^n i_{\mathbf{C}} : \Lambda^n_{\mathbf{C}} V_{\mathbf{C}} \to \Lambda^n F$$

has

$$\operatorname{spt}(\operatorname{Div}(\lambda)) = \Sigma_{\operatorname{CR}}.$$

Proposition 10.5. Let $i: V \hookrightarrow F$ be a real rank n subbundle of a complex rank n bundle F over a manifold X. Suppose that V and F are provided with (real and complex) connections D_V and D_F respectively. Assume that the induced bundle map λ in (10.4) is weakly atomic. Then

$$c_1(D_F) - \operatorname{Div}(\lambda) = d\sigma$$

with $\sigma \in L^1_{loc}(X)$.

Remark. Rather than assume that λ is weakly atomic, the geometric hypotheses of Theorem 9.1 will suffice.

Proof. Since $\Lambda^n_{\mathbf{C}}V_{\mathbf{C}} = (\Lambda^n V) \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C}$, the first Chern class of the bundle $\Lambda^n_{\mathbf{C}}V_{\mathbf{C}}$ is exact. Now the Proposition follows from Theorem 6.1. \square

This result is a localized version of a result of Webster [W3]. Moreover, the type of singularities allowed by the hypothesis of weak atomicity is vastly more general than those considered in [W3] where one assumes regular first order vanishing.

Remark. The current $Div(\lambda)$ does not depend on a choice of orientation on V or even on the orientability of V.

Example. Surfaces. Suppose $f: X \longrightarrow M$ is an immersion of a real oriented surface X into a complex surface M. Let V = TX and $F = f^*TM$, and consider the bundle embedding

$$df: TX \longrightarrow f^*TM.$$

given by the differential of f. In this case the Σ_{CR} consists of the points of complex tangency, i.e.,

$$\Sigma_{\rm CR} = \{x \in X \; ; \; f_*T_xX \; \text{ is a complex subspace} \}.$$

The divisor of the map $\lambda = \Lambda^2(df)_{\mathbf{C}}$, which is supported in $\Sigma_{\mathbf{CR}}$, can be computed geometrically. To simplify matters let us make the following

Assumption 10.6. At each point of complex tangency the given orientation on X agrees with the canonical complex one, i.e., all the tangency points are "complex" as opposed to "anticomplex".

Suppose now that $p \in X$ is an isolated point in the support of $\mathrm{Div}(\lambda)$ with multiplicity m. In a neighborhood of p the submanifold X can be considered as the graph of a function w(z) where (z,w)=(x+iy,u+iv) are complex coordinates on M with p corresponding to (0,0). By 10.6 the given orientation on X agrees with the one induced by considering X as the graph of w(z). In the frame $(1,\partial w/\partial x)$, $(i,\partial w/\partial y)$ for TX, the map $i_{\mathbf{C}}$ has the matrix form

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & i \\ \frac{\partial w}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial w}{\partial y} \end{pmatrix}$$

so that $\lambda = \Lambda^2 i_{\mathbf{C}}$ has matrix form $-i\partial w/\partial \bar{z}$. Therefore

$$\operatorname{Div}(\lambda) = \operatorname{Div}\left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial \bar{z}}\right).$$

For example if $w = |z|^2$, then p is a point of multiplicity one and is called an elliptic point, while if $w(z) = x^2 - y^2$, then p is a point of multiplicity -1 and p is called a hyperbolic point. In particular, if λ is atomic with isolated zeros, and if N_{ellip} and N_{hyp} denote the number of elliptic and hyperbolic points counted to multiplicity, then under Assumption 10.6 we have that

$$\int_X c_1(D_F) = N_{\text{ellip}} - N_{\text{hyp}}$$

generalizing a result of Webster [W3].

Remark. At anticomplex tangencies the same calculation holds with a reversal of sign. This yields the general geometric formula for the divisor.

Remark. With the addition of a hermitian structure on $F \supset V$ one can construct many other complex line bundle maps and apply the main results of this chapter. This yields other Webster formulas (cf. [MW], [W1], [W2], [W3], and [Wo]).

11. Riemann Roch Theorem.

As an application of Theorem 9.5 we give a local proof of the classical Riemann-Roch Theorem in the spirit of Sibner and Sibner [SS] but avoiding the use of Čech Theory. The special case of Theorem 9.5 required for Riemann-Roch is described as follows.

Consider a Riemann surface X and the diagonal $\Delta \subset X \times X$. Let $L = L_{\Delta}$ denote the holomorphic line bundle associated with the divisor Δ in the product space $X \times X$. Let σ denote a holomorphic section of L on $X \times X$ with divisor Δ . (Recall that σ is unique up to multiplication by a never vanishing holomorphic function on $X \times X$). Choose a hermitian metric $\| \cdot \|_L$ on L. The Poincaré-Lelong formula says that

(11.1)
$$\overline{\partial}T = [\Delta] - c_1(|| \|_L) \quad \text{on } X \times X.$$

where $c_1(|| ||_L)$ is the 1st Chern form of the hermitian connection on L and

(11.2)
$$T \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi i} \partial \log \|\sigma\|_L^2.$$

The derivative of the map $\sigma:\Delta\to L$ can be used to establish that the normal bundle to Δ is isomorphic to $L\mid_{\Delta}$ and hence under the natural embedding i of X as the diagonal Δ in $X\times X$,

$$T_X$$
 is isomorphic to $L \mid_{\Lambda}$.

In particular, the hermitian metric $\| \|_L$ on L can be considered as an extension of a given metric on the Riemann surface X, and

$$i^*c_1(|| ||_L) = c_1(|| ||_{T_X})$$

only depends on the metric on X. Let $K_X = T_X^*$ denote the canonical bundle on X.

We must show how (11.1) implies

Theorem 11.3. Riemann-Roch. Suppose V is a holomorphic vector bundle of rank n on a compact Riemann surface X. Then the analytic index

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_V) \equiv \dim H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_V) - \dim H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_V)$$

is equal to the following combination of Chern numbers

$$c_1(V) - \frac{n}{2} c_1(K_X).$$

Proof. Suppose P and Q are operators on $\Gamma(\Lambda^{*,*} \otimes V)$ of bidegree -1, 0 and 0, 0 respectively which satisfy

$$\overline{\partial}_V \circ P + P \circ \overline{\partial}_V = I - Q.$$

Assume Q is trace class and can be written $Q \equiv \Sigma Q^{p,q}$ where $Q^{p,q}$ maps sections of $\Lambda^{p,q} \otimes V$ into sections of $\Lambda^{p,q} \otimes V$. Then the alternating sum formula (cf. Proposition 2.4 in [AB]) says that the analytic index is given by

(11.4)
$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_V) = \Sigma(-1)^q \operatorname{Tr} Q^{0,q}.$$

Here Tr Q is defined, for operators Q having a smooth kernel A(x, y), to be the integral of A(x, y) over the diagonal.

Now the idea of the proof can be explained quite simply as follows. Use $\overline{\partial}T = [\Delta] - c_1(\| \|_L)$ to construct P and Q satisfying $\overline{\partial}_V \circ P + P \circ \overline{\partial}_V = I - Q$ with Q "sufficiently topological" so that we can deduce

(11.5)
$$\Sigma(-1)^q \operatorname{Tr} Q^{0,q} = c_1(V) - \frac{n}{2} c_1(K_X)$$

by integration over the diagonal.

Remark 11.6. Kernels. Given an operator Q from sections of $\Lambda^p \otimes V$ to sections of $\Lambda^p \otimes V$ there are two different ways of using a kernel on the product space $X \times X$ to induce the operator. Both ways are crucial to this proof. First we describe the kernel A(y,x) used to compute $\operatorname{Tr} Q$ in the alternating sum formula (11.4). Let Y denote the first copy of X in the product $X \times X$. Let $\pi_Y : Y \times X \to Y$ denote projection onto the first factor and let $\pi_X : Y \times X \to X$ denote projection onto the second factor. Let $W \equiv \Lambda^p \otimes V$. The kernel A(y,x) is a distributional section of the bundle $\pi_Y^* \Lambda^m \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^* W, \pi_X^* W)$, where $m \equiv \dim_{\mathbb{R}} X$. Then

$$Q(s) = \int\limits_{Y} A(y,x)s(y)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Tr} Q = \int_{\Delta} \operatorname{trace} A(x, x),$$

where trace A is with respect to Hom(W, W).

The second way of using a kernel B(y,x) to induce the operator Q is motivated by the desire to have the operator equation

$$(11.7) \overline{\partial} \circ P + P \circ \overline{\partial} = I - Q$$

correspond to the kernel equation

(11.8)
$$\overline{\partial}T = [\Delta] - B \quad \text{on } X \times X,$$

(The equation (11.8) has certain significant advantages over (11.7) — even though they are equivalent.) The kernel B(y, x) is a distributional section of the bundle

 $\Lambda^*(Y \times X) \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^* V, \pi_X^* V)$. By definition, B determines an operator on a section s of $W \equiv \Lambda^p \otimes V$ by formal integration over the fibre of the map π_X

$$Q(s) = \int_{y \in Y} B(y, x) \wedge s(y).$$

This is rigorously defined to be the current pushforward of $B(y,x) \wedge s(y)$ under the projection π_X . For example, if $B \equiv kh$ with k a distributional section of $\Lambda^*(Y \times X)$ and h a smooth section of $\text{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V, \pi_X^*V)$ then

$$Q(\varphi \otimes v)(x) = \left(\int_{y \in Y} k(y, x) \wedge \varphi(y) \right) (hv)(x),$$

where the section s has been chosen of the form $s = \varphi \otimes v$ with φ a section of Λ^* and v a section of V. By convention all differentials in the x variables must be moved to the far right before the y integration is preformed. See Harvey-Polking [HP] for a complete development of this kernel calculus. Since $W \equiv \Lambda^p \otimes V$, the bundle $\pi_V^* \Lambda^m \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_V^* W, \pi_X^* W)$ is bundle isomorphic to the bundle

$$\pi_Y^* \Lambda^m \otimes (\pi_Y^* \Lambda^p)^* \otimes \pi_X^* \Lambda^p \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^* V, \pi_X^* V)$$

which in turn is isomorphic to

$$\pi_Y^* \Lambda^{m-p} \otimes \pi_X^* \Lambda^p \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^* V, \pi_X^* V).$$

However, the kernels A(y,x) and B(y,x) are not the same under this canonical isomorphism, but are related by

(11.9)
$$B(y,x) = (-1)^p A(y,x).$$

In particular, the alternating sum formula becomes

(11.10)
$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_V) = \int_{\Delta} \operatorname{trace} B.$$

The proof of (11.9) is omitted.

Note the following two facts: (A) The kernel corresponding to the identity operator on forms is $[\Delta]$, integration over the diagonal. (B) If B is a kernel on

 $X \times X$, of bidegree (k, k-1) where $k \equiv \dim_{\mathbf{C}} X$, and Q is the associated operator, then the kernel $\overline{\partial} B$ corresponds to the operator $\overline{\partial} \circ Q + Q \circ \overline{\partial}$.

Given a kernel B(y,x) which for each fixed p maps sections of $\sum_{q} \Lambda^{p,q} \otimes V$ into itself let $B^{p}(y,x)$ denote the part of the kernel inducing this action on $\sum_{q} \Lambda^{p,q} \otimes V$. Also, let I_{V} denote the identity section of the bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_{Y}^{*}V, \pi_{X}^{*}V)$ over the diagonal Δ .

This second version, (11.10), of the alternating sum formula combines with (11.13) of the next lemma to complete the proof of Riemann Roch for X a Riemann surface.

Lemma 11.11. There exists a fundamental kernel T_V satisfying the current equation

$$(11.12) \overline{\partial} T_V = [\Delta] \otimes I_V - K_V \quad \text{on } X \times X,$$

where K_V is a smooth kernel of bidegree 1, 1 which is $\text{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V, \pi_X^*V)$ -valued. Moreover, $K_V^0 \equiv K_V^{0,0} + K_V^{0,1}$ satisfies

(11.13)
$$i^*(\operatorname{trace} K_V^0) = c_1(\| \|_V) - \frac{n}{2} c_1(\| \|_{K_X}),$$

where c_1 denotes the first Chern form.

Proof. The section I_V of $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V, \pi_X^*V)$ over the diagonal $\Delta \subset X \times X$ can be extended to a section \widetilde{I} over $X \times X$ using the metric on the bundle V over X, as follows. Let

$$U \equiv \{(y, x) \in X \times X : \operatorname{dist}(y, x) < \rho\}$$

where ρ is the convexity radius of the metric. For each $(y,x) \in U$ let $\gamma_{y,x}$ denote the unique arc-length geodesic on X from y to x, and let $\tau(y,x):V_y \to V_x$ for $(y,x) \in U$ denote parallel translation along $\gamma_{y,x}$. We then let $\widetilde{I}(y,x)$ denote any smooth section of $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V,\pi_X^*V)$ over $X \times X$ which agrees with $\tau(y,x)$ on a neighborhood of the diagonal.

We define

$$T_V \equiv T \otimes \widetilde{I}$$

 $\Lambda^*(Y \times X) \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^* V, \pi_X^* V)$. By definition, B determines an operator on a section s of $W \equiv \Lambda^p \otimes V$ by formal integration over the fibre of the map π_X

$$Q(s) = \int_{y \in Y} B(y, x) \wedge s(y).$$

This is rigorously defined to be the current pushforward of $B(y,x) \wedge s(y)$ under the projection π_X . For example, if $B \equiv kh$ with k a distributional section of $\Lambda^*(Y \times X)$ and h a smooth section of $\text{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V, \pi_X^*V)$ then

$$Q(\varphi \otimes v)(x) = \left(\int_{y \in Y} k(y,x) \wedge \varphi(y)\right) (hv)(x),$$

where the section s has been chosen of the form $s = \varphi \otimes v$ with φ a section of Λ^* and v a section of V. By convention all differentials in the x variables must be moved to the far right before the y integration is preformed. See Harvey-Polking [HP] for a complete development of this kernel calculus. Since $W \equiv \Lambda^p \otimes V$, the bundle $\pi_V^* \Lambda^m \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_V^* W, \pi_X^* W)$ is bundle isomorphic to the bundle

$$\pi_Y^* \Lambda^m \otimes (\pi_Y^* \Lambda^p)^* \otimes \pi_X^* \Lambda^p \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^* V, \pi_Y^* V)$$

which in turn is isomorphic to

$$\pi_Y^* \Lambda^{m-p} \otimes \pi_X^* \Lambda^p \otimes \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^* V, \pi_X^* V).$$

However, the kernels A(y,x) and B(y,x) are not the same under this canonical isomorphism, but are related by

(11.9)
$$B(y,x) = (-1)^p A(y,x).$$

In particular, the alternating sum formula becomes

(11.10)
$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_V) = \int_{\Delta} \operatorname{trace} B.$$

The proof of (11.9) is omitted.

Note the following two facts: (A) The kernel corresponding to the identity operator on forms is $[\Delta]$, integration over the diagonal. (B) If B is a kernel on

 $X \times X$, of bidegree (k, k-1) where $k \equiv \dim_{\mathbf{C}} X$, and Q is the associated operator, then the kernel $\overline{\partial} B$ corresponds to the operator $\overline{\partial} \circ Q + Q \circ \overline{\partial}$.

Given a kernel B(y,x) which for each fixed p maps sections of $\sum_{q} \Lambda^{p,q} \otimes V$ into itself let $B^{p}(y,x)$ denote the part of the kernel inducing this action on $\sum_{q} \Lambda^{p,q} \otimes V$. Also, let I_{V} denote the identity section of the bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_{Y}^{*}V, \pi_{X}^{*}V)$ over the diagonal Δ .

This second version, (11.10), of the alternating sum formula combines with (11.13) of the next lemma to complete the proof of Riemann Roch for X a Riemann surface.

Lemma 11.11. There exists a fundamental kernel T_V satisfying the current equation

$$(11.12) \overline{\partial} T_V = [\Delta] \otimes I_V - K_V \quad \text{on } X \times X,$$

where K_V is a smooth kernel of bidegree 1, 1 which is $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V, \pi_X^*V)$ -valued. Moreover, $K_V^0 \equiv K_V^{0,0} + K_V^{0,1}$ satisfies

(11.13)
$$i^*(\operatorname{trace} K_V^0) = c_1(\| \|_V) - \frac{n}{2} c_1(\| \|_{K_X}),$$

where c_1 denotes the first Chern form.

Proof. The section I_V of $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V, \pi_X^*V)$ over the diagonal $\Delta \subset X \times X$ can be extended to a section \widetilde{I} over $X \times X$ using the metric on the bundle V over X, as follows. Let

$$U \equiv \{(y,x) \in X \times X : \operatorname{dist}(y,x) < \rho\}$$

where ρ is the convexity radius of the metric. For each $(y,x) \in U$ let $\gamma_{y,x}$ denote the unique arc-length geodesic on X from y to x, and let $\tau(y,x):V_y \to V_x$ for $(y,x) \in U$ denote parallel translation along $\gamma_{y,x}$. We then let $\widetilde{I}(y,x)$ denote any smooth section of $\operatorname{Hom}(\pi_Y^*V,\pi_X^*V)$ over $X \times X$ which agrees with $\tau(y,x)$ on a neighborhood of the diagonal.

We define

$$T_V \equiv T \otimes \widetilde{I}$$

with T given by (11.1). The formula (11.2) implies that

$$\overline{\partial} T_V = [\Delta] \otimes I_V - K_V \text{ on } X \times X$$

where

$$K_V = T \otimes \overline{\partial} \ \widetilde{I} + c_1(L) \otimes \widetilde{I}$$

since $[\Delta] \otimes \widetilde{I} = [\Delta] \otimes I_V$ is independent of the extension \widetilde{I} .

It remains to show two things. The first is that $(c_1(|| ||_L) \otimes \widetilde{I})^0$, the part of $c_1(L) \otimes \widetilde{I}$ acting on $\Lambda^{0,*} \otimes V$, satisfies

$$i^* \Big(\operatorname{trace}(c_1(\| \|_L) \otimes \widetilde{I})^0 \Big) = -\frac{n}{2} c_1(\| \|_{K_X}).$$

The second is that $T \otimes \overline{\partial} \widetilde{I}$ extends smoothly across Δ with

(11.14)
$$i^* \Big(\operatorname{trace}(T \otimes \overline{\partial} \widetilde{I})^0 \Big) = c_1(\| \|_V).$$

Now we observe that

$$i^{*}\left(\operatorname{trace} c_{1}(\| \|_{L}) \otimes \widetilde{I}\right) = n \ i^{*}(c_{1}(\| \|_{L})) = -n \ c_{1}(\| \|_{K_{X}}),$$

$$i^{*}\left(\operatorname{trace}(c_{1}(\| \|_{L}) \otimes \widetilde{I})^{0}\right) = n \ i^{*}(c_{1}(\| \|_{L})^{0})$$

$$i^{*}\left(\operatorname{trace}(c_{1}(\| \|_{L}) \otimes \widetilde{I})^{1}\right) = n \ i^{*}(c_{1}(\| \|_{L})^{1})$$

where the isomorphism $T_X \cong L \mid_{\Delta}$ is used in the first equation. Thus it suffices to prove that

$$i^*(c_1(|| ||_L)^0) = i^*(c_1(|| ||_L)^1)$$

in order to conclude that $i^*(\operatorname{trace}(c_1(\| \|_L) \otimes \widetilde{I})^0 = -\frac{n}{2}c_1(\| \|_{K_X})$ as desired. We may choose the metric on L invariant under the switch s. Then $s^*c_1(\| \|_L) = c_1(\| \|_L)$. Then one can show that $c_1(\| \|_L)^1 = s^*(c_1(\| \|_L)^0)$ (say using local holomorphic coordinates) which implies (11.15).

Let Ω_V denote the curvature of the bundle V, i.e., $c_1(\| \|_V) = \frac{i}{2\pi} \operatorname{Tr} \Omega_V$. The second equation (11.14) follows from

(11.16)
$$i^* \Big((T \otimes \overline{\partial} \, \widetilde{I})^0 \Big) = \frac{i}{2\pi} \Omega_V.$$

Pick a local holomorphic coordinate x for X. Then

$$T \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{d(y-x)}{y-x} - \frac{i}{2\pi} \frac{\partial \rho}{\rho}$$

with ρ never zero.

We will show that $\overline{\partial} \widetilde{I}$ vanishes on Δ and hence need only consider the term

$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \frac{d(y-x)}{y-x} \otimes \overline{\partial} \, \widetilde{I} \quad \text{in} \ T \otimes \overline{\partial} \, \widetilde{I}.$$

First, note that

(11.17)
$$\frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\frac{d(y-x)}{y-x} \otimes \overline{\partial} \, \widetilde{I} \right)^0 = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \, \frac{dy}{y-x} \otimes \overline{\partial} \, \widetilde{I}.$$

Choose a local holomorphic frame v_1, \ldots, v_n for V. Then (11.17) applies to v can be rewritten as

$$rac{1}{2\pi i}\overline{\partial}\left(rac{dy}{y-x}\otimes\left(\widetilde{I}(y,x)v(y)-v(x)
ight)
ight)$$

Therefore, the desired equation (11.16) follows from the next result.

Lemma 11.18.

$$\frac{dy}{y-x}\otimes\left(\widetilde{I}(y,x)v(y)-v(x)\right)$$

extends smoothly across Δ and pulls back by the inclusion $i: X \to \Delta \subset X \times X$ to

$$Dv = \omega v.$$

Proof. Fix any point $x \in X$ and a real tangent vector $\xi \in T_x X$. Let $\gamma(t)$ denote the arc-length geodesic on X with $\gamma(0) = x$ and $\gamma'(0) = \xi$. Our first assertion is that

$$(11.19) D_{\xi}v = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{v(\gamma(t)) - \widetilde{I}(x, \gamma(t))v(x)}{t} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\widetilde{I}(\gamma(t), x)v(\gamma(t)) - v(x)}{t}.$$

To see this set

$$w(t) = \widetilde{I}(x, \gamma(t))v(x)$$

and write $v(\gamma(t)) = A(t)w(t)$ where $A(t) \in GL_n(\mathbb{C})$ for each t. Then

$$D_{\xi}v = \frac{Dv}{dt} \bigg|_{t=0} = \left\{ \frac{dA}{dt}w + A\frac{Dw}{dt} \right\} \bigg|_{t=0} = \frac{dA}{dt}(0)v(x)$$

since by the definition of w, $\frac{Dw}{dt} \equiv 0$. However,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (v(\gamma(t)) - w(t)) = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (A(t) - I) w(t) = \frac{dA}{dt} (0) v(x).$$

This proves the first equation in (11.19). For the second we apply $\widetilde{I}(x,\gamma(t))\widetilde{I}(g(t),x) = \mathrm{Id}v_{\gamma(t)}$ to the first and regroup before taking the limit.

We now consider the V_x -valued function $f(y) = \tilde{I}(y,x)v(y) - v(x)$ defined for y in a neighborhood of x. Equation (11.19) immediately implies that

(11.20)
$$Dv = d_y \left\{ \widetilde{I}(y,x)v(y) - v(x) \right\} \bigg|_{y=x}$$

where d_y denotes the exterior derivative with respect to the y-variables.

Since D is a canonical hermitian connection, the complex linear extension of Dv to $T_xX\otimes \mathbf{C}=T^{1,0}\oplus T^{0,1}$ is purely of type (1,0), i.e., (11.20) can be rewritten as

(11.21)
$$Dv = \partial_y \left\{ \widetilde{I}(y,x)v(y) - v(x) \right\} \bigg|_{y=x}.$$

We now consider a coordinate neighborhood $U \subset X$ and let $x = x_1 + ix_2$ and $y = y_1 + iy_2$ denote the local holomorphic coordinate on U. Then (11.21) can be written as

$$Dv = \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left\{ \widetilde{I}(y,x)v(y) - v(x) \right\} \bigg|_{y=x} dy.$$

The result now follows from Taylor's Theorem applied to the function f(y) at the point y=x. \square

III. Sections of Vector Bundles

In this chapter we develop our theory in the case where E and F are complex vector bundles and $\operatorname{rank}(E)=1$. When $E=\underline{\mathbf{C}}$ is trivial, bundle maps $\underline{\mathbf{C}}\to F$ correspond to cross-sections of F. We begin with this case. In Section 1 we present the concept, introduced in [HS], of an atomic cross-section of a vector bundle. If the bundle is oriented, then each atomic section μ has an associated divisor $\operatorname{Div}(\mu)$, which is a d-closed integrally flat current on the base manifold. If μ vanishes non-degenerately, $\operatorname{Div}(\mu)$ is the current associated to the manifold of zeros of μ . The majority of Section 1 is devoted to proving a basic technical result concerning residues of forms, which plays an important role throughout the rest of the paper.

In Section 2 we fix a complex bundle with connection $F \to X$ and examine the singular pushforward connection under an atomic section μ . It is shown that if μ is atomic, then for every Ad-invariant polynomial ϕ on $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbf{C})$, the Chern current $\phi((\overrightarrow{D}))$ exists and has the form

$$\phi((\overrightarrow{D})) = \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})\operatorname{Div}(\mu),$$

where $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ is L^1_{loc} across the singular set of μ and satisfies

$$d\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = 0$$
 on X ,

and where $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is a smooth d-closed form on X, called the **residue form**, which is independent of μ .

In Section 3 we show that the characteristic current $\phi((\overrightarrow{D}))$ is independent of the choice of approximation mode. We also show that the residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$

is in fact a Chern-Weil characteristic form, i.e., it is written as a universally determined polynomial in the curvature of the given connection on F. Detailed computations of this residue form are carried out in Section 7. The results of Section 3 are proved by careful computation of the transgression forms for the family $\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$ and their limit as $s \to 0$.

In Section 4 we examine the case of the top Chern class. This leads to a C^{∞} generalization of the Poincaré-Lelong formula. More specifically, for each atomic section μ there is a family of transgression forms $r_s \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ such that

$$c_n(\overrightarrow{D}_s) - \operatorname{Div}(\mu) = dr_s$$

and

$$\lim_{s \to 0} r_s = 0 \quad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc}}(X).$$

Thus the Chern form $c_n(D_F)$ and the divisor of μ are cohomologous. Note also that as $s \to 0$, $c_n(\overrightarrow{D}_s) \to \text{Div}(\mu)$ as flat currents on X.

Here our theory also produces, for each approximation mode, a family τ_s , s > 0 of canonical representatives of the Thom class of F. In fact we produce explicit universal classes \mathfrak{T}_s in the equivariant cohomology of \mathbf{C}^n such that $\tau_s = w(\mathfrak{T}_s)$ where w is the equivariant Chern-Weil homomorphism. The family τ_s has the nice properties:

$$\lim_{s\to 0} \tau_s = [X] \text{ (The zero-section of } F)$$

and

$$\tau_{\mathbf{s}} \mid_{X} = c_{n}(D_{F})$$
 (The Chern Euler form) for all s.

In compact approximation mode the support of the Thom forms is compact in each fibre. In algebraic approximation mode, the Thom form extends to $P(C \oplus F)$ and determines the Thom class as an element in $H^{2n}(P(C \oplus F), P(F))$.

In Section 5 we prove a C^{∞} version of the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem at the level of differential forms. As above, the construction is completely canonical in each approximation mode. Furthermore, the result holds for a large class of subcomplexes of X, not just for smooth submanifolds.

Section 8 extends our results to general atomic maps $\alpha: E \to F$ where rank(E) = 1. Interestingly, these results cannot be obtained from the section

case by twisting with E^* . The formulas at the level of forms and currents are different.

In an appendix we discuss generalized Bochner-Martinelli kernels from the point of view of Chern-Weil theory (cf. Berndtsson [Be]) and use them to prove some basic results for atomic bundle maps.

1. Atomic Sections and Divisors.

Suppose V is a smooth real vector bundle of rank m over X. A smooth section ν of V is locally of the form $\nu = ue$ with $e^t \equiv (e_1, \ldots, e_m)$ a local frame for V and $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ a smooth \mathbb{R}^m -valued function.

Definition 1.1. (m > 1) A smooth section ν is said to be atomic if for each local frame e the vector valued function u satisfies:

$$u^*\left(\frac{dy^I}{|y|^p}\right)$$
 has an L^1_{loc} extension across the zero set of u , to all of X , for all $p=|I|\leq m-1$.

This extension is unique because the zero set of u has Lebesgue measure zero ([HS; 1.2]).

Now let

(1.2)
$$\theta(y) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{m} (-1)^{j-1} \frac{y_j dy_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{dy_j} \wedge \dots \wedge dy_m}{|y|^m}$$

denote the solid angle kernel on \mathbb{R}^m , and let γ_m denote the volume of the unit sphere in \mathbb{R}^m .

In order to correctly formulate the notion of the divisor of a section of V, the bundle V must be oriented and only frames compatible with the orientation are allowed.

Definition 1.3. Suppose ν is an atomic section of V, so that, for each \mathbf{R}^m -valued function u determined by $\nu = ue$ from a local frame e compatible with the orientation,

$$u^*(\theta(y)) \in L^1_{loc}(X).$$

The divisor of ν , denoted by $\mathrm{Div}(\nu)$, is defined by the current equation

(1.4)
$$\operatorname{Div}(\nu) \equiv d\left(\gamma_m^{-1} u^*(\theta)\right) \quad \text{on } X,$$

i.e., the exterior derivative of the potential $\gamma_m^{-1}u^*(\theta) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$.

This notion of divisor is independent of the choice of local frame compatible with the orientation on V (Theorem 2.11 [HS]).

The remainder of this section is devoted to the proof of a result (Theorem 1.10) that is of crucial importance for our understanding of Chern currents.

A smooth form on $V \sim X$ which is invariant under multiplication by positive scalars in the fibers of V will be called **homogeneous** (of degree zero). In local coordinates $y \in \mathbf{R}^m \cong V_x$ in the fiber, a homogeneous form is the sum of terms of the form $\varphi\left(x, \frac{y}{|y|}\right) \frac{dy^I}{|y|^p}$ with p = |I| and φ a smooth family of forms on U parametrized by $\frac{y}{|y|} \in S^{m-1}$ on $U \times S^{m-1}$, $U^{\text{open}} \subset X$.

Lemma 1.5. Suppose T is a homogeneous form on $V \sim X$ which is of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fiber differentials. Suppose that ν is an atomic section of V. Let $Z \equiv \{x \in X : \nu(x) = 0\}$. Then:

- a) T extends (uniquely) as an $L^1_{loc}(V)$ form across $X \subset V$.
- b) $\nu^*(T)$ extends (uniquely) as an $L^1_{loc}(X)$ form across the zero set $Z \subset X$.

Proof. a) Note that $|y|^{-p} \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbf{R}^m)$ if $p \leq m-1$.

b) This follows directly from the definition of an atomic section and the fact that Z has Lebesgue measure zero. \Box

Remark 1.6. Because of this Lemma, we shall use the notations $T \in L^1_{loc}(V)$ for the unique extension of $T \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$, and $\nu^*(T) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ for the unique extension of $\nu^*(T) \in C^{\infty}(X \sim Z)$.

The objective of the remainder of this section is to compute the exterior derivative of the currents $T \in L^1_{loc}(V)$ and $\nu^*(T) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$.

Since $T \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$ is homogeneous, the form $L \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$ defined by L = dT on $V \sim X$ is also homogeneous. Moreover, if T has degree $\leq k$ in the fiber differentials then L = dT has degree $\leq k + 1$ in the fiber differentials.

Under the hypothesis that both T and $L \equiv dT$ are of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fiber differentials, both T and L have unique $L^1_{loc}(V)$ extensions across $X \subset V$, so that (letting T and L denote these unique extensions):

$$dT = L + S \quad \text{on } V,$$

where S is a current with support in $X \subset V$. The current $L \in L^1_{loc}(V)$ will be called the L^1_{loc} part of dT and S will be called the singular part of dT.

First we consider the easy case of codegree at least two, where there is no singular part.

Lemma 1.8. Suppose T is a homogeneous form on $V \sim X$ of degree $\leq m-2$ in the fiber differentials.

a) The L^1_{loc} extensions, $T \in L^1_{loc}(V)$ of $T \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$ and $L \in L^1_{loc}(V)$ of $L \equiv dT \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$ satisfy the current equation

$$dT = L$$
 on V .

b) If ν is an atomic section then the L^1_{loc} extensions $\nu^*(T) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ of $\nu^*(T) \in C^{\infty}(X-Z)$ and $\nu^*(L) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ of $\nu^*(dT) \in C^{\infty}(X\sim Z)$ satisfy the current equation

$$d\nu^*(T) = \nu^*(L) \quad \text{on } X.$$

Proof. For the purpose of clarity in this proof let $\widetilde{T} \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(V)$ denote the extension of $T \in C^\infty(V \sim X)$ etc. Choose an approximate one $\chi(t)$ which vanishes identically in a neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbf{R}$. Then $\widetilde{T} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \chi\left(\frac{|y|}{\epsilon}\right) T$ converges in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(V)$ by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem. Therefore,

$$d\widetilde{T} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \left(\chi \left(\frac{|y|}{\epsilon} \right) dT + \chi' \left(\frac{|y|}{\epsilon} \right) \frac{|y|}{\epsilon} \frac{d|y|}{|y|} T \right).$$

Note that dT and $\frac{d|y|}{|y|}T$ are homogeneous of degree $\leq m-1$ while $\chi\left(\frac{|y|}{\epsilon}\right)$ and $\chi'\left(\frac{|y|}{\epsilon}\right)\frac{|y|}{\epsilon}$ are bounded independent of y and ϵ . Therefore $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \chi\left(\frac{|y|}{\epsilon}\right) dT = \widetilde{dT}$ converges in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(V)$ and $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \chi\left(\frac{|y|}{\epsilon}\right)\frac{|y|}{\epsilon}\frac{d|y|}{|y|}T = 0$ converges in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(V)$. That is $d\widetilde{T} = \widetilde{dT}$, or in different notation dT = L on V.

The proof of part b) is similar and omitted. \Box

Now we turn to the more difficult case where T has top degree m-1 in the fiber differentials. Pick a metric on V and let S denote the unit sphere bundle in V, with projection $\pi: S \to X$.

Definition 1.9. The residue of T along $X \subset V$ is defined by

$$\operatorname{Res}(T) = \pi_*(T),$$

or in terms of fiber integration

$$\operatorname{Res}(T) = \int_{\pi^{-1}} T.$$

Note that Res(T) is a smooth form on X. We shall prove that Res(T) does not depend on the metric chosen for V.

The next result extends Lemma 1.8 by allowing the higher degree m-1, however the special case Lemma 1.8 will be used repeatedly in the proof.

Theorem 1.10. Suppose T is a homogeneous form on $V \sim X$ of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fiber differentials. In addition, assume the homogeneous form $L \equiv dT$ on $V \sim X$ is also of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fiber differentials. Then

a)
$$dT = L + \operatorname{Res}(T)[X] \quad \text{on } V.$$

If ν is an atomic section of V then

b)
$$d(\nu^*(T)) = \nu^*(L) + \operatorname{Res}(T)\operatorname{Div}(\nu) \quad on \ X.$$

In particular, note that Part a) implies that the residue of T independent of the metric chosen for V.

Proof. It suffices to prove a) and b) locally in the base X. Thus we may assume that $V \equiv X \times \mathbf{R}^m = \underline{\mathbf{R}}^m$ is trivial. Recall the standard fact that

(1.11)
$$d\left(\frac{1}{\gamma_m}\widetilde{\theta(y)}\right) = [X] \text{ on } X \times \mathbf{R}^m,$$

and the definition that

$$(1.12) d\left(\frac{1}{\gamma_m}\widetilde{u^*(\theta)}\right) \equiv \operatorname{Div}(u)$$

is the **divisor** of the atomic section u of the trivial bundle $\underline{\mathbf{R}}^m$. Suppose we can prove that

(1.13)
$$T - \operatorname{Res}(T) \frac{1}{\gamma_m} \theta = d\alpha + \beta \quad \text{on } V \sim X$$

with α and β homogeneous, and both α and β of degree $\leq m-2$ in the fiber differentials dy_1, \ldots, dy_m . Then Lemma 1.8 is applicable and equation (1.13) extends across X to the equation of $L^1_{loc}(V)$ currents on V,

(1.14)
$$\widetilde{T} - \operatorname{Res}(T) \frac{1}{\gamma_m} \widetilde{\theta} = d\widetilde{\alpha} + \widetilde{\beta} \quad \text{on} \quad V,$$

and, by part b) of Lemma 1.13, this equation pulls back to an equation of $L^1_{loc}(X)$ currents on X

(1.15)
$$\widetilde{u^*(T)} - \operatorname{Res}(T) \frac{1}{\gamma_m} \widetilde{u^*(\theta)} = d\left(\widetilde{u^*(\alpha)}\right) + \widetilde{u^*(\beta)}$$

Finally, taking the exterior derivative of (1.14) yields

(1.16)
$$d\widetilde{T} - \operatorname{Res}(T)[X] \in L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(V).$$

Here we use (1.11) to compute the exterior derivative of $\operatorname{Res}(T) \frac{1}{\gamma_m} u^*(\theta)$ modulo $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(V)$ and use Lemma 1.8 to compute that $d\tilde{\beta} = \widetilde{d\beta} \in L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(V)$.

Note that part a) of Theorem 1.10 is an immediate consequence of (1.16). Thus it remains to prove (1.13). The homogeneous form

$$\phi \equiv T - \operatorname{Res}(T) \frac{1}{\gamma_{m}} \theta$$

satisfies the same two conditions as T, namely that both ϕ and $d\phi$ are of degree $\leq m-1$ in the differentials dy_1, \ldots, dy_m . In addition, ϕ satisfies the condition

(1.17)
$$\operatorname{Res}(\phi) \equiv \int_{\pi^{-1}(x)} \phi = 0.$$

These three conditions on ϕ will be used in the proof of (1.13).

The form ϕ can be expressed as

(1.18)
$$\phi = \frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2} \wedge \eta + \psi$$

First, we show that ψ is of the form $d\alpha + \beta$ with degree α and $\beta \leq m-2$. For $x \in X$ fixed, both ϕ and ψ have the same integral over the unit sphere since $d|y|^2$ restricts to zero. Thus $\int_{S^{m-1}} \psi_x = 0$. Consequently, we can solve the equation

$$d_{S^{m-1}}\bar{\alpha} = \bar{\psi}$$
 on $X \times S^{m-1}$

with a (smooth) solution $\bar{\alpha}$. Here $d_{S^{m-1}}$ denotes the S^{m-1} partial exterior derivative.

This implies that

$$\bar{\psi} = d\bar{\alpha} + \bar{\beta}$$
 on $X \times S^{m-1}$

where $\bar{\beta}$ is smooth and of degree $\leq m-2$ in the differentials on S^{m-1} . Pulling this equation back to $X \times (\mathbb{R}^m - \{0\})$ yields

$$\psi = d\alpha + \beta$$
 on $X \times (\mathbf{R}^m \sim \{0\})$

where α and β are homogeneous and of degree $\leq m-2$ in dy_1,\ldots,dy_m .

Now consider $\eta \equiv y \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \, {\mathrel{\sqsubseteq}} \, \phi$. Note η is homogeneous and $y \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \, {\mathrel{\sqsubseteq}} \, \eta = 0$ so that η is the pullback of a form $\bar{\eta}$ on the sphere bundle S. The form η has degree $\leq m-2$ in the fiber differentials dy_1, \ldots, dy_m . The equation

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_{y \cdot \partial/\partial y}(\phi) = d\left(y \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \, \lfloor \, \phi \right) + y \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \, \lfloor \, d\phi$$

implies that

$$d\eta = -y \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \perp d\phi$$
 is of degree $\leq m-2$ in dy_1, \ldots, dy_m .

$$d \circ K + K \circ d = I - H$$

operating on differential forms on the sphere S^{m-1} , based on the L^2 decomposition of a form. Then

(1.19)
$$\bar{\eta} = d(K(\bar{\eta})) + K(d\bar{\eta}) + H(\bar{\eta}).$$

Note that $K(\bar{\eta})$ and $K(d\bar{\eta})$ are smooth differential forms of degree $\leq m-3$. Let γ denote the pullback of $K(\bar{\eta})$ to $V \sim X$ and let δ denote the pullback of $K(d\bar{\eta})$ to $V \sim X$. Since $\bar{\eta}$ has degree $\leq m-2$ the only possible harmonic is a constant. Thus (1.19) pulls back to

(1.20)
$$\eta = d\gamma + \delta + c \quad \text{on } V \sim X,$$

with γ and δ of degree $\leq m-3$ in dy_1, \ldots, dy_m . Therefore

$$\frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2} \wedge \eta = d\left(\frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2} \wedge \gamma + c\log|y|^2\right) + \frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2} \wedge \delta.$$

Both of the homogeneous forms $\frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2} \wedge \gamma$ and $\frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2} \wedge \delta$ are of degree $\leq m-2$ in dy_1, \ldots, y_m . This completes the proof of a modified form of (1.13), namely

$$\phi = d\alpha + \beta + c \frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2}.$$

The extra term $c\frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2}$ is of degree $\leq m-2$ in dy_1,\ldots,dy_m and can be absorbed into β unless m=2. In this special case the extra term $cd\log|y|^2$ can be absorbed into α since $\log|y|^2\in L^1_{loc}(V)$. This completes the proof of part a). The proof of part b) is similar and omitted. The fact that $u^*(\log|y|^2)\in L^1_{loc}(X)$ must be used. This fact is a consequence of the fact that it's exterior derivative $\nu^*\left(\frac{d|y|^2}{|y|^2}\right)\in L^1_{loc}(X)$. \square

Corollary 1.22. The current $L \in L^1_{loc}(V)$, extending $dT \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$, is d-closed on V if and only if Res(dT) = d Res(T) = 0 on X, in which case $\nu^*(L) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ is also d-closed.

Proof. Note that $L \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$ is homogeneous and of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fiber differentials; and that $dL \in C^{\infty}(V \sim X)$ is equal to zero. Therefore, Theorem 1.10 can be applied with T replaced by L to obtain

$$(1.23) dL = \operatorname{Res}(L)[X] on V.$$

Since d commutes with pushforward, $\operatorname{Res}(dT) = \pi_*(dT) = d\pi_*(T) = d\operatorname{Res}(T)$. That is

(1.24)
$$\operatorname{Res}(L) = \operatorname{Res}(dT) = d\operatorname{Res}(T).$$

Finally, if one of the equivalent conditions, say $\mathrm{Res}(L)=0$, is valid and ν is atomic then by Theorem 1.10

$$(1.25) d(\nu^*(L)) = \operatorname{Res}(L)\operatorname{Div}(\nu) = 0 \text{on } X. \quad \square$$

The example where $V = \underline{\mathbf{R}}^m = X \times \mathbf{R}^m$ and $T \equiv \gamma_m^{-1} \pi^*(\alpha) \wedge \theta(y)$, where α is an arbitrary form on the base, is instructive. Here both of the homogeneous forms T and $dT = \gamma_m^{-1} \pi^*(d\alpha) \wedge \theta(y)$ are of degree m-1 in the fiber differentials, while $\operatorname{Res}(T) = \alpha$ and $\operatorname{Res}(dT) = d\alpha$.

This corollary will be used later to show that in some important cases Res(T) is d-closed even though dT is not identically zero.

Remark 1.26. Note that the condition $\operatorname{Res}(dT) = 0$ is independent of the section ν , but implies that the $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$ part of $d\nu^*(T)$ is d-closed for all atomic sections ν .

2. The Singular Pushforward Connection \overrightarrow{D} on F.

Suppose μ is a smooth section of a complex vector bundle F of rank n. Note that μ can be equivalently described as a bundle map $\underline{\mathbf{C}} \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ where $\alpha 1 \equiv \mu$. Assume that F has a connection D_F and a metric \langle , \rangle_F ; and consider the trivial connection d on $\underline{\mathbf{C}}$. The push forward singular connection (see (I.2.11)),

$$\overrightarrow{D} \equiv \alpha \circ d \circ \beta + D_F \circ (1 - \alpha \beta),$$

is a smooth connection on F outside the zero set of μ . Here $\beta \equiv \frac{\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}$ where $|\alpha|^2 \equiv \alpha^* \alpha$ and $\alpha^*(\nu) = \langle \nu, \mu \rangle$. Note that \overrightarrow{D} may also be expressed on a section ν by the formula

$$\overrightarrow{D}
u \equiv D_F
u - rac{\langle
u, \mu \rangle}{|\mu|^2} D_F\mu.$$

Note in particular that μ is \overrightarrow{D} -parallel.

Let $\chi(t)$ denote a given approximate one. Throughout this chapter we shall use the notation $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|\mu|^2}{s^2}\right) = \chi\left(\frac{|\mu|^2}{s^2}\right)$ and $\chi'_s = \chi'\left(\frac{|\mu|^2}{s^2}\right) = \chi'\left(\frac{|\mu|^2}{s^2}\right)$. Recall from (I.4.9) and (I.4.6) the family $(0 < s \le +\infty)$ of smooth connections

$$\overrightarrow{D}_s = \alpha \circ d \circ \beta_s + D_F \circ (1 - \alpha \beta_s)$$

where $\beta_s \equiv \chi_s \beta$. On a section ν , \overrightarrow{D}_s can be reexpressed by,

$$\overrightarrow{D}_{s}\nu = D_{F}\nu - \chi_{s} \frac{\langle \nu, \mu \rangle}{|\mu|^{2}} D_{F}\mu.$$

We shall adopt the following notation. Given a local frame f for F, let $\mu = uf$ define $u \equiv (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$, and let $u^* \equiv h_F \bar{u}^t$. Set $|u|^2 = uu^*$. (This is more convenient). Also let

$$Du \equiv du + u\omega_F$$
 and $Du^* \equiv du^* - \omega_F u^*$.

The local gauge for \overrightarrow{D} is given by

(2.1)
$$\overrightarrow{\omega} \equiv \omega_F - \frac{u^*}{|u|^2} (u\omega_F + du) = \omega_F - \frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2},$$

because of (I.5.2) and (I.5.15). The local gauge for \overrightarrow{D}_s is given by

(2.2)
$$\overrightarrow{\omega}_s \equiv \omega_F - \chi_s \frac{u^*}{|u|^2} (u\omega_F + du) = \omega_F - \chi_s \frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2},$$

because of (I.5.3) and (I.5.15).

The case we are considering, of a section $\mu = \alpha 1$, is a special case of the fundamental injective conformal case of Section I.6. Therefore, the following formula for the curvature $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ of the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s is a special case of a formula in Remark I.6.7. Alternatively the formula for Ω_s can be computed directly using the formula (2.2) for the gauge ω_s .

Lemma 2.3. The curvature $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ of \overrightarrow{D}_s is given by:

$$(2.4) \ \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s})\Omega_{F} + \chi_{s} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{0} - \chi'_{s} \frac{|u|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}} + \chi_{s} (1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{u^{*}Duu^{*}Du}{|u|^{4}},$$

where

$$\Omega_0 = \left(1 - \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right) \left(\Omega_F - \frac{D u^* D u}{|u|^2}\right).$$

Moreover, $\lim_{s\to 0} \Omega_s = \Omega_0$, outside the singular (zero) set of μ , in the C^{∞} topology.

Suppose that ϕ is an invariant polynomial. Let $\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = \phi(\Omega_s)$ denote the ϕ -Chern form of the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s . Recall the standard transgression formula for the family of smooth connections \overrightarrow{D}_s (0 < $s \le +\infty$),

$$\phi(D_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = dT_s,$$

where

$$(2.7) T_s \equiv \int_s^\infty \phi(\dot{\omega}_s \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) ds = -\int_s^\infty \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2} \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi_s ds.$$

The next result provides the key to the main Theorem 2.30 of this Section.

Proposition 2.8. Suppose μ is an atomic section. The transgression current $T \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} T_s$ converges in $L^1_{loc}(X)$. That is the integral

$$(2.9) T \equiv -\int_0^\infty \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi_s ds$$

converges in $L^1_{loc}(X)$.

Proof 1. First we sketch a direct proof. It suffices to dominate the first factor,

(2.10)
$$\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}\;;\;\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right),$$

of the transgression integrand in (2.7), by an $L^1_{loc}(X)$ form independent of s because then this factor can be discarded from the integrand leaving the positive second factor $-\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$ which integrates to

$$(2.11) - \int_{s}^{\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right) ds = \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right).$$

Note that $\chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$ is bounded and converges to one almost everywhere.

Since both $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$ and $\chi'\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} = \chi'\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}$ are bounded independent of u and s, the formula for the curvature given in Lemma 2.3 can be used in conjunction with the hypothesis of atomicity to dominate (2.10). This works because $\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right)$ is of degree $\leq 2n-1$ in the fiber differentials $du_1, \ldots, du_n, d\bar{u}_1, \ldots, d\bar{u}_n$. To verify this fact we need Lemma 2.20 below. This Lemma implies that

$$u^* \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \, \llcorner \, \phi \left(\frac{u^* D u}{|u|^2} \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \right) \; = \; 0,$$

so that the degree of $\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right)$ must be $\leq 2n-1$. \square

Proof 2. This proof is in essence the same as the first proof but takes advantage of an explicit formula for T_s in Proposition 3.17 which shows that T_s is a polynomial in $\chi_s = \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$ with coefficients that are $L^1_{loc}(X)$ forms independent of s. Since χ_s is bounded uniformly in u and s and χ_s converges to one almost everywhere, the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem implies that T_s converges to T in $L^1_{loc}(X)$, as $s \to 0$. \square

This explicit formula for T_s yields an explicit formula for T as well, which shows that T is independent of the choice of approximate one χ (see Theorem 3.15).

The two proofs just presented rely on facts presented below. These facts are most easily derived by first working in the universal case and then "pulling down" by the atomic section μ .

Remark 2.12. The Universal Case. All the calculations above are valid of course in the universal case introduced in I.3. Via the canonical isomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}(\underline{\mathbf{C}}, F) \cong F$, there are certain simplifications here of the universal construction. Let $\pi: F \to X$ denote the bundle projection and consider the pull backs: $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$ and $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}} = \pi^* D_F$ of F and its given connection to the total space of F.

Thus we have the fibre square

$$\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F \longrightarrow F$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$F \longrightarrow X$$

Let $X \subset F$ denote the set of 0-vectors in F. Then the bundle F comes equipped with a "tautological" atomic cross-section μ which vanishes to first order on X and has

$$Div(\boldsymbol{\mu}) = [X].$$

This section μ is defined at a point $v \in F_x = \pi^{-1}(x)$ by

$$\mu(v) = v$$

under the identification $\mathbf{F}_v = (\pi^* F)_v = F_{\pi(v)} = F_x$.

We denote by $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}$ the singular pushforward connection on \mathbf{F} associated to the tautological cross-section $\boldsymbol{\mu}$, and we let $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}$ denote the smoothing family constructed via the fixed approximate one χ . The formulas derived above are valid in this case. In fact they can be pulled down via any atomic cross-section $\boldsymbol{\mu}: X \to F$ to give the corresponding formulas on X.

For what follows we begin by working in the universal case. Thus we have the equation

$$\phi(\mathbf{D_F}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}_s}) = d\mathbf{T_s}$$
 on F

and each of the formulas above are valid for the gauge $\overrightarrow{\omega}_s$, the curvature $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ and the transgression T_s on the total space of F. Note however that $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$ can now be interpreted as linear fibre coordinates on F (with respect to a local framing).

Fix $\epsilon > 0$ and let ρ denote the restriction of $\pi : F \to X$ to the ϵ -sphere bundle in F, so that for each $x \in X$,

$$\rho^{-1}(x) = \{ v \in F_x : |v| = \epsilon \}.$$

Definition 2.13. The residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is defined to be minus the residue of the transgression potential T, i.e.,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = -\int_{\rho^{-1}} \mathbf{T} = -\operatorname{Res}(\mathbf{T}).$$

This fiber integral is the same as the current pushforward

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = -\rho_{*}(\mathbf{T}).$$

Universal Theorem 2.14. The ϕ -Chern current $\phi((\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}))$ of the pushforward singular connection $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}$ associated with the canonical section $\boldsymbol{\mu}$ of $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$ is given by

(2.15)
$$\phi((\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}})) = \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{0}}) + [X] \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) \quad \text{on } F.$$

The equation

(2.16)
$$\phi(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{0}}) - [X] \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = d\mathbf{T} \quad on \quad F$$

is the limiting form, as s approaches zero, of the equation

(2.17)
$$\phi(\mathbf{D_F}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s) = d\mathbf{T_s}. \qquad \text{on } F$$

The L^1_{loc} -form $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ is d-closed on F, and the residue $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is a smooth d-closed form on X.

Remark 2.18. Compact Support. These equations imply that

$$\phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) - [X] \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = d\mathbf{R}_s \quad \text{where } \mathbf{R}_s \equiv \mathbf{T} - \mathbf{T}_s,$$

and

$$R_s = T - T_s$$
 converges to zero in $L^1_{loc}(F)$.

Note that if χ is an approximate one with compact support, i.e., $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for t large, then $\mathbf{R_s}$, and hence $d\mathbf{R_s}$ are compactly supported in the fibers of F.

Before giving the proof some lemmas are required. First, note that (2.17) is just the standard C^{∞} transgression formula. Also note that, on $F \sim X$,

$$\mathbf{T} = -\int_0^\infty \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2} \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi_s ds$$

converges as an integral of C^{∞} forms and that on $F \sim X$, equation (2.16) becomes

(2.19)
$$\phi(\mathbf{D_F}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = d\mathbf{T}$$
 on $F \sim X$,

which is just another special case of the standard C^{∞} transgression formula.

Lemma 2.20. The transgression integrand is given by

$$\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}\;;\;\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\chi_s ds\;=\;u^*\cdot\frac{\partial}{\partial u^*}\, \sqcup\,\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s)\tfrac{ds^2}{s^2}.$$

Proof. Note that

$$u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \, \sqcup \, \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) = \phi \left(u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \, \sqcup \, \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \right)$$

and that, by the formula (2.4) for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$

$$u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \sqcup \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s = -\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \chi_s' \frac{u^* D u}{|u|^2}.$$

Since

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi_s ds = -\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \chi_s' \frac{ds^2}{s^2}$$

the lemma follows.

Corollary 2.21. On $F \sim X$, the transgression T_s is a homogeneous form which is of degree $\leq 2n-1$ in the fiber differentials.

In fact because of Theorem 3.15 in the next section T_s is the sum of terms of bidegree k, k-1 in the differential one forms Du_1, \ldots, Du_n ; Du_1^*, \ldots, Du_n^* .

Lemma 2.22. Both

$$u \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \, \Box \, \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{0}) = 0 \quad and \quad u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \, \Box \, \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{0}) = 0$$

so that

 $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ is of degree $\leq 2n-2$ in the fiber one forms $du, d\overline{u}$.

Proof. Consulting the formula (2.5) for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{0}}$ we see that $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{0}}$ is of the form $P\Sigma$, where $P \equiv 1 - \frac{u^*u}{|u|^2}$, and where $\Sigma \equiv \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{F}} - \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2}$. Thus $u^*\frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \sqcup \Sigma = -\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}$. Therefore $u^*\frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \sqcup \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{0}} = 0$ and hence $u^*\frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \sqcup \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{0}}) = 0$. Since ϕ is an invariant polynomial $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{\mathbf{0}}) = \phi(P\Sigma) = \phi(\Sigma P)$. The proof that $u\frac{\partial}{\partial u} \sqcup \phi(\Sigma P) = 0$ is similar and omitted. \square

Corollary 2.23. On $F \sim X$.

$$dT = \phi(\mathbf{D_F}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$$

is a homogeneous form of degree $\leq 2n-2$ in the fiber differentials.

Proof of Theorem. Because of Corollary 2.21, Theorem 1.10 applies to **T** yielding the current equation (2.16) on tot F. Because $\mathbf{T_s}$ converges to **T** in $L^1_{loc}(F)$ by Proposition 2.8, $d\mathbf{T_s}$ must converge, weakly as currents, to $d\mathbf{T}$. Therefore, (2.17) and (2.16) imply that the ϕ -Chern current $\phi((\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}})) \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s)$ exists and is given by (2.15).

Because of Corollary 1.22, it remains to prove that

$$\operatorname{Res}(d\mathbf{T}) = 0$$

which is an immediate consequence of Corollary 2.23. \Box

Remark 2.24. Alternate Formula for $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}})$. Recall Remark 2.18. Applying π_* to the equation in this Remark we obtain

(2.25)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}) = \pi_{*} \left(\phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{s}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{0}) \right),$$

since $\pi_*(d\mathbf{R_s}) = d\pi_*(\mathbf{R_s})$, and $\pi_*(\mathbf{R_s}) = 0$ because $\mathbf{R_s} = \mathbf{T} - \mathbf{T_s}$ is of degree < 2n in the fiber variables. In terms of fiber integration this yields

(2.26)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \int_{\pi^{-1}} \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{s}),$$

since $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ is of degree < 2n in the fiber variables.

Note that the residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is independent of

- 1. the radius ϵ of the sphere bundle in Definition 2.13,
- 2. the parameter s > 0 in equation (2.25) or (2.26),
- 3. the choice of approximate one χ .

The main result of this section, Theorem 2.30 below, can be viewed as the "pullback of the Universal Theorem 2.14 by an atomic section μ of F". Of course the equation

$$\phi(\mathbf{D_F}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}_s}) = d\mathbf{T}_s$$
 on F

of smooth forms pulls back by any smooth section μ of F to the equation

$$\phi(D_F) - \phi(D_s) = dT_s \quad \text{on } X,$$

also of smooth forms. Similarly

$$\phi(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{0}) = d\mathbf{T}$$
 on $F \sim X$

is an equation of smooth forms which pulls back to the equation

(2.27)
$$\phi(D_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = dT \quad \text{on } X \sim Z.$$

If μ is atomic then by the key Proposition 2.8, $T \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} T_s$ converges in $L^1_{loc}(X)$. Therefore, the ϕ -Chern current $\phi((\overrightarrow{D})) = \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$ exists and satisfies

$$(2.28) \phi(D_F) - \phi((\overrightarrow{D})) = dT,$$

as an equation of currents on X.

Since the homogeneous forms T and $d\mathbf{T} = \phi(\mathbf{D_F}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$ on $F \sim X$ are both of degree $\leq 2n-1$ in the fiber differentials (Corollary 2.21 and Lemma 2.22)

the exterior derivative of $T = \mu^* \mathbf{T}$ can, alternatively, be computed using Theorem 1.10, yielding the equation

(2.29)
$$\phi(D_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) + \operatorname{Res}(\mathbf{T})\operatorname{Div}(\mu) = dT \text{ of currents on } X.$$

Combining (2.28) and (2.29) gives formula (2.32) below and completes the proof of the following main theorem.

Theorem 2.30. Given an atomic section μ of a hermitian bundle F with connection D_F , the ϕ -Chern current $\phi((\overrightarrow{D})) \equiv \lim_{s\to 0} (\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s))$ of the singular connection \overrightarrow{D} of F (obtained by pushing forward the trivial connection d on $\underline{\mathbb{C}}$) is given by

(2.31)
$$\phi((\overrightarrow{D})) = \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})\operatorname{Div}(\mu) \quad \text{on } X,$$

where

$$\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0)$$
 belongs to L^1_{loc} and is d-closed on all of X.

Therefore,

(2.32)
$$\phi(D_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) \operatorname{Div}(\mu) = dT \quad \text{on } X.$$

The residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is a global smooth d-closed form on X which is independent of the atomic section μ .

This equation (2.32) of currents on X is the limiting form, as $s \to 0$, of the equation

$$(2.33) \phi(D_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = dT_s$$

of smooth forms on X.

Note. We shall prove in the next section that the form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is in fact a polynomial in the curvature of F. It is therefore entirely determined by its cohomology class, which will be computed in section 5.

3. The Transgression.

In this section we derive an explicit formula for the transgression potential T for the pushforward connection \overrightarrow{D} , given an invariant polynomial ϕ . It is convenient in formal calculations to adopt the universal point of view, which we shall do throughout.

Recall that by definition,

(3.1)
$$T_s \equiv \int_{s}^{\infty} \phi\left(\dot{\omega}_s \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) ds.$$

The transgression integrand can be rewritten in many forms. For example, substituting for $\dot{\omega}_s$ we obtained (2.7)

(3.2)
$$\phi\left(\dot{\omega}_s\;;\;\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) = -\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}\;;\;\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right)\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\chi_s,$$

while in Lemma 2.20 we obtained

$$(3.3) \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi_s ds = u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \sqcup \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) \frac{ds^2}{s^2}.$$

In order to obtain an even more convenient formula for the transgression integrand we need a lemma.

Lemma 3.4. Let

$$\alpha = \frac{Duu^*}{|u|^2}$$
 and $\bar{\alpha} \equiv \frac{uDu^*}{|u|^2}$

denote scalar one forms and φ and ψ any scalar functions. Suppose $u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \sqcup A = 0$. Then

(3.5)
$$\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; A + (\varphi\alpha + \psi\bar{\alpha})\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}\right) = \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; A\right).$$

Proof. Since $\varphi \alpha + \psi \bar{\alpha}$ is a scalar one form,

(3.6)
$$\phi\left(A + (\varphi\alpha + \psi\bar{\alpha})\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}\right) = \phi(A) + (\varphi\alpha + \psi\bar{\alpha})\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; A\right).$$

Contracting $u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*}$ into the L.H.S. of (3.6) yields ψ times the L.H.S. of (3.5) while contracting $u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*}$ into the R.H.S. of (3.6) yields ψ times the R.H.S. of (3.5). \square

$$(3.7) \ A(x) \equiv (1-x)\Omega_F + x\left(1 - \frac{u^*u}{|u|^2}\right) \left(\Omega_F - \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2}\right) + x(1-x)\frac{u^*Duu^*Du}{|u|^4}$$

and note that

$$(3.8) u^* \frac{\partial}{\partial u^*} \, \square \, A(\chi_s) = 0$$

because $\left(1 - \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right) u^* = 0$. The curvature can be expressed as

(3.9)
$$\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} = A(\chi_{s}) - \chi'_{s} \frac{|u|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}.$$

Corollary 3.10.

$$\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2} ; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) = \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2} ; A(\chi_s)\right).$$

Now define

(3.11)
$$\Lambda(x) \equiv \left(1 - x \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right) \Omega_F - x \frac{Du^* Du}{|u|^2}$$

Then

(3.12)
$$\Lambda(\chi_{s}) = A(\chi_{s}) - \chi_{s} \frac{u^{*}uDu^{*}Du}{|u|^{4}} - \chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{u^{*}Duu^{*}Du}{|u|^{4}}$$
$$= A(\chi_{s}) - \chi_{s} \bar{\alpha} \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}} - \chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) \alpha \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}$$

so that Lemma 3.4 implies that

(3.13)
$$\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \Lambda(\chi_s)\right) = \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; A(\chi_s)\right).$$

Therefore, Lemma 3.3 has the following consequence.

Corollary 3.14.

$$\phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) = \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \Lambda(\chi_s)\right).$$

Theorem 3.15. Suppose μ is an atomic section of F. The transgression T is given by the formal integral

$$T = \int_0^1 \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2} ; \Lambda(x)\right) dx$$

where

$$\Lambda(x) \equiv \left(1 - x \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right) \Omega_F - x \frac{D u^* D u}{|u|^2}.$$

In particular, the transgression T is independent of the choice of approximate one χ .

Proof. Corollary 3.14 yields the formula

$$(3.16) T_s = -\int_s^\infty \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \Lambda(\chi_s)\right) \frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi_s ds$$

for the transgression at time s > 0.

The change of variables $s \mapsto x \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$ in the integrand for T_s yields the next

Proposition 3.17. The transgression T_s is given by the formal integral

$$T_s = \int_0^{\chi_s} \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2} ; \left(1 - x\frac{u^*u}{|u|^2}\right)\Omega_F - x\frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2}\right) dx.$$

Now the integrand is a polynomial in x and this is the sense in which the integral is formal. Therefore T_s is a polynomial in χ_s . The coefficients of this polynomial are homogeneous of degree zero in u and independent of s.

We now recall Corollary 2.21 which states that

(3.18) T_s is of degree < 2n in the fiber one forms du_i , $d\bar{u}_i$.

The hypothesis that μ is atomic, combined with (3.19) ensures that when T_s is considered as a polynomial in χ_s , the coefficients of this polynomial are $L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$ forms. Since $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{\|u\|^2}{s^2}\right)$ is bounded and converges to one almost everywhere, the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem implies that T_s converges to T in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$ as $s \to 0$, where T is given as in Theorem 3.15. This completes the proof of Theorem 3.15. \square

 $(3.20) \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} = A(\chi_{s}) - \chi'_{s} \frac{|u|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}} = \Lambda(\chi_{s}) + \chi_{s} \overline{\alpha} \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}} - \chi_{s} (1 - \chi_{s}) \alpha \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}} - \chi'_{s} \frac{|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}.$

Therefore,

(3.21)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s}) = \phi(A(\chi_{s})) - \chi'_{s} \frac{|u|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \phi\left(\frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}; A(\chi_{s})\right)$$

$$= \phi(A(\chi_{s})) - \chi'_{s} \frac{|u|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \phi\left(\frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}; \Lambda(\chi_{s})\right),$$

because of (3.13). Consequently, because of (3.6), (3.22)

$$\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) = \phi(\Lambda(\chi_s)) + \left(\chi_s \frac{uDu^*}{|u|^2} - \chi_s (1 - \chi_s) \frac{Duu^*}{|u|^2} - \chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2}\right) \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \Lambda(\chi_s)\right).$$

Theorem 3.23. The residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ defined in 2.13 is a polynomial in the curvature of F. Thus, the residue map factors as

$$I_{\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbf{C})} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Res}} \mathcal{E}^*(X)$$
 $r \searrow \nearrow w$
 $I_{\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbf{C})}$

where r is an additive homomorphism of degree -n and where W is the standard Weil homomorphism.

Note. Determination of the map r amounts to a determination of the cohomology class of the residue universally, i.e., over $B\operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbf{C})$.

Proof. From 2.13 and 3.15 we see that $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is given pointwise on X by the following universal invariant function applied to the curvature and connection of F:

(3.24)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \int_{|u|=1}^{1} \int_{0}^{1} \phi(u^{*}Du ; \Lambda(x)) dx.$$

We want to show that in fact this can be expressed purely in terms of the curvature. Let $(Du)_1, \ldots, (Du)_n$, denote the components of $Du = du + u\omega_F$. Then the integrand in (3.24) can be written in the form

(3.25)
$$\phi(u^*Du \; ; \; \Lambda(x)) = \sum_{|I|,|J| \le n} c_{I,J}(Du)_I(Du^*)_J,$$

where the sum is over strictly increasing multi-indices and where each coefficient $c_{I,J}$ is a polynomial in Ω_F and x. From Corollary 2.21 we conclude that the coefficient $c_{(1,\ldots,n),(1,\ldots,n)}$ of top degree is zero. Hence

$$\int_{|u|=1} \phi(u^*Du \; ; \; \Lambda(x)) = \sum_{|I|+|J| \le 2n-1} \int_{|u|=1} c_{I,J}(Du)_I(Dv)_J$$
$$= \sum_{|I|+|J|=2n-1} \int_{|u|=1} c_{I,J}(du)_I(du)_J,$$

since in each $(Du)_I(Du^*)_J$ with |I|+|J|=2n-1, only the leading term $(du)_I(du^*)_J$ is picked off by the fibre integral. Consequently, no terms in ω_F occur in this expression, except for the curvature terms in the $c_{I,J}$. \square

Remark 3.26. Functoriality of the Transgression. Suppose $f: X' \longrightarrow X$ is a smooth map between manifolds, and let $F' = f^*F$, $D_{F'} = f^*D_F$, $\mu' = f^*\mu$ be the induced bundle, connection and cross-section. Suppose that both μ and μ' are atomic. Then the transgression current is also induced, i.e.,

$$T' = f^*T$$

in the sense that on $X' \sim \operatorname{spt}(\operatorname{Div}(\mu'))$ this is an equation of smooth forms having an L^1_{loc} -extension across $\operatorname{spt}(\operatorname{Div}(\mu'))$ (cf. II.5.10).

Note that given an atomic section μ , there are conditions on f required for $f^*\mu$ to be atomic. For example, if f and μ are real analytic, then it suffices that the zeros of $\mu' = \mu$ o f have the proper dimension. This means that $\operatorname{codim}(f^{-1}Z) = \operatorname{codim}(Z)$ where Z is the zero set of μ . In the case where f and μ are only smooth, one must require that f be sufficiently transversal to Z. In particular if every point of Z is a regular value of f, then $f^*\mu$ is atomic.

4. The Top Chern Current and Universal Thom-Chern Forms.

In this section we examine our main theorems in the special case of the top Chern class. This immediately yields several interesting results. For each atomic section μ , the associated Chern current will be the divisor of μ , and we obtain a C^{∞} Poincaré-Lelong formula ((4.4) below). When applied to the tautological section of $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$ over F we obtain, for each choice of approximation mode and each s > 0, a representative τ_s of the Thom class of F which is written canonically and universally in terms of the connection on F. In fact for each χ and s we produce an explicit class in the equivariant cohomology of \mathbf{C}^n whose image under the equivariant Weil homomorphism is τ_s . The family τ_s , s > 0 turns out to differ only by pullback under homotheties and so depends only midly on s. However, as $s \to 0$ we show that $\tau_s \to [X]$ which is of course the canonical singular representative of the Thom class. The family also has the pleasant property that for each s > 0, the restriction of τ_s to $X \subset F$ is the Chern-Weil representative of the top Chern class in the given connection.

To begin we assume as above that F, \langle , \rangle_F is a hermitian bundle of rank n with connection D_F (which is not assumed to be compatible with the metric), and we fix an approximate one χ . Throughout this section we shall focus exclusively on the invariant polynomial

$$c_n = \widetilde{\det} = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \det,$$

and for any atomic section μ on F we shall call the associated Chern current

$$\widetilde{\det}((\overrightarrow{D})) = \lim_{s \to 0} \widetilde{\det}(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = \lim_{s \to 0} \det\left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right)$$

the top Chern current of the singular pushforward connection. Our first series of results concerning this current is as follows. Proofs are postponed until after the statements and discussion.

Theorem 4.1. The top Chern current $\widetilde{\det}((\overrightarrow{D}))$ of the singular connection \overrightarrow{D} determined by an atomic section μ of F is equal to the divisor $\operatorname{Div}(\mu)$ of the section. That is,

$$\widetilde{\det}((\overrightarrow{D})) = \operatorname{Div}(\mu).$$

This result implies, in particular, that the top Chern current depends only on the section μ , it is independent of the connection D_F on F, the metric \langle , \rangle_F on F, and the approximate one χ .

Theorem 4.2. The standard transgression formula gives the equation

$$(4.3) \qquad \widetilde{\det}(D_F) - \widetilde{\det}(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = d\sigma_s$$

of smooth forms on X. These potentials σ_s converge in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ to an L^1_{loc} form σ , and hence in the limit equation (4.3) becomes

(4.4)
$$\widetilde{\det}(D_F) - \operatorname{Div}(\mu) = d\sigma.$$

These two Theorems are particularly important in the universal case as they provide a universal formula (cf. [MQ]) for a Thom form. The canonical section μ of the pullback bundle F over F is atomic.

Definition 4.5. For s > 0 fixed, the Thom-Chern Form τ_s is defined by

$$au_{ extsf{s}} \equiv \widetilde{\det}(\overrightarrow{ extbf{D}}_{ extsf{s}})$$

where $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}$ is the connection family associated with the canonical section of \mathbf{F} on the total space of F. This form is determined by the connection $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}$, the metric $\langle \ , \ \rangle_{\mathbf{F}}$, and the approximate one χ .

Consulting the local formula (2.4) for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ and setting u=0 yields

$$(4.6) i^* \tau_s = \widetilde{\det}(D_F)$$

where $i: X \to F$ is the inclusion map. That is, the restriction of each Thom Form τ_s to the zero section $X = i(X) \subset F$ is the **top Chern form** or **Euler form** $\widetilde{\det}(D_F)$ of (F, D_F) on X.

This form τ_s has the usual properties justifying the label "Thom form". Namely, in addition to (4.6) we have that

 $\tau_{\rm s}$ is d-closed,

and in Lemma 4.13 below we shall prove that each fiber integral is convergent and

$$\int_{\pi^{-1}} \tau_{s} = 1,$$

or equivalently, the pushforward by $\pi: F \to X$ of τ_s (considered as a current) is equal to the degree-zero current 1 on the base manifold X. That is, $\pi_*(\tau_s) = 1$.

Because of Remark 2.24, this fiber integral is just the residue $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ when $\phi = \widetilde{\det}$.

Remark 4.7. If the approximate one χ is chosen to be of compact type, i.e., if $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for t large, then the Thom form τ_s is compactly supported in the fibers of F.

Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 4.2 applied to the canonical section μ of $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$ yield a universal equation of currents on the total space F. Let [X] denote the current of integration over the zero section $X \subset F$.

Theorem 4.8. The canonical section μ of the bundle $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$ over F is atomic. Moreover,

$$\widetilde{\det}(\mathbf{D_F}) - [X] = d\boldsymbol{\sigma}$$
 on F

is obtained as the limiting form of the equation

$$\widetilde{\det}(\mathbf{D_F}) - \boldsymbol{\tau_s} = d\boldsymbol{\sigma_s}$$
 on F

where τ_s is the Thom-Chern form

$$au_{ extsf{s}} \; \equiv \; \widetilde{\det} \left(\overrightarrow{ extbf{D}}_{ extsf{s}}
ight).$$

Corollary 4.9. The zero section [X] and the Thom-Chern form $\tau_s \equiv \det\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_s\right)$ are cohomologous, that is, setting $\mathbf{r}_s = \boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_s$,

$$\tau_{s} - [X] = d\mathbf{r}_{s}$$
 on F ,

and

$$\lim_{s\to 0} \mathbf{r_s} = 0 \quad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc}}(F).$$

Remark. The main results (Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 4.2) can be interpreted as follows. Any smooth section $\mu: X \to F$ can be used to pullback the second equation in Theorem 4.8 on F to the equation

$$\widetilde{\det}(D_F) - \det\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) = d\sigma_s \text{ on } X.$$

If μ is atomic, then as $s \to 0$ this equation has limit

$$\widetilde{\det}(D_F) - \operatorname{Div}(\mu) = d\sigma \text{ on } X.$$

One may also take this limiting equation (4.4) as a definition of the term by term pulling back of the first universal current equation in Theorem 4.8.

Remark 4.10. The Thom isomorphism. These results yield canonical representations, at the level of differential forms, of various versions of the Thom isomorphism. Suppose for example that the approximate one χ is chosen so that $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$. Then σ_s has support in the s-ball bundle $U_s(F) = \{\nu \in F : |\nu| \leq s\}$. Suppose X is compact and let $\pi : F \to X$ be the bundle projection. Then the map

$$i_{!,s}: \mathcal{E}^*(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*+2n}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(F)$$

from forms on X to forms with compact support on F, given by

$$i_{!,s}(\varphi) = \pi^* \varphi \wedge \tau_s$$

induces an isomorphism

$$i_!: H^*(X) \longrightarrow H^{*+2n}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(F).$$

Integration over the fibre π_* clearly inverts this map since $\pi_*(\tau_s) = 1$. Letting s go to zero yields the canonical version of this map

$$i_{!,0}: \mathcal{E}^*(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*+2n}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(F)',$$

now into currents with compact support on F, given by

$$i_{!,0}(\varphi) = \varphi[X].$$

If on the other hand we choose the algebraic approximation mode $\chi(t) = t/(1+t)$, then by Theorem I.8.14 and its corollary we see that τ_s extends to a smooth d-closed form on $\mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{C}} \oplus F) = F \cup \mathbf{P}(F)$. Furthermore at "infinity", $\mathbf{P}(F)$, this form is zero. (To see this note that along $\mathbf{P}(F)$, $\tau_s = \det(D_{\underline{\mathbf{C}} \oplus V^{\perp}})$ where $\underline{\mathbf{C}} \oplus V^{\perp}$ has the direct-sum connection, trivial on $\underline{\mathbf{C}}$, and where $\pi^*F = V \oplus V^{\perp}$ is the canonical splitting over $\mathbf{P}(F)$.) Hence, τ_s represents a class in $H^{2n}(\mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{C}} \oplus F), \mathbf{P}(F))$ which, as we have shown, is cohomologous to the zero section [X].

Remark 4.11. The Gysin map. Consider an embedding $j: Y \hookrightarrow X$ of a compact oriented-manifold Y into our manifold X. Then there is a natural map $j_!: \mathcal{E}^*(Y) \to \mathcal{E}^{*+m}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)'$, from forms on Y to currents with compact support on X, given by

$$j_!(\varphi) = \varphi[Y].$$

(Here $m = \dim X - \dim Y$.) Suppose now that the normal bundle N to Y carries an almost complex structure and give it a complex connection. Let $\tau_{\mathbf{s}}$ be the family of Thom forms in compact approximation mode (as in 4.10). Identify N with a tubular neighborhood of Y. Since $\tau_{\mathbf{s}}$ has compact support, it extends by zero to a d-closed form with compact support on X, and we have $\tau_{\mathbf{s}} - [Y] = d\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{s}}$ where $\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{s}} \to 0$ as $s \to 0$. Thus we get a smooth Gysin map $j_{!,s} : \mathcal{E}^*(Y) \to \mathcal{E}^{*+m}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$ defined by

$$j_{!,s}(\varphi) = \pi^* \varphi \wedge \tau_{s}$$

where $\pi: N \to Y$ is the retraction of the tubular neighborhood. Note that $j_{!,s} \to j_!$ as $s \to 0$ and that $j_{!,s}$ and $j_!$ induce the same maps

$$j_!: H^*(Y) \longrightarrow H^{*+m}_{\operatorname{cpt}}(X)$$

in de Rham cohomology.

Remark 4.12. A generalized Gysin map. The standard Gysin map now generalizes as follows. Let α be a atomic section of a complex bundle $F \to X$ with connection. Assume α vanishes on a compact set $Z = \operatorname{spt}(\operatorname{Div} \alpha)$. Choose χ with $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$ and let $\tau_s = \widetilde{\det}(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$ as above. Then for any neighborhood

U of Z there is an s_0 with supp $\tau_s \subset\subset U$ for all $s < s_0$. Hence we get a map $j_{!,s}: \mathcal{E}^*(U) \to \mathcal{E}^{*+2n}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$ (where $n = \dim_{\mathbf{C}} F$) given by

$$j_{!,s}(\varphi) = \varphi \wedge \tau_s.$$

Letting $s \to 0$ gives a map $j_!: \mathcal{E}_Z^*(X) \to \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{cpt}}^{*+2n}(X)'$, from forms germed on Z to currents on X, defined by

$$j_!(\varphi) = \varphi \cdot \operatorname{Div}(\alpha).$$

By 4.2 they induce the same generalized Gysin map

$$j_!: H_Z^*(X) \longrightarrow H_{\mathrm{cpt}}^{*+2n}(X).$$

In the next chapter we shall generalize the constructions in 4.10, 4.11 and 4.12 by replacing the complex bundles with any real oriented bundle with an orthogonal connection.

Proofs of the main theorems. Theorems 4.1, 4.2 and 4.8 are immediate special cases of Theorems 2.14 and 2.30, once the following two Lemmas are established.

Lemma 4.13. If $\phi = \widetilde{\det}$, then $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = 1$.

Proof. Let $\lambda(u) \equiv \frac{i}{2} du_1 \wedge d\bar{u}_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{i}{2} du_n \wedge d\bar{u}_n$ denote the standard volume form on \mathbb{C}^n . The part of det $\left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right)$ of degree 2n in du, $d\bar{u}$ is given by

$$\deg_{2n} \det \left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \right) = \frac{n!}{\pi^n} \chi_s^{n-1} \chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \frac{d\lambda(u)}{|u|^{2n}}.$$

See, for example, equation (3.21). Since $\operatorname{vol}(S^{2n-1}) = \frac{2\pi^n}{(n-1)!}$, polar coordinates yield

(4.14)
$$\int_{u \in \mathbf{C}^n} \det \left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \right) = \int_0^\infty n \chi(r^2)^{n-1} \chi'(r^2) dr^2 = 1,$$

so that by Remark 2.24

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\widetilde{\det}}(\overrightarrow{D}) = 1. \quad \Box$$

Lemma 4.15. The top Chern current $\widetilde{\det}((\overrightarrow{D}))$ has no L^1_{loc} part, i.e., $\widetilde{\det}(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = 0$.

Proof. Note that $\det \left(1 - \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right) = 0$ and consult the formula (2.5) for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0$. \square

The geometric secret of this proof is that outside the zero set, \overrightarrow{D} is a smooth connection which admits a parallel cross section.

Theorem 4.2 and Corollary 4.9 have many applications. For example they can be used to compute the residue $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ whenever ϕ has $\widetilde{\det}$ as a factor. This has important consequences described in the next section.

Proposition 4.16. Suppose $\phi = \psi \cdot \widetilde{\det}$ with ψ a Ad-invariant polynomial. Then the L^1_{loc} part of the ϕ -Chern current vanishes and

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \psi(D_F).$$

Moreover,

(4.17)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) - [X]\psi(D_F) = d(\psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)r_s).$$

Proof. The equation $\tau_s - [X] = dr_s$, when multiplied by $\psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$, yields equation (4.17) since $\psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) \mid_X = \psi(D_F)$. Since $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = \psi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) \widetilde{\det}(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = 0$ by Lemma 4.15, the formula $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \pi_*(\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0))$ reduces to $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \pi_*(\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s))$. Therefore (4.17) can be used to compute $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$.

Proposition 3.17 implies that r_s is the sum of terms of bidegree k, k-1 in the differential one forms Du_1, \ldots, Du_n ; Du_1^*, \ldots, Du_n^* . Also, $\psi(D_s)$ is a sum of terms of bidegree k, k. In particular, $\psi(D_s)r_s$ cannot have a part of bidegree n, n and hence must have fiber integral zero over the fibers of $F \xrightarrow{\pi} X$. Therefore pushing forward the current equation (4.17) by π yields the formula for $\text{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$. \square

The next part of this section is devoted to obtaining some elegant explicit algebraic expressions for the Thom-Chern form $\tau_{\rm s}$, and the various potentials σ , $\sigma_{\rm s}$ and ${\bf r}_{\rm s}$.

Theorem 4.18. The Thom-Chern form τ_s for F determined by D_F , \langle , \rangle and χ is given explicitly by

$$\tau_{s} = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^{n} (1 - \chi_{s}) \det \left(\Omega_{F} - \chi_{s} \frac{Du^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}\right) + \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^{n} \left(\chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) - \chi'_{s} \frac{|u|^{2}}{s^{2}}\right) \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \det \left(\frac{u^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}; \Omega_{F} - \chi_{s} \frac{Du^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}\right).$$

Proof. Consider, the frame f_1, \ldots, f_n for F and the dual frame f_1^*, \ldots, f_n^* as elements of the grassmannian algebra $\Lambda(F^* \oplus F)$. Let $\lambda(f) \equiv f_1^* \wedge f_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge f_n^* \wedge f_n$ denote the volume form. Then, for any matrix A, the determinant can be computed from

$$\frac{1}{n!}(f^*Af)^n = \det(A)\lambda(f).$$

Consequently, the equation

$$\det(A; B)\lambda(f) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!}(f^*Af)(f^*Bf)^{n-1},$$

can be used to compute $\det(A; B)$. Let $\nu \equiv \sum u_j f_j$ denote the tensor that contracts into a form by replacing each f_j^* by u_j . The identity

$$(4.19) \frac{f^* u^*}{|u|^2} (\nu \sqcup f^* \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s f) = (1 - \chi_s) \frac{f^* u^*}{|u|^2} \left(\nu \sqcup \left(f^* \Omega_F f - \chi_s \frac{f^* D u^* D u f}{|u|^2} \right) \right) + \left(\chi_s (1 - \chi_s) - \chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \right) \frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2} \frac{f^* u^* D u f}{|u|^2}$$

follows from the formula (2.4) for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$. This identity (4.19) can be used to prove the Theorem 4.18, because

$$\left(f^*\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s f\right)^n = \frac{f^*u^*}{|u|^2} (\nu \sqcup (f^*\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s f)^n) = n \frac{f^*u^*}{|u|^2} (\nu \sqcup (f^*\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s f)) (f^*\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s f)^{n-1},$$

and, modulo the 1-form $f^*u^* \in \Lambda^1(F^*)$,

$$f^*\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s f = f^*\Omega_F f - \chi_s \frac{f^*Du^*Duf}{|u|^2}.$$

Corollary 4.20. Algebraic Approximation Mode. In the algebraic approximation mode the family of Thom-Chern form τ_s on F determined by D_F and \langle , \rangle_F is given explicitly by

$$au_{\mathbf{s}} \; = \; rac{s^2}{|u|^2 + s^2} \widetilde{\det} \left(\mathbf{\Omega}_{\mathbf{F}} - rac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2 + s^2}
ight),$$

Equivalently,

(4.21)
$$\tau_{s}\lambda = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^{n} \frac{s^{2}}{|u|^{2}+s^{2}} \left(f^{*}\Omega_{F}f - \frac{f^{*}Du^{*}Duf}{|u|^{2}+s^{2}}\right)^{n}.$$

If a and b are elements of a ring, let $\frac{a^n-b^n}{a-b}$ denote the expression $\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} a^k b^{n-1-k}$.

Theorem 4.22. The potentials σ_s , σ and $r_s \equiv \sigma - \sigma_s$ are given explicitly by the algebraic formulas:

$$(4.23) \quad \sigma_{s}\lambda = -\frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^{n} \frac{f^{*}u^{*}Duf}{|u|^{2}} \quad \frac{\left(f^{*}\Omega_{F}f - \chi_{s}f^{*}\frac{Du^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}f\right)^{n} - \left(f^{*}\Omega_{F}f\right)^{n}}{f^{*}\frac{Du^{*}Du}{|u|^{2}}f}$$

and.

(4.24)
$$\sigma \lambda = -\frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \right)^n \frac{f^* u^* D u f}{|u|^2} \frac{\left(f^* \mathbf{\Omega}_{\mathbf{F}} f - f^* \frac{D u^* D u}{|u|^2} f \right)^n - (f^* \mathbf{\Omega}_{\mathbf{F}} f)^n}{f^* \frac{D u^* D u}{|u|^2} f}$$

and.

(4.25)
$$\mathbf{r_s}\lambda = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \frac{f^* u^* D u f}{|u|^2} \frac{(A + (1 - \chi_s)B)^n - A^n}{B}$$

where
$$A \equiv f^* \Omega_F f - f^* \frac{Du^* Du}{|u|^2} f$$
 and $B \equiv f^* \frac{Du^* Du f}{|u|^2} f$.

First, we express σ_s and σ as formal integrals.

Lemma 4.26. The potentials σ_s and s are given explicitly by

(4.27)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s} = \int_{0}^{\Lambda_{s}} \widetilde{\det}\left(\frac{u^{\star}Du}{|u|^{2}}; \Omega_{F} - x \frac{Du^{\star}Du}{|u|^{2}}\right) dx$$

(4.28)
$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \int_0^1 \widetilde{\det} \left(\frac{u^* D u}{|u|^2} ; \Omega_{\mathbf{F}} - x \frac{D u^* D u}{|u|^2} \right) dx.$$

Proof. Because of Proposition 3.17

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{s}} = \int_{0}^{\chi_{s}} \widetilde{\det} \left(\frac{u^{\star} D u}{|u|^{2}} ; \Omega_{\mathbf{F}} - x \frac{D u^{\star} D u}{|u|^{2}} - x \frac{u^{\star} u}{|u|^{2}} \Omega_{\mathbf{F}} \right) dx.$$

Therefore, to prove (4.27) it suffices to show that

(4.29)

$$\det\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}\; ;\; \mathbf{\Omega}_{\mathbf{F}} - x \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2} - x \frac{u^*u}{|u|^2} \mathbf{\Omega}_{\mathbf{F}}\right) \; = \; \det\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}\; ;\; \mathbf{\Omega}_{\mathbf{F}} - x \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2}\right).$$

The completely polarized polynomial $\det(\ ,\dots,\)$ has the special property that if P is orthogonal projection onto a one-dimensional subspace then $\det(PA,PB,C,\dots)\equiv 0$. It suffices to consider $P\equiv\begin{pmatrix} 1&0\\0&0 \end{pmatrix}$ in $1\times (n-1)$ block form; in which case the verification is straightforward. Applying this fact with $P=\frac{u^*u}{\|u\|^2}$ and noting that $u^*=Pu^*$ yields (4.29) completing the proof of (4.27). The limiting form of (4.27) is (4.28). \square

Proof of Theorem 4.22. The transgression integrand in (4.27), times $\lambda(f)$, equals

$$\frac{1}{(n-1)!} \frac{f^*u^*Duf}{|u|^2} \left(f^*\Omega_{\mathbf{F}} f - x f^* \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2} f \right)^{n-1}.$$

Now the formulas in Theorem 4.22 follow easily. \Box

Remark 4.30. Universal Thom forms in equivariant cohomology over $GL_n(\mathbf{C})$. The formulas above can be succinctly expressed, as in [MQ], by stating that they represent universal Thom forms in equivariant cohomology. Our first reformulation, however, will differ in spirit from [MQ]. Recall that our construction employs a metric, but applies to any $GL_n(\mathbf{C})$ -connection, not just metric-compatible ones. This will be reflected in what follows. In the subsequent remark we will specialize to the case of unitary connections.

Our main observation here is that the formulas in 4.18 and the interesting special case 4.20 determine elements in the equivariant cohomology group $H_G^{2n}((\mathbf{C}^n)^* \times \mathbf{C}^n)$ where $G = \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbf{C})$. More explicitly, let $W = (\Lambda \mathfrak{g}^*) \otimes (S \mathfrak{g}^*)$ denote the Weil algebra of $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbf{C})$ with standard generators ω_{ij} and Ω_{ij} for $1 \leq i, j \leq n$. Let (u_1, \ldots, u_n) denote standard coordinates on \mathbf{C}^n and (u_1^*, \ldots, u_n^*) the dual coordinates on $(\mathbf{C}^n)^*$. Write

$$u = (u_1, \dots, u_n)$$
 and $u^* = \begin{pmatrix} u_1^* \\ \vdots \\ u_n^* \end{pmatrix}$

$$Du = du + uw$$
 and $Du^* = du^* - wu^*$.

We now recall briefly the de Rham model of equivariant cohomology ([AB], [MQ], [BV]). Let Y be a manifold with a smooth right G-action. Then the algebra $W \otimes \mathcal{E}^*(Y)$ has a natural Weil structure extending the standard one on W, where by an algebra with Weil structure over G we mean a graded differential algebra (\mathcal{A}, d) with a Lie group homomorphism $L: G \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{A}, d)$ and a graded Lie algebra homomorphism $i: \mathfrak{g} \to \operatorname{Der}_{\deg=-1}(\mathcal{A})$ satisfying the standard identity

$$d \circ i_V + i_V \circ d = L_V$$

for $V \in \mathfrak{g}$. The "contraction operators" i_V on $\mathcal{E}^*(Y)$ are given by standard contraction with the associated generating vector field \widetilde{V} on Y. For a general algebra \mathcal{A} with Weil structure over G, let $\mathcal{A}^G \subset \mathcal{A}$ denote the G-fixed elements and set $\mathcal{A}_{\text{basic}} = \{a \in \mathcal{A}^G : i_V a = 0 \text{ forall } V \in \mathfrak{g}\}$. Note that $d(\mathcal{A}_{\text{basic}}) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{\text{basic}}$. Then by the equivariant forms on Y we mean the graded differential algebra

$$\mathcal{E}_G^*(Y) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{W \otimes \mathcal{E}^*(Y)\}_{\text{basic}},$$

and by the equivariant deRham cohomology $H_G^*(Y)$ of Y we mean the cohomology of $\mathcal{E}_G^*(Y)$.

Returning to $Y = (\mathbf{C}^n)^* \times \mathbf{C}^n$, we consider the *G*-invariant function $|u|^2 = |\Sigma u_i u_i^*| = |u u^*|$ and fix an approximate one $\chi(t)$ on $[0, \infty]$. For each s > 0 we define

$$\omega_s = \omega - \chi \left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \right) \frac{u^* D u}{|u|^2} \in W \otimes \mathcal{E}^*((\mathbf{C}^n)^* \times \mathbf{C}^n)$$

and set $\Omega_s = d\omega_s - \frac{1}{2}[\omega_s, \omega_s]$.

Proposition 4.31. Universal Thom forms. For any choice of approximate one χ , and any s > 0, the determinant of Ω_s gives an equivariant cocycle

$$\mathfrak{T}_s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \widetilde{\det}(\Omega_s) \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbf{C})}^*((\mathbf{C}^n)^* \times \mathbf{C}^n).$$

These forms are mutually cohomologous. Each is given explicitly by the formula in 4.20 by replacing $\omega_{\mathbb{F}}$ with ω and $\Omega_{\mathbb{F}}$ with Ω .

In particular, if $\chi(t) = t/(1+t)$, then

$$\mathfrak{T}_s = \frac{s^2}{|u|^2 + s^2} \widetilde{\det} \left(\Omega - \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2 + s^2} \right).$$

Proof. Note that \mathfrak{T}_s is manifestly G-invariant and that the standard argument shows that $d\mathfrak{T}_s=0$. Hence to see that \mathfrak{T}_s is basic it remains to show that $i_V\mathfrak{T}_s=0$ for $V\in\mathfrak{g}$. Since $i_V\Omega=0$ by definition, it suffices to note that $i_VDu=0$ and $i_VDu^*=0$ and then apply formula 4.18. However, $i_VDu=du(V)+u\omega(V)=\frac{d}{dt}u(\exp(-tV))\big|_{t=0}+u\omega(V)=-u\omega(V)+u\omega(V)=0$. (Recall that $\omega(V)$ is the realization of V as an $n\times n$ -matrix.) The equation $i_V(Du^*-\omega u^*)=0$ is similar.

To see that \mathfrak{T}_s and $\mathfrak{T}_{s'}$ are cohomologous, consider the universal version of σ_s given by setting $\Omega_{\mathbf{F}} = \Omega$ in the formula (4.23). Then

$$d(\sigma_s - \sigma_{s'}) = \mathfrak{T}_{s'} - \mathfrak{T}_s. \quad \Box$$

Suppose now that $F \to X$ is a smooth *n*-plane bundle with connection D_F and write F as the standard quotient $F = P(F) \times \mathbb{C}^n/\mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ where P(F) is the complex frame bundle of F. Then D_F determines a homomorphism

$$W \otimes \mathcal{E}^*((\mathbf{C}^n)^* \times \mathbf{C}^n) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^*(P(F) \times (\mathbf{C}^n)^* \times \mathbf{C}^n)$$

of algebras with Weil structure over $GL_n(\mathbf{C})$. This induces a **g.d.a. homomorphism** on basic forms

(4.34)
$$\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{GL}_{n}(\mathbf{C})}^{*}((\mathbf{C}^{n})^{*} \times \mathbf{C}^{n}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*}(F^{*} \oplus F).$$

A choice of hermitian metric on F corresponds to choosing a complex antilinear isomorphism $h: F \xrightarrow{\approx} F^*$. Let

$$\Gamma_h: F \longrightarrow F^* \oplus F$$

denote the graphing map: $\Gamma_h(\nu) = (h(\nu), \nu)$. Pulling back forms induces a g.d.a. homomorphism

$$\mathcal{E}^*(F^* \oplus F) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^*(F).$$

Composing (4.34) and (4.35) gives a g.d.a. homomorphism

(4.36)
$$\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{GL}_{\mathbf{n}}(\mathbf{C})}^{*}((\mathbf{C}^{n})^{*} \times \mathbf{C}^{n}) \xrightarrow{\omega} \mathcal{E}^{*}(F)$$

called the Weil homomorphism associated to the metric h and the (not necessarily compatible) connection D_F . This extends the usual Weil homomorphism: $\mathcal{E}^*_{GL_m(\mathbf{C})}(\operatorname{pt}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^*(X)$.

We now have the following, whose proof is evident.

Proposition 4.37. For any choice of approximate-one, the image of \mathfrak{T}_s under the Weil homomorphism is the Chern-Thom form of Proposition 4.17. In particular, if $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$, then \mathfrak{T}_s determines a form in $\mathcal{E}^{2n}_{\rm cpt}(F)$ which represents the Thom class in $H^{2n}_{\rm cpt}(F)$. Furthermore, if $\chi(t) = t/(t+1)$, then \mathfrak{T}_s determines a form which extends to $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{C} \oplus F) = F \cup \mathbf{P}(F)$ and vanishes on $\mathbf{P}(F)$. It thereby determines the Chern-Thom form in $\mathcal{E}^{2n}(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{C} \oplus F), \mathbf{P}(F))$.

Note. There is an advantage in formulating the Thom class in $\mathcal{E}^*(F^* \times F)$. One can restrict the class to any family of cones $\Gamma \subset F^* \times F$. Examples are given by graphs of other bilinear and sesquilinear forms on F. However, the theory of kernels in several complex variables provides other examples which are even more interesting.

Remark 4.38. Universal Thom forms in equivariant cohomology over U_n . In the special case where the connection is metric compatible, the above discussion simplifies and our formulas are seen to determine universal Thom classes in $H_{U_n}^*$ as follows. Fix the standard hermitian inner product on \mathbb{C}^n and let $\mathbb{C}^n \hookrightarrow (\mathbb{C}^n)^* \times \mathbb{C}^n$ be the graph of the metric as above. This is compatible with $U_n \hookrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$ and we get a restriction homomorphism

(4.39)
$$\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{GL}_{n}(\mathbf{C})}^{*}((\mathbf{C}^{n})^{*} \times \mathbf{C}^{n}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}_{U_{n}}^{*}(\mathbf{C}^{n}).$$

For s > 0 let $B_s = \{ v \in \mathbf{C}^n : |v| < s \}.$

Proposition 4.40. Let χ be any approximate-one such that $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$. Then under the restriction (4.39) the universal Thom class \mathfrak{T}_s of Proposition 4.31 determines an equivariant cocycle

$$\mathfrak{T}_s = \widetilde{\det}(\Omega_s) \in \mathcal{E}_{U_n}^{2n}(\mathbf{C}^n, \mathbf{C}^n - B_s).$$

Given any complex n-plane bundle $F \to X$ with a unitary connection, the Weil homomorphism

$$\mathcal{E}_{U_n}^* \left(\mathbf{C}^n, \mathbf{C}^n - B_s \right) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^* (F, F - B_s(F))$$

(where $B_s(F) = \{v \in F : |v| < s\}$) carries \mathfrak{T}_s to the Chern-Thom form of 4.15 which represents the Thom class

$$[\mathfrak{T}_s] \in H^{2n}(F, F - B_s(F)).$$

Proof. In light of the discussion above it suffices to observe that $\operatorname{spt} \mathfrak{T}_s \subseteq B_s$. \square

Proposition 4.41. Let $\chi(t) = t/(1+t)$. Then the formula in 4.17 determines an equivariant cocycle

$$\mathfrak{T}_s \ = \ \frac{s^2}{|u|^2 + s^2} \widetilde{\det} \left(\Omega - \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2 + s^2} \right) \in \mathcal{E}_{U_n}^{2n}(\mathbf{C}^n).$$

This form extends to an equivariant cocycle on $\mathbf{P}^n \supset \mathbf{C}^n$ which vanishes on \mathbf{P}^{n-1} and so determines a relative cocycle

$$\mathfrak{T}_{s}\in\mathcal{E}_{U_{n}}^{2n}\left(\mathbf{P}^{n},\mathbf{P}^{n-1}
ight)$$
 .

Given any complex bundle $F \to X$ with a unitary connection, the Weil homomorphism

$$\mathcal{E}_{U_n}^*\left(\mathbf{P}^n,\mathbf{P}^{n-1}\right)\longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^*\left(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{C}\oplus F),\mathbf{P}(F)\right)$$

carries \(\xi_s\) to the Chern-Thom form 4.15 which represents the Thom class

$$[\tau_s] \in H^{2n}(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{C} \oplus F), \mathbf{P}(F)).$$

In a similar vein our formulas for σ_s and r_s determine universal equivariant currents. The details are straightforward.

5. The Rectifiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem-Version 1.

In this section we use our results on the Chern-Thom form to prove a version of the Differentiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem for Embeddings (cf. [AH]) at the level of differential forms. We also extend this result from submanifolds to certain embeddings of subcomplexes. Not only do our methods take place at the level of differential forms, but we actually produce for each embedding $j: Y \hookrightarrow X$ and bundle $E \to Y$ with connection, a canonical family of closed differential forms representing $\operatorname{ch}(j_!E)$ which converge to the current $j_!(\operatorname{ch}(E) \cup \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(N)) \equiv \operatorname{ch}(E) \wedge \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(N)[Y]$, where N is the normal bundle to j. The support of this family squeezes down to Y, and the Todd⁻¹-factor falls naturally out of the residue computation.

In this section we shall only deal with complex normal bundles and the standard Thom class in K-theory. The more general results for Spin- and Spin^c-embeddings (and their corresponding Thom classes in KO- and K-theory) will be treated in the next chapter.

To begin we assume as above that $\pi: F \longrightarrow X$ is an n-dimensional complex vector bundle with connection D over an oriented manifold X. Let $R = R^F$ denote the curvature operator D^2 determined by this connection. We define extensions $\Lambda^k R$ and $\lambda^k R$ of this operator to $\Lambda^k F$ by setting

$$(\Lambda^k R)(v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_k) = Rv_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Rv_k \quad \text{and}$$
$$(\lambda^k R)(v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge v_k) = \sum_{j=1}^k v_1 \wedge \dots \wedge Rv_j \wedge \dots \wedge v_k$$

for $v_1, \ldots, v_k \in \Gamma(F)$.

We extend D to the full tensor algebra of sections of F, as usual, by requiring that D be a derivation that commutes with contractions. Then the corresponding curvature operator $R^{\Lambda^k F}$ on $\Lambda^k F$ is easily seen to be equal to $\lambda^k R$. Furthermore, we have $R^{F^*} = -(R)^*$, so the curvature of $\Lambda^k F^*$ is given by

(5.1)
$$R^{\Lambda^k F^*} = -\lambda^k R^* = -\left(\lambda^k R\right)^*$$

The following classical algebraic identity is of fundamental importance. For completeness, a proof is given at the end of this section.

Lemma 5.2. Let V be a finite dimensional complex vector space. To each $A \in \text{End}(V)$, let $\lambda^k A \in \text{End}(\Lambda^k V)$ denote the induced derivation. Then

$$(5.3) \qquad \operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}} \left\{ e^{-\lambda^* A} \right\} \, - \, \operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}} \left\{ e^{-\lambda^* A} \right\} \, = \, \det \left\{ \frac{I - e^{-A}}{A} \right\} \det A$$
 for all $A \in \operatorname{End}(V)$.

This identity signals the importance of the Todd polynomial defined by

$$\operatorname{Todd}(A) = \det \left\{ \frac{\frac{i}{2\pi}A}{1 - e^{-\frac{i}{2\pi}A}} \right\}.$$

Corollary 5.4. Let $R^{\Lambda F^*}$ be the curvature of the bundle $\Lambda F^* = \bigoplus_{k=0}^n \Lambda^k F^*$ induced from the curvature R of F as above. This map preserves the splitting $\Lambda F^* = \Lambda^{\text{even}} \oplus \Lambda^{\text{odd}}$ into even- and odd-degree forms, and the following formula holds

$$(5.5) \operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^{\text{even}}} \left\{ e^{R^{\Lambda F^*}} \right\} - \operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^{\text{odd}}} \left\{ e^{R^{\Lambda F^*}} \right\} = \det \left\{ \frac{I - e^{-R}}{R} \right\} \det(R)$$

Equivalently, the following identity between characteristic forms holds on X

$$(5.6) ch(D_{\Lambda^{\text{even}}F^*}) - ch(D_{\Lambda^{\text{odd}}F^*}) = \text{Todd}^{-1}(D_F) c_n(D_F).$$

Furthermore, let E be any other complex vector bundle with connection D_E and curvature $R^E = (D_E)^2$ over X. Let $R^{(\Lambda F^*) \otimes E}$ denote the curvature of the tensor product connection on $(\Lambda F^*) \otimes E$. This map also preserves the splitting $(\Lambda F^*) \otimes E = \Lambda^{\text{even}} \oplus \Lambda^{\text{odd}}$ into even- and odd-degree E-valued forms, and the following identity of differential forms holds on X

(5.7)

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}}\left\{e^{R^{(\Lambda F^{\bullet})\otimes E}}\right\} - \operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}}\left\{e^{R^{(\Lambda F^{\bullet})\otimes E}}\right\} = \operatorname{tr}\left\{e^{R^{E}}\right\} \operatorname{det}\left\{\frac{I - e^{-R}}{R}\right\} \operatorname{det}(R),$$
or equivalently

$$(5.8) \operatorname{ch}\left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E}\right) - \operatorname{ch}\left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E}\right) = \operatorname{ch}(D_{E})\operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_{F})c_{n}(D_{F}).$$

Proof. Note that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^k}\left\{e^{R^{\Lambda F^*}}\right\} \ = \ \operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^k}\left\{e^{-(R^{\Lambda F})^*}\right\} \ = \ \operatorname{tr}_{\Lambda^k}\left\{e^{-(R^{\Lambda F})}\right\}.$$

where the first equality is just 5.1. \square

Using these beautiful formulae we can now apply our Chern current theory to derive generalizations of the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem and certain formulas of [BGS1, 2] for smooth embeddings.

Theorem 5.9. Rectifiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch — Version 1. Let F be a complex vector bundle with connection over an oriented manifold X. For each atomic section μ of F, the following identity of d-closed forms and currents holds on X:

$$(5.10) ch(D_{\Lambda^{\text{oven}}F^*}) - ch(D_{\Lambda^{\text{odd}}F^*}) = \text{Todd}^{-1}(D_F)\operatorname{Div}(\mu) + dT$$

where T is the L^1_{loc} -form given by $T \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_F)\sigma$, where σ is the Chern-Thom transgression from the previous section. Moreover, for any "auxiliary" complex bundle E with connection D_E over X, there is the identity (5.11)

$$\operatorname{ch}\left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E}\right) - \operatorname{ch}\left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E}\right) = \operatorname{ch}(D_{E})\operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_{F})\operatorname{Div}(\mu) + dT'$$

where $T' = \operatorname{ch}(D_{E})\operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(\mathbf{D}_{F})\sigma$.

Furthermore, suppose that \overrightarrow{D}_s is the family of pushforward connections on F associated to a choice of approximate one χ , and let $\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^*F^*}$ be the family of connections induced on Λ^*F^* by \overrightarrow{D}_s . Then

$$ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,(\Lambda^{\text{even}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E}) - ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,(\Lambda^{\text{odd}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E}) = ch(D_E) \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_F) \operatorname{Div}(\mu) + dR_s$$
where R_s is a family of L^1_{loc} -forms on X such that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} R_s = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{s \to \infty} R_s = T \quad \text{in } L^1_{loc}(X)$$

In particular,

$$(5.13) \qquad \lim_{s \to 0} \left\{ \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^{\bullet}}) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^{\bullet}}) \right\} \ = \ \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_F)\operatorname{Div}(\mu).$$

If $\chi(t) = 1$ for all $t \ge 1$, then

$$(5.14) spt \left\{ ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\text{even}}F^{*}}) - ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\text{odd}}F^{*}}) \right\} \subset \overline{U}_{s}$$

and $\operatorname{spt}(R_s) \subset \overline{U}_s$, where $\overline{U}_s = \{x \in X : |\mu(x)| \leq s\}$ for all s > 0.

Proof. Applying (5.8) to the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s gives the equation

$$(5.15) \quad \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,(\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^{*})\otimes E}) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,(\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^{*})\otimes E}) = \operatorname{ch}(D_{E})\operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s})\tau_{s}$$

where $\tau_s = \widetilde{\det}(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$. As remarked after Corollary 4.9

$$\tau_s = \text{Div}(\mu) + dr_s$$

where $r_s = \sigma - \sigma_s$ is an L^1_{loc} -form on X. Theorem 4.2 and Proposition 4.16 now apply to yield the main part of the theorem. In particular, if we define

(5.16)
$$R_s = \operatorname{ch}(D_E) \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(\overrightarrow{D}_s) r_s,$$

then

$$\lim_{s \to 0} R_s = 0$$
 and $\lim_{s \to \infty} R_s = \operatorname{ch}(D_E) \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_F) \sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} T$

in $L^1_{loc}(X)$. Finally, if $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$, then

$$\operatorname{spt}(\tau_s) \subset \overline{U}_s$$

for all s > 0. This proves (5.14). \square

Remark 5.17. Localization at $\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$. The main formula in Theorem 5.9 can be reformulated purely in terms of the zeros of α as follows. Suppose that Z is an integral current on X with the property that $Z = \operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$ for an atomic section μ of a complex bundle F defined only over some neighborhood U of $|Z| = \operatorname{spt}(Z)$ in X. Fix an approximate-one χ such that $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$, and choose a metric on F so that $\overline{U}_s \subset U$ for all s < 1. Then the family of forms

$$K(s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\text{even}}F^*}) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\text{odd}}F^*})$$

has support in \overline{U}_1 and extends by zero to a family of smooth d-closed forms defined on all of X. It has the property that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} K(s) = \text{Todd}^{-1}(D_F)Z.$$

Suppose now that the embedding

$$j: |Z| \hookrightarrow U$$

admits a retraction $p:U\to |Z|$ which is proper on $\overline{U}_1\subset U$. Then we can define a Gysin map in K-theory

$$j_!: K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(|Z|) \longrightarrow K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$$

by

$$j_!(u) = i_*(\Lambda_{-1}F^* \cdot p^*u)$$

where $i_*: K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(U) \to K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$ is the map induced by inclusion $i: U \hookrightarrow X$, and where

$$\Lambda_{-1}F^* = \pi^*\Lambda^{\text{even}}F^* - \pi^*\Lambda^{\text{odd}}F^* \in K_{\text{cut}}(U)$$

is determined by identifying $\Lambda^{\text{even}} F^*$ with $\Lambda^{\text{odd}} F^*$ over U - |Z| by the map $(\mu \wedge \cdot) + (\mu \wedge \cdot)^*$. Recall that there is also a **Gysin map in cohomology**

$$j_!: H^*_{\operatorname{deRham}}(|Z|) \longrightarrow H^{*+2n}_{\operatorname{deRham}}(X)$$

from the cohomology of forms germed an |Z| to the cohomology of currents on X, given by

$$j_!(\varphi) = \varphi Z.$$

From the preceeding discussion and Theorem 5.9 we have the following

Corollary 5.18. Localization. Let Z be a current on X which arises as the divisor of a section of a complex vector bundle F defined in a neighborhood U of $|Z| = \operatorname{spt} Z$ which admits a retraction $p: U \to |Z|$. Then

$$ch(j_!(1)) = \left[ch\left(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^*}\right) - ch\left(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^*}\right) \right]$$

for all s < 1 (with χ and D as above). Furthermore, for any complex bundle E on |Z|, pulled back over U and endowed with a complex connection, we have

$$ch(j_!(E)) = \left[ch\left(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,(\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^*)\otimes E}\right) - ch\left(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,(\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^*)\otimes E}\right) \right].$$

Taking the limit as $s \to 0$ of this family of d-closed forms in X gives the equation

$$ch(j_!(E)) = j_! \left(ch(E) \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(F) \right).$$

Remark 5.20. An alternative method for localizing the main formula in 5.9 is the following. Let $U \supset |Z|$ be as above and choose a neighborhood U_0 of |Z| such that $\overline{U}_0 \cap (X - U) = \emptyset$. Let $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(U)$ be any smooth function such that $\psi \equiv 1$ on U_0 and $\psi \equiv 0$ on X - U. Let T' be the transgression from Theorem 5.9. Taking d of $\psi T'$ then gives a formula

$$\operatorname{ch}_{\operatorname{cpt}}(\Lambda_{-1}F^*\otimes E) \equiv \operatorname{ch}(D_E)\operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_F)\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + d(\psi T')$$

where $\operatorname{ch}_{\operatorname{cpt}}(\Lambda_{-1}F^*\otimes E)$ is a smooth differential form with compact support in U such that

$$\operatorname{ch}_{\operatorname{cpt}}\left(\Lambda_{-1}F^*\otimes E\right)|_{U_0} = \left\{\operatorname{ch}\left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^*)\otimes E}\right) - \operatorname{ch}\left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^*)\otimes E}\right)\right\}|_{U_0}.$$

Remark 5.21. The relation to Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch. Corollary 5.18 constitutes a promotion to the level of differential forms, of Atiyah and Hirzebruch's "Differentiable Riemann-Roch" Theorem for embeddings with complex normal bundle. Their result can be recovered by considering the current Z = [Y] associated to a compact oriented smooth submanifold $Y \subset X$ whose normal bundle $p: N \to Y$ carries an almost complex structure. Under this assumption we can identify N with a tubular neighborhood Y, and after writing Y as the divisor of the tautological cross-section of p^*N , the theory applies.

We recall for the reader how this result can be rewritten to resemble the theorem of Grothendieck. Suppose that the manifolds X and Y are compact and $almost\ complex$. From the Grothendieck viewpoint we should begin with a smooth embedding

$$j:Y\hookrightarrow X$$

which respects the almost complex structure. Then the normal bundle N to Y is complex and there is a splitting

$$TX|_Y = TY \oplus N.$$

We fix a direct sum of complex connections on $TY \oplus N$ and extend it to a complex connection on all of TX. From the multiplicative property of the Todd series with respect to direct sums, we have that

$$\operatorname{Todd}(D_{TX})|_{Y} = \operatorname{Todd}(D_{TY})\operatorname{Todd}(D_{N})$$

or equivalently that

$$\operatorname{Todd}(D_{TX})|_{Y}\operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(D_{N}) = \operatorname{Todd}(D_{TY})$$

We now fix a tubular neighborhood U of Y in X, and choose an identification

$$U \cong N \xrightarrow{p} Y$$

of this neighborhood with the normal bundle. Under this identification Y becomes the divisor of the tautological section of π^*N , and we can apply the theory. Namely, Let $D = \overrightarrow{D}_1$ be the pushforward connection with support in $\overline{U}_1 \subset U$ as above. Then given any bundle E with connection over Y, we pull E back to U via p. Multiplying (5.11) by $\text{Todd}(D_{TX})$ then gives the following equation

$$\left\{ \operatorname{ch} \left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{even}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E} \right) - \operatorname{ch} \left(D_{(\Lambda^{\operatorname{odd}}F^{\bullet})\otimes E} \right) \right\} \wedge \operatorname{Todd} \left(D_{TX} \right)$$

$$= \operatorname{ch}(D_E) \wedge \operatorname{Todd}(D_{TY})[Y] + dT$$
(5.22)

where T is a canonically defined L^1_{loc} -form on X.

Now associated to the proper embedding $j:Y\hookrightarrow X$ there are the Gysin maps

$$j_!: K(Y) \longrightarrow K(X)$$
 and $j_!: H^*(Y) \longrightarrow H^*(X)$

defined above. Let $ch: K \longrightarrow H^*$ be the transformation of multiplicative theories given by the Chern character. Then in passing from currents to cohomology, equation (5.22) becomes

$$(5.23) \operatorname{ch}(j_! E) \cup \operatorname{Todd}(X) = j_! \{ (\operatorname{ch} E) \cup \operatorname{Todd}(Y) \}$$

which is the C^{∞} -form of Grothendieck's Theorem for j. It can be restated by asserting that the following diagram

$$K(Y) \xrightarrow{j:} K(X)$$

$$\operatorname{ch}(\cdot) \wedge \operatorname{Todd}(Y) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \operatorname{ch}(\cdot) \wedge \operatorname{Todd}(X)$$

$$H^*(Y) \xrightarrow{j:} H^*(X)$$

commutes. For this reason it is sensible to consider Theorem 5.9 as a generalization of this result to divisors of atomic sections. In particular, using the

localization argument above we get a Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem for any subcomplex $Y \subset X$ of a smooth triangulation of X which can be expressed as the divisor of a section of a complex vector bundle defined in some neighborhood of Y.

In the next chapter we will generalize this to embeddings with spin or Spin^c-structures on the normal bundle as in [AH].

Proof of Lemma 5.2. We first note that for all $A \in \text{Hom}(V, V)$ we have that

$$(5.24) e^{\lambda^k A} = \Lambda^k \left(e^A \right).$$

To prove this set $L_t = e^{tA}$ in $\operatorname{Hom}(V, V)$. Both $\phi_t = \Lambda^k L_t$ and $\psi_t = e^{t\lambda^k A}$ are 1-parameter groups in $\operatorname{GL}(\Lambda^k V)$, and $d\phi_t/dt|_{t=0} = d\psi_t/dt|_{t=0} = \lambda^k A$.

The case $\dim_{\mathbf{C}} \mathbf{V} = \mathbf{1}$. Suppose that $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} V = 1$ and $A = a \mathrm{Id}$ on $V = \Lambda^1 V$. By definition, $\lambda^0 A = 0$ on $\mathbf{C} = \Lambda^0 V$. Thus, $\Lambda^0 e^A = e^{\lambda^0 A} = \mathrm{I}$ and $\Lambda^1 e^A = e^{\lambda^1 A} = e^a \mathrm{I}$. In particular,

$$\operatorname{tr}\left(e^{\lambda^{0}A}\right) - \operatorname{tr}\left(e^{\lambda^{1}A}\right) = \operatorname{tr}\left(\Lambda^{0}e^{A}\right) - \operatorname{tr}\left(\Lambda^{1}e^{A}\right) = 1 - e^{a}.$$

which completes the proof when $\dim_{\mathbb{C}} V = 1$.

Definition 5.25. Given $L \in \text{Hom}(V, V)$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$, we set

$$\operatorname{Tr}_t(L) = \sum_{k>0} \operatorname{tr}\left(\Lambda^k L\right) t^k.$$

Lemma 5.26. Given $L_1: V_1 \longrightarrow V_1$ and $L_2: V_2 \longrightarrow V_2$, we have for all t that

$$\operatorname{Tr}_t(L_1 \oplus L_2) = \operatorname{Tr}_t(L_1) \operatorname{Tr}_t(L_2).$$

Proof. Note that

$$\Lambda^{k}(V_{1} \oplus V_{2}) = \sum_{i+j=k} (\Lambda^{i}V_{1}) \otimes (\Lambda^{j}V_{2})$$

and therefore

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\Lambda^k(L_1 \oplus L_2)\right) = \sum_{i+j=k} \operatorname{Tr}(\Lambda^i L_1) \operatorname{Tr}(\Lambda^j L_2).$$

Suppose now that A is diagonalizable with eigenvalues a_1, \ldots, a_n . Applying 5.28 to the eigenspace decomposition $V = \bigoplus V_i$, we see that

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{t}\left(e^{A}\right) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(1 + e^{a_{i}}t\right) = \det\left(1 + te^{A}\right),$$

and in particular, if det $A \neq 0$,

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{-1}\left(e^{-A}\right) = \det\left(1 - e^{-A}\right) = \det\left\{\frac{\operatorname{Id} - e^{-A}}{A}\right\} \det A.$$

Since invertible diagonalizable endomorphisms are dense in Hom(V, V), equation (5.3) is established and Lemma 5.2 is proved. \square

6. Bundle Maps $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ where Rank E = 1.

The results of this chapter easily extend from the case $\underline{\mathbf{C}} \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ to the case $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ where rank E = 1. We present here brief statements of the modified results. Most of the proofs are omitted.

Fix F, D_F and χ as above. Consider a bundle map $\alpha: E \to F$ where E is a complex line bundle with connection D_E . Given local frames e for E and f for F, $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$ is defined by $\alpha(e) = uf$, and α is **atomic** is each such u is atomic. The divisor of α is defined by $\text{Div}(\alpha) = \text{Div}(u)$.

Let \overrightarrow{D}_s be the family of smooth approximations to the push forward connection on F, and let $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$, T_s , etc. be defined as usual.

Proposition 6.1. Suppose $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is atomic. The transgression is given by

(6.2)
$$T_s = \int_0^{\chi_s} \phi\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2} \; ; \; \Omega_F + x\left(\frac{u^*\Omega_E u}{|u|^2} - \frac{u^*u}{|u|^2}\Omega_F - \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2}\right)\right) dx,$$

and converges in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ to

(6.3)
$$T = \int_0^1 \phi \left(\frac{u^* D u}{|u|^2} ; \Omega_F + x \left(\frac{u^* \Omega_E u}{|u|^2} - \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2} \Omega_F - \frac{D u^* D u}{|u|^2} \right) \right) dx.$$

In particular, the transgression T is independent of the choice of approximate one χ .

Formula (2.4) is valid for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ provided that in this formula $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0$ is replaced by

(6.4)
$$\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0 = \left(1 - \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right) \left(\Omega_F - \frac{Du^* Du}{|u|^2}\right) + \frac{u^* \Omega_E u}{|u|^2},$$

i.e., the term $\frac{u^*\Omega_E u}{|u|^2}$ is added to $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0$. The proof of Proposition 6.1 follows exactly as the proof of Proposition 2.8. The extra term $\frac{u^*\Omega_E u}{|u|^2}$ is harmless.

Define the **residue form** on X as before by setting

(6.5)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = -\int_{p^{-1}} \mathbf{T} = -\rho_{*}(\mathbf{T}),$$

where p denotes the restriction of $\pi: \operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \to X$ to the ϵ -sphere bundle and \mathbf{T} is the transgression in the universal case. Note that with this definition $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is smooth.

In the universal case we adopt the notation of Section 3 in Chapter I. In particular, recall the blow up

$$\rho: \widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F) \longrightarrow \mathrm{Hom}(E,F)$$

and the target bundle $T \subset F$ over $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$, obtained by pulling back the universal line bundle over $\mathbf{P}(F)$ to $\widetilde{\mathrm{Hom}}(E,F)$.

Universal Theorem 6.6. The ϕ -Chern current $\phi((\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}))$ of the pushforward singular connection associated with the canonical bundle map $\mathbf{E} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathbf{F}$ over $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ has L^1_{loc} -part equal to $\rho_*\phi(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}} \oplus D_{T^{\perp}})$ and singular part equal to $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})[X]$ where the residue form is smooth and d-closed. The equation

(6.7)
$$\phi(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}}) - \rho_* \phi(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}} \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})[X] = d\mathbf{T}, \text{ over } \operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$$

is the limiting form, as $s \to 0$, of the equation

(6.8)
$$\phi(\mathbf{D_F}) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s) = d\mathbf{T}_s \quad \text{over Hom}(E, F)$$

and the potentials T_s converge to T in $L^1_{loc}(\text{Hom}(E,F))$.

Furthermore, the residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is a universally determined polynomial in the curvatures of E and F, i.e., the strict analogue of Theorem 3.23 holds in this case.

The residue can be computed by utilizing the algebraic approximation mode. Consider $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ as an open dense chart in the compactification $\mathbf{P}(E\oplus F)$ and let π also denote projection from $\mathbf{P}(E\oplus F)$ to X. Then it will be proved in the next section that

(6.9)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \pi_{*}\phi(D_{U^{\perp}})$$

where U is the universal bundle on $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$.

If $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is atomic, then the results of the universal Theorem 6.6 can be successfully pulled back from $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ to the base manifold X. As before [X] pulls back to $\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$ and the residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is independent of the bundle map α . Moreover, the L^1_{loc} -form $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = \rho_*\phi(\mathbf{D_E} \oplus D_{T^{\perp}})$ on $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ pulls back to a d-closed L^1_{loc} -form on X, which we also denote by $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) = \rho_*\phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}})$.

Note that because of (6.4) and I.2.19, the $L^1_{\rm loc}$ -part of the ϕ Chern current can be expressed as

$$(6.10) \quad \rho_* \phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}) = \phi \left(\Omega_E \oplus \left(1 - \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right) \left(\Omega_F - \frac{D u^* D u}{|u|^2}\right) \left(1 - \frac{u^* u}{|u|^2}\right)\right).$$

Atomic Theorem 6.11. Suppose $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is atomic. The equation

$$\phi(D_F) - \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = dT_s \quad on \quad X$$

has limiting form (as $s \to 0$)

(6.13)
$$\phi(D_F) - \rho_* \phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT \quad on \ X,$$

so that the ϕ -Chern current exists and has $L^1_{loc}(X)$ -part equal to $\rho_*\phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}})$ and singular part equal to $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$.

Remark 6.14. The Total Chern Form. The special case of the results of this section where ϕ is the total Chern polynomial, denoted c, are summarized in this remark. First, one calculates that

(6.15)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{c}(\overrightarrow{D}) = 1$$

exactly as in the case $E = \underline{\mathbf{C}}$. The universal equation (6.7) can be written as

(6.16)
$$c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}})c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})^{-1} - \rho_* c(D_{T^{\perp}}) - c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})^{-1}[X] = d(c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})^{-1}\sigma)$$

on Hom(E, F) where the degree 2n part is given by

(6.17)
$$c_n(\mathbf{D_F}) - c_{n-1}(\mathbf{D_F})c_1(\mathbf{D_E}) + \dots (-1)^n c_1(\mathbf{D_E})^n - [X] = d\gamma$$

on $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. If $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is atomic then (6.13) can be written as

(6.18)
$$c(D_F)c(D_E)^{-1} - \rho_*c(D_{T^{\perp}}) - c(D_E)^{-1}\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = d\left(c(D_E)^{-1}\alpha^*(\sigma)\right)$$

on X, and hence

$$(6.19) c_n(D_F) - c_{n-1}(D_F)c_1(D_E) + \dots (-1)^n c_1(D_E)^n - \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = d(\alpha^*(\gamma)).$$

The equations

$$c(\mathbf{D_F}) - c(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s) = d\sigma_s$$
 on $\text{Hom}(E, F)$

$$c(\mathbf{D_F}) - c(\mathbf{D_E})c(D_{T^{\perp}}) - [X] = d\boldsymbol{\sigma}$$
 on $\text{Hom}(E, F)$

yield

$$c(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{s}) - c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})c(D_{T^{\perp}}) - [X] = d\mathbf{r}_{s},$$

with $\mathbf{r_s} \equiv \boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma_s}$. Equivalently,

$$(6.20) c(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s)c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})^{-1} - c(D_{T^{\perp}}) - c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})^{-1}[X] = d(\mathbf{r}_s c(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})^{-1}).$$

Taking the degree 2n-part of this equation yields an equation

(6.21)
$$\tau_s - [X] = d\gamma_s \quad \text{on } \operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$$

where γ_s is the degree 2n-1 part of $\mathbf{r_s}c(\mathbf{D_E})^{-1}$ and where

(6.22)
$$\boldsymbol{\tau}_s \equiv c_n(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s) - c_{n-1}(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s)c_1(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}}) + \dots (-1)^n c_1(\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{E}})^n$$

since $c(D_{T^{\perp}})$ has no degree 2n part. This form τ_s is a **Thom-Chern** form for Hom(E,F). One can establish that

(6.23)
$$\alpha^* \tau_s$$
 converges to $Div(\alpha)$ on X

if α is an atomic bundle map from E to F.

Remark 6.24. It is natural to define the total Chern form of the difference $D_F - D_E$ to be

$$(6.25) c(D_F - D_E) = c(D_F)c(D_E)^{-1}.$$

If, more generally, ϕ is any polynomial in n variables c_1, \ldots, c_n then it is natural to define

$$\phi(D_F - D_E) \equiv \phi(c_1(D_F - D_E), \dots, c_n(D_F - D_E)).$$

This yields a definition of the ϕ -Chern form $\phi(D_F - D_E)$ for all Ad-invariant forms ϕ .

Remark 6.27. The Top Chern Form for H = Hom(E, F) — the Direct Approach. Consider $H \equiv \text{Hom}(E, F)$ as a hermitian vector bundle with connection D_H (induced by the connections on E and F). The results of Sections 2, 3, and 4 can be applied directly to H, yielding an easy proof of the results of Remark 6.14, independent of the constructions of this section.

Let $\overrightarrow{D}_{s,F}$ denote the push forward family — from E to F, and let $\overrightarrow{D}_{s,H}$ denote the push forward family — from $\underline{\mathbf{C}}$ to H, all over $H \equiv \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. Local frames e for E and f for F induce a local frame for H with fiber coordinates given by $u \equiv (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$ defined by $\alpha(e) = uf$ at a point $\alpha \in H$. The gauge for D_H is given by

$$(6.28) \omega_H = \omega_F - \omega_E$$

where, in this equation, ω_E is a one form times the identity $m \times n$ matrix, since we are assuming that E is of rank one. One can easily check that

(6.29)
$$\omega_{s,H} = \overrightarrow{\omega}_H - \chi_s \frac{u^* D u}{|u|^2},$$

by (2.2). Therefore

$$(6.30) \qquad \overrightarrow{\omega}_{s,H} = \overrightarrow{\omega}_{s,F} - \omega_E.$$

Since $\omega_E \wedge \overrightarrow{\omega}_{s,F} + \overrightarrow{\omega}_{s,F} \wedge \omega_E = 0$ (because E has rank one),

$$(6.31) \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s,H} = \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s,F} - \Omega_E.$$

As an immediate consequence the Thom form τ_s for $H=\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ is given by

(6.32)
$$\tau_s = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \det(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{F,s} - \Omega_E) = \sum_{j=0}^n (-1)^j c_{n-j} (\overrightarrow{D}_{s,F}) c(D_E)^j.$$

In particular, this Thom form for H, obtained as a direct application of Section 4, equals the Thom form of (6.22). The results of Sections 2, 3, and 4 yield

Theorem 6.33. If $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is atomic then

$$c_n(D_F - D_E) - \text{Div}(\alpha) = d\alpha^*(\sigma)$$

with $\alpha^*(\sigma) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$. Moreover, this is the limiting form of the pull back by α of the universal equation

$$(6.34) c_n(D_F - D_E) - \tau_s = d\sigma_s$$

on $H \equiv \text{Hom}(E, F)$. Here

(6.35)
$$\sigma_s = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \int_0^{\chi_s} \det\left(\frac{u^*Du}{|u|^2}; \Omega_F - \Omega_E - x \frac{Du^*Du}{|u|^2}\right) dx.$$

Proof. The proof of the formula for σ_s is all that remains. Use the formula (6.31) for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s,H}$, replacing Ω_F by $\Omega_F - \Omega_E$ in Proposition 3.17 and in (4.29). \square

7. Residues.

In this section we carry out explicit computations of the residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ discussed in previous sections. We already know from 3.23 and 6.6 that $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is written as a universal polynomial in the curvatures of E and F. The polynomial is determined by the cohomology class of the residue (on, say, the classifying space of the bundles). Therefore the main point of this section will be to give explicit universal computations on this residue class.

At the end of the section we shall prove a general theorem concerning the decomposition of characteristic forms in terms of the tautological splitting of a bundle V when pulled-back over its projectivization. The main point of this result is the explicit form of the transgression. When $V=E\oplus F$, the theorem gives direct and parallel proofs of the main results in this chapter without recourse to 3.23 or 6.6. This theorem also has independent interest.

We now fix E and F as in the previous section and we work with pullbacks E and F of these bundles to the total space of $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. Since $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is independent of the choice of approximation mode, we shall use the algebraic one. This enables us to use the results of Section I.6 on compatification.

The residue form is defined by

(7.1)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = -\rho_{*}(\mathbf{T}) = -\int_{\rho^{-1}} \mathbf{T}$$

where ρ is the restiction of π : Hom $(E, F) \longrightarrow X$ to the unit sphere bundle. One also has the alternative formula (cf. Remark 2.24).

(7.2)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \pi_* \left(\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0) \right) = \int_{-1}^{1} \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$$

for any s > 0. Now consider the compactification, $P(E \oplus F)$, of Hom(E, F) and let U denote the universal line bundle on $P(E \oplus F)$. From Chapter I.6, we know that, over the subset $Hom(E, F) \subset P(E \oplus F)$, there is an isomorphism

$$(\mathbf{F}, \overrightarrow{D}_1) \cong (U^{\perp}, D_{U^{\perp}})$$

of bundles with connection. Thus

$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_1) = \phi(D_{U^{\perp}}).$$

Since the form $\phi(D_{U^{\perp}})$ extends to be a smooth form on $P(E \oplus F)$ and since $P(E \oplus F) \sim \text{Hom}(E, F)$ is a subset of measure zero, this proves the next result.

Theorem 7.5. Consider the bundle map $\pi : \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F) \to X$. Let

$$\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F} = U \oplus U^{\perp}$$

denote the direct sum decomposition given in I.6. Furnish U and U^{\perp} with the connections induced from the connection $D_E \oplus D_F$ on $\mathbf{E} \oplus \mathbf{F}$. Let D_U and $D_{U^{\perp}}$ denote these induced connections. Then for any invariant polynomial ϕ

(7.6)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \pi_*(\phi(D_{U^{\perp}})) = \int_{\pi^{-1}} \phi(D_{U^{\perp}}).$$

In particular, the cohomology class of the residue on X is given by the formula

(7.7)
$$\left[\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})\right] = \pi_! \phi(U^{\perp})$$

where $\phi(U^{\perp}) \in H^*(\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F); \mathbf{R})$ is the ϕ -characteristic class of U^{\perp} over $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$.

We shall say that ϕ is **integral** if it corresponds to an integral cohomology class under the canonical identification $I_{GL_n(\mathbf{C})} \cong H^*(\mathrm{BGL}_n(\mathbf{C}); \mathbf{R})$ given by the Chern-Weil homomorphism.

Corollary 7.8. If ϕ is integral, then the residue class $[\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})]$ is an integral cohomology class, i.e., it lies in the image of $H^*(X; \mathbf{Z})$ in $H^*(X; \mathbf{R})$.

The remainder of this section is devoted to computing $\pi_!\phi(U^{\perp})$ explicitly in terms of ϕ , c(E) and c(F). (This will yield exact formulas for $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ in terms of Ω_E and Ω_F .)

We begin with a general algorithm for computing $\pi_!(U^{\perp})$. (In most important cases this algorithm can be considerably simplified, as we shall see). From the equation

$$\pi^*(E \oplus F) = U \oplus U^{\perp}$$

we have that

$$(7.10) c(U^{\perp}) = c(U)^{-1} \pi^*(c(E)c(F)).$$

Let us set

$$t \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -c_1(U)$$

so that

(7.11)
$$c(U)^{-1} = (1-t)^{-1} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} t^k.$$

Then (7.10) implies that

(7.12)
$$c_{\ell}(U^{\perp}) = \sum_{i+j+k=\ell} c_i(\mathbf{E})c_j(\mathbf{F})t^k$$

for $\ell = 1, ..., n$, where $\mathbf{E} = \pi^* E$ and $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$. We now express $\phi(U^{\perp})$ as a polynomial in the Chern classes:

$$\phi(U^{\perp}) = \Phi(c_1(U^{\perp}), \dots, c_n(U^{\perp})).$$

Using (7.12) this can be expanded in the form

$$\phi(U^{\perp}) = \sum_{k>0} A_k(c(\mathbf{E}), c(\mathbf{F})) t^k$$

where each A_k is a polynomial in $c_1(\mathbf{E}), c_1(\mathbf{F}), \ldots, c_n(\mathbf{F})$. It follows that

(7.13)
$$\pi_! \phi(U^{\perp}) = \sum_{k>0} A_k(c(E), c(F)) \pi_!(t^k).$$

To compute the general residue formula, it remains only to compute $\pi_!(t^k)$.

Proposition 7.14. One has that

(i)
$$\pi_!(t^k) = 0$$
 if $k < n$,

(ii)
$$\pi_!(t^n) = 1$$
 and

(iii)
$$\pi_!(t^{n+k}) = the component of c(E)^{-1}c(F)^{-1} in degree 2k$$
.

Proof. Equation (i) is trivial since $\pi_!$ is zero in degrees < 2n. Equation (ii) is a direct consequence of the elementary fact that

$$c_1(\lambda^*)^n[\mathbf{P}^n] = 1$$

where λ is the tautological line bundle over \mathbf{P}^n . To prove (iii) note from (7.10) and (7.11) that

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} t^k = \pi^*(c(E)^{-1}c(F)^{-1})c(U^{\perp}).$$

Applying $\pi_!$ gives

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \pi_!(t^{n+k}) = c(E)^{-1}c(F)^{-1}\pi_!(c(U^{\perp}))$$

since $\pi_!((\pi^*a) \cdot b) = a\pi_!b$. Applying (ii) to the component in degree zero in this equation gives

$$\pi_! c_n(U^{\perp}) = 1.$$

Hence,

(7.16)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \pi_!(t^{n+k}) = c(E)^{-1}c(F)^{-1}. \qquad \Box$$

We have proved the following.

Theorem 7.17. For any Ad-invariant polynomial ϕ on the Lie algebra \mathfrak{gl}_n , the residue form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ is given pointwise as the polynomial in Ω_E and Ω_F computed by combining (7.13) and 7.14 above.

This result extends, of course, to formal series of Ad-invariant homogeneous polynomials on \mathfrak{gl}_n . Note that we have recovered the basic facts that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{c_n}(\overrightarrow{D}) \equiv \operatorname{Res}_{(c_1)^n}(\overrightarrow{D}) \equiv 1$$

In many important cases the function ϕ has properties which make the calculation of $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D})$ considerably easier. The first example is that of the Chern character. Given $\psi \in \mathcal{E}^*(X)$, let $\{\psi\}_m$ denote the component of degree m, i.e., $\psi = \sum \{\psi\}_m$ with $\{\psi\}_m \in \mathcal{E}^m(X)$.

Theorem 7.18.

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{ch}}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{(n+k)!} \left\{ c(D_E)^{-1} c(D_F)^{-1} \right\}_{2k}$$

Proof. Applying ch to (7.9) gives

$$\pi^*(\text{ch}E) + \pi^*(\text{ch}F) = \text{ch}(U) + \text{ch}(U^{\perp}),$$

by the additivity property of the Chern character. Applying $\pi_!$ then gives

$$\pi_! \operatorname{ch}(U^{\perp}) = -\pi_! \operatorname{ch}(U) = \sum_{k>0} \frac{(-1)^{k+1}}{k!} \pi_! (t^k).$$

Applying 7.14 and 6.6 gives the result. \square

Theorem 7.19. Let $\tau_k(A) = \operatorname{tr}\{(\frac{i}{2\pi}A)^k\}$ for $A \in gl_n(\mathbb{C})$ be the k^{th} "trace-power" function. Then

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\tau_k}(\overrightarrow{D}) = (-1)^{k+1} \{ c(D_E)^{-1} c(D_F)^{-1} \}_{2k}$$

Suppose now that $\mathbb{H} = \mathbb{H}(c)$ is a multiplicative series of Chern classes associated to the formal power series

$$h(x) = 1 + a_1 x + a_2 x^2 + \dots \in \mathbf{R}[[x]].$$

(See [Hi], [MS] or [LM] for definitions and discussion.) Let

$$h^{-1}(-x) = 1 + b_1 x + b_2 x^2 + \dots \in \mathbf{R}[[x]]$$

be the modified inverse series determined by $h(x)h^{-1}(x) = 1$.

Theorem 7.20.

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\mathbb{H}}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \mathbb{H}(D_E)\mathbb{H}(D_F) \sum_{k\geq 0} b_{n+k} \{c(D_E)^{-1}c(D_F)^{-1}\}_{2k}$$

Proof. By the multiplicative property of \mathbb{H} we have

$$\pi^*\{\mathbb{H}(E)\mathbb{H}(F)\} = \mathbb{H}(U^\perp)\mathbb{H}(U) = \mathbb{H}(U^\perp)h(-t).$$

Hence,

$$\mathbb{H}(U^{\perp}) = \pi^* \{ \mathbb{H}(E) \mathbb{H}(F) \} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} b_k (-t)^k.$$

Applying $\pi_!$ gives the result. \square

Note that $\mathbb{H}(D_E) = h(c_1(D_E)) = h(\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_E)$.

A basic example is given by the Todd series Todd which is associated to the polynomial

$$td(x) = \frac{x}{1 - e^{-x}}.$$

and so

$$td^{-1}(-x) = \frac{1 - e^x}{-x} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} x^{k-1}.$$

Corollary 7.21. Let $u = c_1(D_E) = \frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_E$. Then

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{Todd}}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \frac{1 - e^{u}}{-u} \operatorname{Todd}(D_{F}) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n+k+1)!} \left\{ (1 - u)^{-1} c(D_{F})^{-1} \right\}_{2k}$$
$$= \frac{1 - e^{u}}{-u} \operatorname{Todd}(D_{F}) \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n+k+1)!} \left\{ \operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{ch}}(\overrightarrow{D}) \right\}_{2k}$$

A second example is given by $\mathbb{H} = e^{c_1}$ which has associated formal power series $h(x) = e^x$. Note that in this case $h^{-1}(-x) = e^x$.

Another set of examples for which the residue is easily computable comes from the following. Consider a polynomial

$$\phi(\cdot,t) \in I_{\mathrm{GL}_n}[t]$$

in one indeterminate t with coefficients in the ring of Ad-invariant polynomials on \mathfrak{gl}_n . Given bundles $E, F \longrightarrow X$ with connection as above, we can construct the Chern-Weil form

$$\phi(\Omega_F, \Omega_E) \in H^*(X).$$

All the results of this chapter hold with ϕ replaced by $\phi(\cdot, \Omega_E)$.

Suppose now that T, T^{\perp} are the bundles over the blow-up $\rho : \widetilde{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F) \longrightarrow \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$ defined in I.3. Then we have the following generalization of Theorem 4.16.

Theorem 7.22. Let $\phi(\cdot,t) \in I_{GL_n}[t]$ be as above. Suppose that whenever $F \longrightarrow X$ is the tautological bundle over the Grassmannian of n-planes in \mathbb{C}^N , for some N, the class

$$\phi(E \oplus T^{\perp}, E) = 0$$

in $H^*(\widetilde{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F))$. Then for any pair of bundles with connection $F, E \longrightarrow X$ over any manifold X (where $\operatorname{rank}(E) = 1$ and $\operatorname{rank}(F) = n$), we have that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\psi(\cdot,\Omega_E)\phi(\cdot,\Omega_E)} = \psi(\Omega_F,\Omega_E) \operatorname{Res}_{\phi(\cdot,\Omega_E)}$$

for all $\psi(\cdot,t) \in I_{\mathrm{GL}_n}[t]$

Remark 7.23. Consider the example

$$c(\cdot,t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{k=0}^{n} c_{n-k} (-t)^{k},$$

where c_{n-k} is the polynomial corresponding to the k^{th} Chern class. This has the property that

$$c(F,E) = c_n(E^* \otimes F).$$

It follows that

$$c(E \oplus T^{\perp}, E) = c_n(E^* \otimes (E \oplus T^{\perp})) = c_n(\mathbf{C} \oplus T^{\perp}) = 0$$

and the Theorem applies. In particular when E is the trivial line bundle, we recover Proposition 4.16.

Proof of 7.22. On $\widetilde{\mathbf{P}}(E \oplus F)$ we have the equation of smooth forms

$$\rho^* \{ \psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) \} - \psi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}, D_E) \phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}, D_E)$$

$$(7.24) \qquad = \rho^* \{ \psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) \} - \psi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}, D_E) dA$$

$$= \rho^* \{ \psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) \} - d\tilde{A}$$

where $\tilde{A} = \psi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}, D_E)A$. Applying ρ_* to the top line gives $\operatorname{Res}_{\psi\phi}[X] + dS$. Hence equation (7.24) shows that $\operatorname{Res}_{\psi\phi}[X]$ is cohomologous to $\psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E)\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E)$ on $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$. On the other hand, our hypothesis that $\phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}, D_E) = dA$ implies that $\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0, \Omega_E) = \rho_*\phi(D_E \oplus D_{T^{\perp}}, D_E) = d\rho_*A \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} dA'$. Hence the equation

$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_0, \Omega_E) = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[X] + dS'$$

and the fact that

$$\psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E)\Big|_{X} = \psi(D_F, D_E)$$

imply that

$$\psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E)\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E) = \psi(D_F, D_E)\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[X] + d\widetilde{S}$$

where $\tilde{S} = \psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s, D_E)(S' + A')$. We conclude that

$$[\operatorname{Res}_{\psi\phi}] = [\psi(D_F)][\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}]$$

in $H^*(X)$. The result now follows from 6.6. \square

The detailed results above on residue forms can be given a direct proof without using Theorems 3.23 or 6.6. To do this one begins with Theorem 7.25 below, sets $V = E \oplus F$ and carries through the formal arguments above. (See Remark 7.29).

This next result concerns the splitting of characteristic forms of a vector bundle V with connection, when they are lifted to the projectivization. The main point of the theorem is the detailed structure of the transgression current. The result is of independent interest and quite useful.

Theorem 7.25. Let V be a complex vector bundle with connection D_V over a manifold X and let $\pi: \mathbf{P}(V) \longrightarrow X$ denote the projectivized bundle. Suppose V is furnished with a hermitian metric (not necessarily related to the connection). Denote by U the tautological line bundle over $\mathbf{P}(V)$ with connection D_U induced from D_V via the splitting

$$\pi^*V = U \oplus U^{\perp}.$$

Then for any Ad-invariant polynomial ϕ on $\mathfrak{gl}_n(\mathbf{C})$ there exists a transgression form S on $\mathbf{P}(V)$ satisfying

(7.26)
$$\phi(D_V) - \phi(D_U \oplus D_{U^{\perp}}) = dS \quad \text{on } \mathbf{P}(V)$$

with the property that S can be expressed, as a sum over k, of forms which are of bidegree k, k-1 in the fiber 1-forms Du_i, Du_i^* for i, j = 1, ..., n.

Consequently, if ψ is any form on P(V) which is of type k,k in these fibre 1-forms, then

$$\pi_*(\psi S) = 0.$$

Corollary 7.28. (cf. Bott [Bo]). Under the hypotheses of Theorem 7.25,

$$\pi_*(c(D_U)^{-1}) = c(D_V)^{-1}.$$

Proof. Note that by (7.26),

$$c(D_V) - c(D_U)c(D_U^{\perp}) = dS.$$

Multiply the equation by $c(D_U)^{-1}c(D_V)^{-1}$, take π_* , and apply (7.27). \square

Remark 7.29. Using Theorem 7.25 one can give direct proofs of the results 7.17—7.21 above. To do this, set $V = E \oplus F$ and apply argument parallel to those above. We leave this to the reader.

Proof of Theorem 7.25. Let $P: \mathbf{V} \to U$ denote orthogonal projection. The family of connections on \mathbf{V} given by

$$D_x \equiv D_V - x(1-P)D_V P$$
 for $0 \le x \le 1$

has initial connection D_V and terminal connection $D_1 = D_V - (1 - P)D_V P$. Blocking D_1 with respect to the decomposition $\mathbf{V} = U \oplus U^{\perp}$ yields

$$D_1 = \begin{pmatrix} D_U & PD_V(1-P) \\ 0 & D_{U^{\perp}}. \end{pmatrix}$$

Since D_1 is in upper triangular form

$$\phi(D_1) = \phi(D_U \oplus D_{U^{\perp}})$$

for any invariant polynomial ϕ . Consequently,

$$\phi(D_V) - \phi(D_U \oplus D_{U^{\perp}}) = dS$$

with

$$S = -\int_{0}^{1} \phi\left(\dot{D}_{x} ; R_{x}\right) dx.$$

To complete the proof we calculate this formula for S.

Write $D_x = D_V - xB$ where $B = (1 - P)D_V P$, and note that $B^2 = 0$ since P(1 - P) = 0. Therefore

$$R_x = (D_V - xB)^2 = R_V - x(BD_V + D_V B).$$

Note that

$$B = (1 - P)D_V P = (1 - P)(D_V P - PD_V) = (1 - P)D(P),$$

where by definition $D(P) = D_V P - P D_V$. Since $P = P^2$, we have D(P) = D(P)P + P D(P), and therefore

$$B = D(P)P$$
.

This implies

$$BD_V = D(P)PD_V.$$

Since

$$D_V B = D_V (1 - P) D_V P$$

= $\{D_V (1 - P) - (1 - P) D_V\} D_V P + (1 - P) R_V P$
= $-D(P) D_V P + (1 - P) R_V P$,

we have

$$BD_V + D_V B = (1 - P)R_V P - D(P)D(P).$$

This proves

Lemma 7.30.

$$R_x = R_V - x(1-P)R_V P + xD(P)D(P)$$

and

$$\dot{D}_x = -(1-P)D(P).$$

To prove Theorem 7.25 it will suffice to show that \dot{D}_x is of bidegree 1, 0 and that R_x is a sum of terms of bidegree k,k in the fibre 1-forms Du_i , Du_j^* . We shall calculate in homogeneous coordinates $V \sim Z \to \mathbf{P}(V)$. Over $V \sim Z$, the bundle V has a canonical section c. Consider the associated bundle map $\underline{\mathbf{C}} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathbf{V}$ defined by $\alpha(1) = c$. The image of α is the subbundle U of \mathbf{V} . The orthogonal projection P is given by $P = \frac{\alpha\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}$ where $|\alpha|^2 = \alpha^*\alpha$. To prove our assertions it suffices to show that

(7.31)
$$B = (1 - P)D(P) = (1 - P)\frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}$$

and that

$$(7.32) \quad D(P)D(P) = \frac{\alpha(D\alpha^*)}{|\alpha|^2} (1-P) \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} + (1-P) \frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^*)}{|\alpha|^2} (1-P).$$

Both follow from the formula

$$D(P) = D_V P - P D_V = (1 - P) \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} + \frac{\alpha(D\alpha^*)}{|\alpha|^2} (1 - P)$$

which is an easy consequence of $P = \frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}$. This completes the proof of Theorem 7.25. \square

Remark 7.33. Setting x = 1 in (7.30), and using (7.32) yields

$$R_U = P \left(R_V + \frac{\alpha(D\alpha^*)}{|\alpha|^2} (1 - P) \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} \right) P,$$

and

$$R_{U^{\perp}} = (1-P)\left(R_V + \frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^*)}{|\alpha|^2}\right)(1-P).$$

Remark 7.34. If u is a homogeneous coordinate for P(V) with respect to a local frame for V, then S is given by the following formula.

(7.35)

$$S = \int_{0}^{1} \phi \left(\frac{u^{\star} D u}{|u|^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{u^{\star} u}{|u|^{2}} \right) ; \Omega_{V} - x \frac{u^{\star} u}{|u|^{2}} \Omega_{V} \left(1 - \frac{u^{\star} u}{|u|^{2}} \right) - x \frac{u^{\star} (D u)}{|u|^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{u^{\star} u}{|u|^{2}} \right) \frac{(D u^{\star}) u}{|u|^{2}} - x \left(1 - \frac{u^{\star} u}{|u|^{2}} \right) \frac{(D u^{\star}) (D u)}{|u|^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{u^{\star} u}{|u|^{2}} \right) \right) dx.$$

If we apply Theorem 7.25 to the case where $V=E\oplus F$ with direct sum connection, then formula (7.26) becomes

$$\phi(D_E \oplus D_F) - \phi(D_U \oplus D_{U^{\perp}}) = dS$$

on $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$. Here we allow E to be of any rank. When $\phi = c^{-1}$, this gives the following.

Proposition 7.37. Let c denote the total Chern polynomial. If rank F > 1, then

$$\pi_*\{c(D_{U^{\perp}})^{-1}\} = 0.$$

In particular, when rank E = 1 and rank(F) > 1 we have that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{c^{-1}}(\overrightarrow{D}) = 0.$$

Proof. By 7.25 we have

$$c(D_E)c(D_F) - c(D_U)c(D_{U^{\perp}}) = dS$$

which implies that

$$c(D_{U^{\perp}})^{-1} - c(D_U)c(D_E)^{-1}c(D_F)^{-1} = d\left(c(D_{U^{\perp}})^{-1}c(D_E)^{-1}c(D_F)^{-1}S\right) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} dT.$$

By 7.27 we have that

$$\pi_* dT = c(D_E)^{-1} c(D_F)^{-1} d\pi_* (c(D_{U^{\perp}})^{-1} S) = 0.$$

Furthermore, since dim $P(E \oplus F) = \text{rank}(E) + \text{rank}(F) - 1 > \text{rank}(E) = \text{rank}(U)$, we have that

$$\pi_* \{ c(D_U)c(D_E)^{-1}c(D_F)^{-1} \} = c(D_E)^{-1}c(D_F)^{-1}\pi_*c(D_U) = 0.$$

Hence, $\pi_*\{c(D_{U^{\perp}})^{-1}\}=0$. \square

8. The Singular PullBack Connection \overleftarrow{D} on E.

Throughout this section assume that $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is an atomic bundle map of hermitian bundles with connections and that $\operatorname{rank}(E) = 1$. The special case $\underline{C} \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ where $\alpha(1) = \mu$ is a section of F is of particular importance. The objective is to compute the Chern currents associated with the singular pullback connection \overleftarrow{D} on the line bundle E. One consequence is that the divisor of μ can be expressed as $(-1)^n$ times the singular part of the Chern current $c_1^n((\overleftarrow{D}))$ (See Corollary 8.18 below).

The pullback family of connections \overleftarrow{D}_s on E is defined by

(8.1)
$$\overleftarrow{D}_s = D_E + \chi_s \frac{\alpha^* D \alpha}{|\alpha|^2},$$

with

(8.2)
$$\overleftarrow{D} = D_E + \frac{\alpha^* D \alpha}{|\alpha|^2}.$$

As we shall see this case is formally like the line bundle case of Chapter II. The power functions $\phi_m(t) = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}t\right)^m$ generate all invariant polynomials so we need only consider $\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\overleftarrow{\Omega}_s\right)^m$. Equivalently we need only consider $c^{-1}(t) = \left(1 + \frac{i}{2\pi}t\right)^{-1}$, the inverse of the total Chern polynomial $c(t) = 1 + \frac{i}{2\pi}t$. The residue has a particularly nice form with this choice.

Theorem 8.3. Suppose $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is an atomic bundle map from a line bundle E to a rank n bundle F. The Chern current $c^{-1}((\overleftarrow{D})) = \lim_{s \to 0} c^{-1}(\overleftarrow{D}_s)$ of the singular pullback connection \overleftarrow{D} on E is given by

$$(8.4) c^{-1}((\overleftarrow{D})) = \left(1 + \frac{i}{2\pi}\overleftarrow{\Omega}_0\right)^{-1} + c(D_F)^{-1}c(D_E)^{-1}\operatorname{Div}(\alpha),$$

where the L^1_{loc} part $\left(1 + \frac{i}{2\pi} \overleftarrow{\Omega}_0\right)^{-1} \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$ is d-closed. The transgressions T_s converge in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$ to $T \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$. The current equation

(8.5)
$$c(D_E)^{-1} - c(\overleftarrow{\Omega}_0)^{-1} - c(D_F)^{-1}c(D_E)^{-1}\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT$$

is the limiting form of the standard transgression formula

$$(8.6) c(D_E)^{-1} - c(\overleftarrow{D}_s)^{-1} = dT_s.$$

Proof. The singular pullback connection \overleftarrow{D} on E has gauge

$$\overleftarrow{\omega} = \omega_E + \frac{Duu^*}{|u|^2} = \omega_E + \frac{(u\omega_F - \omega_E u + du)u^*}{uu^*} = \frac{(u\omega_F + du)u^*}{uu^*}$$

in terms of local frames e for E and f for F where $\alpha e = uf$ defines $u \equiv (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$. Since u is atomic the singular gauge $\overleftarrow{\omega}$ has an L^1_{loc} extension to X which will be denoted by

$$\overleftarrow{\omega}_0 = \frac{(u\omega_F + du)u^*}{uu^*}.$$

The matrix form of $\alpha^*D\alpha$ is the global $L^1_{loc}(X)$ one form

$$\tau = \frac{Duu^*}{|u|^2} \equiv \frac{(u\omega_F - \omega_E u + du)u^*}{uu^*} = \omega_0 - \omega_E$$

just as $|\alpha|^2 = \langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle_{\text{Hom}} = uu^* = |u|^2$ is a global C^{∞} function. The pullback family of connections \overleftarrow{D}_s on E has local gauge

$$(8.7) \qquad \qquad \overleftarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_E + \chi_s \tau = \omega_E + \chi_s (\omega_0 - \omega_E).$$

The curvature at time s = 0 is given by

(8.8)
$$\overleftarrow{\Omega}_0 = \frac{u\Omega_F u^*}{|u|^2} - \frac{Du\left(1 - \frac{u^*u}{|u|^2}\right)Du^*}{|u|^2},$$

while the curvature at time s > 0 is given by

(8.9)
$$\overleftarrow{\Omega}_s = \chi_s (1 - \chi_s) \Omega_E + \chi_s \overleftarrow{\Omega}_0 + \chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2} \frac{Duu^*}{|u|^2}.$$

It will suffice to work in the universal case. We set

$$e = c(D_E), e_s = c(\overleftarrow{D}_s) \text{ and } \ell = 1 + \frac{i}{2\pi} \overleftarrow{\Omega}_0$$

and note that $e = e_{\infty}$. Taking the exterior derivative in (8.7) gives

(8.10)
$$e_s = e + \chi_s(\ell - e) + \frac{i}{2-} d\chi_s \tau.$$

Since $\dot{\omega}_s = \dot{\chi}_s \tau$ the formula for the transgression can be integrated. We first carry this out for the m^{th} power function $\phi_m(t) = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}t\right)^m$ and then take a sum.

Let \bar{e}_s denote $c_1(D_s)$, \bar{e} denote $c_1(D_E)$, and $\bar{\ell}$ denote $\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_0$. The transgression T_m for ϕ_m is computed as follows. $T_m =$

(8.11)
$$(\frac{i}{2\pi})^m m \int_{s}^{\infty} \dot{\omega}_s \overleftarrow{\Omega}_s^{m-1} ds = \frac{i}{2\pi} \tau m \int_{s}^{\infty} \bar{e}_s^{m-1} \dot{\chi}_s ds$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2\pi} \tau m \int_{0}^{\chi_s} (\bar{e} + x(\bar{\ell} - \bar{e}))^{m-1} dx$$

$$= -\frac{i}{2\pi} \tau \frac{(\bar{e} + \chi_s(\bar{\ell} - \bar{e}))^m - \bar{e}^m}{\bar{\ell} - \bar{e}} .$$

Consequently when $\phi = c^{-1}$, one derives the equation

(8.12)
$$T_s = -\frac{i}{2\pi} \tau \frac{(e + \chi_s(\ell - e))^{-1} - e^{-1}}{\ell - e}.$$

Using the equation $\chi_s(\ell - e) = (e + \chi_s(\ell - e)) - e$ one can rewrite (8.12) as

(8.13)
$$T_s = \frac{i}{2\pi} \chi_s \tau e^{-1} (e + \chi_s (\ell - e))^{-1}.$$

Since $e_s = e + \chi_s(\ell - e)$ modulo τ this simplifies to

$$T_s = \frac{i}{2\pi} \chi_s \tau e^{-1} e_s^{-1}.$$

Hence, the limiting transgression, as $s \to 0$, is given by

$$(8.14) T = \frac{i}{2\pi} \tau e^{-1} \ell^{-1},$$

and the residue is defined by

(8.15)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{c^{-1}}(\overleftarrow{D}) = -\rho_{*}(T).$$

The proof of the Theorem is easily completed using the formulas presented above, except for the residue calculation

(8.16)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{c^{-1}}(\overleftarrow{D}) = c(D_E)^{-1}c(D_F)^{-1}.$$

In order to prove this it is convenient to use an alternate to the residue formula (8.15).

Remark 8.17. Alternate formulas for Res(\overleftarrow{D}). First note that

$$\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\overleftarrow{\Omega}_s\right)^m - \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\overleftarrow{\Omega}_0\right)^m - [X]\operatorname{Res}_m(\overleftarrow{D}) = dR_s \quad \text{on} \quad \operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$$

where $\operatorname{Res}_m \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Res}_{\phi_m}$. Assume that χ is a compactly supported approximate one (i.e. $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for t large). Then R_s and $\Omega_s^m - \Omega_0^m$ vanish for $\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}$ large. Consequently we may use $\pi : \operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \to X$ to push forward this current equation on $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ to a current equation on X. Since $\pi_*(R_s) = 0$ and $\pi_*([X]\operatorname{Res}_m(\overleftarrow{D})) = \operatorname{Res}_m(\overleftarrow{D})$ we obtain the following alternate formula for the residue form

$$\operatorname{Res}_m(\overleftarrow{D}) = \pi_* \left\{ \left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \overleftarrow{\Omega}_s \right)^m - \left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \overleftarrow{\Omega}_0 \right)^m \right\}.$$

Using the fact that $\int_{\pi^{-1}} \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_0\right)^m = 0$, we can rewrite this in terms of fibre integration as

$$\operatorname{Res}_{m}(\overleftarrow{D}) = \int_{\pi^{-1}} \left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \overleftarrow{\Omega}_{s} \right)^{m}.$$

Actually, this alternate description is equally valid for any approximate one χ . One must verify that the fiber integral of $\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\overleftarrow{\Omega}_s\right)^m - \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\overleftarrow{\Omega}_0\right)^m$ converges at infinity in $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$.

Let U denote the tautological line bundle over $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$. Since E, \overleftarrow{D}_s and U, D_U are isomorphic over $\mathrm{Hom}(E,F) \subset \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$ as bundles with connections (see I.6.14),

$$\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_s\right)^m = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\Omega_U\right)^m$$

extends as a smooth form to all of $\mathbf{P}(E \oplus F)$ and

$$\operatorname{Res}_m(\overleftarrow{D}) = \pi_*(c_1(D_U)^m).$$

where $\pi: \mathbf{P}(E \oplus F) \to X$.

Combining this formula and Proposition 7.14 yields the residue formula 8.16, and completes the proof of Theorem 8.3. \Box

Corollary 8.18. For m < n, the residues $\operatorname{Res}_m(\overleftarrow{D}) = 0$ and, for m = n, the residue $\operatorname{Res}_n(\overleftarrow{D}) = (-1)^n$ so that

$$(m < n) c_1(D_E)^m - c_1(\overleftarrow{\Omega}_0)^m = dT_m,$$

and

$$(m=n)$$
 $c_1(D_E)^n - c_1(\overleftarrow{\Omega}_0)^n - (-1)^n[X] = dT_n,$

as equations of currents on $\operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. Moreover, for all $m \geq 0$,

$$T_m = -\frac{i}{2\pi}\tau \frac{\ell^m - e^m}{\ell - e}.$$

Proof. Res_m(\overleftarrow{D}) is equal to $(-1)^m$ times the degree 2m-2n part of $c(D_E)^{-1}$ $c(D_F)^{-1}$, for all $m=0, 1, \ldots$, by (8.16). The formula for T_m is just (8.11). \square

Appendix A The Bochner-Martinelli Kernel and Chern-Weil Theory.

Suppose $u \equiv (u_1, \dots, u_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ are coordinates for \mathbb{C}^n and let $\lambda(u) \equiv \frac{i}{2}du_1 \wedge d\bar{u}_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \frac{i}{2}du_n \wedge d\bar{u}_n$ denote the standard volume form on \mathbb{C}^n . The Bochner-Martinelli potential or kernel is defined to be

(A.1)
$$B = \frac{(n-1)!}{\pi^n} \frac{\bar{u} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{u}} \perp \lambda(u)}{|u|^{2n}}.$$

If n=1 this is just the Cauchy kernel $\frac{1}{2\pi i}\frac{du}{u}$.

Suppose $u \equiv (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$ is a smooth function on a manifold X with values in \mathbb{C}^n . The pullback of B via u will be denoted by B(u), or sometimes simply by B as well. This will also be called the **Bochner-Martinelli potential** (or **kernel**). Note that if u is atomic, then $B(u) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$, i.e., B(u) has a unique extension across the zero set of u as an L^1_{loc} form.

Alternate Expressions for Bochner-Martinelli Related to the nth Power of the First Chern Form c₁

Consider the pullback case of Section 8. Suppose D_E and D_F are flat, i.e., there exist local frames which are parallel. In these frames we have

$$(A.2) \qquad \qquad \overleftarrow{\omega}_s = \chi_s \frac{duu^*}{|u|^2}.$$

Let

$$\beta \equiv \frac{duu^*}{|u|^2}$$

so that

$$d\beta = -\frac{dudu^*}{|u|^2} + \frac{duu^*udu^*}{|u|^4} \equiv -\frac{dudu^*}{|u|^2} \pmod{\beta}.$$

Then $\overleftarrow{\omega}_s = \chi_s \beta$, $\dot{\omega}_s = \dot{\chi}_s \beta$, and

$$\Omega_s = \chi_s d\beta + d\chi_s \beta \equiv \chi_s d\beta \pmod{\dot{\omega}_s}.$$

Therefore the transgression T_s for the n^{th} power, is given by

$$T_s = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \int_{s}^{\infty} \dot{\omega}_s \Omega_s^{n-1} ds = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \chi_s \beta (d\beta)^{n-1}$$

and

$$T = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \beta (d\beta)^{n-1}.$$

Definition A.3. Suppose h is a smooth function on X which takes values in the set of positive definite hermitian $n \times n$ matrices. Define $u^* = h\bar{u}^t$ and $|u|^2 \equiv uu^*$. The transgression obtained above,

(A.4)
$$B(u, u^*) = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \beta (d\beta)^{n-1},$$

will be called the Bochner-Martinelli kernel based on the metric h.

If the metric h is the identity matrix, so that $u^* = \bar{u}^t$ we define

$$\alpha = \frac{du\bar{u}^t}{|u|^2}$$
.

Lemma A.5. The Bochner-Martinelli kernel B(u) can be written in the form $B(u, \bar{u}^t)$, i.e.,

$$B(u) = -\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \frac{duu^t (dudu^t)^{n-1}}{|u|^{2n}} = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\right)^n \alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1}.$$

Proof. First note the standard fact

$$n!\lambda(u) = \left(\frac{i}{2}dud\bar{u}^t\right)^n.$$

This implies

$$B(u) = \frac{1}{n} \bar{u} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{u}} \, \sqcup \, \left(\frac{i}{2\pi} \frac{du d\bar{u}^t}{|u|^2} \right)^n,$$

and the Lemma follows since $d\alpha \equiv -\frac{du d\bar{u}^t}{|u|^2} \pmod{\alpha}$. \square

Remark. Utilizing the complex structure on \mathbb{C}^n , the Bochner-Martinelli kernel B can also be written as

(A.6)
$$B = \left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \partial \log |u|^2 (\overline{\partial} \partial \log |u|^2)^{n-1},$$

since $\alpha = \partial \log |u|^2$. Note that $\frac{i}{2\pi} \overline{\partial} \partial \log |u|^2 = \frac{i}{2\pi} d\alpha$ is real.

Remark A.7. The Solid Angle Kernel. If $u \equiv x + iy \in \mathbb{C}^n$ has real and imaginary parts x and y, then $2 \operatorname{Re} \bar{u} \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{u}} = x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$ is the real euler vector field on $\mathbb{R}^{2n} = \mathbb{C}^n$. Consequently (A.1) implies that the real part of the Bochner-Martinelli potential is equal to the normalized solid angle kernel

$$\operatorname{Re} B = \operatorname{vol}(S^{n-1})^{-1}\Theta.$$

Here

$$\Theta \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{2n} (-1)^{j-1} \frac{t_j dt_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{dt_j} \wedge \dots \wedge dt_n}{|t|^{2n}}$$

defines the solid angle kernel in real coordinates $(t_1, \ldots, t_{2n}) \in \mathbf{R}^{2n}$. The imaginary part of the Bochner-Martinelli kernel is exact. That is

$$\operatorname{Im} B = -d\left(\frac{1}{4\pi}\log|u|^2\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\partial\overline{\partial}\log|u|^2\right)^{n-1}\right) = -d\left(\frac{1}{4\pi}\log|u|^2\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}d\alpha\right)^{n-1}\right).$$

Because of Corollary 8.18, if we assume X is point then

$$(A.8) dB(u, u^*) = [0] on \mathbf{C}^n$$

or if we assume that u(x) is an atomic function then $B(u,u^*) \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ and

(A.9)
$$dB(u, u^*) = Div(u) \quad \text{on } X$$

In particular, $B(u, u^*) - B(u)$, considered as an $L^1_{loc}(\mathbf{C}^n)$ form, is d-closed. Therefore, it is d-exact. There is an explicit formula for a form whose exterior derivative is $B(u, u^*) - B(u)$. Before exhibiting this formula we make an important generalization.

The Bochner-Martinelli kernel can be replaced by other kernels such as the Cauchy-Fantappia kernel. This fact is of considerable importance in complex analysis.

Let $v^* \in (\mathbf{C}^n)^*$ denote a column vector whose transpose is (v_1^*, \dots, v_n^*) . Let

(A.10)
$$B(u,v^*) = \frac{(n-1)!}{\pi^n} \frac{v^* \frac{\partial}{\partial v^*} \sqcup \lambda(u,v^*)}{(uv^*)^n}$$

and let

$$\lambda(u,v^*) \equiv \frac{i}{2}du_1 \wedge dv_1^* \wedge \cdots \wedge \frac{i}{2}du_n \wedge dv_n^*.$$

We have simply replaced \bar{u}^t by v^* in the Bochner-Martinelli kernel. (Here v^* is an independent set of variables, however, v^* may also be considered another n-vector valued function.)

Remark A.11. Formulas for $B(u, v^*)$. The various alternate expressions for $B(u, u^*)$ have counterparts for $B(u, v^*)$.

The expression

$$n!\lambda(u,v^*) = \left(\frac{i}{2}dudv^*\right)^n$$

for $\lambda(u, v^*)$ yields

(A.12)
$$B(u, v^*) = -\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}\right)^n \frac{duv^*(dudv^*)^{n-1}}{(uv^*)^n}.$$

It follows that

(A.13)
$$B(u, v^*) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^n} \alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1} \quad \text{with } \alpha \equiv \frac{duv^*}{uv^*},$$

since

$$d\alpha \equiv -\frac{dudv^*}{uv^*} \pmod{\alpha}.$$

The next lemma and it's corollary provide the foundation for the kernel approach to the study of several complex variables. See, for example, Harvey-Polking [HP].

Lemma A.14. Suppose α and β are arbitrary smooth one forms. Then the following fundamental identity holds:
(A.15)

$$\alpha(d\alpha)^{n-1} - \beta(d\beta)^{n-1} = d\left(\alpha\beta \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^j (d\beta)^k\right) - (\beta - \alpha) \sum_{j+k=n-1} (d\alpha)^j (d\beta)^k.$$

This can be written symbolically as:

(A.15)'

$$\alpha(d\alpha)^{n-1} - \beta(d\beta)^{n-1} = d\left(\alpha\beta \frac{(d\alpha)^{n-1} - (d\beta)^{n-1}}{d\alpha - d\beta}\right) - (\beta - \alpha)\frac{(d\alpha)^n - (d\beta)^n}{d\alpha - d\beta}.$$

First Proof. Note that

$$d\left(\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^{j} (d\beta)^{k}\right)$$

$$= d\left(\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge ((d\alpha)^{n-2} + (d\alpha)^{n-3} (d\beta) + \dots + (d\beta)^{n-2})\right)$$

$$= \beta \wedge \left((d\alpha)^{n-1} + (d\alpha)^{n-2} (d\beta) + \dots + (d\alpha) (d\beta)^{n-2}\right)$$

$$- \alpha \wedge \left((d\alpha)^{n-2} d\beta + \dots + (d\beta)^{n-1}\right)$$

$$= \alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1} - \beta (d\beta)^{n-1} + (\beta - \alpha) \sum_{j+k=n-1} (d\alpha)^{j} (d\beta)^{k}. \quad \Box$$

Second Proof. Let $\sigma_t \equiv (1-t)\alpha + t\beta$. Then

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\sigma_t (d\sigma_t)^{n-1} \right) = \dot{\sigma}_t (d\sigma_t)^{n-1} + (n-1)\sigma_t d\dot{\sigma}_t (d\sigma_t)^{n-2}
= n\dot{\sigma}_t (d\sigma_t)^{n-1} - (n-1)d \left(\sigma_t \dot{\sigma}_t (d\sigma_t)^{n-2} \right)
= n(\beta - \alpha)(d\sigma_t)^{n-1} - (n-1)d \left(\alpha \wedge \beta (d\sigma_t)^{n-2} \right)$$

Now integrate both sides using

$$\int_0^1 m(d\sigma_t)^{m-1} dt = \frac{(d\beta)^m - (d\alpha)^m}{d\beta - d\alpha}. \quad \Box$$

Third Proof. The identity

$$d\left(\alpha\beta\left((d\alpha)^{n-1} - (d\beta)^{n-1}\right)\right)$$

$$= (\beta - \alpha)\left((d\alpha)^n - (d\beta)^n\right) + (d\alpha - d\beta)\left(\alpha(d\alpha)^{n-1} - \beta(d\beta)^{n-1}\right)$$

can be divided by $d\alpha - d\beta$ to yield (1.15'). \square

Corollary A.16. An Algebraic Identity Fundamental for $\overline{\partial}$. Suppose u, v^* , and w^* are arbitrary n-tuples of functions with u a row and v^* , w^* columns. Set

$$\alpha = \frac{duv^*}{uv^*}$$
 and $\beta = \frac{duw^*}{uw^*}$.

Then

$$(A.17) \qquad \alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1} - \beta (d\beta)^{n-1} = d \left(\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^j \wedge (d\beta)^k \right)$$

on the set where uv* and uw* are non-zero.

Actually, to obtain the usual formula take the bidegree n, n-1 part of this formula, or equivalently, replace the exterior derivative d by $\overline{\partial}$ wherever d occurs in the formula.

Proof. It remains to show that

(A.18)
$$(\beta - \alpha) \wedge (d\alpha)^j \wedge (d\beta)^k = 0, \quad \text{if } j + k = n - 1.$$

The complex euler vector field

$$\theta \equiv u \frac{\partial}{\partial u}$$

has the property that

$$\theta \sqcup \alpha = \theta \sqcup \beta = 1$$
, and $\theta \sqcup d\alpha = \theta \sqcup d\beta = 0$.

Now

$$\alpha \wedge \beta \wedge (d\alpha)^j \wedge (d\beta)^k = 0$$

since it is of degree n+1 in du_1, \ldots, du_n . Contracting this equation with the euler vector field θ yields (A.18).

Alternatively, note that

$$\theta \sqcup (d\alpha)^n = 0$$
 implies $(d\alpha)^n = 0$

since $(d\alpha)^n$ is of top degree n in du and apply (1.15'). \square

This Lemma A.14 can be used to give an alternate proof that the notion of divisor of a section is independent of the choice of frame, at least when the bundle is complex. First we repeat some definitions in slightly altered form to suit the complex bundle case so that what follows may be considered as an independent second approach to divisors.

Suppose μ is a smooth section of a complex vector bundle F of rank n.

Definition A.19. The section μ is said to be **atomic** if, for each local frame f, the vector valued function u, defined by $\mu \equiv uf$, is an atomic function.

Remark A.20. One can easily show that if u, defined by $\mu = uf$, is atomic then \tilde{u} defined by $\mu = \tilde{u}\tilde{f}$ under a change of frame $f = g\tilde{f}$ is also atomic.

Definition A.21. Suppose that μ is an atomic section of a complex vector bundle F. The zero divisor, or zero current of μ , denoted by $\text{Div}(\mu)$, is locally defined to be the zero divisor of the vector valued function u determined by a local frame f, i.e., $\text{Div}(\mu) \equiv dB(u)$.

Because of Remark A.7, concerning the real and imaginary parts of the Bochner-Martinelli potential, this notion of divisor is the same as that in Definition A.21, so that the independence proof in [HS] is applicable.

Proposition A.22. Suppose μ is an atomic section. The zero divisor of μ is independent of the choice of local frame.

A lemma is needed before proving this Proposition.

Lemma A.23. Suppose u is an atomic function and that h, g are $GL_n(\mathbf{C})$ valued smooth functions with h positive definite. Then each of the three potentials

i)
$$B(u) = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\right)^n \alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1}$$
 where $\alpha \equiv \frac{du\bar{u}^t}{|u|^2}$

ii)
$$B(u, u^*) = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\right)^n \beta(d\beta)^{n-1}$$
 where $\beta \equiv \frac{duh\bar{u}^t}{uh\bar{u}^t} = \frac{duu^*}{uu^*}$ and $u^* \equiv h\bar{u}^t$

iii)
$$B(v) = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\right)^n \gamma (d\gamma)^{n-1}$$
 where $\gamma \equiv \frac{dv\bar{v}^t}{|v|^2} = \frac{d(ug)\bar{g}^t\bar{u}^t}{ug\bar{g}^t\bar{u}^t}$ and $v \equiv ug$,

belongs to L^1_{loc} and has the same exterior derivative, namely, Div(u), the divisor of u.

Proof of Proposition A.22. Suppose f is a local frame and $f = g\tilde{f}$ is a change of frame. Then $\mu = uf$ defines u and $\mu = v\tilde{f}$ defines v = ug. Lemma A.23 says that B(u) and B(v) have the same exterior derivative. \square

Proof of Lemma. First note that, since u is atomic,

$$\alpha \wedge \beta \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^j (d\beta)^k \in L^1_{loc}(X),$$

$$\alpha(d\alpha)^{n-1} \in L^1_{loc}(X)$$
, and $\beta(d\beta)^{n-1} \in L^1_{loc}(X)$.

To show that $\alpha(d\alpha)^{n-1}$ and $\beta(d\beta)^{n-1}$ have the same exterior derivative it suffices to verify that

(A.24)
$$\alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1} - \beta (d\beta)^{n-1} = d \left(\alpha \beta \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^j (d\beta)^k \right)$$

holds as an equation of currents on the entire manifold X. Of course, outside the set u = 0, this is just equation (A.17).

Choose an approximate one, say χ . Since u is atomic, the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem implies that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \chi \left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \right)^n \alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1} = \alpha (d\alpha)^{n-1} \quad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$$

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \chi \left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \right)^n \beta (d\beta)^{n-1} = \beta (d\beta)^{n-1} \quad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$$

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \chi \left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \right)^n \alpha \beta \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^j (d\beta)^k = \alpha \beta \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^j (d\beta)^k \text{ in } L^1_{\text{loc}}(X).$$

Therefore, if we can show that

(A.25)
$$\lim_{s \to 0} d\left(\chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)\right) \alpha\beta \sum_{j+k=n-2} (d\alpha)^j (d\beta)^k = 0 \quad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc}}(X),$$

then (A.24) is valid. However, the equation $d\left(\chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)\right) = \chi'\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2}$, implies that the limit (A.25) is zero a.e. (since $\lim_{t\to\infty}t\chi'(t)=0$), as well as implying that the convergence is dominated.

To show that

$$\beta(d\beta)^{n-1} \in L^1_{loc}(X)$$
 and $\gamma(d\gamma)^{n-1} \in L^1_{loc}(X)$

have the same exterior derivative we must use the full formula (A.15) with α replaced by γ . Exactly as in the above proof one can establish this as an equation of currents on the entire manifold X. Note that

$$\gamma \equiv \beta + \frac{udgg^t\bar{u}^t}{uh\bar{u}^t} \quad \text{if } h \equiv g\bar{g}^t.$$

In this case the error term

$$\sigma \equiv (\beta - \gamma) \sum_{j+k=n-1} (d\gamma)^j (d\beta)^k \in L^1_{loc}(X)$$

does not vanish. However,

$$d\left(\gamma(d\gamma)^{n-1}\right) - d\left(\beta(d\beta)^{n-1}\right) = d\sigma$$

so it suffices to prove that $d\sigma = 0$. Again, using an approximate one χ , and the fact that $\beta - \gamma = \frac{u d g \bar{g}^t \bar{u}^t}{u h \bar{u}^t}$ one can show that

$$d\sigma \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(X).$$

However, outside the set of measure zero $\{u = 0\}$,

$$d\sigma = (d\gamma)^n - (d\beta)^n.$$

Finally, outside u = 0, both

$$(d\beta)^n = 0$$
 and $(d\gamma)^n = 0$,

because, for example

$$v \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial v} \, \lfloor \, (d\gamma)^n = 0,$$

where $v \equiv ug$. \square

Alternate Expressions for Bochner-Martinelli Related to the Top Chern Form c_n.

Recall that

$$\det(A; B) = \frac{d}{dt} \det(tA + B) \big|_{t=0} = n \det(A, B, \dots, B)$$

where $det(A_1, \ldots, A_n)$ is the completely polarized determinant.

Lemma A.26. The Bochner-Martinelli kernel may be expressed in the form

(A.27)
$$B = \left(\frac{1}{2\pi i}\right)^n \frac{1}{n} \det\left(\frac{\bar{u}^t du}{|u|^2}; \frac{d\bar{u}^t du}{|u|^2}\right).$$

Proof. The volume form may be expressed in terms of the matrix $d\bar{u}^t du$ by

(A.28)
$$n!\lambda(u) = \det\left(-\frac{i}{2}d\bar{u}^t du\right),$$

and we have

$$\bar{u}\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{u}} \sqcup \det (d\bar{u}^t du) = \det (\bar{u}^t du ; d\bar{u}^t du).$$

Hence, formula (A.27) for B is a consequence of the definition (A.1). \Box

In a similar fashion the expression

$$n!\lambda(u,v^*) = \det\left(-\frac{i}{2}dv^*du\right)$$

for $\lambda(u, v^*)$ yields

(A.29)
$$B(u, v^*) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^n} \frac{1}{n} \det \left(\frac{v^* du}{uv^*} ; \frac{dv^* du}{uv^*} \right).$$

In particular, the Bochner-Martinelli kernel based on the metric $\langle \; , \; \rangle_F$ can be written as

(A.30)
$$B(u, u^*) = \frac{1}{(2\pi i)^n} \frac{1}{n} \det \left(\frac{u^* du}{|u|^2} ; \frac{du^* du}{|u|^2} \right).$$

Compare this with Theorem 4.22 and its proof to see that $-B(u, u^*)$ is the transgression potential for c_n in the flat case.

IV. Real Vector Bundles

This chapter is the analogue of Chapter III for the case of real vector bundles with orientation. Given such a bundle $V \longrightarrow X$ and a choice of approximation mode, we associate to each orthogonal connection on V a canonically defined family of Thom forms τ_s , s>0 such that

$$\tau_{\mathbf{s}} \big|_{X} = \begin{cases} \chi(D_{V}) & \text{when } \operatorname{rank}(V) \text{ is even} \\ 0 & \text{when } \operatorname{rank}(V) \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \tau_s = [X].$$

As in Chapter III there is a family of L^1_{loc} transgressions $\mathbf{r_s}$ such that $\boldsymbol{\tau_s} - [X] = d\mathbf{r_s}$ and $\mathbf{r_s} \to 0$ as $s \to 0$. When rank(V) is even, the form $\boldsymbol{\tau_s}$ is constructed via the Pfaffian. When rank(V) is odd the construction is more subtle.

As in Chapter III, our methods produce explicit formulas for universal Thom classes in the equivariant de Rham complex $\mathcal{E}^*_{SO_m}(\mathbf{R}^m)$. For each choice of an orthogonal connection on a bundle V as above, these classes map to our Thom forms under the equivariant Chern-Weil homomorphism. The formulas for these classes are simple and quite pretty.

An interesting fact concerning approximation modes emerges in this Chapter. For real orthogonal bundles, the "most natural" choice of approximate one is

$$\chi(t) = 1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+t}}.$$

This mode has several nice features. Let μ be a section of V and suppose D_V is Riemannian. Then the family of pushforward connections \overrightarrow{D}_s in this approximation mode is Riemannian for all s. Furthermore, we have $\overrightarrow{D}_{|\mu|}^{\mu} \equiv 0$ i.e., $\frac{\mu}{|\mu|}$

is parallel in its singular pushforward connection. It is also this approximate one which allows us to make the link between Thom forms in even and odd dimensions. Finally, this approximate one is related to the Grassmann graph construction just as $\chi(t) = t/(1+t)$ is in the complex case.

In Section 5 we establish the Atiyah-Hirzebruch "Differential Riemann-Roch" Theorem canonically at the level of differential forms. In this formulation the \widehat{A} -form drops straightforwardly out of the calculations. The result is extended to singular subcomplexes with "spin normal bundle".

1. The Pfaffian and a Universal Thom Form.

Suppose $\pi: V \to X$ is an oriented real rank m vector bundle with metric compatible connection D_V , \langle , \rangle . The purpose of this section is to describe a method of constructing a family of Thom forms for V which only depends on the metric connection D_V , \langle , \rangle (cf. [MQ]); and then to show that the pullback of this family of Thom forms by an atomic section has initial value the divisor of the section and terminal value the Chern-Euler form associated with the metric connection D_V , \langle , \rangle .

To begin we recall some definitions. For each local oriented orthonormal frame e for V the local gauge ω_V determined by $D_V e \equiv \omega_V e$ and the local curvature Ω_V , determined by $\Omega_V \equiv d\omega_V - \omega_V \wedge \omega_V$, are both skew matricies. Also note that

(1.1) $e^t\Omega_V e$ is a globally defined section of the bundle $\Lambda^2 V \otimes \Lambda^2 T^* X$ on X,

In fact, $e^t\Omega_V e$ is just the curvature operator $R_V \equiv D_V^2$ if the metric is used to identify $\Lambda^2 V$ with the skew part of End V.

Consider the even case m=2n. Suppose A is a skew $2n \times 2n$ matrix. Let e_1, \ldots, e_{2n} denote an **oriented** orthonormal (local) frame for V and let $\lambda \equiv e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{2n} \in \Lambda^{2n}V$ denote the unit volume element. Recall the definition of the **pfaffian** of A

(1.2)
$$\operatorname{Pf}(A)\lambda = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{1}{2} e^t A e\right)^n.$$

Since V is oriented the unit volume form λ for V is globally defined, and hence Pf(A) is globally defined independently of the choice of oriented orthonormal frame e.

The Chern-Euler form of the orthogonal connection D_V will be denoted by $\chi(D_V)$). When $m = \operatorname{rank} V = 2n$, it is defined by

(1.3)
$$\chi(D_V) = \operatorname{Pf}\left(\frac{-1}{2\pi}\Omega_V\right)$$
 or equivalently $\chi(D_V)\lambda = \frac{1}{n!}\left(\frac{-1}{4\pi}e^t\Omega_V e\right)^n$.

For $m = \operatorname{rank} V = 2n - 1$ we set $\chi(D_V) \equiv 0$.

Normalization is different in the real case. Here, we let $\widetilde{Pf} \equiv \chi$, i.e., the normalized Pfaffian is defined to be the Euler polynomial.

A Thom form τ on the total space of V is conventionally defined to be any smooth form of degree m which is d-closed, has compact support in the fibers of V, and satisfies

(1.4)
$$\pi_* \tau = \int_{\pi^{-1}} \tau = 1.$$

We find it convenient to relax the condition of compact support in the fibers of V and only require that

(1.5)

Along each fiber
$$\pi^{-1}(x)$$
 the form τ belongs to $L^1(\pi^{-1}(x))$ and $\int_{\pi^{-1}(x)} \tau = 1$.

The Thom form τ restricted to the base $X \equiv Z \subset V$, is denoted by χ and called the euler form for V determined by τ .

Let s denote the homothety by $s \in \mathbf{R}$ in the fibers of V. Each Thom form τ determines a family of Thom forms by (s > 0)

$$\tau_s = \left(\frac{1}{s}\right)^*(\tau)$$

This is a global geometrization of the notion of an approximate identity (or approximate point mass) in the fibers of V.

We will construct such a family of Thom forms τ_s whose associated Euler form is exactly the Chern-Euler form of D_V .

Now suppose that μ is a global section of V. The formula for the singular connection \overrightarrow{D} in Section 2 of Chapter III becomes $\overrightarrow{D}=D_V-A$ with $A\nu=$

 $\frac{\langle \nu, \mu \rangle}{|\mu|^2} D_V \mu$. This connection is not metric compatible. The skew symmetrization $D_V - \frac{1}{2}(A - A^t)$ is metric compatible. However, we will consider the singular connection $D_V - (A - A^t)$ which has the property that it is both metric compatible and has a parallel section, namely $\frac{\mu}{|\mu|}$. Specifically, we define the **Riemannian singular pushforward connection** on V by setting

$$(1.7) \qquad \overrightarrow{D}\nu \equiv D_V \nu - \frac{\langle \nu, \mu \rangle}{|\mu|^2} D_V \mu + \frac{\langle D_V \mu, \nu \rangle}{|\mu|^2} \mu.$$

One easily checks that $\overrightarrow{D}(\mu/|\mu|) = 0$ outside the zero set $Z = \{x : \mu(x) = 0\}$. Consequently, the Chern-Euler form satisfies

(1.8)
$$\chi((\overrightarrow{D})) \equiv 0 \quad \text{outside } Z.$$

If e is a local orthonormal frame for V, then the singular gauge ω , defined outside Z, is given by

$$(1.9) \qquad \qquad \omega \equiv \omega_V - \frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} + \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2},$$

where $\mu \equiv ue$ defines the \mathbf{R}^m -valued function $u = (u_1, \dots, u_m)$, u^t denotes the transpose, and

$$Du \equiv du + u\omega_V$$
 and $Du^t = du^t - \omega_V u^t$.

Let $\chi(t)$ be any approximate one (see Definition I.4.1) and let $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$. Then for $0 < s \le +\infty$,

$$(1.10) \qquad \overrightarrow{D}_{s}\nu = D_{V}\nu - \chi_{s} \frac{\langle \nu, \mu \rangle}{|\mu|^{2}} D_{V}\mu + \chi_{s} \frac{\langle D_{V}\nu, \mu \rangle}{|\mu|^{2}} \mu,$$

with gauge

(1.11)
$$\overrightarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_V - \chi_s \left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} \right),$$

defines a family of connections on V which are smooth across the zero set Z. The family is also smooth across $s = \infty$ with $D_{\infty} = D_V$.

The standard transgression formula applied to this smooth family now says that

$$\chi(D_V) - \chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = d\sigma_s$$

where

(1.13)
$$\sigma_s \equiv (-1)^n \int_{s}^{\infty} \operatorname{Pf}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{\partial \overrightarrow{\omega}_s}{\partial s} ; \frac{1}{2\pi} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) ds.$$

Let V denote the pullback of the bundle V over itself. All of the formulas above remain valid with u now interpreted as a linear fibre coordinate on the total space of V.

Definition 1.14. (m=2n even). The forms $\tau_{\rm s}\equiv\chi(\overrightarrow{\bf D}_{\rm s})$ on the total space of V defined by

(1.15)
$$\tau_{s}\lambda = \frac{1}{n!} \left(-\frac{1}{4\pi} e^{t} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} e \right)^{n}$$

will be referred to as the family of Thom forms associated with the metric connection D_V , \langle , \rangle on V.

Theorem 1.16. The Thom Form. Consider the total space V as the base manifold of the bundle V obtained by pulling V back over itself. The family, τ_s , of Thom forms associated with the metric connection D_V , \langle , \rangle on V is given explicitly by:

Note that τ_s is compactly supported in the fibers of V if χ is chosen to be a compactly supported approximate one, i.e., if $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for $t \geq t_0$.

The solution to the differential equation

$$(1.18) x(1-x)(1-\frac{x}{2}) = x' \cdot t$$

given by

(1.19)
$$\chi(t) \equiv 1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{t+1}} = \frac{t}{t+1+\sqrt{t+1}}$$

is an approximate one which will be referred to as the **real algebraic approximation** mode. This choice has three different motivations. The first motivation is formula (1.17). The second and third motivations will be discussed later.

Corollary 1.20. Real Algebraic Approximation Mode. If χ is given by (1.19), then the Thom form is given by

(1.21)
$$\tau_{s}\lambda = \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{-1}{4\pi} \right)^{n} \frac{s}{\sqrt{|u|^{2} + s^{2}}} \left(e^{t} \Omega_{V} e - \frac{(Due)^{2}}{|u|^{2} + s^{2}} \right)^{n}.$$

The family of transgression forms σ_s defined by (1.13) in the universal case will be called an approximate spherical kernel and the limit $\sigma \equiv \lim_{s\to 0} \sigma_s$ (which will be shown to exist) will be called the spherical kernel.

Theorem 1.22. (m=2n even). Each form τ_s has the properties of a Thom form, in fact

(1.23)
$$au_{s}$$
 is d-closed and $\int_{\pi^{-1}} au_{s} = 1$,

and the Euler form associated with τ_s is the Chern-Euler form $\chi(D_V)$ of D_V . The approximate spherical forms σ_s converge in $L^1_{loc}(V)$ to σ and

$$(1.24) d\sigma = \chi(D_V) - [X] on V$$

is the limiting form of the equation (as $s \to 0$)

$$d\sigma_s = \chi(D_V) - \tau_s$$
 on V .

In particular,

$$d(\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s}) = \boldsymbol{\tau}_{s} - [X]$$
 and $\lim_{s \to 0} \boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s} = 0$ in $L^{1}_{loc}(V)$

so that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \tau_s = [X].$$

Before proving the previous two Theorems we explicitly compute the spherical kernel.

$$(1.27) \ \sigma_{s}\lambda = \frac{2}{(n-1)!} \left(\frac{-1}{4\pi}\right)^{n} \frac{(ue)(Due)}{|u|^{2}} \int_{0}^{x_{s}} \left(e^{t}\Omega_{V}e - 2x\left(1 - \frac{x}{2}\right) \frac{(Due)^{2}}{|u|^{2}}\right)^{n-1} dx.$$

Proof. Since Pf $(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s)\lambda = \frac{1}{2^n n!} (e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e)^n$,

$$(1.28) \qquad \operatorname{Pf}\left(\frac{\partial \overrightarrow{\omega}_{s}}{\partial s} ; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s}\right) \lambda = \frac{1}{2^{n}(n-1)!} \left(e^{t} \frac{\partial \overrightarrow{\omega}_{s}}{\partial s} e\right) (e^{t} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} e)^{n-1}.$$

Therefore, the transgression form σ_s given by (1.13) equals

(1.29)
$$\sigma_{\mathbf{s}}\lambda = (-1)^n \frac{1}{2^n \cdot 2^n (n-1)! \pi^n} \int_{s}^{\infty} (e^t \frac{\partial \overrightarrow{\omega}_s}{\partial s} e) (e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e)^{n-1} ds.$$

Now the formula (1.11) for $\overrightarrow{\omega}_s$ implies

(1.30)
$$\frac{\partial \overrightarrow{\omega}_s}{\partial s} = \left(-\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} + \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} \right) \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial s}$$

so that

(1.31)
$$e^{t} \frac{\partial \overrightarrow{\omega}_{s}}{\partial s} e = -2 \frac{(ue)(Due)}{|u|^{2}} \frac{\partial \chi}{\partial s}.$$

Consequently, we need only compute $e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e$ modulo the 1-vector ue. Direct calculation yields

$$(1.32) e^t d\overrightarrow{\omega}_s e = e^t d\omega_V e - 2\chi_s \frac{(due)(Due)}{|u|^2} \text{mod } ue$$

and

$$(1.33) \ e^t \overrightarrow{\omega}_s \wedge \overrightarrow{\omega}_s e = e^t \omega_V \wedge \omega_V e - \frac{2\chi u \omega_V e(Due)}{|u|^2} + \frac{\chi^2}{|u|^2} (Due)^2 \quad \text{mod } ue,$$

so that

$$(1.34) e^{t} \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} e = e^{t} \Omega_{V} e - 2\chi \left(1 - \frac{\chi}{2}\right) \frac{(Due)^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \text{mod } ue.$$

Inserting (1.31) and (1.34) into the equation (1.29) for σ_s and then using the substitution $x \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$ in the integral (1.29) yields the Lemma. \square

Since $\int_0^1 \left(2x\left(1-\frac{x}{2}\right)\right)^p dx = 2^{2p} \frac{(p!)^2}{(2p+1)!}$, Lemma 1.26 has the following corollary.

Corollary 1.35. The Spherical Kernel. $\lim_{s\to 0} \sigma_s = \sigma$ converges in $L^1_{loc}(V)$ with the spherical kernel σ given explicitly by (1.36)

$$\sigma \lambda = \frac{1}{\pi^n} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{n-p} \frac{p!}{(n-p-1)!(2p+1)!2^{2n-2p-1}} \frac{(ue)(Due)^{2p+1}}{|u|^{2p+2}} (e^t \Omega_V e)^{n-p-1}.$$

Thus the part of σ of top degree 2n-1 in the 1-forms du_1, \ldots, du_{2n} is

(1.37)
$$\sigma_{2n-1} = \text{vol}(S^{2n-1})^{-1}\theta(u)$$

where

$$\theta(u) \equiv \sum_{k=1}^{2n} (-1)^{k-1} \frac{u_k du_1 \wedge \dots \wedge \widehat{du}_k \wedge \dots \wedge du_{2n}}{|u|^{2n}}$$

denotes the solid angle kernel on \mathbb{R}^{2n} .

Moreover, the potential $\sigma - \sigma_s$ (as well as τ_s) is compactly supported in the fibers of V if χ is chosen to be a compactly supported approximate one.

Proof. Note that

$$vol(S^{2n-1}) = \frac{2\pi^n}{(n-1)!}$$

and that

$$\frac{(ue)(due)^{2n-1}}{|u|^{2n}} = (2n-1)!\theta(u)\lambda.$$

Since $\sigma - \sigma_s$ is an integral from $1 - \chi_s$ to 1 it follows that $\sigma - \sigma_s$ is compactly supported in the fibers of V. \square

The homogeneous form σ was discovered by Chern [C1, 2]. Note that σ is independent of the choice of approximate one χ .

Let $\rho_{\epsilon}: S_{\epsilon}(V) \to X$ denote the ϵ -sphere bundle contained in the vector bundle $\pi: V \to X$. Corollary 1.35 implies the first half of the next result

$$(1.39) (\rho_{\epsilon})_*(\sigma) = \int_{-1}^{1} \sigma = -1$$

(1.40)
$$\pi_*(\tau_s) = \int_{\pi^{-1}} \tau_s = 1$$

Proof. The second equation follows from the first as in Remark 2.24 of Chapter III. $\ \square$

Proof of Theorem 1.22. The previous Lemma shows that τ_s has the properties of a Thom form. Since \overrightarrow{D}_s restricts to $X \subset V$ to be the connection D_V , the form $\tau_s \equiv \chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$ restricts to $X \subset V$ to be $\chi(D_V)$.

As noted in Corollary 1.35, the explicit formula (1.20) for σ_s implies that σ_s converges in $L^1_{loc}(V)$ to σ . The remainder of the proof of Theorem 1.22 is similar to previous proofs in Chapter III and is omitted. \square

In preparation for proving Theorem 1.16 we compute the curvature of the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s .

Lemma 1.41. The curvature $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ of the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s is given by

$$(1.42) \qquad \overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} = \Omega_{V} - \chi_{s} \left(\frac{u^{t} u}{|u|^{2}} \Omega_{V} + \Omega_{V} \frac{u^{t} u}{|u|^{2}} \right) + 2\chi_{s} \left(1 - \frac{\chi_{s}}{2} \right) \left(\frac{u^{t} D u}{|u|^{2}} - \frac{D u^{t} u}{|u|^{2}} \right)^{2}
- \chi_{s}^{t} \frac{|u|^{2}}{|s|^{2}} \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \left(\frac{u^{t} D u}{|u|^{2}} - \frac{D u^{t} u}{|u|^{2}} \right).$$

Proof. The gauge $\overrightarrow{\omega}_s$ of \overrightarrow{D}_s is given by

(1.43)
$$\overrightarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_V - \chi \sigma \text{ where } \sigma \equiv \frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2}.$$

Therefore,

(1.44)
$$\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s} = \Omega_{V} - \chi_{s} (d\boldsymbol{\sigma} - [\omega_{V}, \boldsymbol{\sigma}]) - \chi_{s}^{2} \boldsymbol{\sigma}^{2} - d\chi_{s} \boldsymbol{\sigma}.$$

Now

$$(1.45) d\chi_s = \chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2}.$$

To complete the proof of (1.42) we must show that

$$(1.46) d\boldsymbol{\sigma} - [\omega_V, \boldsymbol{\sigma}] = \frac{u^t u \Omega_V}{|u|^2} + \frac{\Omega_V u^t u}{|u|^2} - 2\boldsymbol{\sigma}^2.$$

Since $dDu = u\Omega_V + Du\omega_V$ and $dDu^t = -\Omega_V u^t + \omega_V Du^t$, we have

$$\begin{split} d\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \omega_{V} \boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma} \omega_{V} &= \\ &= -\frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \boldsymbol{\sigma} + \frac{du^{t} Du}{|u|^{2}} + \frac{Du^{t} du}{|u|^{2}} + \frac{u^{t} (u\Omega_{V} + Du\omega_{V})}{|u|^{2}} - \frac{(-\Omega_{V} u^{t} + \omega_{V} Du^{t})u}{|u|^{2}} \\ &- \frac{\omega_{V} u^{t} Du}{|u|^{2}} + \frac{\omega_{V} Du^{t} u}{|u|^{2}} - \frac{u^{t} Du\omega_{V}}{|u|^{2}} + \frac{Du^{t} u\omega_{V}}{|u|^{2}} \\ &= \frac{u^{t} u\Omega_{V}}{|u|^{2}} + \frac{\Omega_{V} u^{t} u}{|u|^{2}} - \frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}} \boldsymbol{\sigma} + 2 \frac{Du^{t} Du}{|u|^{2}} = \frac{u^{t} u\Omega_{V}}{|u|^{2}} + \frac{\Omega_{V} u^{t} u}{|u|^{2}} - 2\boldsymbol{\sigma}^{2}. \end{split}$$

To verify the last equality note that $d|u|^2 = duu^t = udu^t = uDu^t$ since $u\omega_V u^t = 0$, and use the fact that $DuDu^t = 0$. \square

Corollary 1.47.

$$(1.48) \qquad e^{t\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s}e} = e^{t}\Omega_{V}e - 2\chi_{s}\frac{(ue)(u\Omega_{V}e)}{|u|^{2}} - 2\chi_{s}\left(1 - \frac{\chi_{s}}{2}\right)\frac{(Due)^{2}}{|u|^{2}} + 2\left(\chi_{s}\left(1 - \frac{\chi_{s}}{2}\right) - \chi'_{s}\frac{|u|^{2}}{s^{2}}\right)\frac{d|u|^{2}}{|u|^{2}}\frac{(ue)(Due)}{|u|^{2}}.$$

Proof. Use (1.42) and

$$e^t(u^tDu - Du^tu)e = 2(ue)(Due),$$

and

$$e^{t}(u^{t}Du - Du^{t}u)^{2}e = d|u|^{2}(ue)(Due) - |u|^{2}(Due)^{2}.$$

Proof of Theorem 1.16. Let

(1.49)
$$A \equiv e^{t} \Omega_{V} e - 2\chi_{s} \left(1 - \frac{\chi_{s}}{2}\right) \frac{(Due)^{2}}{|u|^{2}}.$$

The previous corollary implies that

$$(1.50) e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e = A \text{mod } ue.$$

Now

$$(e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e)^n = \frac{ue}{|u|^2} (ue \, \sqcup \, (e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e)^n) = n \frac{ue}{|u|^2} (ue \, \sqcup \, e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e) (e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e)^{n-1}$$
$$= n \frac{ue}{|u|^2} (ue \, \sqcup \, e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e) A^{n-1}.$$

The proof is completed by verifying that

$$\frac{ue}{|u|^2}(ue \sqcup e^t \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s e) = \frac{ue}{|u|^2}(ue \sqcup A) + 2\left(\chi_s(1-\chi_s)\left(1-\frac{\chi_s}{2}\right) - \chi_s'\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right) \frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2} \frac{(ue)(Due)}{|u|^2}. \quad \Box$$

A section μ of a real vector bundle is said to be atomic if, for each local oriented frame e, the \mathbf{R}^m valued function u(x) defined by $\mu \equiv ue$ is atomic, i.e., if $\frac{du^I}{|u|^{|I|}} \in L^1_{\text{loc}}$ for each I with |I| < m. The divisor of μ , denoted $\text{Div}(\mu)$, is defined to be the exterior derivative of the L^1_{loc} potential $c_m u^*(\theta)$, where $\theta \equiv \sum_{j=1}^m (-1)^{j-1} \frac{du_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \widehat{du_j} \wedge \cdots \wedge du_m}{|u|^m}$ is the solid angle kernel and c_m^{-1} is the volume of the unit sphere in \mathbf{R}^m . In [HS] it is shown that this is a meaningful notion of divisor, i.e., $\text{Div}(\mu)$ is independent of the choice of oriented frame e. Note that the frame e is not required to be orthonormal (cf. Remark 1.52).

Theorem 1.51. (m=2n even). Suppose μ is an atomic section of a real vector bundle V of rank m=2n. For each choice of metric and metric-compatible connection D_V the associated Chern-Euler current $\chi((\overrightarrow{D})) \equiv \lim_{s\to 0} \chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)$ exists and equals $\operatorname{Div}(\mu)$. For each s, $\chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = \mu^*(\tau_s)$ is the pullback of the Thom form by the section μ . Moreover, the transgression currents $\mu^*(\sigma_s)$ converge in $L^1_{\operatorname{loc}}(X)$ to $\mu^*(\sigma)$ and the equation

(1.52)
$$\chi(D_V) - \operatorname{Div}(\mu) = d\mu^*(\sigma) \quad \text{on } X$$

is the limiting form of the equation

(1.53)
$$\chi(D_V) - \chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = d\mu^*(\sigma_s) \quad \text{on } X$$

The proof of this Theorem is similar to earlier proofs and hence is omitted.

Remark 1.54. Divisors and Chern-Euler Currents. Let μ be an atomic section of a real oriented bundle V with metric \langle , \rangle_V and metric-compatible connection D_V . Then (without using the results of the paper [HS]) one can use the formulas above to show that with respect to an oriented orthonormal frame the Chern-Euler current exists and equals

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = c_m d(u^*(\theta)).$$

However, given another pair D'_V , \langle , \rangle'_V it is not automatic that the Chern-Euler current of the family D'_{\circ} is the same.

Pick $g \in \Gamma(\operatorname{Hom}^+(V,V))$ a global section so that $\langle \ , \ \rangle_V \equiv \langle g(\),g(\)\rangle_V^{'}$. Then $\widetilde{D}_V \equiv g^{-1}D_V^{'}g$ is compatible with the original metric $\langle \ , \ \rangle_V$ and the gauge $\widetilde{\omega}_V$ for \widetilde{D}_V in the frame e is exactly the same as the gauge $\omega_V^{'}$ for $D_V^{'}$ in the frame $e' \equiv ge$. Consequently, $\chi(D_V^{'}) = \chi(\widetilde{D}_V)$. However, the family $g^{-1}D_s^{'}g$ is not the same as the family \widetilde{D}_s except at $s = +\infty$. The construction of the family of connections depends not only on the metric (which is the same for D_V and \widetilde{D}_V) but also on the section μ . Consider the section $\nu \equiv g^{-1}\mu$ as well as μ . One can check that the family for \widetilde{D}_V , based on ν and $\langle \ , \ \rangle_V$, is the same as the family $g^{-1}D_s^{'}g$, where $D_s^{'}$ is the family for $D_V^{'}$, based on μ and $\langle \ , \ \rangle_V^{'}$. Hence $\lim_{s\to 0} \chi(\overline{D}_s) = \lim_{s\to 0} \chi(D_s^{'})$ if and only if

$$d(u^*(\theta)) = d(v^*(\theta))$$

where $v \equiv uG$, and $g^{-1}e \equiv Gf$ defines the matrix G. This equality is precisely the result proved in Section 1 in [HS].

Remark 1.57. Real Rank Two Bundles/Complex Line Bundles. Let $\omega_V \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\rho \\ \rho & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Then $Du = du + u\omega_V = (du_1 + u_2\rho, du_2 - u_1\rho)$, and hence

$$\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \theta - \rho \\ \rho - \theta & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Therefore, if $\overrightarrow{\omega}_s = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\rho_s \\ \rho_s & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ defines ρ_s , we have that

$$\rho_s = (1 - \chi_s)\rho + \chi_s \theta$$

since $\overrightarrow{\omega}_s = \omega_v - \chi_s \left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} \right)$. Let $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\kappa_s \\ \kappa_s & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\Omega_V = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\kappa \\ \kappa & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ define κ_s and κ , i.e., $\kappa_s \equiv d\rho_s$ and $\kappa = d\rho$. Note that $\chi(D_V) = \frac{1}{2\pi}\kappa$. Now (1.58) implies that the Thom form $\tau_s = \frac{1}{2\pi}\kappa_s$ is given by

(1.59)
$$\tau_s = (1 - \chi_s) \frac{1}{2\pi} \kappa - \chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2} (\rho - \theta).$$

The equation (1.58) can be rewritten in terms of the spherical kernels

(1.60)
$$\sigma_s = \frac{1}{2\pi} \chi_s(\rho - \theta) \text{ and } \sigma = \frac{1}{2\pi} (\rho - \theta),$$

which are globally defined. Namely

$$(1.58') \rho_s = \rho - \chi_s \sigma.$$

The equation (1.59) becomes

(1.59')
$$\tau_s = (1 - \chi_s)\chi(D_V) - d\chi_s \sigma$$

with all entries globally defined. Of course, each oriented real rank 2 bundle V with an inner product is naturally equipped with a complex line bundle structure J. Note that $Je_1 = e_2$, $Je_2 = -e_1$ or $J \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ so that the above formulas can be reinterpreted as exactly those occurring in the complex line bundle case.

Now we present the second motivation for the real algebraic approximation mode $\chi(t) = 1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{t+1}}$. Note that in this case

$$\chi_s = \frac{|u|^2}{|u|^2 + s^2 + s\sqrt{|u|^2 + s^2}}$$

so that the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s defined by (1.10) is given by

(1.61)
$$\overrightarrow{D}_{s} = D_{V} - \frac{D\alpha\alpha^{*} - \alpha D\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2} + s^{2} + s\sqrt{|\alpha|^{2} + s^{2}}}$$

where $\underline{\mathbf{R}} \stackrel{\alpha}{\longrightarrow} V$ is defined by $\alpha(1) = \mu$ and $\underline{\mathbf{R}} \stackrel{\alpha^*}{\longleftarrow} V$ is the adjoint map. Recall that $\gamma(v) \equiv (-\alpha^*(v), sv)$ defines a bundle isomorphism $\gamma: \mathbf{V} \to U_s^{\perp}$ over the set $V \equiv \operatorname{Hom}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, V)$. Here U_s is the homothety of the universal line bundle over $\mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V)$ defined by (I.8.8) and U_s^{\perp} is the orthogonal hyperplane bundle. Let

$$(1.62) g \equiv (\alpha \alpha^* + s^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

In the next theorem and its proof let U, U^{\perp} abbreviate U_s, U_s^{\perp} .

Theorem 1.63. Relation to the Grassmann Graph Construction. Over the open chart $V = \text{Hom}(\underline{\mathbf{R}}, V) \subset \mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V)$ the bundle map $\gamma \circ g^{-1} : \mathbf{V} \to U^{\perp}$ is a bundle isometry which pulls back the projected connection $D_{U^{\perp}}$ to the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s given by (1.61). That is

$$(1.64) \qquad \overrightarrow{D}_s = g \gamma^{-1} (D_{U^{\perp}}) \gamma g^{-1}.$$

Proof. First note that

$$\gamma g^{-1}(v) = (-\alpha^*(\alpha\alpha^* + s^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}v, -s(\alpha\alpha^* + s^2)^{-\frac{1}{2}}v) \in \underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V$$

has norm squared equal to $|v|^2$ so that γg^{-1} is an isometry. Recall from Chapter I that

$$g^2 \gamma^{-1} D_{U^{\perp}} \gamma g^{-2} = D_V - \frac{D\alpha \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2 + s^2}.$$

Therefore, since $\frac{D\alpha\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2+s^2} = D\alpha(\alpha^*\alpha+s^2)^{-1}\alpha^* = D\alpha\alpha^*(\alpha\alpha^*+s^2)^{-1} = D\alpha\alpha^*g^{-2}$, (1.65)

$$g\gamma^{-1}D_{U^{\perp}}\gamma g^{-1} = g^{-1}D_V g - g^{-1}D\alpha\alpha^* g^{-1} = D_V + g^{-1}Dg - g^{-1}D\alpha\alpha^* g^{-1}.$$

Next we calculate that

(1.66)
$$g^{-1}Dg - g^{-1}D\alpha\alpha^*g^{-1} = -\frac{D\alpha\alpha^* - \alpha D\alpha^*}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2}(\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s)} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha(a^*D\alpha - D\alpha^*\alpha)\alpha^*}{(|\alpha|^2 + s^2)(\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s)^2}$$

and that

$$\alpha^* D\alpha - D\alpha^* \alpha = 0.$$

These equations, (1.66) and (1.67), combined with (1.65) immediately imply that

$$(1.68) g\gamma^{-1}(D_{U^{\perp}})\gamma g^{-1} = D_V - \frac{D\alpha\alpha^* - \alpha D\alpha^*}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2}(\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s)}$$

as desired.

The matrix form of the expression $\alpha^* D\alpha - D\alpha^* \alpha$ is $Duu^t - Du^t u = (du + u\omega_V)u^t - u(du^t - \omega_V u^t) = duu^t - udu^t - 2u\omega_v u^t$, and we have that $duu^t = udu^t$ and $u\omega_v u^t = 0$. This proves (1.67).

$$(1.69) g = s \left(1 - \frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}\right) + \sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} \frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} = s + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s} \alpha \alpha^*.$$

Therefore

(1.70)
$$Dg = \frac{D\alpha\alpha^* + \alpha D\alpha^*}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{d|\alpha|^2 \alpha\alpha^*}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} (\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s)^2} = \frac{D\alpha\alpha^* + \alpha D\alpha^*}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s} - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha\alpha^* D\alpha + \alpha D\alpha^* \alpha\alpha^*}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} (\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s)^2}.$$

By (1.69),

$$(1.71) \ g^{-1} = \frac{1}{s} \left(1 - \frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} \right) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2}} \frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} = \frac{1}{s} - \frac{\alpha \alpha^*}{s\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2}(\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2} + s)}.$$

Therefore, by direct calculation

$$(1.72) D\alpha\alpha^*g^{-1} = \frac{D\alpha\alpha^*}{\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + s^2}}.$$

Finally, using (1.70), (1.71) and (1.72) a tedious direct calculation verifies (1.66), completing the proof of the Theorem. \square

2. Odd Rank Real Vector Bundles.

Now consider the case of an oriented real vector bundle V of odd rank m = 2n - 1. The Pfaffian no longer exists, and it is natural to define the Chern-Euler form $\chi(D_V)$ of any connection to be identically zero. Nevertheless, for each orthogonal connection D_V on V there does exist a canonically constructed family of Thom forms τ_s as in the even-rank case above. The purpose of the section is to construct this family.

Consider the bundle $\widetilde{V} \equiv \underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V$ equipped with the direct sum metric and connection. Let e_0 denote the global parallel frame 1 for $\underline{\mathbf{R}}$. Consider the spherical potential $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}$ for \widetilde{V} (of even rank 2n). Since \widetilde{V} has the global section e_0 , the Chern-Euler form $\chi(D_{\widetilde{V}}) = 0$ so that $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}$ is d-closed outside of the zero set $X \subset \underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V$. Moreover, the fiber integral of $\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}$ over the ϵ -sphere bundle contained in $\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V$ is -1. Let se_0 denote a general point in the fiber of $\underline{\mathbf{R}}$.

Definition 2.1. (m = 2n - 1 odd). Suppose s > 0 is fixed. First restrict $-2\tilde{\sigma}$ as a differential form to the affine subbundle $\{s\} \times V \subset \tilde{V}$. Then pull back to V using the obvious identification of $\{s\} \times V$ with V. Let τ_s denote this smooth 2n - 1 form on V. This family $\{\tau_s\}$ will be called the family of Thom forms on V associated with the metric connection D_V .

This terminology is justified by the next result. Recall that $\mathbf{P}(\widetilde{V})$ is oriented since the fibres are odd dimensional projective spaces.

Lemma 2.2. τ_s extends to be a smooth d-closed form on the compactification $\mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V)$ of V. Moreover, with $\pi: V \to X$ extended to $\pi: \mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V) \to X$, one has that

$$\pi_*(au_{\mathbf{s}}) \ = \int\limits_{V_x} au_{\mathbf{s}} = 1.$$

Proof. The transgression form $-2\tilde{\sigma}$ on $\widetilde{V} \equiv \underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V$ is homogeneous of degree zero in the fiber and even, i.e., fixed by the antipodal map. Therefore $-2\tilde{\sigma}$ is the pullback of a smooth d-closed form τ_1 on $\mathbf{P}(\widetilde{V})$.

In the affine chart $\{s=1\} \times V \subset \mathbf{P}(\widetilde{V})$, the form τ_1 is obtained by restricting the homogeneous form $-2\tilde{\sigma}$ to the hyperplane s=1, so that this τ_1 is just the τ_1 of Definition 2.1. Thus τ_1 has a smooth d-closed extension to the compactification $\mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V)$ of V. The integral of τ_1 over the fiber of V, or equivalently over the fiber of $\mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V)$, equals $\frac{1}{2}$ the integral of τ_1 , over the fiber of the sphere bundle in \widetilde{V} . Finally, in homogeneous coordinates, $\frac{1}{2}\tau_1 = -\tilde{\sigma}$, and $-\tilde{\sigma}$ has integral one over the sphere in the fiber of \widetilde{V} . \square

Now, we define a spherical potential σ for the family τ_s . Let $\underline{\mathbf{R}}_s$ denote the submanifold (with boundary) consisting of all te_0 with $s \leq t$. Let $\rho_s : \underline{\mathbf{R}}_s \oplus V \to V$ denote projection onto the second factor V of $\underline{\mathbf{R}}_s \oplus V$. Define σ_s by the fiber integral

(2.3)
$$\sigma_{s} \equiv -2 \int_{\rho_{s}^{-1}} \tilde{\sigma} = -2(\rho_{s})_{*}(\tilde{\sigma}),$$

and define the spherical kernel σ based on the metric connection D_V by

(2.4)
$$\sigma = -2 \int_{\rho_0^{-1}} \tilde{\sigma} = -2(\rho_0)_*(\tilde{\sigma}).$$

We shall see that this integral converges in $L^1_{loc}(V)$, i.e., $\lim_{s\to 0} \sigma_s = \sigma$ in $L^1_{loc}(V)$.

Theorem 2.5. (m = 2n - 1 odd). The family of forms τ_s and σ_s defined above satisfy:

(1)
$$\tau_{\mathbf{s}} \mid_{X} = \chi(D_{V}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 0 \text{ or equivalently } \lim_{s \to \infty} \tau_{\mathbf{s}} = \chi(D_{V}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 0$$

(2)
$$\lim_{s \to 0} \tau_s = [X] \text{ since } \int_{V_s} \tau_s = 1$$

(3)
$$d\sigma_{s} = \chi(D_{V}) - \tau_{s} \quad on V$$

(4)
$$\lim_{s\to 0} \sigma_s = \sigma \text{ converges in } L^1_{loc}(V).$$

The limiting form of equation (3) is

(5)
$$d\sigma = \chi(D_V) - [X] \quad \text{on } V.$$

Also note that

(6)
$$d(\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s}) = \boldsymbol{\tau}_{s} - [X] \quad \text{on } V.$$

Proof. Inspection shows that τ_s is odd, i.e., τ_s pulls back to $-\tau_s$ under the map minus the identity on the fibers of V. Thus, the euler form $\tau_s \mid_Z$ associated to τ_s , vanishes, or equivalently, $\lim_{s\to\infty} \tau_s$ vanishes. This proves 1). Condition 2) follows from Lemma 2.2 and the fact that $\lim_{s\to 0} \tau_s = 0$ outside $X \subset V$.

Condition 3) is immediate from the definitions of σ_s and τ_s (and $\chi(D_V) = 0$) and Stokes theorem applied to the fiber, $s \leq t \leq \infty$, of ρ_s .

Consulting the formula (1.34) (or 1.20) for $\tilde{\sigma}$, the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem implies that $\sigma_{\mathbf{s}} = -2 \int\limits_{\rho_{\mathbf{s}}^{-1}} \tilde{\sigma}$ converges to $-2 \int\limits_{\rho_{\mathbf{0}}^{-1}} \tilde{\sigma}$ in $L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(V)$. \square

Now we explicitly compute τ_s and σ . With u replaced by $(s, u) = (s, u_1, \ldots, u_{2n-1})$ and e replaced by the column obtained by transposing $(e_0, e) = (e_0, e_1, \ldots, e_{2n-1})$ the formulas (1.27) and (1.36) for $\tilde{\sigma}$ become

$$(2.6) \qquad \tilde{\sigma}\tilde{\lambda} =$$

$$\frac{2}{(n-1)!} \left(\frac{-1}{4\pi}\right)^n \frac{(se_0+ue)(dse_0+Due)}{|u|^2+s^2} \int_0^1 \left(e^t \Omega_V e - 2x \left(1-\frac{x}{2}\right) \frac{(dse_0+Due)^2}{|u|^2+s^2}\right)^{n-1} dx$$

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^n} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{n-p} \frac{p!}{(n-p-1)!(2p+1)!2^{2n-2p-1}} \frac{(se_0+ue)(dse_0+Due)^{2p+1}}{(|u|^2+s^2)^{p+1}} (e^t \Omega_V e)^{n-p-1}.$$

Restriction of $-2\tilde{\sigma}$ to $u_0 = s$ constant yields two formulas for τ_s . Let $\lambda \equiv e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_{2n-1}$ denote the unit oriented volume element for V. Then $\tilde{\lambda} = e_0 \lambda$ is the unit oriented volume element for \widetilde{V} .

$$\tau_{s}\lambda = -\frac{4}{(n-1)!} \left(\frac{-1}{4\pi}\right)^{n} \frac{sDue}{|u|^{2}+s^{2}} \int_{0}^{1} \left(e^{t}\Omega_{V}e - 2x\left(1-\frac{x}{2}\right) \frac{(Due)^{2}}{|u|^{2}+s^{2}}\right)^{n-1} dx$$
(2.7)

$$= \frac{1}{\pi^n} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{n-p-1} \frac{p!}{(n-p-1)!(2p+1)!2^{2n-2p-2}} \frac{s(Due)^{2p+1} (e^t \Omega_V e)^{n-p-1}}{(|u|^2 + s^2)^{p+1}}.$$

Setting $u_0 = s$ and integrating over the fiber $0 < s < +\infty$ of ρ_0 by using the formula (2.6) for $\tilde{\sigma}$ yields

(2.8)
$$\sigma \tilde{\lambda} = -2 \int_{\rho_0^{-1}} \tilde{\sigma} \tilde{\lambda} =$$

$$\frac{-1}{\pi^n} \sum_{p=0}^{n-1} (-1)^{n-p} \frac{2p!(2p+1)(-1)}{(n-p-1)!(2p+1)!2^{2n-2p-1}} \frac{(ue)(Due)^{2p}}{|u|^{2p+1}} (e^t \Omega_V e)^{n-p-1} \int\limits_0^\infty \frac{|u|^{2p+1} dse_0}{(|u|^2+s^2)^{p+1}}.$$

Since $\int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{(t^2+1)^{p+1}} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{(p-\frac{1}{2}) \dots \frac{1}{2} \pi}{p!} = \frac{(2p)! \pi}{(p!)^2 2^{2p+1}}$ equation (2.8) implies that the spherical kernel for odd rank m=2n-1 is given by

(2.9)
$$\sigma \lambda = \frac{-1/2}{(n-1)!} \left(\frac{-1}{4\pi} \right)^{n-1} \frac{ue}{|u|} \left(e^t \Omega_V e - \frac{(Due)^2}{|u|^2} \right)^{n-1}$$

Again, for odd rank, this kernel σ was discovered by Chern [C2].

Example 2.10. Real Line Bundles.

$$2\tilde{\sigma} = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{uds - sdu}{|u|^2 + s^2}$$

$$\tau_{s} = -2\tilde{\sigma} \Big|_{s} = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{sdu}{|u|^2 + s^2}$$

$$\sigma = -\int_{0 \le s \le \infty} 2\tilde{\sigma} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{u}{|u|} \frac{2}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{|u|ds}{|u|^2 + s^2} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{u}{|u|}.$$

Remark 2.11. Compactly Supported Thom Forms. As noted in the last Section, for even rank bundles, the spherical kernel σ is independent of the choice of approximation mode χ , but the Thom form τ_s depends on the choice of the χ . In particular, a choice of compactly supported χ gives a compactly supported Thom form (see Theorem 1.16). In this Section, there is no reference to an approximation mode χ . The Thom form τ_s of Theorem 2.5 does not have compact support in the fibers of V. (However, note by Theorem 1.63 that τ_s extends to the bundle $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R} \oplus V)$ obtained by compactifying the fibers of V.)

A new Thom form with compact support can be constructed as follows. Choose $\psi(t) \in C^{\infty}_{\text{cpt}}(\mathbf{R})$, $\psi(t) \geq 0$, and $\psi(t) \equiv 1$ in a neighborhood of zero. Define $\psi_s \equiv \psi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$. Then $\boldsymbol{\sigma}'_s \equiv \psi_s \boldsymbol{\sigma}_s + (1-\psi_s)\boldsymbol{\sigma}$ is smooth. Since $\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}'_s = \psi_s(\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_s)$ has compact support the new Thom Form $\boldsymbol{\tau}'_s = -d\boldsymbol{\sigma}'_s$ has compact support. Note that $\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \lim_{s \to 0} \boldsymbol{\sigma}'_s$ and that

$$d(\boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_{s}') = \boldsymbol{\tau}_{s}' - [X].$$

So if we replace σ , σ_s , τ_s by σ , σ_s' , τ_s' in Theorem 2.5 the Theorem remains valid.

Remark 2.12. Alternate Approach to Compactly Supported Thom Forms. Choose χ to be a compactly supported approximate one, i.e. $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for $t \geq t_0$. If V is of odd rank, consider $\widetilde{V} = \mathbf{R} \oplus V$ of even rank and the formula

(2.13)
$$d(\tilde{\sigma} - \tilde{\sigma}_s) = \tilde{\tau}_s - [X]$$

on the total space of \widetilde{V} . Let $\pi:\widetilde{V}\longrightarrow V$ denote the natural projection. Push the current equation (2.13) forward to V. That is if we define

$$r_s \equiv \pi_*(\tilde{\sigma} - \tilde{\sigma}_s)$$
 and $\tau_s = \pi_*(\tilde{\tau}_s)$.

Then

$$(2.14) dr_s = \tau_s - [X] on V$$

as desired. The explicit calculation of $\pi_*(\tilde{\tau}_s)$ as a fiber integral using formula (1.17) for $\tilde{\tau}_s$ yields a formula for τ_s similar to the Thom form τ_s' obtained in Remark 2.11, but not with $\chi = 1 - \psi$ as one might hope but with a complicated expression for ψ . Since $\pi_*(\tilde{\tau}_s)$ yields a complicated explicit formula for τ_s we have emphasized the approach of Definition 2.1 and Remark 2.11 in this Section on odd rank.

Remark 2.15. A third justification for distinguishing the real algebraic approximation mode is provided by the inductive procedure of this section. Suppose V is of even real rank 2n with metric connection D_V . Then the spherical kernel for $\underline{\mathbf{R}} \oplus V$ of odd rank given by (2.9), restricts to the hyperplane $u_0 = s$ to yield a Thom form in even rank. This Thom form is precisely the real algebraic Thom form of Corollary 1.20.

General SO_m Invariant Polynomials

For the sake of completeness the remainder of this section is devoted to briefly examining the ϕ Chern current for a general SO_m -invariant polynomial ϕ (m even or m odd). As a corollary of Lemma 1.41 we have

Corollary 2.16. If ϕ is any SO_m -invariant polynomial on \mathfrak{so}_m , then

(2.17)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) = \phi(A(\chi_s)) - \chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \frac{d|u|^2}{|u|^2} \phi\left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} ; A(\chi_s)\right)$$

where

$$(2.18) A(x) = \Omega_V - x \left(\frac{u^t u \Omega_V}{|u|^2} + \Omega_V \frac{u^t u}{|u|^2} \right) + 2x \left(1 - \frac{x}{2} \right) \left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} \right)^2.$$

As a consequence of Corollary 2.16, we have that

$$(2.19) u \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \, \sqcup \, \phi(\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s) = -2\chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \phi\left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2}; A(\chi_s)\right)$$

because

$$(2.20) u \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \sqcup A(x) = 0 \text{ and } u \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \sqcup \left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} \right) = 0.$$

Since

$$(2.21) u \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial u} \sqsubseteq \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s \frac{ds^2}{s^2} = \frac{\partial \overrightarrow{w}_s}{\partial s} ds$$

the transgression integrand satisfies

$$(2.22) \phi\left(\frac{\partial \overrightarrow{\omega}_s}{\partial s}ds \; ; \; \overrightarrow{\Omega}_s\right) = 2\chi_s' \frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \phi\left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} \; ; \; A(\chi_s)\right) \frac{ds^2}{s^2}.$$

Therefore, using the change of variables $x \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2}\right)$ the transgression T_s can be expressed as follows.

Proposition 2.23.

$$T_s = -2 \int_0^{\chi_s} \phi \left(\frac{u^t D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} ; A(x) \right) dx$$

Using this formula for the transgression T_s it is easy to verify that $\lim_{s\to 0} T_s = T$ converges in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ if the section μ of V is atomic, and to deduce other results paralleling the results for a section of a complex bundle which were described before. The statements and proofs are left to the reader.

However, the next related result will be used to prove the second version of the rectifiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem presented in Section 5.

Theorem 2.24. Suppose ϕ and ψ are SO_{2n} -invariant polynomials on \mathfrak{so}_{2n} , related by $\phi = \psi \cdot \chi$, where $\chi(\Omega) = \operatorname{Pf}\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi}\Omega\right)$ is the Euler polynomial. Then

(2.25)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}(\overrightarrow{D}) = \psi(D_V),$$

(2.26) the
$$L^1_{loc}(X)$$
 part of $\phi((\overrightarrow{D}))$ vanishes, and

(2.27)
$$\phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) - \psi(D_V) \operatorname{Div}(\mu) = d(\psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)r_s)$$

where $R_s \equiv \psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)r_s = \psi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)(\sigma - \sigma_s)$ converges to zero in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ as s approaches zero.

Proof. Note first that by Theorem 1.22 with $\mathbf{r}_s \equiv \boldsymbol{\sigma} - \boldsymbol{\sigma}_s$, one has

$$\begin{split} \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathtt{s}}) &= \psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathtt{s}})\chi(\overrightarrow{D}_{\mathtt{s}}) &= \psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathtt{s}})\tau_{\mathtt{s}} \\ &= \psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathtt{s}})[X] + d(\psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathtt{s}})\mathbf{r}_{\mathtt{s}}) &= \psi(D_{V})[X] + d(\psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathtt{s}})\mathbf{r}_{\mathtt{s}}). \end{split}$$

Then note that $\mathbf{r_s}$, and hence also $\mathbf{r_s}\psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D_s}})$, converge to zero on $V \sim X$. Inspection of the formula (1.27) for σ_s and σ shows that \mathbf{r}_s is of odd degree in Du_1, \ldots, Du_{2n} . Inspection of the formula (1.42) for $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ shows that each entry in this matrix is of even degree in Du_1, \ldots, Du_{2n} . Thus $\psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s)$ is of even degree in Du_1, \ldots, Du_{2n} . Therefore, $\mathbf{r_s}\psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}_s})$ is of odd degree in Du_1, \ldots, Du_{2n} . In particular, $\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{s}}\psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}})$ is of degree < 2n in Du_1, \ldots, Du_n . Thus by atomicity, $\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{s}}\psi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}})$ is $L^1_{loc}(V)$ dominated and therefore converges to zero in $L^1_{loc}(V)$.

This proves that the Chern current

$$\phi((\overrightarrow{D})) = \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = \psi(D_V)[X].$$

Now the Theorem follows. \square

3. Universal Thom Forms in Equivariant de Rham Theory over SO_m.

The formulas derived above can be reinterpreted as determining universal equivariant forms in $\mathcal{E}^*_{SO_m}(\mathbf{R}^m)$ (as in Chapter III.4). These results improve on [MQ] in that they apply to all dimensions, not just even ones, and they naturally give forms with compact support. The terminology and derivation which follow are in strict analogy with those of the development in Remark III.4.30 and Remark III.4.38, and so we shall pass rapidly to the statements.

Let $W = (\Lambda \mathfrak{g}^*) \otimes (S \mathfrak{g}^*)$ denote the Weil algebra of \mathfrak{so}_m with standard generators $\omega_{ij} = -\omega_{ji}$ and $\Omega_{ij} = -\Omega_{ji}$ for $1 \leq i < j \leq n$. Let $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ denote the standard coordinates on \mathbb{R}^m . Let SO_m act from the right by $u \mapsto ug$ and $u^t \to g^{-1}u^t$. Set

$$Du = du + u\omega$$
.

Then given an approximate-one χ and a number s > 0, we define

$$\overrightarrow{\omega}_s = \omega - \chi \left(\frac{|u|^2}{s^2} \right) \left\{ \frac{u^* D u}{|u|^2} - \frac{D u^t u}{|u|^2} \right\} \in W \otimes \mathcal{E}^*(\mathbf{R}^n)$$

and define

$$\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s = d\overrightarrow{\omega}_s - \frac{1}{2} [\overrightarrow{\omega}_s, \overrightarrow{\omega}_s].$$

Proposition 3.1. (m = 2n). If m = 2n, then for each χ and s > 0 the Pfaffian of $\overrightarrow{\Omega}_s$ gives an equivariant cocycle

$$\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}}\stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \mathrm{Pf}\left(-rac{1}{2\pi}\overrightarrow{\Omega}_{s}
ight) \in \mathcal{E}_{SO_{2n}}^{2n}(\mathbf{R}^{2n}).$$

These forms are mutually cohomologous. In fact $\mathfrak{T}_s = \operatorname{Pf}\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi}\Omega\right) - d\sigma_s$ where

$$\sigma_s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (-1)^n \int_{s}^{\infty} \operatorname{Pf}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\dot{\omega}_t ; \frac{1}{2\pi}\Omega_t\right) dt \in \mathcal{E}_{SO_{2n}}^{2n-1}(\mathbf{R}^{2n})$$

with $\dot{\omega}_t = \partial \omega_t | \partial t$. Explicit formulas for \mathfrak{T}_s and σ_s in terms of Ω , ω and γ are given in 1.17 and 1.27. These forms have the following properties. Let $i: pt \mapsto \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ and $\pi: \mathbf{R}^{2n} \to \mathrm{pt}$ be the obvious equivariant maps and consider the induced maps

$$i^*: \mathcal{E}^*_{SO_{2n}}(\mathbf{R}^{2n}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^*_{SO_{2n}}(\mathrm{pt}) = W \text{ and } \pi_*: \mathcal{E}^*_{SO_{2n}}(\mathbf{R}^{2n}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*-2n}_{SO_{2n}}(\mathrm{pt}) = W.$$

Then

- (i) $i^*\mathfrak{T}_s = \operatorname{Pf}\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi}\Omega\right)$ for all s,
- (ii) $\lim_{s\to 0} \mathfrak{T}_s = [0]$ in equivariant currents on \mathbf{R}^{2n} , (iii) $\pi_*\mathfrak{T}_s = 1$,
- (iv) $\lim_{s\to 0} \sigma_s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sigma$ exists in equivariant forms with L^1_{loc} -coefficients.

Proof. The proof that \mathfrak{T}_s is an equivariant cocycle follows exactly the lines of the proof of Proposition III.4.31. The properties (i)-(iv) are translations of the properties established in §1. The proofs given there carry over directly.

Notice that the equivariant form σ is smooth outside the origin in \mathbb{R}^{2n} . It is given succintly by

(3.2)
$$\sigma = (-1)^n \int_{0}^{\infty} \operatorname{Pf}\left(\frac{1}{2\pi}\dot{\omega}_t ; \frac{1}{2\pi}\Omega_t\right) dt$$

and explicitly by formula 1.36 reinterpreted in this universal context. We have that

$$d\sigma = \operatorname{Pf}\left(-\frac{1}{2\pi}\Omega\right) - [0] \text{ in } \mathcal{E}_{SO_{2n}}^*(\mathbf{R}^{2n}).$$

Proposition 3.3. (m = 2n - 1). If m = 2n - 1 consider the embeddings $j_s : \mathbb{R}^{2n-1} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ given by $j_s(x) = (s, x)$ and define

$$\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} j_{\mathbf{s}}^*(\sigma) \in \mathcal{E}_{SO_{2n-1}}^{2n-1}(\mathbf{R}^{2n-1})$$

where σ is the spherical kernel in \mathbf{R}^{2n} given by 3.2 or explicitly by 1.36. Then \mathfrak{T}_s is a family of mutually cohomologous equivariant cocycles. In fact, let ρ_s : $[s,\infty)\times\mathbf{R}^{2n-1}\to\mathbf{R}^{2n-1}$ denote projection and set

$$\sigma_s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -2(\rho_s)_*(\sigma) \in \mathcal{E}_{SO_{2n-1}}^{2n-1}(\mathbf{R}^{2n-1}).$$

Then $d\sigma_s = -\mathfrak{T}_s$ for all s > 0. Furthermore if $i : \text{pt} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{R}^{2n-1}$ and $\pi : \mathbf{R}^{2n-1} \to \mathbf{R}^{2n-1}$ pt are the obvious equivariant maps, then

- (i) $i^*(\mathfrak{T}_s) = 0$ for all s,
- (ii) $\lim_{s\to 0} \mathfrak{T}_s = [0]$ in equivariant currents on \mathbf{R}^{2n-1} ,
- (iii) $\pi_* \mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}} s = 1$,
- (iv) $\lim_{s\to 0} \sigma_s = \sigma_0$ exists in equivariant forms with L^1_{loc} -coefficients.

Proof. One argues as in the proof of 3.1. \square

We now fix m (even or odd) and consider some special choices of χ . If $\chi(t)=1$ for $t\geq 1$, then $\operatorname{spt}(\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}})\subseteq \overline{B}_s=\{v\in\mathbf{R}^m:|v|\leq 1\}$. Furthermore, the smooth forms $r_{s,t}=\sigma_t-\sigma_s$ for 0< t< s, and the L^1_{loc} -forms $r_s=\sigma_0-\sigma_s$ each have support on \overline{B}_s . Note that $dr_{s,t}=\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}}-\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{t}}$ and $dr_s=\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}}-[0]$. In particular, we have the following

Proposition 3.4. Suppose $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \ge 1$ and let m be arbitrary. Then the forms \mathfrak{T}_s from Propositions 2.1 and 2.3 each determine an equivariant cocycle

$$\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}} \in \mathcal{E}^m_{SO_m}(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^m - B_s)$$

where $B_s = \{v \in \mathbf{R}^m : |v| < s\}$. Furthermore, given an oriented, real m-plane bundle $V \to X$ with an orthogonal connection, the Weil homomorphism

$$\mathcal{E}_{SO_m}^*(\mathbf{R}^m, \mathbf{R}^m - B_s) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^*(V, V - B_s(V)),$$

where $B_s(V) = \{ \nu \in V : |\nu| < s \}$, carries \mathfrak{T}_s to the Euler Thom forms of 1.16 and 2.5, which represent the Thom class

$$[\tau_s] \in H^m(V, V - B_s(V)).$$

Similarly the Weil homomorphism carries the spherical transgression forms $\sigma_s \in \mathcal{E}^{m-1}_{SO_m}(\mathbf{R}^m)$ over to the corresponding forms in $\mathcal{E}^{m-1}(V)$.

Proposition 3.5. Let $\chi(t) = 1 - 1/\sqrt{1+t}$. Then the equivariant cocycle $\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}} \in \mathcal{E}^m_{SO_m}(\mathbf{R}^m)$ extends to an equivariant cocycle on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R} \oplus \mathbf{R}^m) = \mathbf{R}^m \cup \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R}^m)$ which vanishes on $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R}^m)$. It thereby determines a relative equivariant cocycle

$$\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}} \in \mathcal{E}^m_{SO_m} \left(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R} \oplus \mathbf{R}^m), \ \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R}^m) \right)$$
.

For a bundle V with connection as above, the Weil homomorphism carries $\mathfrak{T}_{\mathbf{s}}$ to a cocycle

$$au_s \in \mathcal{E}^m \left(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R} \oplus V), \ \mathbf{P}(V) \right)$$

which represents the Thom class

$$[\tau_s] \in H^m \left(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R} \oplus V), \ \mathbf{P}(V) \right).$$

When m = 2n, each \mathfrak{T}_s is given explicitly by the formula

(3.6)
$$\mathfrak{T}_{s} = \left(\frac{-1}{2\pi}\right)^{n} \frac{s}{\sqrt{|u|^{2} + s^{2}}} \operatorname{Pf}\left(\Omega - \frac{Du^{*}Du}{|u|^{2} + s^{2}}\right)$$

Proofs of 3.4 and 3.5 are straightforward and details are omitted.

Note. With a proper choice of embedding $V \xrightarrow{\approx} B_1(V) \subset V$ the Thom form corresponding to any approximate-one χ extends to a closed form on all of V with support in $B_1(V)$.

4. Thom Isomorphisms and Gysin Maps.

The Thom forms constructed in §§1 and 2 produce canonical representations, at the level of differential forms, of various forms of the Thom isomorphism for a real oriented m-plane bundle $\pi: V \to X$ with an orthogonal connection. As noted in 3.4, if $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \ge 1$, then $\operatorname{spt}(\tau_s) \subseteq B_s(V)$ and we have a **Thom** map

$$(4.1) i_{!,s}: \mathcal{E}^*(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*+m}(V, V - B_s(V))$$

given by

$$i_{!,s}(\varphi) = \pi^*(\varphi) \wedge \tau_s$$

which induces the Thom isomorphism

$$(4.2) i_!: H^*(X) \xrightarrow{\approx} H^*(V, V - B_s(V)).$$

Integration over the fibre π_* inverts this map since $\pi_*(\tau_s) = 1$. Letting $s \to 0$ gives the canonical version of this map

$$(4.3) i_{!,0}: \mathcal{E}^*(X) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*+m}(V, V - X)'$$

defined by

$$i_{!,0}(\varphi) = \varphi \cdot [X].$$

If we choose $\chi(t) = 1 - 1/\sqrt{1+t}$, then we get a Thom map

(4.5)
$$i_!: \mathcal{E}^*(X) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*+m} \left(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R} \oplus V), \ \mathbf{P}(V) \right)$$

defined by $i_!(\varphi) = \pi^* \varphi \wedge \tau_s$ where τ_s is the extended Thom form defined in 3.5. It induces the isomorphism

$$(4.6) i_!: H^*(X) \longrightarrow H^{*+m} \left(\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{R} \oplus V), \ \mathbf{P}(V) \right).$$

Suppose now that $j:Y\hookrightarrow X$ is a compact oriented manifold Y embedded into an oriented manifold X, and let

$$j_!: \mathcal{E}^*(Y) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*+m}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)'$$

be the Gysin map defined as in III.4.11 by $j_!(\varphi) = \varphi[Y]$. Then just as in III.4.11 we can: identify the normal bundle to Y with a tubular neighborhood of Y in X, transplant the tautological cross-section, choose χ with $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$, and obtain a smooth Gysin map

$$j_{!,s}: \mathcal{E}^*(Y) \longrightarrow \mathcal{E}^{*+m}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$$

which converges to j, as $s \to 0$. Each element of the family induces the Gysin homomorphism

$$j_!: H^*(Y) \longrightarrow H^{*+m}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X).$$

Just as in III.4.12, this discussion of Gysin maps generalizes to a current which can be written as the divisor of an atomic section of an oriented real m-plane bundle defined in some neighborhood of its support.

5. The Rectifiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem—Version 2.

In this section we use our construction of the Thom form to prove the general version of the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem [AH] at the level of differential forms. More specifically suppose $j:Y\hookrightarrow X$ is a proper smooth embedding of real manifolds such that $j^*w_2(X)=w_2(Y)$ (where $w_2=$ the second Stiefel Whitney class). Then for any complex bundle E with connection over Y, our methods directly produce a family of smooth, d-closed forms K_s , 0 < s < 1, which represent $\mathrm{ch}(j_!(E))$. Furthermore the family $\mathrm{spt}(K_s)$ forms a shrinking system of neighborhoods of Y in X and

$$\lim_{s \to 0} K_s = \operatorname{ch}(D_E) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D_N)[Y] = j_!(\operatorname{ch}(D_E) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}(D_N))$$

where N is the normal bundle to Y in X. Thus K_s gives a homotopy through cohomologous closed forms from the Chern character of $j_!(E)$ to the canonical representative of $j_!(\operatorname{ch}(E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(N))$. The residue $\operatorname{ch}(D_E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(D_N)$ falls automatically out of the calculation.

The process is sufficiently natural that it generalizes to embeddings of complexes into X with "spin normal bundle".

canonically associated to F and let $D_{\mathcal{B}}$ be the connection on $\mathbf{\$}$ induced from the one on F (cf. [H], [LM]). Via the metric and spin structure, we have

$$\operatorname{Skew} \operatorname{End}(F) \cong \Lambda^2 F \hookrightarrow \Lambda^*_{\mathbf{C}} F \hookrightarrow \operatorname{C}\ell(F) \ = \ \operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{C}}(\mathfrak{F}(F)).$$

That is, any skew-symmetric endomorphism $R: F \to F$ canonically determines an endomorphism $\mathbf{R}: \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{Z}$ via Clifford multiplication by the corresponding 2-form. Then the curvature $R^{\sharp}=(D_{\sharp})^2$ of \sharp in its induced connection is given by the formula

$$(5.1) R^{\sharp} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{R}$$

(cf. [LM, pg 110]).

We now present an identity which is contained in [MQ]. A proof will be given at the end of the section. To state it we need the following definition. Let V be an oriented real inner product space of dimension 2n. To each $A \in \text{Skew End}(V) \cong$ $\Lambda^2 V$, there is an oriented, orthonormal basis e_1, \ldots, e_{2n} with respect to which A can be diagonalized as

$$A = \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_j e_{2j-1} \wedge e_{2j}$$

where $a_j \in \mathbf{R}$ for each j. Then

$$Pf(A) = a_1 \dots a_n$$

and we define

$$\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(A) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \frac{a_j/4\pi}{\sinh(a_j/4\pi)}.$$

This function can be rewritten as a power series of $Ad_{O_{2n}}$ -invariant polynomials on Skew $\operatorname{End}(V)$, and thereby extends to all of $\operatorname{End}(V)$. Let $\operatorname{C}\ell(V)$ be the Clifford algebra of V and denote by S(V) the irreducible complex "spinor" module over $\mathrm{C}\ell(V)$ of complex dimension 2^n . There is a canonical decomposition

where the complex volume form

$$\omega = (-i)^n e_1 \dots e_{2n}$$

acts by

$$\omega \mid_{\mathfrak{S}^+} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{S}^+}$$
 and $\omega \mid_{\mathfrak{S}^-} = -\mathrm{Id}_{\mathfrak{S}^-}$.

Note. This splitting differs from the one in [LM] where ω is chosen to be $i^n e_1 \dots e_{2n}$.

Using the canonical identification $\Lambda^*V \cong \mathrm{C}\ell(V)$, we associate to each $A \in$ Skew End(V) $\cong \Lambda^2 V$, the endomorphism $\mathbf{A} : \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{Z}$ as above.

Lemma 5.4. Set $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}_0(A) = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}(-2\pi A)$. Then for each $A \in \operatorname{Skew} \operatorname{End}(V)$ we have that

(5.5)
$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}^+}\left(e^{\frac{1}{2i}\mathbf{A}}\right) - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}^-}\left(e^{\frac{1}{2i}\mathbf{A}}\right) = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}_0^{-1}(A)\operatorname{Pf}(A)$$

Corollary 5.6. Let (F, D) and $(S(F), D_S)$ be as above. Then the curvature R^S respects the splitting $\mathfrak{S}(F) = \mathfrak{S}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{S}^-$ determined as in (5.3), and we have the identity

(5.7)
$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{S}^{+}}\left\{e^{-iR^{\mathfrak{S}}}\right\} - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathfrak{S}^{-}}\left\{e^{-iR^{\mathfrak{S}}}\right\} = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}_{0}^{-1}(R)\operatorname{Pf}(R).$$

In particular, we have the following identity of characteristic forms:

$$ch(D_{\mathfrak{S}^+}) - ch(D_{\mathfrak{S}^-}) = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)\chi(D).$$

Furthermore if E is any complex vector bundle with complex connection D_E , we let $D_{\beta \otimes E} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} D_{\beta} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes D_E$ denote the tensor product connection on $\mathfrak{S} \otimes E$. Then the following identity

$$(5.9) ch(D_{\mathfrak{S}^+ \otimes E}) - ch(D_{\mathfrak{S}^- \otimes E}) = ch(D_E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)\chi(D)$$

holds in the space of differential forms on X.

Proof. Plugging (5.1) into (5.5) gives the first equation. Replacing R by $-\frac{1}{2\pi}R$ gives the second equation. For the third we simply recall that for the tensor product connection we have $\operatorname{ch}(D_{\mathfrak{F}^{\pm}}\otimes D_{E})=\operatorname{ch}(D_{\mathfrak{F}^{\pm}})\operatorname{ch}(D_{E})$. \square

We can now apply our theory of Chern currents to derive a generalization of the Differentiable Riemann-Roch Theorem for embeddings.

Theorem 5.10. Rectifiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch-Version 2.

Let $\pi: F \to X$ is a smooth real vector bundle of rank 2n provided with a spin structure and an orthogonal connection D. Let \S^{\pm} denote the canonical complex spinor bundles associated to F and provided with the induced connections $D_{\S^{\pm}}$. Let α be any atomic section of F. Then for any complex vector bundle E with connection over X, the following identity of d-closed forms and currents holds on X:

$$(5.11) ch(D_{\mathfrak{F}^+\otimes E}) - ch(D_{\mathfrak{F}^-\otimes E}) = ch(D_E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT$$

where T is a canonically defined L^1_{loc} -form on X.

Furthermore, fix any choice of approximate one χ and let \overrightarrow{D}_s denote the family of Riemannian pushforward connections on F as in (1.10). Let \overrightarrow{D}_s^+ and \overrightarrow{D}_s^- denote the connections induced on $\$^+$ and $\$^-$ respectively by \overrightarrow{D}_s , and set $\overrightarrow{D}_{s,E}^{\pm} = \overrightarrow{D}_s^{\pm} \otimes D_E$ on $\$^{\pm} \otimes E$. Then

$$(5.12) ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{sE}^+) - ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{sE}^-) - ch(D_E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dR_s$$

where R_s is a family of $L^1_{loc}(X)$ -forms such that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} R_s = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{s \to \infty} R_s = T \quad \text{in } L^1_{\text{loc}}(X).$$

In particular,

(5.13)
$$\lim_{s\to 0} \left\{ ch(\overrightarrow{D}_s^+) - ch(\overrightarrow{D}_s^-) \right\} = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)\operatorname{Div}(\alpha).$$

If $\chi(t)$ is chosen so that $\chi(t) = 1$ for all $t \geq 1$, then

$$(5.14) spt \left\{ ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,E}^+) - ch(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,E}^-) \right\} \subset \overline{U}_s$$

and $\operatorname{spt}(R_s) \subset \overline{U}_s$, where $U_s = \{x \in X : |\alpha(x)| < s\}$ for all s > 0.

Proof. Applying (5.9) to the connection \overrightarrow{D}_s gives the equation

(5.15)
$$\operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,E}^{+}) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,E}^{-}) = \operatorname{ch}(D_{E})\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s})\chi(\overrightarrow{D}_{s}).$$

By Theorem 1.51 we can write

(5.16)
$$\chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s) = \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dr_s$$

where r_s is an L^1_{loc} -form on X with

$$\lim_{s \to 0} r_s = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{s \to \infty} r_s = \sigma \quad \text{in} \quad L^1_{\text{loc}}(X).$$

where σ denotes the pullback by α of the singular Chern-Euler transgression form σ . Substituting (5.16) into (5.15) gives equation (5.12) with

$$R_s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{ch}(D_E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(\overrightarrow{D}_s)r_s.$$

As $s \to \infty$, we know that $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(\overrightarrow{D}_s) \to \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)$ in the C^{∞} topology. Hence

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} R_s = \operatorname{ch}(D_E) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D) \sigma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} T.$$

On the other hand by Theorem 2.21 we know that

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(\overrightarrow{D}_s)r_s = 0 \quad \text{in} \quad L^1_{\text{loc}}(X)$$

and so $R_s \to 0$ as $s \to 0$ as claimed. Finally, if $\chi(t) = 1$ for all $t \ge 1$, then

$$\operatorname{spt}(\chi(\overrightarrow{D}_s)) \subseteq \overline{U}_s$$

for all s > 0 and therefore

$$\operatorname{spt}\left\{\operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_s^+) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_s^-)\right\} \subseteq \overline{U}_s$$

for all s>0 by (5.15). Multiplying by $\operatorname{ch}(D_E)$ gives (5.14). \square

Note that for each choice of approximation mode, we have produced a smooth family

$$K_{\alpha}(s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{ch}(D_s^+) - \operatorname{ch}(D_s^-), \quad 0 < s \le \infty$$

such that

$$K_{\alpha}(\infty) = \operatorname{ch}(D_{\beta}^{+}) - \operatorname{ch}(D_{\beta}^{-})$$
 and $\lim_{s \to 0} K_{\alpha}(s) = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$.

That is, $K_{\alpha}(s)$ gives a canonical homotopy from the fixed Chern-Weil representative of the Chern character of $\mathfrak{F}^+ - \mathfrak{F}^-$ to the canonical residue $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)$ times the divisor of α .

This homotopy is compatible with multiplication by $\operatorname{ch}(D_E)$ for any complex bundle E with connection D_E over X. In particular, the family $\operatorname{ch}(D_E) \mathrm{K}_{\alpha}(s)$, $0 < s \leq \infty$, gives a homotopy through smooth forms on X from the fixed Chern-Weil representative of the Chern character of $E \otimes (\mathfrak{F}^+ - \mathfrak{F}^-)$ to the residue $\operatorname{ch}(D_E) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)$ times the divisor of α .

Remark 5.17. Localization at $Div(\alpha)$. Choose an approximate one $\chi(t)$ such that $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \ge 1$. Then by (5.14)

$$\operatorname{spt}\left\{\operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_s^+) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_s^-)\right\} \subseteq \overline{U}_s$$

for all s > 0. In other words the family $K_{\alpha}(s)$ is supported in smaller and smaller "tubular neighborhoods" of spt $Div(\alpha)$. This allows us to localize the construction as follows.

Suppose that Z is an integral current on X with the property that $Z=\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$ for an atomic section α of a spin bundle F defined only over some neighborhood U of $\operatorname{spt}(Z)$ in X. Choose a metric on F so that $\overline{U}_s \subset U$ for all s<1. Then the family of forms

$$K_{\alpha}(s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s}^{+}) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s}^{-})$$

has support in \overline{U}_1 and extends by zero to a family of smooth d-closed forms defined on all of X. It has the property that

$$\lim_{s\to 0} K_{\alpha}(s) = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)Z.$$

Suppose now that there exists a neighborhood

$$|Z| \stackrel{j}{\hookrightarrow} U \subset X$$

of $|Z| \equiv \operatorname{spt} Z$ in X which admits a retraction $p: U \to |Z|$. Then we can define a map

$$j_!: K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(|Z|) \longrightarrow K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(U) \subset K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$$

by

$$j_!(E) = (p^*E) \cdot (\$^+ - \$^-)$$

where \mathfrak{F}^+ and \mathfrak{F}^- are identified over U-|Z| by α . Recall that we have a natural generalized Thom homomorphism

$$j_!: H^*_{\operatorname{deRham}}(|Z|) \longrightarrow H^{*+2n}_{\operatorname{deRham}}(X)$$

from the cohomology of forms germed an |Z| to the cohomology of currents on X, given by

$$j_!(\varphi) = \varphi Z.$$

From the preceeding discussion and 5.10 we have the following

Corollary 5.18. Let Z be a current on X which arises as the divisor of a section of a spin vector bundle F defined in a neighborhood U of $|Z| = \operatorname{spt} Z$ which admits a retraction $p: U \to |Z|$. Fix D and χ as above. Then

$$ch(j_!(1)) = [ch(D_s^+) - ch(D_s^-)]$$

for all s < 1 (where $[\gamma]$ denotes the cohomology class of γ). Furthermore, for any complex bundle E on |Z|, pulled back over U and endowed with a complex connection, we have

$$ch(j_!(E)) = [ch(D_{s,E}^+) - ch(D_{s,E}^-)].$$

Taking the limit as $s \to 0$ of this family of d-closed forms in X gives the equation

$$ch(j_!(E)) = j_! \left(ch(E) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(F) \right).$$

To relate this to the more classical result, suppose that Z = [Y] is the current associated to a compact oriented submanifold $j: Y \hookrightarrow X$ whose normal bundle N carries a spin structure. Fix a tubular neighborhood U of Y and an identification

 $U \cong N \xrightarrow{p} Y$. Then the tautological cross-section α of p^*N over $N \cong U$ has $\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = [Y]$ and the theory applies. In this case (5.19) in the Atiyah-Hirzebruch formula for embeddings $j: Y \hookrightarrow X$ with $j^*w_2(X) = w_2(Y)$ [AH]. Note that we have obtained this formula at the level of differential forms.

In this case of a spin embedding $j: X \hookrightarrow Y$ ($w_2(N) = 0$) the formula can be rewritten slightly. Choose a Riemannian direct sum connection on $TX \mid_Y = TY \oplus N$ and extend to a connection on TX over all of X. Then we have that

$$\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(D_{TX})[Y] = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}(D_{TX}) \Big|_{Y} [Y] = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}(D_{TY}) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}(D_{N})[Y].$$

Hence, multiplying (5.12) by the form $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(D_{TX})$ and passing to cohomology gives the equation

$$\operatorname{ch}(j_! E) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}(X) = j_! \left(\operatorname{ch} E \cdot \widehat{\mathbb{A}}(Y) \right).$$

This can be rephrased by saying that the diagram

$$K(Y) \xrightarrow{j_!} K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$$

$$\mathrm{ch}(\cdot)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(Y) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \mathrm{ch}(\cdot)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}(X)$$

$$H^{2*}(Y) \xrightarrow{j_!} H^{2*}_{\mathrm{cpt}}(X)$$

commutes.

Remark 5.20. If in all of the above we assume that $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} F \equiv 0 \pmod{8}$, then \mathfrak{S}^{\pm} are complexifications of real spinor bundles $\mathfrak{S}^{\pm}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $[\mathfrak{S}^{+}_{\mathbb{R}}] - [\mathfrak{S}^{-}_{\mathbb{R}}]$ represents the Thom class for $KO_{\text{cpt}}(F)$. One can tensor by real bundles with connection and everything goes through. However, at the level of real cohomology little is gained.

Remark 5.21. The Spin^c case. Suppose we are given an oriented real 2ndimensional bundle F with Spin^c -structure, and let $\mathfrak{F}(F) = \mathfrak{F}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{F}^-$ be the
associated complex spinor bundle. Associated to $\mathfrak{F}(F)$ is an auxiliary complex line
bundle $\lambda \to X$ with $w_2(F) \equiv c_1(\lambda) \pmod{2}$. Choosing an orthogonal connection
on F and a hermitian connection D_{λ} on λ canonically determines a hermitian
connection on $\mathfrak{F}(F)$. Given an atomic section α of F and an approximate-one χ ,
we obtain the family of connections \overrightarrow{D}_s on F. With fixed D_{λ} , we get a family of

connections $\overrightarrow{D}_s^{\pm}$ on $\$^{\pm}$. Applying the arguments as above leads to the following analogue of (5.12). Let E be any complex bundle with connection over X and let $D_{E,s}^{\pm}$ be the tensor product of $\overrightarrow{D}_s^{\pm}$ and D_E on $\$^{\pm} \otimes E$. Then we have

$$(5.22) \qquad \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,E}^{+}) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{D}_{s,E}^{-}) - \operatorname{ch}(D_{E})\operatorname{ch}\left(\frac{1}{2}D_{\lambda}\right)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(D)\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dR_{s}$$

where R_s is a family of L^1_{loc} -forms on X such that $\lim_{s\to 0} R_s = 0$.

Proof of Lemma 5.4. Write V as an orthogonal direct sum $V = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{n} V_j$, of oriented 2-dimensional subspaces, each invariant under A and such that with respect to an oriented orthonormal basis (e_{2j-1}, e_{2j}) of V_j we have $A(e_{2j-1}) = a_j e_{2j}$ and $A(e_{2j}) = -a_j e_{2j-1}$. It is a standard fact that

$$\mathfrak{S}(V) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{n} \mathfrak{S}(V_j)$$

and also that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}^+}(e^{\mathbf{A}}) - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}^-}(e^{\mathbf{A}}) = \prod_{j=1}^n \left\{ \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}_j^+}(e^{\mathbf{A}_j}) - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}_j^-}(e^{\mathbf{A}_j}) \right\}$$

where $\mathbf{A}_j = \mathbf{A} \mid_{\mathfrak{F}(V_j)}$ and $\mathfrak{F}(V_j) = \mathfrak{F}_j^+ \oplus \mathfrak{F}_j^-$ is the canonical decomposition with respect to the volume form $e_{2j-1}e_{2j}$. (See [LM]). Hence it suffices to consider the 2-dimensional case. Now if V has oriented bases (e_1, e_2) , then Clifford multiplication by $\omega = -ie_1e_2$ is +1 on \mathfrak{F}^+ and -1 on \mathfrak{F}^- . Hence,

$$(e_1 \wedge e_2) |_{\mathfrak{B}^+} = i \text{ and } (e_1 \wedge e_2) |_{\mathfrak{B}^-} = -i.$$

Writing $A = \sum a_j e_{2j-1} \wedge e_{2j}$ and applying the above, we see that

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}^{+}}\left(e^{\frac{1}{2i}A}\right) - \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{B}^{-}}\left(e^{\frac{1}{2i}A}\right) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left\{e^{\frac{1}{2}a_{j}} - e^{-\frac{1}{2}a_{j}}\right\}$$
$$= \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left\{\frac{\sinh(a_{j}/2)}{a_{j}/2}\right\} a_{1} \dots a_{n} = \widehat{\mathbb{A}}_{0}^{-1}(A)\operatorname{Pf}(A). \quad \Box$$

V. Cases of Basic Interest

In this chapter we focus attention on some cases of special importance. These include quaternion line bundles, where the theory is in striking analogy with that of Chapter II, and the case of generalized spinor bundles, with homomorphisms given by Clifford multiplication. This latter case gives a different perspective on work in Chapters III and IV. In particular, the natural construction of the Thom class (via the pushforward connection) will extend directly to give an alternate proof of the Differentiable Riemann-Roch Theorem at the level of differential forms.

All the cases considered here fall under a general umbrella of hypotheses which are presented in Section 1. The consequences of these hypotheses are also established there. The subsequent sections then specialize to the diverse cases of interest.

1. The General Rubric.

Throughout this section we shall operate under a set of standing assumptions. The cases of real and complex bundles are parallel here, and our discussion will largely apply to either case. As always, we fix vector bundles $E \to X$ and $F \to X$ with connections D_E and D_F and with metrics, over a manifold X.

When E and F are complex, the connections are assumed to respect the complex structures but not (necessarily) the hermitian metrics. When E and F are only real, the connections are assumed to be orthogonal, i.e., to be compatible with the given bundle metrics.

We assume that $rank(E) \leq rank(F)$ and set

$$IC(E, F) = \{\alpha \in Hom(E, F) : \alpha^*\alpha = |\alpha|^2 Id_E\}.$$

This is a bundle whose fibre over $x \in X$ is the quadratic cone of injective conformal (linear) maps $E_x \to F_x$. We are interested in studying the following situation.

Basic Assumption 1.1. We suppose that there exists an oriented vector subbundle $V \subset \text{Hom}(E, F)$ of real dimension m with the property that

$$V \subset IC(E,F)$$
.

(In the complex case we assume that V is a complex subbundle of rank n = m/2.)

The given metrics on E and F determine a companion subbundle $V^* = \{v^* \in \operatorname{Hom}(F, E) : v \in V\}$ of $\operatorname{Hom}(F, E)$. Furthermore the connections on E and F canonically determine connections on $\operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$ and on $\operatorname{Hom}(F, E)$. Recall that a vector subbundle $V \subset H$ of a vector bundle H with connection D_H is said to **totally geodesic** if for all $\alpha \in \Gamma(V) \subset \Gamma(H)$, we have $D_H \alpha \in \Gamma(T^*X \otimes V) \subset \Gamma(T^*X \otimes H)$, i.e., if covariant differentiation in H maps sections of V to sections of V.

There is an important family of cases for which the embeddings of V and V^* are totally geodesic, namely those with Property 1.2 which is defined below. All the results of this chapter will be shown to have a particularly beautiful form whenever this property holds.

Property 1.2. The embeddings $V \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ and $V^* \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(F,E)$ are given by a universal construction.

By a universal construction we mean the following. Consider, for simplicity of notation, the case where V, E and F are real bundles of ranks m, M and N respectively. (The complex case is analogous). The data for a universal construction consists of a linear embedding $\lambda: \mathbf{R}^m \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^M, \mathbf{R}^N)$ and a Lie group homomorphism

$$\varphi = (\eta, \xi) : GL_m \longrightarrow GL_M \times GL_N$$

so that the diagram

$$\mathbf{R}^m \qquad \stackrel{\lambda}{\hookrightarrow} \qquad \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^M, \mathbf{R}^N)$$
 $g \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \varphi_g$
 $\mathbf{R}^m \qquad \stackrel{\lambda}{\hookrightarrow} \qquad \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^M, \mathbf{R}^N)$

commutes for all $g \in GL_m$ (where φ_g acts in the standard way on $Hom(\mathbf{R}^M, \mathbf{R}^N)$). From this data we associate to any m-plane bundle V with connection D_V , a pair of bundles with connection:

$$E = P(V) \times_{\eta} \mathbf{R}^{M}$$
 and $F = P(V) \times_{\xi} \mathbf{R}^{M}$

where P(V) denotes the frame bundle of V. The equivariant embedding λ determines a totally geodesic, linear embedding $V \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$. Whenever (E,D_E) and (F,D_F) are determined by (V,D_V) in this manner, we say that they are given by the universal (λ,φ) construction.

Note that under our general set-up a cross-section of V determines a bundle map $E \to F$. Maps occurring in this fashion are well adapted to atomic theory [HS], and many cases of interest do occur this way.

Suppose now that $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ is a smooth cross-section of V. We consider α as a bundle map $\alpha: E \to F$ and let $\alpha^*: F \to E$ denote its adjoint. Then by Assumption 1.1 we have

$$\alpha^* \alpha = |\alpha|^2 \mathrm{Id}_E$$

and consequently

$$(1.4) (D\alpha^*)\alpha + \alpha^*(D\alpha) = d|\alpha|^2 \mathrm{Id}_{E},$$

where $D\alpha = D_F \circ \alpha - \alpha \circ D_E$ and $D\alpha^* = D_E \circ \alpha^* - \alpha^* \circ D_F$ are the canonically determined connections on Hom(E,F) and Hom(F,E) respectively.

We want to consider the pullback and pushforward connections on E and F given respectively by the formulae: (cf. I.2.7)

(1.5)
$$\overleftarrow{D} = D_E + \frac{\alpha^* D \alpha}{|\alpha|^2} \quad \text{and} \quad \overrightarrow{D} = D_F - \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}.$$

Let $\chi(t)$ be a general approximate one. As before we set $\chi_s \equiv \chi\left(\frac{|\alpha|^2}{s^2}\right)$ and $\chi'_s \equiv \chi'\left(\frac{|\alpha|^2}{s^2}\right)$. The approximating families of smooth connections are then given by

(1.6)
$$\overleftarrow{D}_s = D_E + \chi_s \frac{\alpha^* D\alpha}{|\alpha|^2} \quad \text{and} \quad \overrightarrow{D}_s = D_F - \chi_s \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}.$$

Theorem 1.7. Suppose V satisfies Assumption 1.1. Fix $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ as above and let χ be any approximate one. Consider the pull-back family \overleftarrow{D}_s of connections on E and the pushforward family \overrightarrow{D}_s of connections on F. Then the associated curvatures $\overleftarrow{R}_s = \overleftarrow{D}_s^2$ and $\overrightarrow{R}_s = \overrightarrow{D}_s^2$ are given by the following formulae:

(1.8)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s})R_{E} + \chi_{s} \overleftarrow{R}_{0} + \chi_{s}' \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{(D\alpha^{*})\alpha\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{4}}$$

$$- \left(\chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) - \chi_{s}' \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}}\right) \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{4}}$$

where

(1.9)
$$\overleftarrow{R}_{0} = R_{E} + \frac{\alpha^{*}R_{H}(\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} + \frac{(D\alpha^{*})\left(1 - \frac{\alpha\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{2}}\right)(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}}$$

and

(1.10)
$$\overrightarrow{R}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s})R_{F} + \chi_{s}\overrightarrow{R}_{0} + \chi'_{s}\frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}}\frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^{*})\alpha\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{4}} - \left(\chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) - \chi'\frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}}\right)\frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}}{|\alpha|^{4}}$$

where

$$(1.11) \overrightarrow{R}_0 = R_F - \frac{R_H(\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} + \frac{(D\alpha)(D\alpha^*)}{|\alpha|^2} \left(1 - \frac{\alpha\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}\right)$$

and where $R_H(\alpha) = R_F \alpha - \alpha R_E$ denotes the curvature of the bundle H = Hom(E, F).

Proof. Equations (1.8) and (1.10) follow from I.6.3 and I.6.5 by using the relation 1.4 above. Equations (1.9) and (1.11) come from I.6.18 and I.6.23 respectively. \square

Observation 1.12.

(a) If V has Property 1.2, then $D\alpha$ and $D\alpha^*$ use the connections on V and V^* , and

$$R_H = R_V.$$

(b) If $\chi(t) = \frac{t}{1+t}$ (algebraic approximation mode) then

$$\chi_s(1-\chi_s)-\chi_s'\frac{|\alpha|^2}{s^2} \equiv 0.$$

(c) If rank $E = \operatorname{rank} F$, then $\alpha \alpha^* = |\alpha|^2$ and we have

$$\overleftarrow{R}_0 = \frac{\alpha^* R_F \alpha}{|\alpha|^2} ; \overrightarrow{R}_0 = \frac{\alpha R_E \alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}.$$

Note 1.13. Via (1.4) the equations (1.8) and (1.10) are equivalent to the following. (This is the form in which they appear in I.6.2.)

(1.14)

$$\overleftarrow{R}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s})R_{E} + \chi_{s} \overleftarrow{R}_{0} + \chi_{s}' \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{s^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{2}} - \chi_{s}(1 - \chi_{s}) \frac{\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)\alpha^{*}(D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^{4}}$$

$$(1.15)$$

$$\overrightarrow{R}_s = (1 - \chi_s)R_F + \chi_s \overrightarrow{R}_0 + \chi_s' \frac{|\alpha|^2}{s^2} \frac{d|\alpha|^2}{|\alpha|^2} \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2} - \chi_s(1 - \chi_s) \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^4}.$$

We can now begin our study of characteristic forms and currents in this context. For the moment we restrict attention to the pull-back case.

Let ϕ be an Adjoint-invariant polynomial on $gl_n(K)$ where $n=\operatorname{rank}(E)$ and $K=\mathbf{R}$ or \mathbf{C} depending on whether the bundles are real or complex. We want to study the characteristic form $\phi(\overleftarrow{D}_s)$ and transgression forms T'_s with $dT'_s = \phi(\overleftarrow{D}_s) - \phi(D_E)$. To do this we shall first pass to the "universal case" by pulling back over V. Then before computing transgressions we shall replace our connection family \overleftarrow{D}_s by a gauge equivalent family \overleftarrow{D}'_s which, of course, leaves $\phi(\overleftarrow{D}_s)$ unchanged but produces a better behaved transgression, denoted T'_s rather than T_s .

We now pass to the total space of the vector bundle $\pi: V \to X$. Set $\mathbf{E} = \pi^* E$, $\mathbf{F} = \pi^* F$, $\mathbf{V} = \pi^* V \subset \mathrm{Hom}(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{F})$ and furnish these bundles with

the pullback connections and metrics. Let $\mathbf{v} \in \Gamma(\mathbf{V})$ denote the **tautological** cross-section defined by $\mathbf{v}_v = v$. Note that if $\alpha : X \to V$ is a cross-section of V, then

$$\alpha^*(\mathbf{v}) = \alpha.$$

We let $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}$ denote the pull-back family of connections on \mathbf{E} associated to the tautological cross-section \mathbf{v} by the approximate one $\chi(t)$. Note that

$$(1.16) \qquad \qquad \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}} = \mathbf{D}_E + \chi_s \frac{\mathbf{v}^* \mathbf{D} \mathbf{v}}{|\mathbf{v}|^2}$$

where $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}$ denotes the covariant derivative of \mathbf{v} as a section of $\mathrm{Hom}(\mathbf{E}, \mathbf{F})$. By (1.4) we have the equation

$$(1.17) d|\mathbf{v}|^2 = (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^*)\mathbf{v} + \mathbf{v}^*\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}.$$

We now perform, for each s > 0, a global scalar gauge transformation of the bundle **E** by multiplication by a function of the form e^{r_s} for $r_s \in C^{\infty}(V)$. This gives a transformed family of connections

$$(1.18) \qquad \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{s}' = e^{r_{s}} \circ \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{s} \circ e^{-r_{s}} = \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{s} - dr_{s},$$

and of course

$$(1.19) \qquad \qquad \overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{s}}' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}')^2 = (\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}})^2 = \overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{\mathbf{s}}$$

for all s. We set

$$r_s(v) = r(|v|^2/s^2)$$

where

$$r(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{\tau} \chi(\tau) d\tau.$$

Note that if $\chi(t) = t/(1+t)$, then $e^{r_s} = \frac{1}{s} \sqrt{|v|^2 + s^2}$.

A straightforward calculation using (1.17) shows that

(1.20)
$$\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}'_{\mathbf{s}} = \mathbf{D}_E + \chi_s \frac{1}{2|\mathbf{v}|^2} (\mathbf{v}^* \mathbf{D} \mathbf{v} - (\mathbf{D} \mathbf{v}^*) \mathbf{v}).$$

Lemma 1.21. The family of connections $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}'$ which is conformally gauge equivalent to the pull-back family $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}$ (and therefore has the same curvature tensor), has the following property. If \mathbf{D}_E and \mathbf{D}_F are metric compatible connections, then $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_{\mathbf{s}}'$ is also a metric compatible connection for every s > 0.

We now consider the (real) Euler vector field ϵ on V which generates the scalar multiplication flow $\varphi_t(v) = e^t v$. If e is a local framing for V over \mathbf{R} and $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m)$ are the linear fibre coordinates with respect to this framing, then $\epsilon = v \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial v} = \sum v_j \frac{\partial}{\partial v_i}$.

Lemma 1.22.

$$\epsilon \sqcup (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{v}$$
 and $\epsilon \sqcup (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^*) = \mathbf{v}^*$.

Proof. Fix a local real orthonormal framing $e = (e_1, \ldots, e_m)$ of V, and let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_m)$ be the linear fibre coordinates on V with respect to this framing. Extend the framing e_1, \ldots, e_m to a local orthonormal framing e_1, \ldots, e_M of $\operatorname{Hom}(E, F) \supset V$. Let $w_{ij} = \langle De_i, e_j \rangle_{\mathbb{R}}$ be the matrix of connection 1-forms for $\operatorname{Hom}(E, F)$ on X with respect to this framing, and let $\tilde{w}_{ij} = \pi^* w_{ij}$ denote the lift of these forms back over V. Let $\tilde{e}_i = \pi^* e_i$ for all i, so that $\mathbf{v} = \sum v_i \tilde{e}_i$. Then

$$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{D}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_i \tilde{e}_i\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} dv_i \tilde{e}_i + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{M} v_i \tilde{w}_{ij} \tilde{e}_j.$$

Recalling that $\epsilon = v \cdot \frac{\partial}{\partial v} = \sum v_i \frac{\partial}{\partial v_i}$ we see that $\epsilon \sqsubseteq \mathbf{D} \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}$.

For the second equation we consider the R-linear (C-antilinear) identification $V \xrightarrow{(\)^*} V^*$ which is the restriction of the adjoint map $(\cdot)^* : \operatorname{Hom}(E,F) \to \operatorname{Hom}(F,E)$. Then e_1^*,\ldots,e_M^* is a local orthonormal frame field for $\operatorname{Hom}(F,E)$ such that e_1^*,\ldots,e_m^* spans V^* pointwise. Let $w_{ij}^* = \langle De_i^*,e_j^* \rangle$, and set $\tilde{e}_i^* = \pi^*e_i^*$ and $\tilde{w}_{ij}^* = \pi^*w_{ij}^*$ as before. Then $\mathbf{v}^* = \sum v_i \tilde{e}_i^*$ and

$$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^{*} = \mathbf{D}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} v_{i}\tilde{e}_{i}^{*}\right) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} dv_{i}\tilde{e}_{i}^{*} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{M} v_{i}\tilde{w}_{ij}^{*}\tilde{e}_{j}^{*}$$

and we see that $\epsilon \sqcup \mathbf{D} \mathbf{v}^* = \mathbf{v}^*$ as claimed. \square

It follows immediately from (1.9), with α^* replaced by \mathbf{v}^* , that $\epsilon \sqsubseteq \overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0 = 0$. Note also that $\epsilon \sqsubseteq (\mathbf{v}^*(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})\mathbf{v}^*(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})) = 0$ and that $\epsilon \sqsubseteq d|\mathbf{v}|^2 = 2|\mathbf{v}|^2$. Set

$$\mathbf{A}(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (1-x)\mathbf{R}_E + x \overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0 - x(1-x) \frac{\mathbf{v}^*(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})\mathbf{v}^*(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})}{|\mathbf{v}|^4}$$

for an indeterminate x, and note that

From (1.14) and (1.4) we have

(1.23)
$$\begin{aligned} \overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{s} &= \mathbf{A}(\chi_{s}) + \chi'_{s} \frac{d|\mathbf{v}|^{2}}{|\mathbf{v}|^{2}} \frac{1}{s^{2}} \mathbf{v}^{*}(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) \\ &= \mathbf{A}(\chi_{s}) + \chi'_{s} \frac{d|\mathbf{v}|^{2}}{2|\mathbf{v}|^{2}} \frac{1}{s^{2}} \{\mathbf{v}^{*}(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) - (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^{*})\mathbf{v}\}. \end{aligned}$$

We now define

$$\omega_s = \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s' - \mathbf{D}_E = \chi_s \frac{1}{2|\mathbf{v}|^2} \{ \mathbf{v}^* (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) - (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^*)\mathbf{v} \}$$

and note that

$$\epsilon \sqcup \omega_{s} = 0.$$

From (1.23) we see that

(1.24)
$$\epsilon \sqsubseteq \overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{s} = \chi'_{s} \frac{1}{s^{2}} \{ \mathbf{v}^{*}(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) - (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^{*})\mathbf{v} \} = -s \frac{\partial}{\partial s} (\omega_{s}).$$

Consequently

$$(1.25) \qquad \left(\frac{-1}{s}\right)\epsilon \, \sqcup \, \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) = \phi\left(\frac{\partial\omega_s}{\partial s} \; ; \; \overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s\right),$$

the standard transgression integrand. In part, we have the transgression form

(1.26)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_E) = d \int_s^\infty \epsilon \, \mathsf{L} \, \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_t) \frac{dt}{t}.$$

We now make an important simplification

Lemma 1.27. Set

$$\Theta = -\frac{1}{2|\mathbf{v}|^2} \{ \mathbf{v}^* (\mathbf{D} \mathbf{v}) - (\mathbf{D} \mathbf{v}^*) \mathbf{v} \}.$$

Then

$$\frac{1}{s}\epsilon \, \sqcup \, \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) = \phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(\chi_s)) \, \frac{\partial}{\partial s}(\chi_s).$$

Proof. Note that $\mathbf{R}_s = \mathbf{A}(\chi_s) - \frac{1}{s^2} \chi_s' d|\mathbf{v}|^2 \Theta$, and since $d|\mathbf{v}|^2$ is a scalar 1-form

$$\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) = \phi(\mathbf{A}(\chi_s)) - \frac{1}{s^2} \chi_s' d|\mathbf{v}|^2 \wedge \phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(\chi_s)).$$

Contract this equation with ϵ . Noting that $\epsilon \perp A(\chi_s) = \epsilon \perp \Theta = 0$ and that $\epsilon \perp d|\mathbf{v}|^2 = 2|\mathbf{v}|^2$ gives the lemma. \square

Proposition 1.28. For each s > 0, the smooth form

(1.29)
$$\mathbf{T}'_{s} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \int_{0}^{s} \phi(\Theta ; \mathbf{A}(x)) dx$$

on V satisfies the equation

$$d\mathbf{T}_{s}' = \phi(\mathbf{\overline{R}}_{s}) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_{E}).$$

The limit

(1.31)
$$\mathbf{T}' \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \lim_{a} \mathbf{T}'_{s}$$

exists in $L^1_{loc}(V)$ and satisfies the equation

(1.32)
$$d\mathbf{T}' = \phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_E) + \text{Res}(\mathbf{T})[X]$$
 on V

where $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Res}(\mathbf{T}')$ is defined as in III.1.9.

When restricted to the subset V-X, each of \mathbf{T}' , $d\mathbf{T}'$ and $\phi(\mathbf{\overline{R}}_0)$ is a smooth form which is homogeneous (i.e., invariant under multiplication by positive scalars on V) and has degree $\leq m-1$ in the fibre differentials.

Proof. Note that T'_s can be written as

$$\mathbf{T}'_{s} = -\int_{s}^{\infty} \phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(\chi_{s})) \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s} \chi_{s}\right) ds.$$

Applying (1.26) and 1.27 gives the first assertion.

It is evident from the definitions of A and Θ that the integrand $\phi(\Theta; A(x))$ in (1.29) is a polynomial in x whose coefficients are homogeneous forms on V. Hence \mathbf{T}'_s can be written as a finite sum

$$\mathbf{T}_{s}' = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \psi_{k} (\chi_{s})^{k}$$

where each ψ_k is a homogeneous form (which is smooth on V-X). Furthermore, by 1.27 we see that

(1.33)
$$\epsilon \, \llcorner \, \phi \left(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x) \right) = 0.$$

Hence, each coefficient ψ_k is of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fibre differentials. In particular, ψ_k is in L^1_{loc} (cf. III.1.5). Note that $0 \leq \chi_s \leq 1$ and $\chi_s \to 1$ a.e. on V. Therefore by the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem, the limit $\lim_{s\to 0} \mathbf{T}'_s = \mathbf{T}'$ exists in L^1_{loc} on V.

Observe that $\mathbf{T}_s' \to \mathbf{T}'$ and $\mathbf{\overline{R}}_s \to \mathbf{\overline{R}}_0$ in the C^{∞} -topology on V-X. Hence we have the equation

$$d\mathbf{T}' = \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_E)$$

of smooth forms on V-X. Now from (1.9) we see that $\phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ is homogeneous and (since $\epsilon \sqcup \phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0) = 0$) has degree $\leq m-1$ in the fibre differentials. Of course $\phi(\mathbf{R}_E)$ also has these properties since it is the pull-back of a form on X. Consequently \mathbf{T}' satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem III.1.10, and equation (1.32) follows from part a) of that result. \square

Proposition 1.34. The smooth form $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ on V-X has an L^1_{loc} -extension across X which satisfies

$$d\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0) = 0 \qquad on \quad V$$

Consequently, the smooth form $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ satisfies

$$(1.35) d\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = 0 on X.$$

Proof. Since $\phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ is homogeneous and of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fibre differentials, we know from III.1.5 that it extends across X as an L^1_{loc} -form on V. We denote this L^1_{loc} -extension by $\phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0)^{\sim}$. Of course $d\phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0) = 0$ on V - X, so to prove that $d(\phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0)^{\sim}) = 0$ it suffices to prove that the residue of $\phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ is zero (cf. III.1.10).

We first suppose that V is complex of dimension n=m/2. Fix a local frame field for V and let $(Dv)_j$, $(Dv^*)_j$, $j=1,\ldots,n$ denote the scalar 1-forms on the total space of V which appear as the components of \mathbf{Dv} and \mathbf{Dv}^* with respect to (the pull-back of) this frame field. Then at each point of V-X the $\phi(\mathbf{R}_0)$ can be written in the form

$$\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{0}) = \sum_{\substack{|I|,|J| \leq n \\ |I|+|J| \leq 2n-1}} r_{I,J}(Dv)_{I}(Dv^{*})_{J}$$

where the sum is over strictly ascending multi-indices and where each $r_{I,J}$ is a polynomial in Ω_E , Ω_F . Observe that since $\deg \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$, $\deg \Omega_E$, and $\deg \Omega_F$ are all even integers, we must have $r_{I,J}=0$ whenever |I|+|J| is odd. In particular, $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ is of degree $\leq 2n-2=m-2$ in the fibre differentials. It now follows from III.1.8 that $d(\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)^{\sim})=0$. This completes the argument in the complex case.

The argument for real bundles of even rank is similar. Note that metric compatibility implies that $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^* = (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})^* = (\sum (Dv)_j \epsilon_j)^* = \sum (Dv)_j \epsilon_j^*$, and so $(Dv^*)_j = (Dv)_j$ for $j = 1, \ldots, m$. Consequently $\phi(\overline{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ has an expansion

$$\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0) = \sum_{|I| \le m-1} r_I(Dv)_I$$

analogous to the one above, where each r_I is a polynomial in Ω_E and Ω_F . Again for reasons of parity we must have $r_I = 0$ for |I| odd. Hence if m is even, then $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ is of degree $\leq m-2$ in the fibre differentials, and III.1.8 applies as above.

It remains to consider the case where V is of real and of odd rank. (Here the argument must be different.) Let $S(V) = \{v \in V : |v| = 1\}$ denote the sphere bundle with projection $\rho: S(V) \longrightarrow X$. Then by III.1.10 it will suffice to prove that

$$\int_{a} \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{0}) = 0.$$

This follows from the fact that $\mu^*\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0) = \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$, where $\mu: V \longrightarrow V$ is given by $\mu(v) = -v$, and the fact that μ reverses the orientation of the fibres of ρ .

In this last case an alternative argument can be given by observing that, when lifted to the blow-up $f: \widetilde{V} \longrightarrow V$ of V along the zero-section, $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ extends to a smooth, d-closed form, say $\hat{\phi}$. (See I.3.) Since \widetilde{V} is orientable when dim V is odd, we can then apply Proposition I.3.12 to conclude that $df_*\hat{\phi} = d(\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)^{\sim}) = 0$. \square

Remark 1.36. We introduced the conformal gauge change above precisely in order to prove that T' is homogeneous and of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fibre 1-forms. This fact enabled us to apply the general residue theorem III.1.10 for atomic sections.

This brings us to the main result of this section.

Theorem 1.37. Suppose $\pi: V \to X$ is a bundle which satisfies Assumption 1.1. Let $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ be an atomic section of V, and let ϕ be an invariant polynomial as above. Let $A(x) = \alpha^* \mathbf{A}(x)$ and $\Theta = \alpha^*(\Theta)$ be the forms obtained by substituting α for \mathbf{v} in the universal expressions above, and for each s > 0 define

$$T'_s = \int_0^{\chi_s} \phi(\Theta; A(x)) dx.$$

Then

$$dT_s' = \phi(\overleftarrow{R}_s) - \phi(R_E).$$

Furthermore $T' = \lim_{s \to 0} T'_s$ exists in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ and is given by the formula

(1.38)
$$T' = \int_0^1 \phi(\Theta; A(x)) dx = \alpha^*(\mathbf{T}')$$

which is independent of χ . In particular, the characteristic current $\phi((\overleftarrow{D})) = \lim_{s\to 0} \phi(\overleftarrow{R}_s) = dT + \phi(R_E)$ exists and is independent of the choice of the approximate-one χ used in the limiting process. Furthermore,

(1.39)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0) - \phi(R_E) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT$$

where $\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0)$ is in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ and where $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is the smooth, d-closed differential form on X given as follows. Set

(1.40)
$$\mathbf{T}' = \int_0^1 \phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x)) dx,$$

and let $\rho: S(V) \longrightarrow X$ be the projection of the unit sphere bundle $S(V) = \{v \in V : ||v|| = 1\}$. Then the residue is given by the fibre integral

(1.41)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = \int_{\rho} \mathbf{T}'.$$

In the special case where rank(E) = rank(F), we have the equation of currents and forms on X

$$\phi(R_F) - \phi(R_E) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT.$$

Proof. Proposition 1.28 and the hypothesis that α is atomic together imply that T'_s is a polynomial in $\chi_s = \chi(|\alpha|^2/s^2)$ whose coefficients are L^1_{loc} -forms on X. Since χ_s is bounded and converges to 1 almost everywhere, we have that $T'_s \to T'$ in L^1_{loc} as $s \to 0$ by the Lebesgue Dominated Convergence Theorem. This establishes the first assertion.

We now recall that the universal form $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ on V-X is homogeneous and of degree $\leq m-1$ in the fibre differentials on V. Since α is atomic, it follows that $\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0) = \alpha^*\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ is an L^1_{loc} -form on X (cf. III.1.5). Furthermore by (1.35) and (1.39) we conclude that $d\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0) = 0$.

The remainder of the theorem now follows directly from 1.28 and III.1.10. \Box

Observation 1.43. The residue $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ given in (1.41) is a smooth, d-closed differential form which is given pointwise on X by a universal invariant function applied to the curvature and connection of V. Specifically, at each $p \in X$

(1.44)
$$(\operatorname{Res}_{\phi})_{p} = \int_{\substack{|v|=1\\v\in V_{-}}} \int_{0}^{1} \phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x))_{top} dx$$

where $\phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x))_{top}$ denotes the coefficient of $\epsilon \sqcup (dv_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dv_m)$ in $\phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x))$. This residue defines a linear map

$$(1.45) I_{\mathrm{GL}_M}^* \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Res}} \mathcal{E}_X^*$$

from the Ad_{GL_M} -invariant polynomials on the Lie algebra \mathfrak{gl}_M (where $M = \operatorname{rank}(E)$) into the closed differential forms on X. We have the following fundamental result.

Theorem 1.46. The residue (1.41) is a Chern-Weil characteristic form associated universally to the bundle $E \oplus F$ with its given connection. In fact there exists a linear map of degree -m:

$$\rho: I_{\mathrm{GL}_{M}}^{*} \longrightarrow I_{\mathrm{GL}_{M}}^{*} \otimes I_{\mathrm{GL}_{M'}}^{*},$$

where $M' = \operatorname{rank}(F)$, such that the residue map (1.45) is given as the composition

$$(1.47) I_{\operatorname{GL}_{M}}^{*} \xrightarrow{\rho} I_{\operatorname{GL}_{M}}^{*} \otimes I_{\operatorname{GL}_{M'}}^{*} \xrightarrow{W^{E \oplus F}} \mathcal{E}_{X}^{*}$$

where $W^{E \oplus F}$ is the usual Chern-Weil homomorphism.

Furthermore, if the embedding $V \subset \text{Hom}(E,F)$ comes from a universal construction (i.e., if Property 1.2 holds), then the residue is a Chern-Weil characteristic form for V, i.e., the residue map (1.45) factors as above

$$(1.48) I_{\mathrm{GL}_{M}}^{*} \xrightarrow{\rho'} I_{\mathrm{GL}_{m}}^{*} \xrightarrow{W^{V}} \mathcal{E}_{X}^{*}$$

where W^V is the Chern-Weil homomorphism for V.

The linear maps ρ and ρ' are topologically determined, and so therefore is the residue map itself.

Proof. Suppose that V is complex of dimension n = m/2 and that the connection respects the complex structure. Fix a local frame field for V and let $(Dv)_j$, $(Dv^*)_j$, $j = 1, \ldots, n$ denote the scalar 1-forms on the total space of V which appear as the components of \mathbf{Dv} and \mathbf{Dv}^* with respect to (the pull-back of) this frame field. Then at each point of V - X the integrand in (1.44) can be written in the form

(1.49)
$$\phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x)) = \sum_{|I|, |J| \le n} c_{I,J}(Dv)_I(Dv^*)_J$$

where the sum is over strictly ascending multi-indices and where each $c_{I,J}$ is a polynomial in Ω_E , Ω_F , and x. By (1.33) the coefficient $c_{(1,...,n),(1,...,n)}$ of top degree is zero. Consequently, the fibre integral

(1.50)
$$\int_{|v|=1} \phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x)) dx = \sum_{|I|+|J| \le m-1} \int_{|v|=1} c_{I,J} (Dv)_I (Dv^*)_J$$
$$= \sum_{|I|+|J|=m-1} \int_{|v|=1} c_{I,J} (dv)_I (dv^*)_J.$$

contains no terms involving ω_E or ω_F . In other words the fibre integral (1.44) is a universal Ad-invariant function in Ω_E and Ω_F . Hence it is produced in the standard way from a series of homogeneous Ad-invariant polynomials on the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{gl}_M \times \mathfrak{gl}_{M'}$. We have now established the existence of the linear map ρ . This map is topologically determined since the universal Weil map $I_{\mathrm{GL}_M}^* \otimes I_{\mathrm{GL}_{M'}}^* \longrightarrow H^*(BGL_m \times BGL_{M'})$ is injective. This completes the argument in the case of complex connections.

The argument for the case of real bundles with metric-compatible connections is similar. To begin we note that metric compatibility implies that $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^* = (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})^* = (\sum (Dv)_j \epsilon_j)^* = \sum (Dv)_j \epsilon_j^*$, and so $(Dv^*)_j = (Dv)_j$ for $j = 1, \dots, m$. Consequently we have an expansion

$$\phi(\Theta; \mathbf{A}(x)) = \sum_{|I| < m} c_I(Dv)_I$$

analogous to (1.49) above. Proceeding from this point the argument is completely analogous. $\ \Box$

Theorem 1.6 asserts that the residue form (1.44) is uniquely determined by a topological determination of class at the universal level. In subsequent sections we shall carry this out explicitly for a number of important cases.

We observe now that in the universal case (over the total space of V) equation (1.39) can be rewritten as

(1.51)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_E) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[X] = d\mathbf{T}'.$$

Using the equation $d\mathbf{T}'_s = \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_E)$ from 1.28 gives

(1.52)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0) = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[X] + d(\mathbf{T}'_s - \mathbf{T}')$$

where $\mathbf{T}_s' - \mathbf{T}' \to 0$ in L^1_{loc} as $s \to 0$. We now observe that the forms $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0)$ and $\mathbf{T}_s' - \mathbf{T}'$ can be integrated over the fibres of $\pi: V \to X$. This follows from Corollary I.6.17 by restricting to the compactification of $V \subset \mathrm{Hom}(E, F)$ in $G_p(E \oplus F)$. Applying π_* to (1.52) gives the following.

Proposition 1.53. Alternative Formula for the Residue. The residue form in the universal case can be written as

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = \pi_* \{ \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_0) \}.$$

Proof. Note that $\pi_*d(\mathbf{T}_s'-\mathbf{T}')=d\pi_*(\mathbf{T}_s'-\mathbf{T}')$, and that $\pi_*(\mathbf{T}_s'-\mathbf{T}')=0$ because $\mathbf{T}_s'-\mathbf{T}'$ is of degree < m in the fibre 1-forms dv_1,\ldots,dv_m . \square

This Proposition has an important interpretation at the cohomology level. Let $H_{\text{cpt}}^*(V; \mathbf{R})$ denote the deRham cohomology of V with compact supports in the fibre directions. If V is oriented, there is a **Thom isomorphism**

$$i_!: H^*(X; \mathbf{R}) \longrightarrow H^{*+m}(V; \mathbf{R})$$

whose inverse

$$(i_!)^{-1} = \pi_! : H^{*+m}(V; \mathbf{R}) \longrightarrow H^*(X; \mathbf{R})$$

is given by integration over the fibre. Suppose now that rank $E = \operatorname{rank} F$ and choose an approximate-one χ so that $\chi(t) \equiv 1$ for $t \geq 1$. Then $\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s$ is a connection on $\mathbf{E} = \pi^* E$ with the property that

$$\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s = \overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_0 = \mathbf{v}^{-1} \circ (\mathbf{D}_F) \circ \mathbf{v}$$

outside the s-neighborhood $(X)_s \stackrel{\text{def.}}{=} \{v \in V : |v| < s\}$ of the zero section. Consequently

$$\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_F) \equiv 0 \quad \text{on } V - (X)_s$$

and thereby determines a class

$$\left[\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_F)\right] \in H^*_{\mathrm{cpt}}(V;\mathbf{R}).$$

This class is an invariant of the triple $(\pi^*E, \pi^*F; \mathbf{v})$ in the following sense. Suppose $\mathbf{w}: \pi^*E \to \pi^*F$ is a bundle isomorphism defined in $V - (X)_t$ for some t > 0, and homotopic over $V - (X)_t$ to the map \mathbf{v} . Suppose D' and D'' are connections in π^*E and π^*F respectively with the property that $D' = \mathbf{w}^{-1} \circ D'' \circ \mathbf{w}$ in $V - (X)_t$. Let $R^{(k)} = (D^{(k)})^2$. Then the standard Chern-Weil argument shows that

$$[\phi(R') - \phi(R'')] = [\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_F)] \text{ in } H^*_{\text{cpt}}(V; \mathbf{R}).$$

We denote this class simply by $[\phi(\mathbf{R}_E) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_F)]$.

Proposition 1.53 has the following important consequence

Corollary 1.54. The cohomology class of the residue form on X is given by

$$[\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}] = \pi_! [\phi(\mathbf{R}_E) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_F)].$$

If furthermore Property 1.2 holds, then both E and F are associated to the bundle V, and the class $\phi(R_E) - \phi(R_F)$ is universally divisible by the Euler class $\chi(V)$ of V. In this case, the residue form is given precisely by the formula

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \equiv \frac{\phi(R_E) - \phi(R_F)}{\chi(V)},$$

where the right hand side denotes the Chern-Weil representative of this universal class for the connection on V.

Proof. The first assertion follows immediately from 1.53. To prove the second assertion we consider the case of the universal bundle with some connection $V_0 \to X_0 \sim \mathrm{BGL}_m$ over a finite-dimensional approximation to the classifying space (i.e., the tautological m-plane bundle over the Grassmannian of oriented m-planes in \mathbf{R}^{m+n} for n large). The universal construction comes from an embedding $\mathbf{R}^m \hookrightarrow \mathbf{R}^M \times \mathbf{R}^N$ equivariant with respect to a homomorphism $y = (\eta, \xi)$: $\mathrm{GL}_m \to \mathrm{GL}_M \times \mathrm{GL}_N$. We define the associated bundles $E_0 = P(V_0) \times_{\eta} \mathbf{R}^M$ and $F_0 = P(V_0) \times_{\eta} \mathbf{R}^N$ with connections determined by the one already chosen on the frame bundle $P(V_0)$ of V_0 .

Now over the total space of V_0 we have already established the formula

$$[\phi(\mathbf{R}_{E_0}) - \phi(\mathbf{R}_{F_0})] = i_![\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}]$$

where $i_! = (\pi_!)^{-1}$ is the Thom isomorphism and $i: X_0 \hookrightarrow V_0$ denotes the inclusion of the zero section. A basic formula for the Thom isomorphism is that

$$i^*i_![\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}] = \chi(V_0)[\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}].$$

Hence

$$[\phi(R_{E_0}) - \phi(R_{F_0})] = \chi(V_0)[\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}]$$

in $H^*(X_0; \mathbf{R})$. Since $H^*(\mathrm{BGL}_m; \mathbf{R})$ is a polynomial algebra, and since the inclusion $X_0 \hookrightarrow \mathrm{BGL}_m$ can be assumed to be k-connected for k arbitrarily large, we conclude that there is a universal class

$$[\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}]_{0} = \frac{[\phi(R_{F_{0}}) - \phi(R_{E_{0}})]}{\chi(V_{0})} \in H^{*}(\operatorname{BGL}_{m}; \mathbf{R}) \cong I_{\operatorname{GL}_{m}}^{*}(gl_{m}).$$

Any embedding of bundles $V \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(E,F)$ which comes from the φ -universal construction is topologically a pull-back of the one given by the bundles V_0 , E_0 and F_0 over BGL_m by the map $f_V:X\to\operatorname{BGL}_m$ which classifies V. Hence the associated residue has cohomology class $f_V^*[\operatorname{Res}_\phi]_0$. By Theorem 1.46 we know that Res_ϕ is actually given pointwise on X by the Chern-Weil representative of this class, i.e., by applying the Ad_{GL_m} -invariant function corresponding to $[\operatorname{Res}_\phi]_0$ to the curvature of the connection on V. \square

Remark 1.55. The non-orientable case. Suppose that V is not orientable and let $p: \widetilde{X} \longrightarrow X$ be the 2-sheeted covering space corresponding to the first Stiefel-Whitney class

$$w_1(V) \in H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}_2) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\pi_1(X), \mathbb{Z}_2).$$

The pull-back bundle $\widetilde{V} = p^*V$ on \widetilde{X} is orientable and the deck transformation $g: \widetilde{X} \longrightarrow \widetilde{X}$ lifts to a bundle map

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \widetilde{V} & \stackrel{g_V}{\longrightarrow} & \widetilde{V} \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ \widetilde{X} & \stackrel{g}{\longrightarrow} & \widetilde{X} \end{array}$$

which is orientation-reversing on the fibres.

Any smooth cross-section $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ lifts to a g-invariant cross-section $\tilde{\alpha} \in \Gamma(\tilde{V})$, and it is easy to see that

$$(1.56) g_* \operatorname{Div}(\tilde{\alpha}) = -\operatorname{Div}(\tilde{\alpha}).$$

We can now apply Theorem 1.37 to the pull-back bundles p^*E and p^*F to obtain an equation of currents

(1.57)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0) - \phi(R_E) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\widetilde{\alpha}) = dT'$$

on \widetilde{X} . For any $\phi \in I_{\mathrm{GL}_m}^*$ the forms $\phi(\overline{R}_0)$ and $\phi(R_E)$ are constructed without regard to orientations on either \widetilde{X} or \widetilde{V} . Hence,

$$g^*\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0) = \phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0)$$
 and $g^*\phi(R_E) = \phi(R_E),$

and for similar reasons

$$g^*T' = T'.$$

Consequently, we have that

$$(1.58) g^*(\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}\operatorname{Div}(\tilde{\alpha})) = \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}\operatorname{Div}(\tilde{\alpha})$$

and in particular by (1.56) that

$$(1.59) g^* \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}.$$

It follows that the formula

(1.60)
$$\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_0) - \phi(R_E) + \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT'$$

holds down on X, where the term $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}\operatorname{Div}(\alpha)$ is defined via the g-invariance (1.58).

Remark 1.61. It should be noted that the transgression forms T'_s in Theorem 1.37 are produced out of the canonically modified family of connections \overrightarrow{D}'_s . Let us consider the transgression T_s given by the unmodified family \overrightarrow{D}_s . Since

 $\overrightarrow{R}'_s = \overrightarrow{R}_s$ and $\overrightarrow{D}'_s - \overrightarrow{D}_s = -dr_s$, we see directly from the standard formulas (e.g., I.1.18) that

(1.62)
$$T_s' - T_s = \int_s^\infty \phi(d\dot{r}_t ; \Omega_t) dt = d \int_s^\infty \phi(\dot{r}_t ; \Omega_t) dt.$$

Since $dr_s = \chi d\log |v|$ this can be rewritten as

(1.63)
$$T'_s - T_s = \int_s^\infty d\log |v| \phi(1; \Omega_t) \dot{\chi}_t dt.$$

From (1.63) we see that

(1.64)
$$T'_{s} \equiv T_{s} \quad \text{if} \quad \phi(1; \Omega_{t}) \equiv 0.$$

We also conclude that if α is atomic then $T = \lim_{s \to 0} T_s$ exists and, since d has closed range, there exists a current R with

$$(1.65) T'-T = dR.$$

2. Quaternionic Line Bundles.

In this section we consider the quaternionic analogue of the case discussed in Chapter II. The results are in striking parallel with those of the complex case.

Throughout this section we suppose that E and F are quaternion line bundles over a smooth manifold X (with scalar multiplication from the left) and that E and F carry connections, D_E and D_F respectively, with respect to which scalar multiplication by any quaternion is parallel.

We consider the bundle

$$V \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{R}}(E, F) \subset \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{R}}(E, F)$$

of quaternion-linear maps from E to F. V is a real bundle of rank 4. However it does not in general carry a quaternionic structure, nor even a natural complex

structure. Note that for $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$, we have that $D\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} D_F \circ \alpha - \alpha \circ D_E$ is also a section of V by our assumption of quaternion compatibility for D_E and D_F .

Suppose $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ is an atomic section, i.e., $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$ is an atomic quaternionic bundle map. Consider the $L^1_{loc}(X)$ one form with values in $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{H}}(E)$ given by

$$\tau \equiv \alpha^{-1} \circ D\alpha.$$

Similar to the complex line bundle case we may consider

$$D\alpha = \alpha \tau$$

as defining τ . However, in the complex case $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{C}}(E)$ is canonically isomorphic to \mathbf{C} .

If E and F are furnished with metrics with respect to which scalar multiplication by unit quaternions is a pointwise isometry then one easily checks that

(2.2)
$$\alpha^* \alpha = |\alpha|^2 \mathrm{Id}_E \quad \text{and} \quad \alpha \alpha^* = |\alpha|^2 \mathrm{Id}_F,$$

so that $\alpha^{-1} = \alpha^* |\alpha|^{-2}$. Thus

(2.3)
$$\tau = \frac{\alpha^* \circ (D\alpha)}{|\alpha|^2}.$$

For some of the results we must assume that the connections D_E and D_F are metric compatible. The pull back family of connections on E is given by

$$(2.4) \qquad \qquad \overleftarrow{D}_s \equiv D_E + \chi_s \tau.$$

Note that for each fixed $0 < s \le \infty$ the connection \overline{D}_s is quaternionic.

For the sake of simplicity we shall only consider the pullback family. The pushforward family is defined by $\overrightarrow{D}_s = D_F - \chi_s \tau'$ where τ' is defined by $\tau' = (D\alpha)\alpha^{-1} = \frac{(D\alpha)\alpha^*}{|\alpha|^2}$, or $D\alpha = \tau'\alpha$, and is a one form with values in $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{H}}(F)$.

For quaternion line bundles there is essentially one topological invariant. The classifying space is $B\mathbf{H}^{\times} = \mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{H}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbf{P}^{n}(\mathbf{H})$, the infinite-dimensional

quaternion projective space (with the weak limit topology). The cohomology is a polynomial ring

$$H^*(\mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{H}) ; \mathbf{Z}) = \mathbf{Z}[\mathbf{u}]$$

where the generator $\mathbf{u} \in H^4(\mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{H}); \mathbf{Z})$, called the instanton class, arises as

(2.5)
$$\mathbf{u} = \chi(\xi_{\mathbf{H}}) = c_2(\xi_{\mathbf{H}}) = -\frac{1}{2}p_1(\xi_{\mathbf{H}}),$$

the Euler, second Chern, and $-\frac{1}{2}$ (first Pontrjagin) classes respectively of the universal quaternion line bundle $\xi_{\mathbf{H}} \longrightarrow \mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{H})$. Now Chern-Weil theory gives an explicit isomorphism of $H^*(\mathbf{P}^{\infty}(\mathbf{H}) \; ; \; \mathbf{R}) = \mathbf{R}[u]$ with the $Ad_{\mathbf{H}^{\times}}$ -invariant polynomials on $\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{H}, \mathbf{H}) \cong \mathbf{H}$. The integral generator above corresponds to the polynomial

(2.6)
$$u(Y) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} tr(Y^2)$$

for $Y \in \text{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{H}, \mathbf{H})$.

The standard transgression applied to the family \overleftarrow{D}_s on E yields

$$(2.7) u(\overleftarrow{R}_s) - u(R_E) = dT_s$$

where

(2.8)
$$8\pi^2 T_s = -\int_s^\infty \operatorname{tr}(\overleftarrow{D}_t; \overleftarrow{R}_t) dt.$$

Theorem 2.9. Let E and F be quaternionic hermitian line bundles over a manifold X, furnished with quaternionic hermitian connections D_E and D_F . Let $e = u(R_E)$ and $f = u(R_F)$ be the Chern-Weil representatives of the instanton classes of these bundles. Suppose $\alpha : E \to F$ is an atomic section of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E, F)$.

Then $T \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} T_s$ converges in $L^1_{loc}(X)$. The instanton transgression T satisfies

$$(2.10) f - e - \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT,$$

and is independent of χ and the metrics.

Fix any polynomial $\phi(u) \in \mathbf{R}[u]$. Then the $\phi(u)$ -characteristic current of the pullback connection exists and equals

(2.11)
$$\lim_{s \to 0} \phi(u(\overleftarrow{R}_s)) = \phi(f) - \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) \wedge \left\{ \frac{\phi(f) - \phi(e)}{f - e} \right\}$$

where the limit exists in the Federer flat norm topology and is independent of the function χ as well as the metrics \langle , \rangle_E and \langle , \rangle_F used to define this approximating family \overleftarrow{D}_s . Furthermore,

(2.12)
$$\lim_{s \to 0} \phi(u(\overleftarrow{R}_s)) - \phi(e) = dT_{\phi}$$

where T_{ϕ} is the L^{1}_{loc} -form on X defined by

$$(2.13) T_{\phi} = \frac{\phi(f) - \phi(e)}{f - e} T$$

In particular, we have the current equation

(2.14)
$$\phi(f) - \phi(e) - \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) \wedge \left\{ \frac{\phi(f) - \phi(e)}{f - e} \right\} = dT_{\phi}.$$

Remark 2.15. Quaternionic Poincaré-Lelong. If E is trivialized and given the corresponding flat connection, then $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E,F) \cong \Gamma(F)$. In this case, for a given section $\alpha \in \Gamma(F)$, Equation (2.10) gives a quaternionic analogue of the Poincaré-Lelong Formula, namely,

$$f - \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT.$$

Proof. Once we have verified that the general rubric of Section 1 applies then by Theorem 1.37

(2.16)
$$\lim_{s \to 0} \phi(u(\overleftarrow{R}_s)) = \phi(f) - \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}.$$

In particular, with $\phi(u) = u$

$$(2.17) f - e + \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) \operatorname{Res}_{u} = dT$$

where Res_u is (locally) constant. We shall give three different proofs that the instanton residue equals minus one,

This will verify equation (2.10).

Differentiating (2.13) and using (2.10) immediately yields (2.14). The equation (2.11) follows from (2.16) and the fact that

(2.19)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = -\frac{\phi(f) - \phi(e)}{f - e}.$$

If T'_{ϕ} denotes the Chern-Weil transgression of Section 1 then by equation (1.42)

(2.20)
$$\phi(f) - \phi(e) + \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = dT'_{\phi}$$

Comparing (2.14) and (2.20) yields that $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ and $-\frac{\phi(f)-\phi(e)}{f-e}$ belong to the same cohomology class. Because of Theorem 1.46 this is enough to prove (2.19).

Consequently, the proof will be complete once we have verified that Section 1 applies and that the instanton residue equals minus one.

As noted above if $\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ then $D\alpha \in \Gamma(V)$ is also a section of $V \equiv \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E,F) \subset \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{R}}(E,F)$. Consequently, V is totally geodesic in $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{R}}(E,F)$. Since $\alpha^*\alpha = |\alpha|^2 \operatorname{Id}_E$ and $\alpha\alpha^* = |\alpha|^2 \operatorname{Id}_F$, our Basic Assumption 1.1 is satisfied. In fact we have the following.

Lemma 2.21. The universal construction. Property 1.2 holds under the hypotheses stated above.

Proof. Let **H** denote the quaternions and take the standard identification $\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{R}^4$ by the basis (1, i, j, k). Let **H** act on itself by scalar multiplication from the left. Define

$$\lambda: \mathbf{H} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^4, \mathbf{R}^4)$$

by associating to $q \in \mathbf{H}$ the linear map $\lambda_q : \mathbf{H} \to \mathbf{H}$ given by $\lambda_q(r) = r \cdot q$. This identifies \mathbf{H} with $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{H}, \mathbf{H}) \subset \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^4, \mathbf{R}^4)$.

The restriction of $\lambda^{-1}=1/\lambda$ to the multiplicative group $\mathbf{H}^{\times}\stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=}\mathbf{H}-\{0\}$ gives a Lie group homomorphism $\lambda^{-1}:\mathbf{H}^{\times}\stackrel{\approx}{\longrightarrow}\mathrm{GL}_1(\mathbf{H})\subset\mathrm{GL}_4(\mathbf{R})$. Consider the product homomorphism

(2.23)
$$\varphi = (\lambda^{-1}, \lambda^{-1}) : \mathbf{H}^{\times} \times \mathbf{H}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_{1}(\mathbf{H}) \times \mathrm{GL}_{1}(\mathbf{H}).$$

The natural action of $GL_1(\mathbf{H}) \times GL_1(\mathbf{H})$ on $\mathbf{H} = Hom_{\mathbf{H}}(\mathbf{H}, \mathbf{H})$ induces a homomorphism

$$\psi: \mathbf{H}^{\times} \times \mathbf{H}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_{4}$$

given by

$$\psi_{(q_1,q_2)}(q) = q_1 q q_2^{-1}$$

for $q \in \mathbf{H} \cong \mathbf{R}^4$. This action factors through an embedding

$$\tilde{\psi}: \mathbf{H}^{\times} \times \mathbf{H}^{\times}/\mathbf{R}^{\times} \hookrightarrow \mathbf{GL}_{4}$$

whose image is the conformal group in 4-dimensions.

It is easy to check that for any $g = (q_1, q_2) \in \mathbf{H}^{\times} \times \mathbf{H}^{\times}$, the diagram

$$egin{array}{lll} \mathbf{H} & \stackrel{\lambda}{\hookrightarrow} & \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^4,\mathbf{R}^4) \\ \psi_g & & & & & \downarrow ilde{arphi}_g \\ \mathbf{H} & \stackrel{\lambda}{\hookrightarrow} & \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^4,\mathbf{R}^4) \end{array}$$

commutes, where $\tilde{\varphi}_g(T) = \lambda_{q_2}^{-1} \circ T \circ \lambda_{q_1}$ is the induced action on $\text{Hom}(\mathbf{R}^4, \mathbf{R}^4)$. Hence, the embedding (2.22) and the homomorphism (2.23) constitute the data for a universal construction.

Suppose now that we are given a principal $\mathbf{H}^{\times} \times \mathbf{H}^{\times}$ bundle with connection. Then $E \oplus F$ is the bundle associated to the representation φ and $V \subset \mathrm{Hom}(E,F)$ is the bundle associated to ψ . Similarly, the bundle $V^* = \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(F,E)$ is associated to the opposite representation $\tilde{\psi}$. Hence, our set-up comes from a universal construction as claimed. \square

Because of Lemma 2.13 the results of Section 1 are applicable. Our first proof of the remaining lemma is topological.

Lemma 2.24.
$$Res_u = -1$$
.

Proof. Since Property 1.2 is satisfied, this lemma follows directly from the universal topological formula

(2.25)
$$\chi(V) = [f] - [e].$$

This formula is rather well-known (See [BL] for example). It follows from the observation that up to homotopy equivalence we may replace the homomorphism $\psi: \mathbf{H}^{\times} \times \mathbf{H}^{\times} \longrightarrow \mathrm{GL}_{4}^{+}$ by its restriction

$$\psi_0: Sp_1 \times Sp_1 = Spin_4 \longrightarrow SO_4.$$

(This is the usual 2-fold covering). Restricting further to the maximal tori yields the map

$$\psi_0\left(e^{i\theta},e^{i\varphi}\right) = \left(e^{i(\theta+\varphi)},e^{i(\theta-\varphi)}\right).$$

One now considers the induced map $B\psi_0: BS^1 \times BS^1 \to BS^1 \times BS^1$ and the pullback in cohomology to complete the calculation of (2.25), which comes down essentially to:

$$\chi(V) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} X_1 X_2 = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} (x_1 + x_2)(x_1 - x_2) = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} (x_1^2 - x_2^2) = [f] - [e].$$

This proves the lemma and completes the proof of the Theorem if the transgression T is interpreted as the transgression T' of the modified family D'_s of Section 1. However, Remark 1.61 and equation (1.64) are applicable so that the transgression T'_s of Section 1 equals the transgression T_s defined by (2.8). Note that if $\phi(\Omega_s) \equiv (\operatorname{tr}(\Omega_s^2))^p$ then $\phi(1; \Omega_s) = 2p \operatorname{tr}\Omega_s(\operatorname{tr}(\Omega_s^2))^{p-1}$ which vanishes since $\operatorname{tr}\Omega_s = 0$ by metric compatibility. \square

In order to explicitly describe the instanton transgression T it is convenient to use the form $\tau' \equiv (D\alpha)\alpha^{-1}$ as well as $\tau = \alpha^{-1}(D\alpha)$.

Theorem 2.26. The Instanton Transgression Form. For any atomic quaternionic line bundle map $E \xrightarrow{\alpha} F$, the instanton transgression form T is given by the formula

$$(2.27) 16\pi^2 T = -tr(\tau R_E) - tr(\tau' R_F) + \frac{1}{3}tr(\tau^3)$$

Proof. We must compute

(2.28)
$$16\pi^2 T_s = -\int_{s}^{\infty} 2\operatorname{tr} \overleftarrow{D}_{t} \overleftarrow{R}_{t} dt.$$

Obviously $\overleftarrow{D}_s = \dot{\chi}_s \tau$, and by I.6.3 (or V1.15 and V1.12c) the curvature \overleftarrow{R}_s is given by

$$(2.29) \qquad \overleftarrow{R}_{s} = (1 - \chi_{s}) R_{E} + \chi_{s} \frac{\alpha^{*} R_{F} \alpha}{|\alpha|^{2}} - \chi_{s} (1 - \chi_{s}) \tau^{2} + \chi'_{s} \frac{|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \frac{d|\alpha|^{2}}{|\alpha|^{2}} \tau.$$

To complete the proof we need a lemma.

Lemma 2.30. Suppose τ is an arbitrary $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{H}}(E)$ -valued 1-form. Then

$$tr(\tau^2) = 0.$$

Proof. Locally, we may assume that τ is an **H**-valued one form since, locally, $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{H}}(E) \cong \mathbf{H}$ as algebras. Also, the trace equals four times the real part. Now $\tau = \tau_0 + i\tau_1 + j\tau_2 + k\tau_3$ with τ_0 , τ_1 , τ_2 , τ_3 one forms implies that $\operatorname{Re} \tau^2 = 0$. Computing (2.28) directly, using (2.29) and $\overleftarrow{D} = \dot{\chi}_s \tau$, gives

$$16\pi^{2}T_{s} = 2\int_{0}^{\chi_{s}} \operatorname{tr}\left(\tau\left((1-x)R_{E} + x\alpha^{-1}R_{F}\alpha - x(1-x)\tau^{2}\right)\right)dx$$

$$(2.31)$$

$$= 2(\chi_{s} - \frac{1}{2}\chi_{s}^{2})\operatorname{tr}(\tau R_{E}) + \chi_{s}^{2}\operatorname{tr}(\tau \alpha^{-1}R_{F}\alpha) - 2(\frac{1}{2}\chi_{s}^{2} - \frac{1}{3}\chi_{s}^{3})\operatorname{tr}(\tau^{3}).$$

The $\operatorname{tr}\dot{\chi}_s\tau\chi_s'\frac{|\alpha|^2}{s^2}\frac{d|\alpha|^2}{|\alpha|^2}\tau$ term drops by Lemma 2.30. The term $\operatorname{tr}(\tau\alpha^{-1}R_F\alpha)$ can be rewritten as $\operatorname{tr}(\tau'R_F)$.

The atomic hypothesis implies that T_s converges, in $L^1_{loc}(X)$, to T defined by (2.27). \square

Second Proof of Lemma 2.24. Consider the total space of $V \equiv \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E, F)$. Let ρ denote projection from the unit sphere subbundle of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E, F)$ to the base manifold. Because of the formula (2.27) for the instanton potential T_s

(2.32)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{u}(\overleftarrow{D}) = \int_{\rho} T = \frac{1}{48\pi^{2}} \int_{|\alpha|=1} \operatorname{tr}(\tau^{3}).$$

Here $\tau = \mathbf{v}^{-1}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}$ is the form corresponding to the tautological section \mathbf{v} of the pullback bundle \mathbf{V} of $V \equiv \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E, F)$ over itself.

The form $\operatorname{tr}(\tau^3)$ has a particularly nice expression. Let e and f denote frames for E and F and let $\alpha(e) = vf$ define $v \in H$. This gives the local identification $V = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E, F) \cong \mathbf{H}$. Note that $\alpha^{-1}(f) = v^{-1}e$. Let $\alpha_1(e) = f$, $\alpha_2(e) = if$, $\alpha_3(e) = jf$ and $\alpha_4(e) = kf$ be the basic associated orthonormal frame for V.

Lemma 2.33. Let $\epsilon = v \frac{\partial}{\partial v}$ be the Euler vector field on the total space of V, and let $\tau = \mathbf{v}^{-1} D \mathbf{v}$ be the form corresponding to the tautological section $\mathbf{v} = \sum_{i=1}^{4} v_i \alpha_i$.

Then $D\mathbf{v} = \sum_{i=1}^{4} (Dv)_i \alpha_i$ defines local 1-forms $(Dv)_i = dv_i + \sum v_k w_{ki}$, and

$$\frac{1}{24}\operatorname{tr}(\boldsymbol{\tau}^3) = \epsilon \sqcup \left(\frac{(Dv)_1 \wedge (Dv)_2 \wedge (Dv)_3 \wedge (Dv)_4)}{|v|^4}\right).$$

Proof. In replacing endomorphism-valued forms by matrix-valued forms, minus signs are sometimes introduced. For example, dvv^{-1} is the matrix form of τ while $-(dvv^{-1})^2$ is the matrix form of τ^2 . Also, τ^3 has matrix form $-(dvv^{-1})^3$ (cf. I.6.3 and I.6.8). For the sake of convenience, but only in this proof, we shall let $\tilde{\tau} \equiv \mathbf{v}^{-1}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}$ denote the operator version and let $\tau = Dvv^{-1}$ denote the matrix version. In addition, for the sake of clarity, we shall give the proof with $(Dv)_i$ replaced by dv_i . In fact, as a slight digression we shall describe several quaternion valued differential form identities on \mathbf{H} . Define $\tau = dvv^{-1}$ for $v \in \mathbf{H}$. Since trace equals four times the real part we must show that

(2.34)
$$\frac{1}{6}\operatorname{Re}\tau^{3} = -\epsilon \sqcup \left(\frac{dv_{1} \wedge dv_{2} \wedge dv_{3} \wedge dv_{4}}{|v|^{4}}\right).$$

where τ is the matrix version $\tau = dvv^{-1}$. Now Re $\tau = \frac{1}{2}(\tau + \bar{\tau}) = \frac{1}{2}\frac{dv\bar{v} + vd\bar{v}}{|v|^2} = d\log|v|$ is exact. Define $\sigma \equiv \text{Im } \tau = \frac{1}{2}(\tau - \bar{\tau})$, or equivalently $\tau = d\log|v| + \sigma$.

(The reader may wish to verify that $d\sigma = d\tau = \sigma^2 = \bar{\tau}^2$ and that $\frac{dv \wedge d\bar{v}}{|v|^2} = \tau \bar{\tau} = -2d \log |v| \wedge \sigma - \sigma^2$, $\tau \bar{\tau} = 2d \log |v| \wedge \sigma - \sigma^2$.)

Direct calculation yields

$$dv \wedge d\bar{v} \wedge dv \wedge d\bar{v} = -24dv_1 \wedge dv_2 \wedge dv_3 \wedge dv_4.$$

(Use that fact that $e_i\bar{e}_j + e_j\bar{e}_i = 2\delta_{ij}$ with $e_1 = 1$, $e_2 = i$, $e_3 = j$, $e_4 = k$. Also note that $dvd\bar{v}dvd\bar{v}$ is real.) However,

$$-\epsilon \, \sqcup \, \left(\frac{d\bar{v} \wedge dv \wedge dv \wedge d\bar{v}}{|v|^4} \right) = \bar{\tau}\tau\bar{\tau} - \tau^2\bar{\tau} + \tau(\bar{\tau})^2 - \tau\bar{\tau}\tau$$
$$= 4\sigma^3.$$

This proves that

$$(2.35) \qquad \frac{1}{6}\sigma^3 = \frac{-\epsilon \sqcup dv_1 \wedge dv_2 \wedge dv_3 \wedge dv_4}{|v|^4}.$$

Finally, note that $\sigma^3 = \operatorname{tr}(\tau^3)$ since $\sigma^2 = d\sigma$ is purely imaginary. \square

The proof that $\operatorname{Res}_u(\overleftarrow{D}) = -1$ can now be completed using this lemma.

$$\operatorname{Res}_{u}(\overleftarrow{D}) = \frac{-1}{48\pi^{2}} \int_{|v|=1} \operatorname{tr}(\tau^{3}) = -\frac{1}{2\pi^{2}} \int_{|v|=1} \frac{\epsilon \bigsqcup (dv_{1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dv_{4})}{|v|^{4}} = -1,$$

because of (2.32), Lemma 2.33, and the fact that $\operatorname{vol}(S^3) = 2\pi^2$. \square

Note. Each choice of frames e, f induces a local isomorphism $V \cong \mathbf{H}$ via $\alpha(e) = vf$, $v \in \mathbf{H}$. This local isomorphism is easily seen to be unique up to a conformal map of \mathbf{H} to \mathbf{H} . Thus V is naturally equipped with a conformal structure. Moreover, for each choice of metrics $\langle \cdot, \rangle_E, \langle \cdot, \rangle_F$, compatible with the quaternion structures, the induced metric on $V \subset \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{R}}(E, F)$ is always in this conformal class. The form $\operatorname{tr}(\tau^3)$, restricted to the fibers of V is conformally invariant.

The metrics on E and F are necessary in order to define the pullback family $\overleftarrow{D}_s = D_E + \chi_s \alpha^{-1} D\alpha$ because the norm $|\alpha|^2$ in the expression $\chi_s \equiv \chi(|\alpha|^2/s^2)$ depends on the metrics. However, the assumption that the connections D_E and D_F are metric compatible is not needed in the proof of Theorem 2.26. That is,

 $\lim_{s\to o} T_s = T$ converges in $L^1_{loc}(X)$ to the instanton transgression T given by (2.27). Since τ and τ' are well defined without the use of metrics, the instanton transgression T is also metric independent.

The next result is in complete parallel with the complex case. In particular, it is metric independent.

Theorem 2.36. Suppose E and F are quaternionic line bundles over a manifold X furnished with quaternionic connections D_E and D_F . Suppose $E \stackrel{\alpha}{\to} F$ is an atomic section of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{H}}(E,F)$. Then the instanton transgression T defined by (2.27) satisfies

$$u(R_E) - u(R_F) - \text{Div}(\alpha) = dT$$

as an equation of currents on X.

Proof. Because of the results of Chapter III.1, it suffices to calculate that the residue of T is -1 directly from the formula for T. This was done in the second proof of Lemma 2.24 presented above. \square

Remark 2.37. Twisted Quaternionic Scalars. Motivated by examples such as the tangent bundle to $\mathbf{P}^1(\mathbf{H}) = S^4$ it is natural to weaken the definition of quaternionic line bundle by replacing \mathbf{H} by a bundle A of \mathbf{H} -algebras, which is not necessarily trivial. An \mathbf{A} -quaternionic line bundle E is a real rank 4 vector bundle E equipped with an action of A, i.e., A is embedded as a subbundle of algebras of the endomorphism bundle $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{R}}(E)$. Consider a pair E, F of A-quaternionic line bundles. The subbundle of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{R}}(E,F)$ consisting of A-quaternionic linear maps (on each fiber) will be denoted

$$V \equiv \operatorname{Hom}_A(E, F).$$

The natural invariant to use in extending the previous results is the Euler form. Consequently, we must assume metric compatibility. That is assume E and F are equipped with A-quaternionic metric compatible A-quaternionic connections D_E , $\langle \ , \ \rangle_E$ and D_F , $\langle \ , \ \rangle_F$. Moreover, assume that the embeddings $A \subset \operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{R}}(E)$ and $A \subset \operatorname{End}_{\mathbf{R}}(F)$ induce the same connection D_A on A and induce the canonical metric $\langle \ , \ \rangle_A$ on A determined by the algebraic structure of A. Let D_V , $\langle \ , \ \rangle_V$ denote the induced metric compatible connection on $V \equiv \operatorname{Hom}_A(E,F) \subset \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbf{R}}(E,F)$.

(2.38)
$$\chi(D_F) - \chi(D_E) - \text{Div}(\alpha) = dT$$

extends the quaternionic Poincaré-Lelong formulas in Equation (2.7) and Remark 2.15.

Actually, for the parts of the statement of Theorem 2.9 involving the family of connections D_s , it is natural to replace the family (2.4) by a metric compatible family, as was done in Chapter IV.

Because of the similarities with the standard quaternionic case the details of the A-quaternionic case are omitted, except for a discussion of a key fact. Namely, the Euler class of V is just the difference

$$\chi(V) = \chi(F) - \chi(E),$$

in the A-quaternionic case. The topological argument used to establish (2.25) can also be used to verify (2.39). In fact, this result is true on the level of forms, yielding a direct proof of (2.38) and a third proof of Lemma 2.24.

Proposition 2.40. Suppose E and F are A-quaternion line bundles equipped with metric compatible A-quaternionic connections. Then

$$(2.41) Pf(\Omega_V) = Pf(\Omega_F) - Pf(\Omega_E).$$

Proof. It is convenient to have matrices acting on the left of frames, so we assume that the A-quaternions act on E and F on the right. Choose a local orthonormal frame I, J, K for Im A. A fibre of E should have the orientation induced by the complex structure I. Consequently, we choose oriented orthonormal frames e, eI, eJ, -eK for E; and f, fI, fJ, -fK for F. Note that I(eJ) = eJI = -eK. Set

$$\Omega_A \; = \; \left(egin{array}{cccc} 0 & \Omega_A^3 & \Omega_A^2 \ -\Omega_A^3 & 0 & -\Omega_A^1 \ -\Omega_A^2 & \Omega_A^1 & 0 \end{array}
ight),$$

i.e.,

$$R_A(I) = \Omega_A^3 J + \Omega_A^2 K$$
 etc.

Let

$$R_F f = \Omega_F^1 f I + \Omega_F^2 f J - \Omega_F^3 f K$$

define the first row of the curvature matrix Ω_F . The remaining rows are determined by using the fact that

$$R_A(a) = R_F \circ a - a \circ R_F$$
 for $a \in \Gamma(A)$.

For example, with a = I we have

$$R_{F}(fI) = (R_{A}(I))(f) + I(R_{F}f) = \Omega_{A}^{3}fJ + \Omega_{A}^{2}fK + (\Omega_{F}^{1}fI + \Omega_{F}^{2}fJ - \Omega_{F}^{3}fK)I$$

= $-\Omega_{F}^{1}f + (\Omega_{A}^{3} - \Omega_{F}^{3})fJ + (\Omega_{A}^{2} - \Omega_{F}^{2})fK$.

Similarly, one computes $R_F(fJ)$. Therefore,

$$\Omega_F = egin{pmatrix} 0 & \Omega_F^1 & \Omega_F^2 & \Omega_F^3 \ -\Omega_F^1 & 0 & \Omega_A^3 - \Omega_F^3 & -(\Omega_A^2 - \Omega_F^2) \ -\Omega_F^2 & -(\Omega_A^3 - \Omega_F^3) & 0 & \Omega_A^1 - \Omega_F^1 \ -\Omega_F^3 & \Omega_A^2 - \Omega_F^2 & -(\Omega_A^1 - \Omega_F^1) & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The curvature Ω_E is exactly the same as Ω_F except Ω_F^i should be replaced by Ω_E^i i = 1, 2, 3.

Now we calculate Ω_V . Consider the local oriented orthonormal frame α_0 , α_1 , α_2 , α_3 for $V \equiv \operatorname{Hom}_A(E, F)$ defined by $\alpha_0(e) = f$, $\alpha_1(e) = fI$, $\alpha_2(e) = fJ$, $\alpha_3(e) = fK$. Again, recall that $R_V(\alpha) = R_F \circ \alpha - \alpha \circ R_E$. Therefore,

$$(R_{V}(\alpha_{0}))(e) = R_{F}f - \alpha_{0}(R_{E}e)$$

$$= \Omega_{F}^{1}fI + \Omega_{F}^{2}fJ - \Omega_{F}^{3}fK - \alpha_{0}\left(\Omega_{E}^{1}eI + \Omega_{E}^{2}eJ - \Omega_{E}^{3}eK\right)$$

$$= \left(\Omega_{F}^{1} - \Omega_{E}^{1}\right)fI + \left(\Omega_{F}^{2} - \Omega_{E}^{2}\right)fJ - \left(\Omega_{F}^{3} - \Omega_{E}^{3}\right)fK.$$

Similarly,

$$R_V(\alpha_1) = -\left(\Omega_F^1 - \Omega_E^1\right)\alpha_0 + \left(\Omega_A^3 - \Omega_F^3 - \Omega_E^3\right)\alpha_2 + \left(-\Omega_A^2 + \Omega_F^2 + \Omega_E^2\right)\alpha_3,$$
and
$$R_V(\alpha_2) = \dots + \left(-\Omega_A^1 + \Omega_F^1 + \Omega_E^1\right)\alpha_3.$$
 Thus

$$\Omega_V = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Omega_F^1 - \Omega_E^1 & \Omega_F^2 - \Omega_E^2 & \Omega_F^3 - \Omega_E^3 \\ -(\Omega_F^1 - \Omega_E^1) & 0 & \Omega_A^3 - \Omega_F^3 - \Omega_E^3 & -(\Omega_A^2 - \Omega_F^2 - \Omega_E^2) \\ -(\Omega_F^2 - \Omega_E^2) & -(\Omega_A^3 - \Omega_F^3 - \Omega_E^3) & 0 & \Omega_A^1 - \Omega_F^1 - \Omega_E^1 \\ -(\Omega_F^3 - \Omega_E^3) & \Omega_A^2 - \Omega_F^2 - \Omega_E^2 & -(\Omega_A^1 - \Omega_F^1 - \Omega_E^1) & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

If

$$\Omega \ = \ egin{pmatrix} 0 & \Omega_1 & \Omega_2 & \Omega_3 \ -\Omega_1 & 0 & \Sigma_3 & -\Sigma_2 \ -\Omega_2 & -\Sigma_3 & 0 & \Sigma_1 \ -\Omega_3 & \Sigma_2 & -\Sigma_1 & 0 \ \end{pmatrix}$$

then

$$Pf(\Omega) = \Omega_1 \Sigma_1 + \Omega_2 \Sigma_2 + \Omega_3 \Sigma_3.$$

Consequently,

$$Pf(\Omega_V) = (\Omega_F^1 - \Omega_E^1) (\Omega_A^1 - \Omega_F^1 - \Omega_E^1) + \cdots$$

$$= \Omega_F^1 (\Omega_A^1 - \Omega_F^1) - \Omega_E^1 (\Omega_A^1 - \Omega_E^1) + \cdots$$

$$= Pf(\Omega_F) - Pf(\Omega_E). \quad \Box$$

3. Dirac Morphisms.

In this section we shall examine the important family of bundle morphisms which arise from Clifford multiplication. They appear naturally in various constructions of the Thom isomorphism in K-theory, and they arise as the principal symbols of the standard families of elliptic operators. In this context, our theory is particularly nice. The formalism is elegant. The results are canonical and the limit currents are independent of any choice of approximation mode.

Given a vector bundle $\pi: V \to X$ which is, say, complex or spin, there are Thom isomorphisms $i_!: K(X) \longrightarrow K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(V)$ and $i_!: H^*(X) \longrightarrow H^*_{\mathrm{cpt}}(V)$, and a diagram

$$K(X) \xrightarrow{i_!} K_{\text{cpt}}(V)$$

$$ch \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow ch$$

$$H^*(X) \xrightarrow{i_!} H^*_{\text{cpt}}(V)$$

which commutes up to a factor. In our study of the Euler class we established a canonical "Chern-Weil" representation of this diagram with K-Theory replaced by bundles-with-connection and cohomology replaced by closed differential forms. (See III.5 and IV.5.) However, in that approach the theorems and their proofs were pulled magically out of a hat.

In this section we shall derive these results as a natual consequence of our philosophy, by looking at the Chern character of the pullback connection under Clifford multiplication. The commutativity factor in the diagram above will come out as a fundamental residue.

We begin with some definitions. Throughout this section $\pi: V \to X$ will denote a smooth, real vector bundle of rank m equipped with a metric $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ and an orthogonal connection D. We shall denote by $C\ell(V) \to X$ the associated Clifford bundle of V with its induced metric and connection (cf. [LM]). Let $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ be a bundle of \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded modules over $C\ell(V)$, and assume S is furnished with a direct sum metric and connection $D_{S^+} \oplus D_{S^-}$.

By definition of $C\ell(V)$ we have

$$v \cdot v = -|v|^2 \mathbf{1}$$

for all $v \in V \subset C\ell(V)$. Hence the composition $V \subset C\ell(V) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(S^+, S^-)$ satisfies Assumption 1.1. We should assume further that the metric and connection on S are adapted to this Clifford multiplication as follows.

Definition 3.1. The bundle S is called a Dirac bundle if

(a)
$$\langle vs, s' \rangle + \langle s, vs' \rangle = 0 \quad \forall v \in V \text{ and } \forall s, s' \in S,$$

(b)
$$D_S(\varphi\sigma) = (D\varphi)\sigma + \varphi(D_S\sigma)$$

for all $\varphi \in \Gamma(C\ell(V))$ and $\sigma \in \Gamma(S)$. (See [LM] for more details.)

Example 3.2. Let $S = C\ell(V)$ with its metric and connection, and with the standard even-odd grading $C\ell(V) = C\ell^{\text{even}}(V) \oplus C\ell^{\text{odd}}$.

To begin we shall work on the total space of V. As in section 1 we set $\mathbf{V} = \pi^* V$ and $\mathbf{S}^{\pm} = \pi^* S^{\pm}$, and we let \mathbf{D} , $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{S}^{\pm}}$ denote the pullback connections on these bundles. Note that there is a canonical embedding

$$(3.3) V \subset TV$$

as the subbundle tangent to the fibres of $\pi:V\to X$. The connection on V determines a complement to this, i.e., a splitting

$$(3.4) TV = \mathbf{V} \oplus \mathbf{H}$$

Let $\mathbf{v} \in \Gamma(\mathbf{V})$ denote the tautological section as in §1, and consider the V-valued 1-form $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}$. As a linear map, $\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}: TV \to \mathbf{V}$ is just projection along \mathbf{H} onto \mathbf{V} , i.e.,

(3.5)
$$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v} \mid_{\mathbf{V}} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathbf{V}} \quad \text{and} \quad \ker \mathbf{D}\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{H}.$$

If we choose a local orthogonal normal frame field (e_1, \ldots, e_m) for V and lift it to a frame field (e_1, \ldots, e_m) for V, then $\mathbf{v} = \sum v_j e_j$ where (v_1, \ldots, v_m) are the linear fibre coordinates. Writing $De_j = \sum_k \omega_{jk} e_k$, we get the expression

(3.6)
$$\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v} = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left(dv_k + \sum_{j=1}^{m} v_j \omega_{jk} \right) \mathbf{e}_k \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{k=1}^{m} Dv_k \mathbf{e}_k$$

in terms of the local gauge ω . Of course, by definition we have

$$(3.7) D^2 \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{R}(\mathbf{v})$$

where \mathbf{R} is the (pullback) of the curvature of V. In terms of the local frame above

(3.8)
$$\mathbf{D}^2 \mathbf{v} = \sum_{j,k=1}^m v_j \Omega_{jk} \mathbf{e}_k.$$

We recall that $V \subset C\ell(V)$ is totally geodesic. Hence, by assumption 3.1.b the inclusion

(3.9)
$$V \mapsto \text{Hom}(S^+, S^-)$$
 is totally geodesic.

From assumption 3.1.a we have that

$$\mathbf{v}^* = -\mathbf{v}.$$

Hence we have canonical connection-preserving identification $\mathbf{V} \stackrel{\cong}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{V}^*$ given by $-\mathrm{Id}_{\mathbf{v}}$, and in particular,

$$(3.11) (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})^* = \mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}^*.$$

Whenever our map $\mathbf{v}: \mathbf{S}^+ \to \mathbf{S}^-$ is given by a standard Clifford constructions, Property 1.2 will hold.

We now fix an approximate 1 and consider the families of connections

(3.12)
$$\overleftarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s = \mathbf{D}_{S^+} + \chi_s \mathbf{v}^{-1}(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) \text{ and } \overrightarrow{\mathbf{D}}_s = \mathbf{D}_{S^-} - \chi_s(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})\mathbf{v}^{-1}$$

where $\mathbf{v}^{-1} = -\frac{1}{|\mathbf{v}|^2}\mathbf{v}$. The corresponding curvatures are given by

(3.13)
$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{s} = \mathbf{R}^{+} + \chi_{s} \mathbf{v}^{-1} \mathbf{R}(\mathbf{v}) - \chi_{s} (1 - \chi_{s}) \boldsymbol{\tau}^{2} + \chi_{s}' \frac{d|\mathbf{v}|^{2}}{s^{2}} \boldsymbol{\tau}$$

$$\overrightarrow{\mathbf{R}}_{s} = \mathbf{R}^{-} - \chi_{s} \mathbf{R}(\mathbf{v}) \mathbf{v}^{-1} - \chi_{s} (1 - \chi_{s}) (\boldsymbol{\tau}^{-1})^{2} + \chi_{s}' \frac{d|\mathbf{v}|^{2}}{s^{2}} \boldsymbol{\tau}^{-1}$$

where $\mathbf{R}^{\pm} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \mathbf{R}_{S^{\pm}}$ and where

(3.14)
$$\tau \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -\frac{1}{|\mathbf{v}|^2} \mathbf{v}(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{v}^{-1}(\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v})$$
 and $\tau^{-1} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -\frac{1}{|\mathbf{v}|^2} (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) \mathbf{v} = (\mathbf{D}\mathbf{v}) \mathbf{v}^{-1}$.

The expressions (3.13) can be rewritten using the equation

(3.15)
$$\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{v}) = \mathbf{R}^- \circ \mathbf{v} - \mathbf{v} \circ \mathbf{R}^+.$$

We now consider the expressions in the indeterminant x given by

(3.16)
$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{A}^{+}(x) = \mathbf{R}^{+} + x\mathbf{v}^{-1}\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{v}) - x(1-x)\boldsymbol{\tau}^{2} \\ \mathbf{A}^{-}(x) = \mathbf{R}^{-} - x\mathbf{R}(\mathbf{v})\mathbf{v}^{-1} - x(1-x)\boldsymbol{\tau}^{-2}. \end{cases}$$

These can be rewritten via (3.15) as

(3.17)
$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{A}^{+}(x) = (1-x)\mathbf{R}^{+} + x\mathbf{v}^{-1} \circ \mathbf{R}^{-} \circ \mathbf{v} - x(1-x)\boldsymbol{\tau}^{2} \\ \mathbf{A}^{-}(x) = (1-x)\mathbf{R}^{-} + x\mathbf{v} \circ \mathbf{R}^{+} \circ \mathbf{v}^{-1} - x(1-x)\boldsymbol{\tau}^{-2}. \end{cases}$$

Note the close relationship between $\mathbf{A}^+(x)$ and $\mathbf{v}^{-1}\mathbf{A}^-(x)\mathbf{v}$ since $\boldsymbol{\tau} = \mathbf{v}^{-1}\boldsymbol{\tau}^{-1}\mathbf{v}$. From the main results in §1 we have the following.

Theorem 3.18. Let $\pi: V \to X$ be an oriented Riemannian vector bundle with connection and suppose $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ is a Dirac bundle for V as above. Fix an approximate-one χ and consider the families (3.12) of pullback and pushforward connections associated to Clifford multiplication $\mathbf{v}: \mathbf{S}^+ \to \mathbf{S}^-$ (where $\mathbf{S}^\pm = \pi^* S^\pm$) by the tautological section defined over the total space of V. For each Ad-invariant polynomial ϕ defined on gl_N (where $N = \operatorname{rank} S^+ = \operatorname{rank} S^-$), the characteristic currents $\lim_{s\to 0} \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s^+)$ and $\lim_{s\to 0} \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s^-)$ exist and are independent of χ . In fact we have equations

(3.19)
$$\begin{cases} \phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\mathbf{R}^-) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[X] = d\mathbf{r}_s^+ \\ \phi(\mathbf{R}^+) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[X] = d\mathbf{r}_s^- \end{cases}$$

where

(3.20)
$$\mathbf{r}_{s}^{\pm} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \int_{Y_{s}}^{1} \phi(\tau^{\pm 1} ; \mathbf{A}^{\pm}(x)) dx$$

are L^1_{loc} -forms which converge to zero in L^1_{loc} on V as $s \to 0$. In particular we have the current equation

(3.21)
$$\phi(\mathbf{R}^+) - \phi(\mathbf{R}^-) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi}[X] = dT$$

where

(3.22)
$$\mathbf{T} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \int_{0}^{1} \phi(\boldsymbol{\tau} ; \mathbf{A}(x)) dx$$

is an L^1_{loc} form on V which is smooth on V-X. The residue is a smooth form on X given explicitly by the fibre integral

(3.23)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = \int_{\rho} \mathbf{T}$$

where $\rho: \{v \in V : |v| = 1\} \to X$ is the bundle projection. If S is associated to V by a universal construction (i.e., Property 1.2 holds) then $\operatorname{Res}_{\phi}$ is exactly the Chern-Weil form

(3.24)
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\phi} = \frac{\phi(R^{+}) - \phi(R^{-})}{\chi(R)}$$

representing the universal class

(3.25)
$$\frac{\phi(S^{+}) - \phi(S^{-})}{\chi(V)}$$

defined in $H^*(BSO_m)$.

Remark 3.26. Suppose χ is chosen with the property that $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$. Then $\phi(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \phi(\mathbf{R}^-)$, $\phi(\mathbf{R}^+) - \phi(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s)$, and \mathbf{r}_s^{\pm} all have support in the s-tubular neighborhood

$$B_s(V) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{v \in V : |v| \le s\} \subset V.$$

Consequently if X is compact, then (3.19) is an equation between forms with compact support.

Proof. The pullback case is a direct consequence of 1.37 and 1.50, with the exception of the formulae (3.20) and (3.22) where Θ has been replaced by τ . This substitution is permitted because $\tau \equiv \Theta$ (mod $d|\mathbf{v}|^2$).

By Remark I.4.28, the pushforward connection on \mathbf{S}^- corresponds to the pullback via the map $\mathbf{v}^* = -\mathbf{v} : \mathbf{S}^- \to \mathbf{S}^+$. (Note that since our connections are orthogonal, the canonical isomorphisms $(\mathbf{S}^{\pm})^* = \mathbf{S}^{\pm}$, given by the metrics, are connection preserving.) Applying the pullback case to this map gives everything but the explicit formula (3.20). For this we observe that $\phi(\tau^{-1} ; \mathbf{A}^-(x)) = \phi(\mathbf{v}^{-1}\tau^{-1}\mathbf{v} ; \mathbf{v}^{-1}\mathbf{A}^-(x)\mathbf{v}) = \phi(\tau ; \widetilde{\mathbf{A}}^+(x))$ where $\widetilde{\mathbf{A}}^+(x)$ denotes the expression obtained from $\mathbf{A}^+(x)$ in (3.17) by interchanging \mathbf{R}^+ and \mathbf{R}^- . This completes the proof. \square

Theorem 3.27. Let $\pi: V \to X$ and $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ be as in Theorem 3.18, and suppose that α is an atomic section of V. Fix an approximate-one χ and consider the families of pullback and pushforward connections associated to Clifford multiplication $\alpha: S^+ \to S^-$ by α . For each Ad-invariant polynomial ϕ defined on gl_N , the characteristic currents $\phi((\overleftarrow{D}_s^+)) \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\overleftarrow{R}_s^+)$ and $\phi((\overrightarrow{D}_s^-)) \equiv \lim_{s \to 0} \phi(\overrightarrow{R}_s^-)$ exist, are independent of χ , and satisfy the equations

$$\phi(\overleftarrow{R}_s) - \phi(R^-) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dr_s^+$$

$$\phi(R^+) - \phi(\overrightarrow{R}_s) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dr_s^-$$

where r_s^{\pm} are L_{loc}^1 -forms which converge to zero in L_{loc}^1 on X as $s \to 0$. In particular we have the current equation

$$\phi(R^+) - \phi(R^-) - \operatorname{Res}_{\phi} \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) = dT$$

where $T = \alpha^* \mathbf{T}$ is an L^1_{loc} -form on X and where Res_{ϕ} is the canonical residue form defined in Theorem 3.18.

Proof. This is also a direct consequence of Theorem 1.37.

Remark 3.28. If χ has the property that $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \geq 1$, then $\phi(\overset{\leftarrow}{R}_s) - \phi(R^-)$, $\phi(R^+) - \phi(\vec{R}_s)$, and r_s^{\pm} all have support in the s-neighborhood

$$U_s(\Sigma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{x \in X : |\alpha(x)| \le s\}.$$

We now examine some important cases.

Corollary 3.29. The Spin Case. Let $\pi: V \to X$ be an oriented real 2n-plane bundle with orthogonal connection. Suppose V carries a spin structure and let $\mathfrak{F}^{\pm}(V)$ denote the complex spinor bundles with connection canonically associated to V. Let E be any complex bundle with a unitary connection, and consider the Dirac bundle $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ where $S^{\pm} = \mathfrak{F}^{\pm}(V) \otimes_{\mathbf{C}} E$ with the tensor product connections. Then Theorems 3.18 and 3.27 apply. In particular, for any atomic section α of V we have the current equation

$$(3.30) ch\left(R_{\beta_{\mathbf{C}}^{+}\otimes E}\right) - ch\left(R_{\beta_{\mathbf{C}}^{-}\otimes E}\right) = ch(R_{E})\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(R_{V})\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT$$

on X, where $ch(u) = tr\left(\exp\left(\frac{i}{2\pi}u\right)\right)$ and where $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}$ denotes the $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}$ -series (cf. IV.5).

Proof. Formula (3.30) is a direct consequence of the standard fact from topology that

$$\frac{\operatorname{ch}(\mathcal{S}^+(V) \otimes E) - \operatorname{ch}(\mathcal{S}^-(V) \otimes E)}{\chi(V)} = \operatorname{ch}(E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(V)$$

which was established, for example, in IV.5 above. \square

Remark 3.31. Corollary 3.29 is a restatement of the Rectifiable Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch Theorem proved in IV.5. Notice that in this case the statement and proof come naturally from our philosophy of considering the characteristic currents associated to pullback connections. By contrast, finding the arguments given in Chapter IV required considerable hindsight.

Example 3.32. Consider the spin case in the universal setting of 3.18 where $\alpha = \mathbf{v}$. Suppose $\chi(t) = 1$ for $t \ge 1$ and X is compact. Let $\phi = \text{ch}$ as above. Then by Remark 3.28 each equation (3.19) can be written

(3.33)
$$\operatorname{ch}_{\operatorname{cpt},s} = \operatorname{ch}(\mathbf{R}_E)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(\mathbf{R}_V)[X] + d\mathbf{r}_s$$

where $\operatorname{ch}_{\operatorname{cpt},s} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{ch}(\overleftarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s) - \operatorname{ch}(\mathbf{R}_{\beta^+}) (\operatorname{orch}(\mathbf{R}_{\beta^+}) - \operatorname{ch}(\overrightarrow{\mathbf{R}}_s))$ and \mathbf{r}_s are forms with compact support on V. Thus $\operatorname{ch}_{\operatorname{cpt},s}$ for s>0 is a canonical family of Chern-Weil representatives of the class

ch
$$\left[\mathbf{\beta}_{\mathbf{C}}^{+} \otimes E, \; \mathbf{\beta}_{\mathbf{C}}^{-} \otimes E \; ; \; \mathbf{v} \right] \in H_{\mathrm{cpt}}^{*}(V)$$

where $[\mathbf{\beta}_{\mathbf{C}}^{+} \otimes E, \mathbf{\beta}_{\mathbf{C}}^{-} \otimes E ; \mathbf{v}] \in K_{\mathrm{cpt}}(V)$ is the element determined by the identifying $\mathbf{\beta}_{\mathbf{C}}^{+} \otimes E$ with $\mathbf{\beta}_{\mathbf{C}}^{-} \otimes E$ outside a compact set via the map \mathbf{v} . As $s \to 0$, the forms \mathbf{r}_{s} converge to 0 in L_{loc}^{1} . Thus we have convergence $\mathrm{ch}_{\mathrm{cpt},s} \to \mathrm{ch}(\mathbf{R}_{E})\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(\mathbf{R}_{V})[X]$, as $s \to 0$, in the flat topology on V. This gives the direct proof of the commutativity of the diagram (up to a factor) mentioned at the beginning of this section.

Example 3.34. If $\chi(t) = t/(1+t)$ (i.e., algebraic approximation mode) each equation in (3.19) can be written, in analogy with (3.33), as

(3.35)
$$\operatorname{ch}_{L^{1},s} = \operatorname{ch}(\mathbf{R}_{E})\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(\mathbf{R}_{V})[X] + d\mathbf{r}_{s}$$

where $\operatorname{ch}_{L^1,s}$ and \mathbf{r}_s are integrable when restricted to each fibre. This family is absolutely canonical. As shown in Chapter I, the forms in (3.35) extend smoothly to the compactification $\mathbf{P}(\mathbf{C} \oplus V) \supset V$.

Example 3.36. If $\chi(t) = 1 - e^{-t}$ (i.e., transcendental approximation mode), the comments of 3.34 also apply. Here the characteristic forms look "Gaussian" in each fibre. This family is closely related to the one constructed by Quillen via superconnections [Q].

Remark 3.37. (The real case) Corollary 3.29 could be restated for a bundle $\pi: V \to X$ of real dimension m, where $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ is the real Dirac bundle associated to a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded $\mathbb{C}\ell_m$ -module (cf. [LM]) and where E is a real vector

bundle with connection. If $m \not\equiv 0 \pmod 4$ the residue term is always zero. If $m = 4 \pmod 8$, the fundamental real spinor bundles coincide with the complex ones. In fact they carry a quaternionic structure. When $m \equiv 0 \pmod 8$, the fundamental real spinor bundles complexify to give the complex ones. They determine a Thom isomorphism $i_!: KO(X) \to K_{\rm cpt}(V)$ in KO-theory which under complexification becomes the Thom isomorphism in K-theory. Since the Pontrjagin classes are defined in terms of the complexification of the bundle, the residues here are computable from the complex case.

Corollary 3.38. The Spin^c Case. Let $\pi: V \to X$ be an oriented real 2n-plane bundle with orthogonal connection, and suppose V carries a Spin^c-structure. Let $\mathcal{F}^{\pm}_{\mathbf{C}}(V)$ denote the fundamental spinor bundles with connection associated to V, and let λ denote the complex line bundle with connection associated to the Spin^c-structure (cf. [LM]). Consider a complex bundle E with unitary connection and construct a Dirac bundle $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ with $S^{\pm} = \mathcal{F}^{\pm}_{\mathbf{C}}(V) \otimes E$ as in 3.29. Then Theorems 3.18 and 3.27 apply. In particular for any atomic section α of V we have the current equation on X:

$$(3.39) \quad ch\left(R_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{C}}^{+}\otimes E}\right) - ch\left(R_{\mathcal{F}_{\mathbf{C}}^{-}\otimes E}\right) = ch\left(R_{E}\right)e^{\frac{1}{2}c_{1}(\lambda)}\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(R_{V})\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT.$$

Proof. This is proved in direct analogy with 3.29. □

Remark 3.40. The complex case. A basic special case of Corollary 3.38 occurs when $\pi:V\to X$ is a complex vector bundle with unitary connection. The Spin^c -structure is then canonical, and we have that

$$\mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{C}}^+ \cong \bigoplus_{k \geq 0} \Lambda_{\mathbf{C}}^{2k} V^* \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \Lambda_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathrm{even}} V^* \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{S}_{\mathbf{C}}^- \cong \bigoplus_{k \geq 0} \Lambda_{\mathbf{C}}^{2k+1} V^* \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \Lambda_{\mathbf{C}}^{\mathrm{odd}} V^*.$$

Clifford multiplication by the complex vector v is given by

$$v\cdot\varphi \ = \ v^* \wedge \varphi - v \, \llcorner \, \varphi$$

where $(\cdot)^*: V \to V^*$ is the hermitian metric. In this case the residue in (3.39) has the special form

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{ch}} = \operatorname{ch}(R_E)\operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(R_V)$$

where Todd denotes the polynomial corresponding to the total Todd class. (The derivation of this used the standard identity: $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-1}(V) = \exp(c_1(V)) \operatorname{Todd}^{-1}(V)$. Hence Corollary 3.38 gives a direct derivation and proof of the Rectifiable GRR Theorem III.5.9 (in analogy with Remark 3.31 above).

Theorem 3.18 is equally interesting when the bundle V is not spin or Spin^c .

Corollary 3.41. The signature case. Let $\pi: V \to X$ be an oriented 2n-plane bundle with orthogonal connection, and let $\omega_{\mathbf{C}} \in \Gamma(\mathcal{C}\ell(V) \otimes \mathbf{C})$ denote the volume element of V given by

$$\omega_{\mathbf{C}} = (-i)^n e_1 \dots e_{2n}$$

where e_1, \ldots, e_{2n} is any local oriented orthonormal frame field for V. Set

$$C\ell^{\pm} = (1 \pm \omega_{\mathbf{C}}) C\ell(V) \otimes \mathbf{C},$$

then ± 1 eigenbundles for left Clifford multiplication by $\omega_{\mathbf{C}}$. Then Theorems 3.18 and 3.27 apply to any Dirac bundle of the form $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ where

$$S^{\pm} = C\ell^{\pm} \otimes E$$

and where E is any complex bundle with unitary connection. In this case we have that

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{ch}} = 2^n \operatorname{ch}(R_E) \widehat{\mathbf{L}}(R_V) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-2}(R_V)$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{L}}$ represents multiplicative series of Pontrjagin classes associated to the formal power series

$$\frac{x/2}{\tanh(x/2)}$$

In particular for any atomic section α of V we have the current equation on X:

$$ch(R_{C\ell^+\otimes E}) - ch(R_{C\ell^-\otimes E}) = 2^n ch(R_E) \widehat{\mathbf{L}}(R_V) \widehat{\mathbf{A}}^{-2}(R_V) \operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT.$$

Note. $\widehat{L}_n(R_V) = \left(\frac{1}{4}\right)^n L_n(R_V)$ where L_n is the classical Hirzebruch L-polynomial.

Proof. This follows directly from 3.18 and the formulae in [LM, III.12]. \Box

Note. We have changed the convention for the sign of the volume form here from that used in [LM]. Specifically,

$$\omega_{\mathbf{C}} = (-1)^n \tilde{\omega}_{\mathbf{C}}$$

where $\tilde{\omega}_{\mathbf{C}}$ denotes the volume form appearing in [LM]. As a consequence there is a change in the sign (by $(-1)^n$) in our residue formulas from the formulas one would expect from directly [LM].

Recall that Example 3.2 gives a standard construction of a Dirac bundle associated to any real m-dimensional bundle V as follows. We decompose

$$\mathrm{C}\ell(V) = \mathrm{C}\ell^{\mathrm{even}}(V) \oplus \mathrm{C}\ell^{\mathrm{odd}}(V) \cong \Lambda^{\mathrm{even}}(V) \oplus \Lambda^{\mathrm{odd}}(V)$$

where $C\ell^{\text{even}}(V)$ and $C\ell^{\text{odd}}$ are the +1 and -1 eigenbundles respectively for the automorphism $\alpha: C\ell(V) \to C\ell(V)$ generated by -Id: $V \to V$. Let E be any complex bundle with unitary connection over X and set

$$(3.42) S^{+} = C\ell^{\text{even}}(V) \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} E ; S^{-} = C\ell^{\text{odd}}(V) \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} E.$$

Corollary 3.43. The even-odd form case. Consider the Dirac bundle $S = S^+ \oplus S^-$ given by (3.42) above. Then Theorems 3.18 and 3.27 apply to this bundle. If V is oriented and $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V) = 2n$, then $\operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{ch}}$ is the canonical Chern-Weil representative of

$$[\operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{ch}}] = (-1)^n \chi(V) \operatorname{ch}(E) \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-2}(V).$$

If $\dim_{\mathbf{R}}(V)$ is odd, then $\operatorname{Res}_{\operatorname{ch}} = 0$.

In particular for any atomic section α of V we have the current equation on X:

$$ch\left(R_{\Lambda^{\text{even}}(V)\otimes E}\right) - ch\left(R_{\Lambda^{\text{odd}}(V)\otimes E}\right) = (-1)^n ch\left(R_E\right)\chi(R_V)\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-2}(R_V)\operatorname{Div}(\alpha) + dT.$$

when $\dim_{\mathbf{R}}(V) = 2n$, and

$$ch\left(R_{\Lambda^{\text{even}}(V)\otimes E}\right) - ch\left(R_{\Lambda^{\text{odd}}(V)\otimes E}\right) = dT.$$

when $\dim_{\mathbf{R}}(V)$ is odd.

Proof. To compute the residue formula we apply the splitting principle and formally write V as a sum of oriented 2-plane bundles $V = V_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus V_n$ with $x_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \chi(V_i)$. Let $\lambda_{-1}(V \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C}) = \mathbf{C}\ell^{\text{even}}(V) \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C} - \mathbf{C}\ell^{\text{odd}}(V) \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C}$. Then we have

$$ch(S^{+}) - ch(S^{-}) = ch(\lambda_{-1}(V \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C}) \otimes_{\mathbf{C}} E)$$

$$= ch(\lambda_{-1}(V \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C})) ch(E)$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{n} (1 - e^{x_{i}})(1 - e^{-x_{i}}) ch(E)$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{n} (e^{-x_{i}/2} - e^{x_{i}/2})(e^{x_{i}/2} - e^{-x_{i}/2}) ch(E)$$

$$= (-1)^{n} (x_{1} \dots x_{n})^{2} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\sinh(x_{i}/2)}{x_{i}/2} \right)^{2} ch(E)$$

$$= (-1)^{n} \chi(V)^{2} \widehat{\mathbb{A}}^{-2}(V) ch(E).$$

We now apply 1.54 to compute the residue form.

If $\dim_{\mathbf{R}} V$ is odd, we replace V by $V \oplus \mathbf{R}$ with the direct sum connection. The residue is unchanged but can now be computed by the formula above. Since $\chi(\mathbf{R}_{V \oplus \mathbf{C}}) \equiv 0$ we get the result. \square

The residue in 3.43 could be rewritten by using the identity: $\widehat{\mathbb{A}}^2(V) = \operatorname{Todd}(V \otimes_{\mathbf{R}} \mathbf{C})$.

VI. Further Applications and Future Directions

Much of this paper is devoted to quite specialized cases of bundle maps. However, these cases have much wider applicability than is apparent at first. In this chapter we shall briefly indicate how these applications are made. A full development of the resulting geometric formulae is given in a separate article [HL1]. A deeper analysis of the general theory for the case of arbitrary bundle maps will be done in the sequel [HL2] to this paper.

1. The Top Degeneracy Current and Chern Classes.

Here we study the geometry associated to a linear family of cross-sections of a bundle. To begin, fix a smooth complex vector bundle $F \longrightarrow X$ of rank n with a connection D_F . Suppose we are given a set of $k+1 \le n$ cross-sections μ_0, \ldots, μ_k of F. This is equivalent to being given a bundle map

$$\alpha: \underline{\mathbf{C}}^{k+1} \longrightarrow F$$

from the trivial (k+1)-plane bundle, where $\mu_j = \alpha(e_j)$ and e_j is the standard j^{th} basis element. Let $\underline{\mathbf{P}} = \mathbf{P}(\underline{\mathbf{C}}^{k+1}) = \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{C}^{k+1}) \times X$ be the projectivization of the trivial bundle $\underline{\mathbf{C}}^{k+1}$ over X, and denote by $U \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbf{P}}$ the tautological line bundle with its standard connection (pulled back from the case where X is a point). Let

$$\pi: \underline{\mathbf{P}} \longrightarrow X$$

denote the projection onto the base X. The bundle map α determines a bundle map

$$\tilde{\alpha}: U \longrightarrow \mathbf{F},$$

(where $\mathbf{F} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi^* F$) by composing α with the canonical inclusion $U \longrightarrow \mathbf{C}^{k+1}$.

Definition 1.4. The family of cross-sections α is said to be **k-atomic** if the associated map $\tilde{\alpha}$ is atomic. Under this hypothesis the associated **degeneracy** current of the family is defined by

$$\mathbb{D}_k(\alpha) = \pi_* \operatorname{Div}(\tilde{\alpha}).$$

Note that

$$\operatorname{spt}\mathbb{D}_k(\alpha) \subset \{x \in X : \mu_0(x), \dots, \mu_k(x) \text{ are linearly dependent} \}.$$

One considers \mathbb{D}_k to be the current which appropriately measures the degeneration of linear independence in the family α (just as $\mathrm{Div}(\mu)$ is the appropriate measure of the vanishing of a section μ).

Theorem 1.5. Let α be a family of k+1 cross-sections of F which is k-atomic. Then there is a L^1_{loc} current σ on X, canonically defined for each choice of hermitian metric on F, such that

$$c_{n-k}(D_F) - \mathbb{D}_k(\alpha) = d\sigma.$$

Moreover for each approximation mode there exist families of smooth forms ψ_s and σ_s , $0 < s \le \infty$, with

$$c_{n-k}(D_F) - \psi_s = d\sigma_s,$$

such that

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} \sigma_s = 0 \quad and \quad \lim_{s \to 0} \sigma_s = \sigma \quad in \quad L^1_{\text{loc}}(X).$$

Proof. From equation (6.19) in Chapter III we know that there is a canonically defined L_{loc}^1 -form T on $\underline{\mathbf{P}}$ such that

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} (-1)^{j} c_{n-j}(D_{F}) c_{1}(D_{U})^{j} - \text{Div}(\tilde{\alpha}) = dT.$$

Applying π_* to this equation and using the fact (Proposition III 3.17) that

$$\pi_* \{ c_1(D_U)^j \} = \begin{cases} (-1)^k & \text{if } j = k \\ 0 & j < k \end{cases}$$

gives the first assertion. For the second assertion, one applies parallel reasoning to the family of pushforward connections \overrightarrow{D}_s induced by the bundle map $U \stackrel{\tilde{\alpha}}{\longrightarrow} \mathbf{F}$ over \mathbf{P} . \square

2. Thom-Porteous Currents — General Degeneracy Currents.

Let $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$ be a map of smooth bundles with connections where $\operatorname{rank}(E) = m$ and $\operatorname{rank}(F) = n$. For each positive integer $k = 0, 1, \ldots, \min\{m, n\}$, let

$$\pi: G_{m-k}(E) \longrightarrow X$$

denote the bundle whose fibre at $x \in X$ is the Grassmannian of (m - k)-planes in E_x (oriented in the real case). Let

$$U \longrightarrow G_{m-k}(E)$$

denote the tautological (m-k)-plane bundle. Note that there is a natural inclusion

$$j:U\hookrightarrow \mathbf{E}$$

as a subbundle of $\mathbf{E} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi^* E$.

Definition 2.1. Given a bundle map $\alpha: E \longrightarrow F$, let

$$\tilde{\alpha}: U \longrightarrow \mathbf{F}$$

be the associated map defined by $\tilde{\alpha} = \alpha \circ j$. Then α is said to be **k-atomic** if $\tilde{\alpha}$ is an atomic section of the bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(U, \mathbf{F})$ over $G_{m-k}(E)$. Under this hypothesis there is a **Thom-Porteous** (or degeneracy) current of level **k** defined on X by

$$\mathbb{D}_k(\alpha) = \pi_* \operatorname{Div}(\tilde{\alpha}).$$

Note that the support of $\mathbb{D}_k(\alpha)$ is contained in the k^{th} degeneracy locus

$$D_k(\alpha) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{x : \operatorname{rank}(\alpha_x) \le k\}.$$

Remark 2.2. The bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(U, \mathbf{F})$ has $\operatorname{rank}(m-k)n$, and so the current $\operatorname{Div}(\tilde{\alpha})$ has codimension 2(m-k)n (in the complex case and (m-k)n in the real case) on $G_{m-k}(E)$. It follows that $\mathbb{D}_k(\alpha)$ is a current of codimension 2(m-k)(n-k) (in the complex case and (m-k)(n-k) in the real case) on X.

Remark 2.3. When E and F are algebraic bundles over a complex projective manifold, and α is an algebraic bundle map, the current $\mathbb{D}_k(\alpha)$ is a positive holomorphic chain, and hence an effective algebraic cycle. The class determined by $\mathbb{D}_k(\alpha)$ in the Chow ring $A^*(X)$ is exactly the Thom-Porteous class defined by Fulton [Fu].

Applying the theory in Chapter III to the section $\tilde{\alpha}$ and then pushing forward by π_* gives a geometric formulae down on X. These formulae are examined in detail in [HL1] and [HL2].

A case of fundamental interest occurs when one considers a smooth map $f: X \longrightarrow Y$ between manifolds. Associated to this is the bundle map

$$df: TX \longrightarrow f^*TY.$$

Suppose TX and TY are furnished with connections and let k be as above. Then our formulas are of the form

$$\phi(D_{TX}, D_{TY}) - \mathbb{D}_k(\alpha) = d\sigma$$

where ϕ is a universal polynomial in the curvatures of TX and f^*TY and where σ is a canonically defined L^1_{loc} -form on X. A special case is given in the next section.

3. Milnor Currents.

Let $f:X\longrightarrow \Sigma$ be a proper holomorphic map of a complex n-manifold onto a complex curve, and consider the complex bundle map

$$(df)^*: f^*T^*\Sigma \longrightarrow T^*X.$$

This map is atomic provided that the zero set $Z = \{x \in X : df_x = 0\}$ has dimension zero (cf. Chapter III, Sections 7, 8 and 9). In this case $Z = \{x \in X : df_x = 0\} = \{x_1, x_2, x_3, \dots\}$ is a discrete subset of X and the Milnor current of f is of the form

$$\mathbb{M} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{Div}((df)^*) = \Sigma m_j[x_j] \text{ with } m_j \in \mathbf{Z}.$$

Suppose now that X and Σ are provided with complex connections. Then applying the theory to the top Chern class gives a canonically defined L^1_{loc} -form σ on X such that

(3.1)
$$c_n(D_{T^*X}) - c_{n-1}(D_{T^*X})c_1(D_{T^*\Sigma}) - \mathbb{M} = d\sigma$$

where $c_1(D_{T^*\Sigma})$ really means $f^*c_1(D_{T^*\Sigma})$. If we choose hermitian metrics on X and Σ , and use them to identify T^*X with \overline{TX} and $T^*\Sigma$ with $\overline{T\Sigma}$, formula (3.1) becomes

$$(3.2) (-1)^n \{c_n(D_{TX}) - c_{n-1}(D_{TX})c_1(D_{T\Sigma})\} - \mathbb{M} = d\sigma.$$

The integers m_i are the local Milnor numbers

$$m_i = \dim \left\{ \mathcal{O}_{x_i} / \left\langle \frac{\partial f}{\partial t_1}, \dots, \frac{\partial f}{\partial t_n} \right\rangle \right\}.$$

This discussion parallels Fulton's in [Fu; 14.1.5] for the algebraic case. An important point is that the hypothesis that f be holomorphic can be considerably relaxed here. For example, assume f is C^{∞} almost complex, then the above discussion remains valid if df vanishes to finite order at isolated points.

4. CR-Singularities and Pontrjagin Forms.

Let X be a smooth oriented manifold of (real) dimension n, and consider a smooth map

$$f: X \longrightarrow \mathbf{C}^{k+1}$$

into complex euclidean (k+1)-space where k < n. Suppose X is provided with a metric and a (not necessarily compatible) connection D_{TX} . The differential of f gives a bundle map $df: TX \longrightarrow \underline{\mathbf{C}}^{k+1}$ which extends naturally to a complex linear map

$$df_{\mathbf{C}}: TX \otimes \mathbf{C} \longrightarrow \mathbf{C}^{k+1}$$

of the complexification of TX. Via the metric we get an adjoint map

$$(4.1) (df_{\mathbf{C}})^* : \underline{\mathbf{C}}^{k+1} \longrightarrow TX \otimes \mathbf{C}.$$

We define the **complex critical set** of f to be the set

$$Cr(f) = \{x \in X : (df_{\mathbf{C}})_x^* \text{ is not surjective}\}.$$

If $(df_{\mathbf{C}})^*$ is k-atomic, then the degeneracy current

$$\mathbb{C}r(f) = \mathbb{D}_k$$

is defined as in Section 1. Note that $\operatorname{spt}\mathbb{C}r(f) = Cr(f)$.

Theorem 4.2. Let $f: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^{k+1}$ be a smooth map of a real oriented n-dimensional manifold where n-k=2l>0. Suppose that the associated map (4.1) is k-atomic. Then for each connection D_{TX} on X, there is a canonically associated L^1_{loc} -form σ with the property that

$$p_l(D_{TX}) = (-1)^l \mathbb{C}r(f) + d\sigma$$

where $p_l(D_{TX})$ is the l^{th} Pontrjagin form of the connection.

Proof. This follows immediately from Theorem 1.5 and the fact that $c_{2l}(D_{TX\otimes \mathbf{C}}) = (-1)^l p_l(D_{TX})$. \square

Example. Consider an immersion $j: X \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^3$ of an oriented 4-manifold for which $(df_{\mathbf{C}})^*$ is 2-atomic. Then

$$p_1(\Omega_{TX}) = \Sigma n_i[x_i] + d\sigma$$

where x_1, x_2, \ldots are the points of **complex tangency** of X, i.e., where j_*TX is a complex subspace of \mathbb{C}^3 . The integer multiplicities n_i are computed from the local geometry of the immersion. (See [HL1].)

5. Foliations.

Let F be a real n-dimensional foliation of a complex n-manifold X, and consider the associated bundle injection

$$j: TF \hookrightarrow TX$$
.

This map extends to a complex linear map

$$j_{\mathbf{C}}: T_{\mathbf{C}}F \longrightarrow TX$$

of the complexification $T_{\mathbf{C}}F \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} TF \otimes \mathbf{C}$. Suppose that the associated map of line bundles

(5.1)
$$\lambda \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Lambda^n j_{\mathbf{C}} : \Lambda^n T_{\mathbf{C}} F \longrightarrow \Lambda^n T X$$

is atomic. Then we have the current

$$\mathbb{C}r(F) \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \mathrm{Div}(\lambda)$$

of complex degeneracies of the foliation F, whose support is

$$\operatorname{spt}\mathbb{C}r(F) = \{x \in X : T_x F \text{ is not totally real}\}\$$
$$= \{x \in X : \dim_{\mathbf{C}}(T_x F \cap iT_x F) > 0\}.$$

Theorem 5.2. Let F be a real n-dimensional foliation of a complex n-manifold X and suppose the associated map λ in (5.1) is atomic. Then for each complex connection on X there is an L^1_{loc} -form σ such that

$$c_1(D_{TX}) - \mathbb{C}r(F) = d\sigma.$$

Further formulas can be obtained by considering other Thom-Porteous currents associated to $j_{\mathbf{C}}$.

6. Invariants for pairs of complex structures.

Let $V \longrightarrow X$ be a smooth real vector bundle of dimension 2n, and suppose that J_1 and J_2 are two almost complex structures on V. Associated to these we have two splittings

$$V \otimes \mathbf{C} = V_1 \oplus \overline{V}_1 = V_2 \oplus \overline{V}_2$$

where $V_k = \{v - iJ_k v \in V \otimes \mathbf{C} : v \in V\}$ for k = 1, 2. Consider the complex bundle map

$$p: V_1 \longrightarrow V_2$$

given by restricting the projection $V_2 \oplus \overline{V}_2 \longrightarrow V_2$ to the subbundle V_1 . Let

$$\lambda = \Lambda_{\mathbf{C}}^{n} p : \Lambda_{\mathbf{C}}^{n} V_{1} \longrightarrow \Lambda_{\mathbf{C}}^{n} V_{2}$$

be the associated map of complex line bundles. Then assuming that λ is atomic we can define the characteristic current

(6.2)
$$\mathbb{C}r(J_1, J_2) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{Div}(\lambda)$$

which is supported in the set

$$\mathbf{C}r(J_1, J_2) = \{x \in X : \ker(J_1 + J_2) \neq \{0\}\}$$

of points where there is a non-trivial subspace which is simultaneously J_1 -complex and J_2 -anticomplex. Applying the theory in Chapter II gives the following result.

Theorem 6.3. Let $V \longrightarrow X$ be a smooth vector bundle with two complex structures J_1 and J_2 . Let D_1 and D_2 be connections such that $D_k(J_k) = [D_k, J_k] = 0$ for k = 1, 2. Then if the map λ defined in (6.2) is atomic, there exists $\sigma \in L^1_{loc}(X)$ such that the following equation of forms and currents holds on X

$$c_1(D_2) - c_1(D_1) = \mathbb{C}r(J_1, J_2) + d\sigma.$$

Thus given any $\phi \in \mathbf{C}[t]$, there exists $\sigma_{\phi} \in L^1_{loc}$ such that

$$\phi(e_2) - \phi(e_1) = \frac{\phi(e_2) - \phi(e_1)}{e_2 - e_1} \mathbb{C}r(J_1, J_2) + d\sigma_{\phi}$$

where $e_1 = c_1(D_1)$ and $e_2 = c_1(D_2)$.

Similar formulas can be derived by considering higher Thom-Porteous currents associated to the map $p: V_1 \longrightarrow V_2$.

REFERENCES

- [AB] M.F. Atiyah and R. Bott, A Lefschetz fixed point formula for elliptic complexes, I, Ann. Math. 86 (1967), 374-407; II, Ann. Math. 88 (1968), 451-491.
- [AH] M.F. Atiyah and F. Hirzebruch, The Riemann-Roch theorem for analytic embeddings, Topology 1 (1962), 151-166.
- [BaFM] P. Baum, W. Fulton and R. MacPherson, Riemann-Roch for singular varieties, Publ. Math. IHES 45 (1975), 101-146.
- [Be] B. Berndtsson, Cauchy-Leray forms and vector bundles, Ann. Scient. Ec. Norm Sup. 24 (1991), 319-337.
- [BGS1] J.-M. Bismut, H. Gillet, and C. Soulé, Analytic torsion and holomorphic determinant bundles, I, II, III, Comm. Math. Physics 115 (1988), 49-78, 79-126, 301-351.
- [BGS2] _____, Bott-Chern currents and complex immersions, Duke Journal 60 (1990), 255-284.
- [BL] J.-P. Bourguignon and H.B. Lawson, Yang Mills theory: its physical origins and differential aspects in seminar on Differential Geometry edited by S.-T. Yau, Ann. Math. Studies 102, Princeton Univ. Press (1982), 395-421.
- [Bo] R. Bott, A residue formula for holomorphic vector fields, J. Diff. Geom. 1 (1967), 311-330.
- [BoC] R. Bott and S.S. Chern, Hermitian vector bundles and the equidistribution of the zeros of their holomorphic sections, Acta. Math. 114 (1968), 71-112.
- [BV] N. Berline and M. Vergne, A computation of the equivariant index of the Dirac operator, Bull. Soc. Math. France 113 (1985), 305-345.
- [C1] S. Chern, A simple intrinsic proof of the Gauss-Bonnet formula for closed Riemannian manifolds, Ann. Math. 45 (1944), 747-752.
- [C2] _____, On the curvature integra in a Riemannian manifold, Ann. Math. 46 (1945), 674-684.
- [F] H. Federer, Geometric Measure Theory, Springer-Verlag, 1969.
- [Fu] W. Fulton, Intersection Theory, Ergobnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete 3, Folge, Band 2, Springer Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg, 1984.
- [GS] H. Gillett and C. Soulé, Characteristic classes for algebraic vector bundles with Hermitian metrics, I, II, Annals of Math. 131 (1990), 163-203, 205-238.
- [GH] P. Griffiths and J. Harris, Principles of Algebraic Geometry, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1978.
- [H] F.R. Harvey, Spinors and Calibrations, Perspectives in Mathematics, vol. 9, Academic Press, San Diego, CA, 1990.
- [HL1] F.R. Harvey and H. Blaine Lawson, Geometric Residue Theorems, to appear.
- [HL2] _____, A Theory of Characteristic Currents Associated with a Singular Connection Part II, to appear.
- [HP] F.R. Harvey and J. Polking, Fundamental solutions in complex analysis Part I, Duke Math. J. 46 (1979), 253-300.
- [HS] F.R. Harvey and S. Semmes, Zero divisors of atomic functions, Ann. Math. 135 (1992), 567-600.
- [Hi] F. Hirzebruch, Topological Methods in Algebraic Geometry, Springer-Verlag, 1966.

REFERENCES

- [LM] H.B. Lawson and M. Michelsohn, Spin Geometry, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1989.
- [L] Lojasiewicz, Sur de problème de la division, Warsaw Rozprawy Mathematyezne 22 (1961).
- [MQ] V. Mathai and D. Quillen, Superconnections, Thom classes, and equivariant differential forms, Topology 25 (1986), 85-110.
- [MS] J. Milnor and J. Stasheff, Characteristic classes, Annals of Math. Studies no. 76 (1974), Princeton Univ. Press.
- [MW] M. Micallef and J. Wolfson, The second variation of area of minimal surfaces in four-manifolds, to appear in Math. Ann.
- [Q] D. Quillen, Superconnections and the Chern character, Topology 24 (1985), 89-95.
- [SS] L.M. Sibner and R.J. Sibner, A constructive proof of the Riemann-Roch theorem for curves, Contributions to Analysis (a collection of papers dedicated to Lipman Bers), 401-405, Academic Press, New York, 1974.
- [W1] S. Webster, Minimal surfaces in a Kähler surface, J. Diff. Geom. 20 (1984), 463-470.
- [W2] _____, The Euler and Pontrjagin numbers of an n-manifold in Cⁿ, Comment. Math. Helv. 60 (1985), 193-216.
- [W3] _____, On the relation between Chern and Pontrjagin numbers, Contemp. Math. 49 (1986), 135-143.
- [Wo] J. Wolfson, Minimal surfaces in Kähler surfaces and Ricci curvature, J. Diff. Geom. 29 (1989), 281-294.



20/22, RUE ST. AMAND 75015. PARIS. FRANCE TEL.: (1) 45 33 16 00

R.C. PARIS 8 334 317 021 SA CAPITAL: 3.000.000 DE F

C.C.P. PARIS 24 735 14 H

L'Herméneutique formelle L'infini, le continu, l'espace

par J.-M. Salanskis

L'herméneutique formelle ou la pensée de la mathématique. Déjà le legs esthétique de Kant permet de considérer l'infini, le continu et l'espace dans une situation herméneutique et le développement de la mathématique moderne confirme largement cet enseignement.

 $\begin{array}{c} 16 \times 24 \\ 268 \text{ pages} \end{array}$

BON DE COMMANDE					
à Remettre à CNRS EDITIONS 20-22 rue Saint-Amand 75015 Paris					
Nom	NomPrénom				
Adresse					
Code postalVille					
Pays					
ISBN	Titre	Qté	P. U.	Total	
04610-6	L'Herméneutique formelle		180 F		
Port par ouvrage : France 27 F - Etranger 32 F Frais de port Total					
Ci-joint mon règlement de F à l'ordre de CNRS EDITIONS Date : Signature :					

ASTÉRISQUE

- 1973: 1 Y. MEYER Trois problèmes sur les sommes trigonométriques,
 - 2-3 Colloque international du CNRS Équations aux dérivées partielles linéaires (Orsay, 1972).
 - 4 Séminaire K.G.B. Sur les marches aléatoires (Rennes, 1972).
 - 5 R. KAUFMAN and Th. KÖRNER Pseudofunctions and Helson sets.
 - 6 · A. HATCHER and J. WAGONER · Pseudo-isotopies of compact manifolds,
 - 7-8 Colloque sur les singularités en géométrie analytique (Cargèse, 1972).
 - J. PELLAUMAIL Une nouvelle construction de l'intégrale stochastique.
 - A. ESCASSUT et Ph. ROBBA Prolongement analytique et algèbres de Banach ultramétriques.
- 1974 : 11 B. MAUREY Théorèmes de factorisation pour les opérateurs linéaires à valeurs dans les espaces LP.
 - 12 F. LAUDENBACH Topologie de la dimension trois : homotopie et isotopie. (Épuisé)
 - 13-14 A. GUICHARDET Systèmes dynamiques non commutatifs.
 - 15 B. MAISONNEUVE Systèmes régénératifs.
 - 16 A. DOUADY J.-L. VERDIER Séminaire de géométrie analytique.
 - 17 · A. DOUADY · J.-L. VERDIER · Séminaire de géométrie analytique.
 - 18 · E. BOMBIERI · Le grand crible dans la théorie analytique des nombres (2º édition).
 - S. ALINHAC P. BOLLEY J. CAMUS B. HANOUZET B. HELFFER C. ZUILY Sur quelques équations aux dérivées partielles singulières.
 - 20 H. C. PINKHAM Deformations of algebraic varieties with \mathbb{G}_{m} action.
- 1975 : 21 N. EL KAROUI H. REINHARD Compactification et balayage de processus droits.
 - 22-23 Ph. COURRÈGE P. PRIOURET P. RENOUARD M. YOR Oscillateur anharmonique, processus de diffusion et mesures quasi-invariantes.
 - 24-25 Journées arithmétiques de Bordeaux (1974).
 - 26 · J. LANNES F. LATOUR Forme quadratique d'enlacement et applications.
 - 27 R. CORI Un code pour les graphes planaires et ses applications.
 - 28-29 A. DENJOY Évocation de l'homme et de l'œuvre.
 - 30 R. ROUSSARIE Modèles locaux de champs et de formes.
- 1976 : 31 J. E. FRANKE S. NEWHOUSE J. PALÍS M. M. PEIXOTO Trois études en dynamique qualitative.
 - 32-33 Colloque Analyse et Topologie en l'honneur de H. CARTAN, 2º édition.
 - 34-35 Journées "Équations aux dérivées partielles" de Rennes.
 - 36-37 A. DOUADY J.-L. VERDIER Séminaire de géométrie analytique.
 - 38-39 Journées Algorithmiques (Paris, 1975).
 - 40 International Conference on Dynamical Systems in Mathematical Physics (Rennes, 1975).
- 1977: 41-42 Journées Arithmétiques de Caen (1976).
 - 43-44 Théorie de la robustesse et estimation d'un paramètre (Orsay-Paris VII, 1974-1975).
 - 45 D. LEHMANN Théorie homotopique des formes différentielles (d'après D. Sullivan).
 2º édition.
 - 46 J.-P. SERRE Arbres, amalgames, SL₂, 3^e édition.
 - 47-48 J.-M. FONTAINE Groupes p- divisibles sur les corps locaux.
 - 49 Dynamical Systems I, Warsaw (1977), 2e édition.
 - Dynamical Systems II, Warsaw (1977), 2e édition.

- 1978: 51 Dynamical Systems III, Warsaw (1977), 2e édition.
 - 52-53 Temps locaux (Paris VI, 1976-1977).
 - 54 A. BEAUVILLE Surfaces algébriques complexes, 3e édition.
 - Représentations des groupes localement compacts et applications aux algèbres d'opérateurs (Orléans, 1973-1974).
 - 56 M. SHUB Stabilité globale des systèmes dynamiques, 2e édition.
 - 57 R. R. COIFMAN Y. MEYER Au-delà des opérateurs pseudo-différentiels, 2e édition.
 - Première classe de Chern et courbure de Ricci : preuve de la conjecture de Calabi (Séminaire Palaiseau, 1978), 2º édition.
 - 59-60 Journées singulières de Dijon.
- 1979: 61 Journées Arithmétiques de Luminy (1978).
 - P. DOMBROWSKI 150 Years after Gauss' "disquisitiones generales circa superficies curvas", 2º édition.
 - 63 Journées de Géométrie Algébrique de Rennes (juillet 1978), I.
 - 64 Journées de Géométrie Algébrique de Rennes (juillet 1978), II.
 - 5 Journées de Géométrie Algébrique de Rennes (juillet 1978), III.
 - 66-67 Travaux de Thurston sur les surfaces (Séminaire Orsay). 2° édition.
 - Grandes déviations et applications statistiques (Séminaire Orsay, 1977-1978).
 - 69-70 M. WALDSCHMIDT Nombres transcendants et groupes algébriques (2º édition).
- 1980: 71-72 · Les équations de Yang-Mills (Séminaire E.N.S., 1977-1978).
 - 73 Modèles de l'arithmétique (Séminaire Paris VII) K. MC ALOON.
 - 74 Journées sur les marches aléatoires (Nancy, 1979).
 - 75-76 Analyse des systèmes (Bordeaux, 11-16 septembre 1978).
 - R. R. COIFMAN R. ROCHBERG M. H. TAIBLESON G. WEISS Representation theorems for Hardy spaces.
 - 78 A. LOUVEAU Ensembles analytiques et boréliens dans les espaces produits.
 - 79 N. KATZ Sommes exponentielles, rédigé par G. LAUMON.
 - 80 Analyse sur les variétés (Metz. 1979).
- 1981: 81 P. BUSER and H. KARCHER Gromov's almost flat manifolds.
 - 82-83 Caractéristique d'Euler-Poincaré (Séminaire E.N.S. 1978-1979).
 - 84-85 Géodésiques et diffusions en temps petit (Séminaire de probabilités, université de Paris VII).
 - 86 Séminaire sur les pinceaux de courbes de genre au moins deux (L. SZPIRO).
 - 87-88 Tableaux de Young et foncteurs de Schur en algèbre et géométrie (Toruń, 1980).
 - 89-90 Analytic solutions of partial differential equations (Trento, 1981).
- 1982: 91 C. DE CONCINI, D. EISENBUD, C. PROCESI Hodge Algebras.
 - 92-93 SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1981/82, exposés 579-596.
 - 94 JOURNÉES ARITHMÉTIQUES, Metz (1981).
 - 95 J. SJÖSTRAND Singularités analytiques microlocales (suivi d'un texte avec B. LASCAR sur l'équation de Schrödinger).
 - 96 C. S. SESHADRI Fibrés vectoriels sur les courbes algébriques (rédigé par J.-M. DREZET).
 - 97 D. CERVEAU, J.-F. MATTEI Formes intégrables holomorphes singulières.
 - 98-99 Bifurcation, théorie ergodique et applications (Dijon, juin 1981).
 - 100 Analyse et topologie sur les espaces singuliers (CIRM 1981) Vol. I.

1983: 101-102 - Analyse et Topologie sur les espaces singuliers (CIRM, 1981) - Vol. II - III.

103-104 · M. R. HERMAN · Sur les courbes invariantes par les difféomorphismes de l'anneau, Vol. 1.

105-106 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1982/83, exposés 597-614.

107-108 - IIIe rencontre de géométrie du Schnepfenried (mai 1982), Vol. 1.

109-110 - IIIe rencontre de géométrie du Schnepfenried (mai 1982), Vol. 2.

1984: 111 - J. HARTHONG - Études sur la mécanique quantique.

112 · B. HELFFER · Théorie spectrale pour des opérateurs globalement elliptiques.

113-114 - Homotopie algébrique et algèbre locale (CIRM, 1982), J. M. LEMAIRE, J. C. THOMAS.

115 · M. H. SLIMAN · Théorie de Mackey pour les groupes adéliques.

116 - Structure transverse des feuilletages, Toulouse 1982.

117 - J. LIPMAN - Dualizing sheaves, differentials and residues on algebraic varieties.

- Variational methods for equilibrium problems of fluids, Trento 1983.

119-120 - Cohomologie p-adique.

131

1985 : 121-122 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1983/84, exposés 615-632.

123 - B. A. KUPERSHMIDT - Discrete Lax equations and differential-difference calculus.

124-125 - Homologie, groupes Extⁿ, représentations de longueur finie des groupes de Lie.

126 - Géométrie des surfaces K3 : modules et périodes. Séminaire Palaiseau.

127 - Séminaire sur les Pinceaux Arithmétiques : la conjecture de Mordell (L. SZPIRO).

128 - M. KASHIWARA, P. SCHAPIRA - Microlocal study of sheaves.

129 - L. MORET-BAILLY - Pinceaux de variétés abéliennes.

Systèmes différentiels et singularités (C.I.R.M. 1983) édité par A. GALLIGO,
 M. GRANGER, Ph. MAISONOBE.

- Colloque en l'honneur de L. SCHWARTZ, Volume 1.

132 - Colloque en l'honneur de L. SCHWARTZ, Volume 2.

N° hors série : Elie Cartan et les mathématiques d'aujourd'hui - Lyon, 25-29 juin 1984.

1986 : 133-134 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1984/85, exposés 633-650.

135-136 - Analyse harmonique des mesures, B. HOST, J.-F. MÉLA, F. PARREAU.

137 - K. HULEK - Projective geometry of elliptic curves.

138-139 - M. CHAPERON - Géométrie différentielle et singularités de systèmes dynamiques.

140-141 - J.-L. BRYLINSKI, T. MONTEIRO FERNANDES - Géométrie et analyse microlocales,

142-143 - M. ENGUEHARD, T. PETERFALVI - Révision dans les groupes finis. Groupes du type de Lie de rang 1.

- M. R. HERMAN - Sur les courbes invariantes par les difféomorphismes de l'anneau,
 Vol. 2.

1987: 145-146 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1985/86, exposés 651-668.

147-148 - JOURNÉES ARITHMÉTIQUES, Besançon (24-28 juin 1985).

149 - M. KAROUBI - Homologie cyclique et K-théorie.

150-151 - Singularités d'équations différentielles, Dijon, mai 1985.

152-153 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1986/87, exposés 669-685.

154-155 - Théorie des variétés minimales et applications (Minimal Submanifolds). Séminaire Palaiseau.

156 - A. UNTERBERGER - Analyse harmonique et analyse pseudo-différentielle du cône de lumière.

1988 : 157-158 - COLLOQUE PAUL LÉVY sur les processus stochastiques (22-26 juin 1987, École Polytechnique, Palaiseau).

159-160 - O. MATHIEU - Formules de caractères pour les algèbres de Kac-Moody générales.

161-162 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1987/88, exposés 686-699.

163-164 - On the geometry of differentiable manifolds (Rome, 23-27 juin 1986).

165 - I. DOLGACHEV, D. ORTLAND - Point sets in projective spaces and theta functions.

166 - H. CLEMENS, J. KOLLAR, S. MORI - Higher dimensional complex geometry.

167 - A. GOLDMAN - Mouvement brownien à plusieurs paramètres : mesure de Hausdorff des trajectoires.

- Orbites unipotentes et représentations. I. Groupes finis et algèbres de Hecke.

1989: 169-170 - D.G. BABBITT, V.S. VARADARAJAN - Local moduli for meromorphic differential equations.

171-172 - Orbites unipotentes et représentations. II. Groupes p-adiques et réels.

173-174 - Orbites unipotentes et représentations. III. Orbites et Faisceaux pervers.

- P. de la HARPE, A. VALETTE - La propriété (T) de Kazhdan pour les groupes localement compacts (avec un appendice de M. Burger).

- Y. FÉLIX - La dichotomie elliptique-hyperbolique en homotopie rationnelle.

177-178 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1988/89, exposés 700-714.

179-180 - Théorie de Hodge (Luminy, juin 1987).

1990: 181-182 - Représentations linéaires des groupes finis (Luminy, mai 1988).

- Séminaire sur les Pinceaux de courbes elliptiques (à la recherche de «Mordell effectif»)

184-185 - M. MARTIN-DESCHAMPS, D. PERRIN - Sur la classification des courbes gauches.

186 - P. G. GOERSS - On the André-Quillen cohomology of commutative F2-algebras.

187-188 - W. PARRY, M. POLLICOTT - Zeta functions and the periodic orbit structure of hyperbolic dynamics.

189-190 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1989/90, exposés 715-729.

191 - THÉORIE DE L'HOMOTOPIE, (Luminy 1988), H.R. MILLER, J.-M. LEMAIRE, L. SCHWARTZ, éditeurs.

- Algorithmique, Topologie et Géométrie Algébriques, (Sevilla 1987, Toulouse 1988),
 C. HAYAT - LEGRAND, F. SERGERAERT, éditeurs.

1991: 193 - G. DAVID, S. SEMMES - Singular Integrals and Rectifiable Sets in Rⁿ. Au-delà des graphes lipschitziens.

194-195 - G. MALTSINIOTIS - Privilège numérique uniforme.

196-197 - Courbes modulaires et courbes de Shimura.

198-199-200 - Journées arithmétiques de Luminy (1989).

201-202-203 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1990/91, exposés 730-744.

204 - P. LE CALVEZ - Propriétés dynamiques des difféomorphismes de l'anneau et du tore.

1992: *205 - J.-M. BISMUT, W. ZHANG - An extension of a theorem by Cheeger and Müller (with an appendix by F. LAUDENBACH).

****206 - SÉMINAIRE BOURBAKI, volume 1991/92, exposés 745-759.

*207 - Méthodes semi-classiques, volume 1, École d'été (Nantes, juin 1991).

*208 -A. YEKUTIELI - An explicit construction of the Grothendieck residue complex.

**209 - Journées arithmétiques de Genève (1991), D. Coray, Y.-F.S. Pétermann, éditeurs.

**210 - Méthodes semi-classiques, volume 2, Colloque International (Nantes, juin 1991).

- *211 J. KOLLÁR Flips and abundance for algebraic threefolds. A summer seminar at the University of Utah (Salt Lake City, 1991).
- 1993: *212 M. BROUÉ, G. MALLE, J. MICHEL Représentations unipotentes génériques et blocs des groupes réductifs finis (avec un appendice de G. LUSZTIG).
 - **213 R. HARVEY, B. LAWSON. A theory of characteristic currents associated with a singular connection.

en préparation:

- Colloque "Analyse complexe et Géométrie" (Luminy 1992) B. COUPET, J. DETRAZ, G. DLOUSSKY, éditeurs.
- Colloque "Complex analytic methods in dynamical system" (IMPA, 1992) C. CAMACHO, A. LINSNETO, R. MOUSSU, P. SAD, éditeurs.
- J. LE POTIER Systèmes cohérents et structures de niveau.

INSTRUCTIONS AUX AUTEURS

Éditée par la Société Mathématique de France, la revue Astérisque est reproduite par procédé offset à partir du manuscrit original. Excepté une réduction de 76 %, aucune modification ne peut être effectuée par l'imprimeur. Les auteurs doivent donc observer scrupuleusement les indications suivantes.

Utiliser de préférence un traitement de texte et une imprimante laser. Si, très exceptionnellement, la frappe devait se faire suivant un mode plus ancien adopter un interligne 1 1/2.

Le texte doit être contenu dans un <u>cadre</u> défini comme suit : longueur de ligne 17 cm, hauteur de texte 25 cm, marges de côtés 2 cm, haute 1,8 cm, basse 2,7 cm. Des feuilles à cadre sont fournies sur demande par la S.M.F. (adresse ci-dessous). La <u>pagination</u>, qui est provisoire, doit impérativement figurer au <u>crayon</u> à l'extérieur du cadre.

Attention au format américain qui est plus large et plus court que le format A4: les règles relatives aux marges (haute ou basse et droite) doivent être modifiées en conséquence.

A la fin de chaque texte mentionner les nom, prénom et adresse professionnelle de l'auteur sur le côté droit de la page.

Typographie:

Les manuscrits doivent être tapés au recto uniquement, en 14 points, avec un écart de 15 points entre les lignes. Les règles habituelles de typographie mathématique doivent être respectées, le N° Hors Série d'Astérisque "Elie Cartan et les mathématiques d'aujourd'hui" 1985, peut servir de modèle.

Avant de poursuivre la frappe, il est conseillé d'envoyer une copie des 5 ou 6 premières pages du chapitre I - et non de l'introduction - à :

S.M.F. - Astérisque E.N.S. Tour L - 1, rue M. Arnoux 92120 MONTROUGE - FRANCE

Tout manuscrit soumis à Astérisque doit être fourni en deux exemplaires.

La version définitive doit comporter:
Introduction - Table des matières sans indication des pages - 1 original du texte - Bibliographie (références classées par ordre alphabétique, numérotées, complètes et exactes) - Titre complet pour la couverture - Titre courant (< 60 caractères) pour chaque article ou chapitre - Classification AMS - Résumés en français et en anglais d'une demi-page chacun.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

To publish the journal Astérisque, the French Mathematical Society uses the offset process. The original manuscript is reduced (76%), and reproduced photographically. No other change can be performed on the manuscript. It is therefore extremely important to comply with the following instructions.

Please use a word processor and a laser printer. If exceptionaly, a classical typewriter is used please leave 1 1/2 space between lines.

Text must fill the folowing frame: line length 17 cm, text length 25 cm. Margins: top 1,8 cm, bottom 2,7 cm, sides 2 cm. Framed pages are available from the S.M.F. (address below). Pages must be typed on one side only, and numbered with a pencil, outside the frame.

Mind the American page size, which is larger and shorter than the European A4 page: margins (top or bottom and right) - and margins only - can be changed accordingly.

Please mention author's name, surname and professional address on right handside at the end of each article.

Typography:

Manuscripts must be typed with a 14 points font, leaving a 15 points baseline skip. Mathematical typography rules must be respected: one can refer to Astérisque's Hors Série volume "Elie Cartan et les mathématiques d'aujourd'hui" 1985.

Before performing the typing you are welcome to send a few pages of the first chapter for checking to:

S.M.F. - Astérisque E.N.S. Tour L - 1, rue M. Arnoux 92120 MONTROUGE - FRANCE

Please send two copies when submitting your manuscript for publication.

The final version must include:

Introduction - Table of contents without pages numbers - Text (1 original) - Bibliography (references must be numbered, complete, exact and in alphabetical order) - Full title for cover page - Shortned title (<60 characters) for each article or chapter-AMS classification - French and English abstracts, half a page each.